IMPORTANT NOTICE

NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION OR RELEASE IN THE UNITED STATES, OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, ANY U.S. PERSON (AS DEFINED BELOW) OR TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the Offering Circular following this page, and you are therefore advised to read this carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Offering Circular. In accessing the Offering Circular, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive any information as a result of such access.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER TO SELL OR THE SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY THE SECURITIES OF THE ISSUER (AS DEFINED HEREIN) IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED HEREIN HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED HEREIN MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT), EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

THE FOLLOWING OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER, AND IN PARTICULAR, MAY NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY U.S. PERSON OR TO ANY U.S. ADDRESS. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view the Offering Circular or make an investment decision with respect to the securities described herein, investors must not be in the United States ("U.S.") and must not be either a U.S. person or acting for the account or benefit of a U.S. person (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act). The Offering Circular is being sent at your request and by your acceptance of the e-mail attaching the Offering Circular and accessing the Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have confirmed and represented to QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014) (the "Issuer") and each of the Dealers that you are not in the U.S. or a U.S. person or acting for the account or benefit of a U.S. person, your stated electronic mail address to which this e-mail has been delivered is not located in the U.S. and that you consent to delivery of such Offering Circular by electronic transmission.

The securities described herein may not be a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors and should not be promoted, offered, distributed and/or sold to retail investors. By your acceptance of the e-mail attaching the Offering Circular and accessing the Offering Circular you shall represent, warrant, agree with and undertake to the Issuer and each of the Dealers that you have complied and will at all times comply with all applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance (whether inside or outside the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom) relating to the promotion, offering, distribution and/or sale of the securities described herein (including without limitation the European Union's Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended) as implemented in each Member State of the European Economic Area and the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018) and any other applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance relating to determining the appropriateness and/or suitability of an investment in the securities described herein by investors in any relevant jurisdiction. If you are acting as agent on behalf of a disclosed or undisclosed client the foregoing representations, warranties, agreements and undertakings will be given by and be binding upon both you and your underlying client.

In the United Kingdom, this Offering Circular is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons who (a) have professional experience in matters relating to investments and are investment professionals within the meaning of Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the

"Order") or (b) are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) ("high net worth companies, unincorporated associations etc.") of the Order or (c) to any other persons to whom it may otherwise lawfully be made under the Order (each such person being referred to as a "Relevant Person"). Any investment or investment activity to which this Offering Circular relates is available in the United Kingdom only to Relevant Persons and will be engaged in only with Relevant Persons. This Offering Circular must not be acted or relied on by persons who are not Relevant Persons.

You are reminded that the Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession the Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver the Offering Circular to any other person.

The materials relating to the offering do not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the underwriters or any affiliate of the underwriters is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the underwriters or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

The Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the Issuer, each of the Dealers, the Agents nor any person who controls any of them nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or affiliates accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any such alteration or change from the original Offering Circular.



QBE Insurance Group Limited

(ABN 28 008 485 014)

(incorporated with limited liability in the Commonwealth of Australia)

Note Issuance Programme

On 2 May 2016, QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014) (the "Issuer") established a Note Issuance Programme. Such Note Issuance Programme is amended as at the date of this Offering Circular (as amended, the "Programme"), and this Offering Circular supersedes all previous offering circulars and any supplement thereto. Any Notes (as defined below) issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Offering Circular are issued subject to the provisions set out herein. The provisions described herein do not affect any notes issued under the Programme prior to the date of this Offering Circular.

Under the Programme, the Issuer may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, from time to time issue unsecured notes. Notes may be issued as senior obligations ("Senior Notes"), as subordinated obligations capable of qualifying as Tier 2 Capital (as defined by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority ("APRA")) ("Subordinated Notes") or as subordinated obligations (ranking junior to the Subordinated Notes) capable of qualifying as Additional Tier 1 Capital (as defined by APRA) ("Capital Notes", together with the Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes and any other notes that may be issued under the Programme from time to time, the "Notes"). The aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be outstanding under this Programme will not at any time exceed U.S.\$4,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies as at the date of issue of any Notes), as such limit may be increased from time to time.

In relation to any Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme, the final terms in respect of that Tranche, including the form of Notes, applicable currency, aggregate nominal amount, interest payable, issue price and any other terms and conditions applicable to such Tranche which are not contained in the relevant terms and conditions set out in this Offering Circular ("Conditions") will be set out in the applicable pricing supplement ("Pricing Supplement"), substantially in the form of the relevant pricing supplement set out herein.

Australian domestic notes ("Australian Domestic Notes") may be issued under and constituted by the amended and restated deed poll dated 27 February 2024 made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time ("Australian Note Deed Poll"). Australian Domestic Notes will be issued in uncertificated registered form only and may be lodged in the securities clearing and settlement system ("Austraclear System") operated by Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773) ("Austraclear").

Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) may be issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") and/or in registered form ("Registered Notes") pursuant to the amended and restated agency agreement dated 27 February 2024 between the Issuer and the agents named therein, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time ("Euro Agency Agreement"). Each Tranche of Notes will (i) in the case of Bearer Notes, be represented on issue by a temporary global note which may, in certain circumstances, be exchangeable into definitive notes or a permanent global note which, in turn, may be exchangeable into definitive notes in certain limited circumstances, or (ii) in the case of Registered Notes, take the form of an entry in a register which will be represented on issue by a global note in registered form (a "Global Note") which may, in certain circumstances, be exchangeable into definitive notes. Global Notes may be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") or with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, The Depository Trust Company ("DTC").

Notes issued as Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes include provisions required by APRA to provide for loss absorption at the point of non-viability of the Issuer. If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, Notes issued as Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes may, where required in accordance with the terms thereof, immediately be Converted in whole (or in some cases in part) into ordinary shares in the capital of the Issuer ("Ordinary Shares") or Written-Off. Where, for any reason, a required Conversion has not occurred within a certain period of time, such Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, as the case may be, will be Written-Off in whole (or in some cases in part), which means that all rights and obligations in respect of those Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, as the case may be, will be immediately and irrevocably terminated with effect on and from the Non-Viability Conversion Date. Capitalised expressions have the meanings given to them in the relevant Conditions.

The Programme is not rated, but certain tranches of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be rated by one or more credit rating agencies on a case by case basis as set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Where a Tranche of Notes is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the Notes already issued. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating agency. Credit ratings are for distribution only to a person (a) who is not a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia (the "Corporations Act") and is also a sophisticated investor, professional investor or other investor in respect of whom disclosure is not required under Parts 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act, and (b) who is otherwise permitted to receive credit ratings in accordance with applicable law in any jurisdiction in which the person may be located. Anyone who is not such a person is not entitled to receive this Offering Circular and anyone who receives this Offering Circular must not distribute it to any person who is not entitled to receive it.

An investment in the Notes is subject to risk, including, in the case of Notes issued as Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, the risk that investors are likely to lose some or all of their investment if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs. The Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are complex financial instruments and are not a suitable investment for all investors. In particular, the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are not intended to be promoted, offered, distributed and/or sold to retail investors. See "Risk Factors" below for a discussion of certain risk factors that should be considered by prospective investors.

Notification pursuant to Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore - Unless otherwise stated in the Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme shall be prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in Monetary Authority of Singapore (the "MAS") Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Application has been made for the listing and quotation of any Notes that may be issued pursuant to the Programme on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST") which are agreed at the time of issue thereof to be so listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST. Such approval will be granted when a particular Series of Notes have been admitted to the Official List of the SGX-ST. There is no assurance that any application to the SGX-ST for the listing and quotation of any Notes will be approved. The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for

the correctness of any of the statements made, opinions expressed or reports contained in this Offering Circular. The approval in-principle, admission to the Official List of the SGX-ST, and listing and quotation of any Notes on the SGX-ST are not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or associated companies, the Programme or the Notes. Notes may also be listed and/or admitted to trading or quotation on or by a stock exchange, listing authority or quotation system other than the SGX-ST. Unlisted Notes may also be issued. The applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed. The Pricing Supplement for any Notes to be admitted to the Official List of the SGX-ST will be delivered to the SGX-ST on or before the date of issue of such Notes. The Notes shall be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of \$\$200,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require.

Neither the Notes nor, in the case of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion have been or will be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States ("U.S." or "United States"). Accordingly, any initial offering of the Notes will be made solely outside the U.S. to non-U.S. persons in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act). Any Notes offered under the Programme to "qualified institutional buyers" in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act will be offered pursuant to a supplement to this Offering Circular, which may contain additional information about the offering, the terms of the Notes offered and the Issuer. Prospective investors should read the section entitled "Subscription and Sale" for information on restrictions that apply to the purchase and sale of the Notes.

Notes are not guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of the Commonwealth of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any of the Issuer's subsidiaries or by any other person and are not policy liabilities of any member of the Group (as defined below).

Dealers

ANZ Barclays

Citigroup Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Crédit Agricole CIB HSBC

J.P. Morgan Morgan Stanley

National Australia Bank Limited SMBC Nikko

Westpac

The date of this Offering Circular is 27 February 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE

MiFID II product governance / target market

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (an "EU distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, an EU distributor subject to Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Dealers nor any of their affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR product governance / target market

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "UK distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a UK distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (as amended, "UK MiFIR") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance rules under the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Dealers nor any of their affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

PRIIPs Regulation - Prohibition of sales to European Economic Area retail investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the "Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs Regulation - Prohibition of sales to United Kingdom retail investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of UK MiFIR; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIPS Regulation") for

offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

Benchmark Regulation

Amounts payable on certain Floating Rate Notes issued under the Programme may be calculated by reference to EURIBOR, Compounded Daily SONIA, Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate, Average SOFR, AONIA or BBSW as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the European Money Markets Institute (as administrator of EURIBOR) and ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited (as administrator of BBSW) appear on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the "EU Benchmark Regulation"). As at the date of this Offering Circular, the administrators of SONIA, SOFR and AONIA do not appear on ESMA's register of administrators and benchmarks under Article 36 of the EU Benchmark Regulation.

Notification pursuant to Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore

Unless otherwise stated in the Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme shall be prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

No offer

Neither this Offering Circular, nor any other information provided in connection with the Programme or the Notes, is intended to (nor does it), constitute an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, its subsidiaries or the Dealers to any person to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise deal in any Notes nor does it constitute or is it intended to be used for the purpose of or in connection with offers or invitations to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise deal in any Notes by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or invitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation, and no action is being taken to permit an offering of the Notes or the distribution of this Offering Circular or any applicable Pricing Supplement in any jurisdiction where such action is required.

Responsibility for information

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular and the Pricing Supplement for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme other than information provided by the Dealers and the Agents in relation to their respective descriptions (if applicable) and in the sections entitled "Directory" and "Others". To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

No independent verification

None of the Dealers, the Agents or any other party named or referred to in this Offering Circular (other than the Issuer) or any of their respective affiliates or any external adviser to the Issuer or any of the foregoing (each, an "Other Party") has independently verified the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any Other Party as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in this Offering Circular. No Other Party accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular.

Currency of information

The delivery of this Offering Circular, or any offer, issue or allotment of any Notes, at any time after the date of this Offering Circular does not imply, nor should it be relied upon as a representation or warranty, that:

- (a) there has been no change since the date of this Offering Circular (or, if later, the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented) in the affairs or financial condition of the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries (the Issuer and its subsidiaries together being referred to herein as the "Group") or any other party named in this Offering Circular;
- (b) the information contained in this Offering Circular is correct at such later time; or
- (c) that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same.

It should not be assumed that the information contained in this Offering Circular is necessarily accurate or complete in the context of any offer to subscribe for or an invitation to subscribe for or buy any Notes at any time after the date of this Offering Circular, even if this Offering Circular is circulated in conjunction with the offer or invitation. Investors should review, *inter alia*, the documents incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular in deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

Neither the Issuer nor any Other Party is under any obligation to update this Offering Circular at any time after an issue of Notes.

Authorised material

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation which is not expressly contained in or consistent with this Offering Circular and any information or representation not contained in this Offering Circular must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer.

Intending purchasers to make independent investment decision

This Offering Circular is not intended to be, and does not constitute, a recommendation or statement of opinion by the Issuer or any Other Party that any person subscribe for or purchase any Notes or financial or other advice. Accordingly, any person contemplating the subscription or purchase of the Notes must:

- (a) make their own independent investigation of:
 - (i) the terms of the Notes, including reviewing the Conditions, the applicable Pricing Supplement and the other provisions of the definitive documentation for the Notes; and
 - (ii) the financial condition, affairs and creditworthiness of the Issuer and the Group,
 - after taking all appropriate advice from qualified professional persons; and
- (b) base any investment decision on the investigation and advice referred to in paragraph (a).

Any person contemplating the subscription or purchase of the Notes should have regard to the risk factors described under "*Risk Factors*" below. However, this Offering Circular does not describe all of the risks of an investment in the Notes.

The Notes may not be a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors. Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of the potential investor's own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should consider, with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

- (a) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (b) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

- (c) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Notes, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (d) understands the accounting, legal, regulatory and tax implications of a purchase, holding and disposal of an interest in the Notes;
- (e) understands thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of financial markets; and
- (f) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

In some jurisdictions, regulatory authorities have adopted or published laws, regulations or guidance with respect to the offer or sale of securities such as the Notes to retail investors. By purchasing, or making or accepting an offer to purchase, any Notes, each prospective investor represents, warrants, agrees with and undertakes to the Issuer and each Dealer that it has and will at all times comply with all applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance (whether inside or outside the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom) relating to the promotion, offering, distribution and/or sale of the Notes (including without limitation MiFID II as implemented in each Member State of the European Economic Area and UK MiFIR as implemented in the United Kingdom) and any other applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance relating to determining the appropriateness and/or suitability of an investment in the Notes by investors in any relevant jurisdiction. Where acting as agent on behalf of a disclosed or undisclosed client when purchasing, or making or accepting an offer to purchase, any Notes, the foregoing representations, warranties, agreements and undertakings will be given by and be binding upon both the agent and its underlying client.

Disclosure of interests

In addition to the arrangements and interests described in this Offering Circular, each of the Dealers discloses that it and its affiliates and their respective directors and employees (each a "Relevant Entity") may from time to time:

- (a) be a Noteholder or have a pecuniary or other interest in the Notes;
- (b) receive fees, brokerage and commissions or other benefits, and may act as principal, in any dealings in the Notes; and
- (c) be involved in a broad range of transactions including, without limitation, dealing in financial products, credit, derivative and liquidity transactions, investment management, corporate and corporate advisory and research in various capacities in respect of the Notes, the Issuer or any other member of the Group, both on its own account and for the account of other persons.

Prospective investors should be aware that:

- (a) each Relevant Entity in the course of its business (including in respect of interests described above) may act independently of any other Relevant Entity, any Other Party and any Noteholder;
- (b) to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the duties of each Relevant Entity in respect of the Notes are limited to the relevant contractual obligations set out in the Dealer Agreement and, in particular, no advisory or fiduciary duty is owed by any Relevant Entity to any person;
- (c) a Relevant Entity may have or come into possession of information not contained in this Offering Circular that may be relevant to any decision by a potential investor to acquire the Notes and which may or may not be publicly available to potential investors ("**Relevant Information**");
- (d) to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, no Relevant Entity is under any obligation to disclose any Relevant Information to any other Relevant Entity, to the Issuer, to any Noteholder or to any potential investor and this Offering Circular and any subsequent conduct by a Relevant Entity should not be construed as implying that the Relevant Entity is not in possession of such Relevant Information; and

(e) each Relevant Entity may have various potential and actual conflicts of interest arising in the ordinary course of its business, including in respect of the interests described above. For example, a Relevant Entity's dealings with respect to a Note or a member of the Group, or the exercise of a Relevant Entity's rights under the Dealer Agreement may affect the value of a Note. These interests may conflict with the interests of a Noteholder and a Noteholder may suffer loss as a result. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, a Relevant Entity is not restricted from entering into, performing or enforcing its rights in respect of the Dealer Agreement or the interests described above and may otherwise continue or take steps to further or protect any of those interests and its business even where to do so may be in conflict with the interests of a Noteholder, and the Relevant Entities may in so doing act without notice to, and without regard to, the interests of any such person.

References to credit ratings

There are references in this Offering Circular to credit ratings. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and does not comment on the adequacy of market price or the suitability of any security for a particular investor. A credit rating may be subject to revision, suspension, withdrawal or placed on ratings watch at any time by the relevant rating agency. Each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating.

Any credit rating in respect of any Notes or the Issuer is for distribution only to persons who are not a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors, professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is not required under Parts 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act and, in all cases, in such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any jurisdiction in which an investor may be located. Anyone who is not such a person is not entitled to receive this Offering Circular and anyone who receives this Offering Circular must not distribute it to any person who is not entitled to receive it.

No rating agency has been involved in the preparation of this Offering Circular.

Not policy liabilities and not guaranteed or otherwise supported

A Note is not a policy liability of any member of the Group.

A Note is not guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of the Commonwealth of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any member of the Group, any Other Party or by any other person.

Risk factors

An investment in the Notes is subject to certain risks, including the loss of all or part of the principal amount invested in, and interest payments in respect of, the Notes (see "Risk Factors" below). In particular, investors in Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes should be aware that such Notes are likely to be Converted or Written-Off on the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event.

Stabilisation

In connection with the issue of any Tranche, the Dealer(s) (if any) named as the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Pricing Supplement may, outside Australia and on a market operated outside Australia, over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be concluded by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Offering Circular contains forward-looking statements including, without limitation, words and expressions such as "expect", "believe", "plan", "intend", "estimate", "project", "anticipate", "may", "will", "would", "could"

or similar words or statements (however, these words are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements), in particular, in "Description of the Issuer and Summary Financial Information" below, in relation to future events, the Group's prospects, its expected financial condition, its business strategies, the future developments of the Group's operations and industry and the future development of the general domestic, regional and global economy.

These statements are based on assumptions regarding the Group's present and future business strategy and the environment in which it expects to operate in the future. These matters and the Group's future results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements and although these forward-looking statements reflect its current view of future events, they are not a guarantee of future performance or other matters. In addition, the Group's future performance may be affected by various factors and risks including, without limitation, those discussed in "Risk Factors" below.

Should one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialise, or should any underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual outcomes may vary materially from those indicated. Prospective investors should therefore not place undue reliance on any of these forward-looking statements.

In this Offering Circular, statements of, or references to, intentions of the Issuer or those of any of its directors are made as at the date of this Offering Circular. Any such intentions may change in light of future developments.

Each of the Issuer, the Dealers, the Agents and the Other Parties expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release, publicly or otherwise, any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Issuer's expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, assumptions or circumstances on which any such statement was based or any change in the intentions of the Issuer or any of its directors.

Definitions

Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalised terms used in this Offering Circular and not separately defined have the meanings given to them in the relevant Conditions. All terms separately defined in this Offering Circular are indexed in the Index of Defined Terms appearing at the end of this Offering Circular.

Unless otherwise stated, all references in this Offering Circular to "euro", "€" and "EUR" are to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community as amended, references to "Australian Dollar", "Australian dollar", "A\$" and "AUD" are to the lawful currency of Australia, references to "Swiss Franc" and "CHF" are to the lawful currency of Switzerland, references to "Sterling", "£", "GDP" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, references to "Japanese Yen", "¥" and "JPY" are references to the lawful currency of Japan, references to "Singapore Dollar", "S\$" and "SGD" are references to the lawful currency of Singapore and references to "U.S. Dollar", "U.S. dollar", "U.S. are to the lawful currency of the U.S..

Documents Incorporated by Reference

This Offering Circular is to be read in conjunction with all of the documents that are incorporated by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below).

References to websites

Any references to website addresses provided in this Offering Circular are for reference only and the content of any such internet sites is not incorporated by reference into and does not form part of this Offering Circular (unless expressly provided in this Offering Circular).

Transaction Documents

Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) are constituted by the Deed of Covenant, Australian Domestic Notes are constituted by the Australian Note Deed Poll and the rights and liabilities of holders of the Ordinary Shares are contained in the Issuer's constitution. These documents and other relevant documents are described in paragraph 7 under "General Information" below (the "Available Documents"). The Available Documents should be reviewed by any intending purchaser. If there is any inconsistency between this Offering Circular and the Available Documents, the Available Documents should be regarded as containing the definitive information. A

copy of the Available Documents may be viewed by intending purchasers at the offices of the Issuer, of the Principal Paying Agent or of the Australian Registrar referred to in the section entitled "Directory" at the back of this Offering Circular as further described in the section entitled "General Information" below.

Offering restrictions

The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Neither the Issuer nor any Other Party represents that this document may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes or Ordinary Shares may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any application, registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer or any Other Party which would permit a public offering of any Notes or Ordinary Shares or distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes or Ordinary Shares may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes or Ordinary Shares come must inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.

Neither the Issuer nor any Other Party makes any representation to any investor in the Notes regarding the legality of its investment under any applicable laws. Any investor in the Notes should be able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Notes for an indefinite period of time.

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of the Notes and on the distribution of this Offering Circular and other offering material relating to the Notes see "Subscription and Sale" below.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of the Notes of the Issuer in any jurisdiction in which it would be unlawful. In particular, this Offering Circular may not be distributed to any person, and the Notes may not be offered or sold, in any country except to the extent permitted below.

Singaporean restrictions

Unless the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited Investors only" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.

Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA or (ii) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited Investors only" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to

Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Australian restrictions

No prospectus, product disclosure document or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act) in relation to the offer of the Notes has been, or will be, lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("ASIC"). Notes may not be offered for sale or purchase, nor may applications for the sale or purchase of any Note be invited, in Australia (including an offer or invitation which is received by a person in Australia), and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material relating to the Notes may be distributed or received in Australia, unless (i) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree or invitee for the Notes is a minimum of A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates) or the Notes are otherwise issued in a manner which does not require disclosure in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act, (ii) the offer or invitation is not made to a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act, (iii) such action complies with all applicable Australian laws, regulations and directives in Australia (including, without limitation, the licensing requirements of Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act), and (iv) such action does not require any document to be lodged with ASIC or any other regulatory authority in Australia.

The Notes are complex financial instruments intended for issue and sale solely to professional and sophisticated investors who have the skill and experience necessary to make their own investigations and analysis of the risks involved in investments in instruments of that kind and of the Issuer without the need for disclosure to investors under the Corporations Act. If you are not such an investor, then the Notes are not a suitable investment for you. If in any doubt, consult your financial adviser.

No retail product distribution conduct

This Offering Circular and the Notes are not for distribution to any person in Australia who is a retail client for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act. No target market determination has been or will be made for the purposes of Part 7.8A of the Corporations Act.

United Kingdom restrictions

In the United Kingdom, this Offering Circular is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons who (a) have professional experience in matters relating to investments and are investment professionals within the meaning of Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the "Order") or (b) are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) ("high net worth companies, unincorporated associations etc") of the Order or (c) to any other persons to whom it may otherwise lawfully be made under the Order (each such person being referred to as a "Relevant Person"). Any investment or investment activity to which this Offering Circular relates is available in the United Kingdom only to Relevant Persons and will be engaged in only with Relevant Persons. This Offering Circular must not be acted or relied on by persons who are not Relevant Persons.

Japanese restrictions

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under Article 4, paragraph 1 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948), as amended (the "FIEA") pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements applicable to a private placement of securities to Qualified Institutional Investors (as defined in and in accordance with Article 2, paragraph 3 of the FIEA and the regulations promulgated thereunder). Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan other than Qualified Institutional Investors. Any Qualified Institutional Investor who acquires Notes may not resell them to any person in Japan that is not a Qualified Institutional Investor, and acquisition by any such person of Notes is conditional upon the execution of an agreement to that effect.

Swiss restrictions

The offering of the Notes in Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a prospectus under the Swiss Financial Services Act ("**FinSA**") because such offering is made to professional clients within the meaning of the FinSA only and the Notes will not be admitted to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland. This document does not constitute a prospectus pursuant to the FinSA,

art. 652a, or art. 752 of the Swiss Code of Obligations (in its version applicable during the transitory period after entering into force of FinSA on 1 January 2020) or a listing prospectus within the meaning of art. 27 et seqq. Of the SIX Listing Rules (in their version enacted on 1 January 2020, and to be applied during the transitory period), and no such prospectus has been or will be filed prepared for or in connection with the offering of the Notes.

No Offer in the United States

Neither the Notes nor the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion have been or will be registered under the Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the U.S. The Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, within the U.S. or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes in bearer form may not be offered, sold or delivered within the U.S. or to U.S. persons and are the subject to U.S. tax law requirements.

The Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") or any other securities commission or other regulatory authority in the United States, nor have the foregoing authorities approved this Offering Circular or confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of the information contained in this Offering Circular. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.

Others

Citigroup Global Markets Limited is incorporated in the United Kingdom and is authorised in the United Kingdom by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the "PRA") and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority and the PRA. Citigroup Global Markets Limited does not hold an Australian Financial Services Licence and, in providing the services to the Issuer, it relies on various exemptions contained in the Corporations Act and the Corporations Regulations 2001 promulgated under the Corporations Act (together the "Corporations Laws"). Citigroup Global Markets Limited hereby notifies all relevant persons that all services contemplated under this document are provided to the Issuer by Citigroup Global Markets Limited from outside of Australia and to the extent necessary, Citigroup Global Markets Australia Pty Limited (ABN 64 003 114 832 and Australian Financial Services Licence No. 240992) a related body corporate of Citigroup Global Markets Limited within the meaning of the Corporations Laws, has arranged for Citigroup Global Markets Limited to provide these services to the Issuer.

SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited (ARBN 155 365 567) is incorporated in the United Kingdom with limited liability and is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority under English law, which differ from Australian laws. SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited does not hold an Australian Financial Services Licence and, in providing the services to the Issuer, it relies on an exemption contained in ASIC Class Order [03/1099] *UK FCA regulated financial service providers* (as preserved by ASIC Corporations (Repeal and Transitional) Instrument 2016/396.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME	13
RISK FACTORS	23
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	65
DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER AND SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION	66
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SENIOR NOTES	75
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SUBORDINATED NOTES	133
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CAPITAL NOTES	207
DESCRIPTION OF THE ORDINARY SHARES	280
FORM OF THE NOTES	282
CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT	286
USE OF PROCEEDS	290
TAXATION	291
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	298
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT – SENIOR NOTES	304
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT – SUBORDINATED NOTES	316
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT – CAPITAL NOTES	328
GENERAL INFORMATION	339
INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS	341
DIRECTORY	343

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

This overview must be read as an introduction to this Offering Circular and any decision to invest in any Notes should be based on a consideration of this Offering Circular as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference herein and the definitive documentation for the Notes. The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Offering Circular and the documents incorporated by reference herein.

Key parties – Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes

Issuer	QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014), a limited liability company established under the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia. See "Description of the Issuer and Summary Financial Information" below.
Registrar	The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch
Principal Paying Agent	The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch
Transfer Agent	The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch
Paying Agent	The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch
Exchange Agent	The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch
Euro Agents	The Registrar, the Principal Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent, the Paying Agents and the Exchange Agent are referred to in this Offering Circular as the "Euro Agents".

Key parties – Australian Domestic Notes

Issuer	QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014), a limited liability company established under the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia. See "Description of the Issuer and Summary Financial Information" below.
Australian Calculation Agent	Austraclear Services Limited (ABN 28 003 284 419)
Australian Registrar	Austraclear Services Limited (ABN 28 003 284 419)
Australian Agents	The Australian Calculation Agent and the Australian Registrar are referred to in this Offering Circular as the "Australian Agents". The Australian Agents and the Euro Agents are together referred to as the "Agents".

Information relating to the Programme

Description	Combined Euro Note Issuance Programme and Australian Domestic Note Issuance Programme
Programme size	Up to U.S.\$4,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) outstanding at any time. The Issuer may increase the amount of the Programme from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Dealer Agreement.
Dealers	Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ABN 11 005 357 522)
	Barclays Bank PLC
	Citigroup Global Markets Limited
	Commonwealth Bank of Australia (ABN 48 123 123 124)
	Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

	HSBC Bank plc		
	J.P. Morgan Securities plc		
	Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc		
	National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937)		
	SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited (ARBN 155 365 567)		
	Westpac Banking Corporation (ABN 33 007 457 141),		
	and any other Dealers appointed from time to time under the Dealer Agreement.		
Distribution	Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.		
Certain restrictions	Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time, including the following restrictions applicable at the date of this Offering Circular. See "Subscription and Sale" below.		
Currencies	Sterling, euro, U.S. Dollars, Australian Dollars, Japanese Yen, Swiss Franc and such other currencies as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.		
Denomination of Notes	Notes will be issued in one or more denominations (" Specified Denomination(s) ") as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, provided that:		
	(a) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, Notes shall only be offered and applications may only be invited (in each case directly or indirectly) if:		
	(i) the aggregate consideration payable to the Issuer by the subscriber is at least A\$500,000 (disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates) or the Notes are otherwise issued in a manner which does not require disclosure in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;		
	(ii) the offer or invitation from which the issue results does not constitute an offer to a "retail client" as defined for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act;		
	(iii) such action complies with all applicable Australian laws, regulations and directives (including, without limitation, the licensing requirements of Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act); and		
	(iv) such action does not require any document to be lodged with ASIC or any other regulatory authority in Australia;		
	(b) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place; and		
	(c) in the case of Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than Euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).		
	Notes in one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes in another Specified Denomination.		
Issue Price	Notes may be issued at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par but will be issued on a fully-paid basis.		

Form of Notes	In the case of Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes, Notes may be issued in bearer form or registered form. Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes and <i>vice versa</i> . In the case of Australian Domestic Notes, Notes will be issued in registered form. Notes will be uncertificated unless the Issuer determines that certificates should be available or if certificates are required by any applicable law or directive. See "Form of the Notes" below.
Type of Notes	The Issuer may issue notes as senior obligations ("Senior Notes"), as subordinated obligations capable of qualifying as Tier 2 Capital (as defined by the APRA) ("Tier 2 Capital") of the Issuer ("Subordinated Notes") or as subordinated obligations (ranking junior to the Subordinated Notes) ("Additional Tier 1 Capital") capable of qualifying as Additional Tier 1 Capital (as defined by APRA) of the Issuer ("Capital Notes" and together with the Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes and any other notes that may be issued under the Programme from time to time, the "Notes"). Notes may be Australian Domestic Notes constituted by and owing under the amended and restated deed poll dated 27 February 2024 made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time ("Australian Note Deed Poll"), or Notes issued pursuant to the amended and restated agency agreement dated 27 February 2024 between the Issuer and the agents named therein, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time ("Euro Agency").
Other Notes	Agreement"). The Issuer may issue Notes in a form or of a type not contemplated in this Offering Circular, as described in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
Status of the Senior Notes	Senior Notes will be direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank <i>pari passu</i> with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than any obligations preferred by applicable law). Senior Notes are not guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group or by any other person.
Status of the Subordinated Notes	Subordinated Notes will be direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank in a Winding-Up of the Issuer: (a) ahead of Junior Ranking Instruments (including, without limitation, Capital Notes and Ordinary Shares); (b) equally among themselves and with the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments (including, without limitation, Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments); and (c) behind the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Senior Ranking Debt (including, without limitation, Senior Notes). Subordinated Notes are likely to be Converted into Ordinary Shares or Written-Off if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs. See "Conversion or Write-Off (Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes)" below. Subordinated Notes are not guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group or by any other person.
Status of the Capital Notes	Capital Notes will be direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank for payment of interest and for the Face Value in a Winding-Up of the Issuer: (a) ahead of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Ordinary Shares;

	 (b) equally among themselves and with the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments (including, without limitation, Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments and Preference Shares); and (c) behind the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Senior Ranking Debt (including, without limitation, the Senior Notes and the
	Subordinated Notes). Capital Notes are likely to be Converted into Ordinary Shares or Written-Off if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs. See "Conversion or Write-
	Off (Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes)" below. Capital Notes are not guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group or by any other person.
Maturity	Senior Notes may have any maturity, subject to compliance with legal or regulatory restrictions. The maturity applicable to a Tranche of Notes will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. However, no Senior Notes will be issued having a maturity of less than one year.
	Subordinated Notes will be subject to minimum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by APRA. There is no maximum maturity for Subordinated Notes.
	Capital Notes will be perpetual securities with no scheduled maturity date.
Interest	Notes may bear interest at a fixed ("Fixed Rate Notes") or a floating rate ("Floating Rate Notes") or a combination of both, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
Fixed Rate Notes	Fixed interest will be payable in arrears on the date or dates in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
Floating Rate Notes	Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:
	(a) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating either the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., ("ISDA"), and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series) or the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions (as published by ISDA as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series) as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
	(b) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the screen page of a commercial quotation service specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
	(c) on such other basis as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
	The margin (if any) on such floating rate of interest will be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating Rate Notes and will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
	Floating Rate Notes (which are not Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes) may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.
Other interest bases	The Issuer may agree with one or more relevant Dealers that Notes may be issued which bear interest at a rate not contemplated in this Offering Circular, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
Benchmark Discontinuation	In the case of Floating Rate Notes, if the Issuer determines that a Reference Rate Disruption Event, Temporary Disruption Trigger or a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger (as the case may be) has occurred, the relevant benchmark or screen rate may be replaced by a Reference Rate Successor

	Rate or Fallback Rate (as applicable) and adjustments and successor inputs may be applied to such Reference Rate Successor Rate or Fallback Rate.
	See "Risk Factors—The regulation and reform of "benchmarks" may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks" below.
Interest on Subordinated Notes	Payments of interest on Subordinated Notes is subject to the condition that the Issuer is Solvent at the time of payment and immediately after making the payment. Interest on Subordinated Notes may be deferred for certain periods, subject to certain conditions, unless the applicable Pricing Supplement otherwise specifies. See "Risk Factors—There are restrictions on the payment of interest, principal and other amounts under Subordinated Notes" below.
Interest on Capital Notes	Interest on Capital Notes is subject to the Issuer's discretion and the satisfaction of interest payment conditions (including that the Issuer is Solvent and APRA does not object to the payment). See "Risk Factors—Interest may not be paid on Capital Notes" below.
Redemption at Maturity (Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes)	Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Senior Note and Subordinated Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date. The Final Redemption Amount and the Maturity Date for each Tranche will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
Optional Redemption	The applicable Pricing Supplement will state whether the Notes may be redeemed (either in whole or in part) prior to their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer ("Issuer Call") and, in the case of Senior Notes, the Noteholders ("Investor Put"), and if so the terms applicable to such redemption. In the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, the date on which an Issuer Call may be exercised may not be prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date of the relevant Notes and no redemption may occur without the prior written approval of APRA. The approval of APRA may or may not be given.
Redemption for withholding tax reasons (Senior Notes)	Senior Notes may be redeemed (either in whole or in part) at the option of the Issuer following changes in tax law which give rise to an obligation of the Issuer to make any a withholding or deduction and pay additional amounts, and in certain other circumstances.
Redemption for tax reasons (Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes)	The applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of each Tranche of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes will state whether the Notes may be redeemed if a Tax Event occurs, and if so the terms applicable to such redemption. If applicable to the Notes, such a redemption may occur at the option of the Issuer at any time following the Issue Date, subject to certain conditions, including receiving the prior written approval of APRA. The approval of APRA may or may not be given. See "Risk Factors—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to early optional Redemption if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs or
	on dates specified in the Pricing Supplement" below.
Redemption for regulatory reasons (Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes)	The applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of each Tranche of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes will state whether the Notes may be redeemed if a Regulatory Event occurs, and if so the terms applicable to such redemption. If applicable to the Notes, such a redemption may occur at the option of the Issuer at any time following the Issue Date, subject to certain conditions, including receiving the prior written approval of APRA. The approval of APRA may or may not be given. See "Risk Factors—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to early optional Redemption if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs or on dates specified in the Pricing Supplement" below.

Resale of Capital Notes (in lieu of redemption)	At any time the Issuer is permitted to redeem Capital Notes, the Issuer may, subject to APRA's prior written approval, in lieu of such redemption, elect to Resell Capital Notes to one or more Nominated Purchasers in accordance with the Conditions of the Capital Notes.		
Conversion or Write-Off (Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes)	If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, any Capital Notes and Subordinated Notes are likely to be Converted into Ordinary Shares ("Conversion Option") or Written-Off ("Write-Off Option"). The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether the Conversion Option or the Write-Off Option applies to the relevant Tranche.		
	A "Non-Viability Trigger Event" occurs when APRA provides a written determination to the Issuer that:		
	(a) the conversion or write-off of Relevant Capital Instruments (which includes Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes) in accordance with their terms or by operation of law is necessary because, without the conversion or write-off, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable; or		
	(b) without a public sector injection of capital into, or equivalent support with respect to, the Issuer, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable.		
	Where a public sector injection of capital is required, all Relevant Capital Instruments (including the Subordinated Notes and the Capital Notes) must be converted or written-off.		
	Where paragraph (a) above applies, the Issuer must first convert or procure the conversion or write-off of all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments, including the Capital Notes, before Conversion of any Subordinated Notes. If conversion or write-off of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments is not sufficient to satisfy APRA that the Issuer would not become non-viable, the Issuer must Convert any Subordinated Notes and convert or procure the conversion or write-off of other Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments in an aggregate Face Value and nominal amount which, when added to the aggregate nominal amount of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments converted or written-off, will satisfy APRA that the Issuer would not become non-viable.		
	Where the aggregate principal amount of Notes to be Converted is less than the aggregate principal amount of the Notes outstanding, the Issuer may, subject to certain conditions, elect to Convert some, but not all, Notes in full or some or all Notes in part.		
	Each Note (or part thereof) to be Converted will convert into a number of Ordinary Shares calculated in accordance with a formula which provides for a calculation based on the Face Value (or portion thereof) of the Note to be Converted divided by a discounted volume weighted average price of the Issuer's Ordinary Shares during the period of five Trading Days immediately preceding (but not including) the relevant Non-Viability Conversion Date (subject to a maximum number calculated by dividing the Face Value (or part thereof) by an amount equal to 20 per cent. of the volume weighted average price of the Issuer's Ordinary Shares during the period of five Trading Days immediately preceding (but not including) the Issue Date, as may be adjusted in limited circumstances under the Conditions).		
	All obligations of the Issuer in respect of accrued but unpaid interest on a Subordinated Note (or part thereof) or Capital Note (or part thereof) Converted on a Non-Viability Conversion Date shall terminate on that		
	Non-Viability Conversion Date in proportion to the principal amount of that Subordinated Note or that Capital Note which is Converted on that date.		
	Where the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the Conversion Option and where for any reason (including, without limitation, an Inability		

Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion (Subordinated	Event), a Conversion has not been effected within five Scheduled Trading Days after the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the rights of the relevant Noteholder are immediately and irrevocably Written-Off with effect on and from the Non-Viability Conversion Date. If Notes are Written-Off, Noteholders will have no claim on the Issuer (even though Ordinary Shares are on issue) and they are likely to be worse off than holders of Ordinary Shares. See "Risk Factors—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of the Issuer" below. For the rights and liabilities attaching to Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, see "Description"
Notes and Capital Notes) Events of Default (Senior	of the Ordinary Shares" below. Each of the following events constitute an Event of Default in respect of a
Notes)	Senior Note: (a) if default is made in the payment of any principal or interest due in respect of the Notes or any of them and the default continues for a period of seven days (in the case of payment of principal) or 14 days (in the case of payment of interest);
	(b) if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under the Conditions of the Senior Notes and (except in any case where the failure is incapable of remedy, when no such continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the failure continues for the period of 30 days following the receipt by the Issuer or the Principal Paying Agent of a notice served by a Noteholder on the Issuer requiring the same to be remedied;
	(c) if there is any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution affects any asset or assets of the Issuer having an aggregate value of A\$500,000,000 which is not discharged within 30 days;
	(d) the Issuer is or becomes unable to pay its debts as and when they fall due, applies for or consents to or suffers the appointment of a liquidator or receiver or administrator of the Issuer or of the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer (other than in respect of monies borrowed or raised on a non-recourse basis) or makes or enters into a general assignment or any arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of creditors generally; or
	(e) an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding up of the Issuer other than under or in connection with a scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction not involving a bankruptcy or insolvency.
	If an Event of Default occurs in respect of a Senior Note, then any one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than the Required Percentage (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in nominal amount of the Senior Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding may declare the Senior Notes to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount, together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment. No Event of Default (other than (e), above) in respect of the Senior Notes
	shall occur solely on account of any failure by the Issuer to perform or observe any of its obligations in relation to, or the agreement or declaration of any moratorium with respect to, or the taking of any proceeding in respect of, any Regulatory Capital Instrument (as defined in the Conditions of the Senior Notes).

Events of Default	The following events constitute an Event of Default in respect of a		
(Subordinated Notes)	Subordinated Note:		
	(a)	either:	
		(i)	the Issuer does not pay the Redemption Amount in respect of the Subordinated Notes when such payment becomes due and payable and such failure continues for a period of seven days after the applicable due date; or
		(ii)	the Issuer does not pay any interest (including any Deferred Interest or any Additional Interest) or other amount when such payment becomes due and payable and such failure continues for a period of 30 days after the applicable due date,
		(a " Pa ;	yment Default"); or
	(b)	either:	
		(i)	the making of an order by a court (including a court with appellate jurisdiction) with competent jurisdiction in Australia which is not appealed or stayed within 21 days of the entry of that order; or
		(ii)	an effective resolution is passed (or taken by applicable law to have passed) by the shareholders of the Issuer,
		connec	e Winding-Up of the Issuer in each case other than in tion with a scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction noting the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Issuer (a ling-Up Default").
	so long represe specifie	g as such enting in ed in the	Default occurs in respect of a Subordinated Note, then for event is continuing, any one or more persons holding or the aggregate not less than the Required Percentage (as applicable Pricing Supplement) in nominal amount of the otes of the Series for the time being outstanding may:
	(a)	in the	case of a Payment Default, bring proceedings:
		(i)	to recover any amount then due and payable but unpaid on the Subordinated Notes (subject to the Issuer being able to make the payment and remain Solvent);
		(ii)	to obtain an order for specific performance of any other obligation in respect of the Subordinated Notes; or
		(iii)	for the Winding-Up of the Issuer; and
	(b)	the act that th payabl exclud notice	case of a Winding-Up Default, in addition to taking any of ions specified in (a) above, declare by notice to the Issuer le Redemption Amount of each Subordinated Note is e together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but ing) the date of redemption, on a date specified in the and may, subject to certain conditions, prove in the ng-Up of the Issuer for that amount.
	any De		at a payment is not required to be made by operation of ovision, the amount is not due and payable and a Payment occur.
	damage the rig	es) as a c hts of N	ve no other remedies (including any right to sue for consequence of an Event of Default. This does not affect toteholders to seek an injunction or order for specific respect of an obligation.
Events of Default (Capital Notes)	There v	will be no	Events of Default in respect of Capital Notes.
Negative pledge	The ter	ms of the	Notes will not contain a negative pledge.
Cross default	The ter	ms of the	e Notes will not contain cross default provisions.

No set-off (Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes)	A Noteholder of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes may not exercise any right of set-off and has no offsetting rights against the Issuer.
Foreign Branch Notes	The Issuer may specify in an applicable Pricing Supplement that an issue of Notes will be made through a borrowing office of the Issuer outside Australia ("Foreign Branch Note") (subject to APRA's prior written approval, in the case of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes). The obligations of the Issuer in respect of Foreign Branch Notes are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office. If the Issuer is unable to make a payment in respect of a Foreign Branch Note or related Coupon from the relevant borrowing office, the Issuer shall make the payment from some other place of business of the Issuer.
Branch Substitution	The Issuer may, from time to time, without the consent of the relevant Noteholders (but in the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, with APRA's prior written approval) amend the Conditions applicable to the relevant Notes to specify that the Notes are on issue through a borrowing office of the Issuer (whether in or outside Australia) provided certain conditions are satisfied.
Rating	A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any Notes and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating agency. Any credit rating in respect of any Notes or the Issuer is for distribution only to persons who are not a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors, professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is not required under Parts 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act and, in all cases, in such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any jurisdiction in which an investor may be located. Anyone who is not such a person is not entitled to receive this Offering Circular and anyone who receives this Offering Circular must not distribute it to any person who is not entitled to receive it. See "Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Credit Agency Ratings" below.
Listing and admission to trading	Application has been made to the SGX-ST for the listing and quotation of the Notes that may be issued pursuant to the Programme and which are agreed at or prior to the time of issue thereof to be so listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST. Such approval will be granted when such Notes have been admitted to the Official List of the SGX-ST. For so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, the Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of S\$200,000 (or its equivalent in another currency). There is no assurance that any application to the SGX-ST for the listing and quotation of any Notes will be approved. The SGX-ST is not a regulated market for the purposes of MiFID II. The Issuer may also make an application for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation on or by a stock exchange, listing authority or quotation system other than the SGX-ST. The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes under the Programme.
Risk factors	Certain factors may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. These factors include, <i>inter alia</i> , the risk of subsequent changes in the actual or perceived creditworthiness of the Issuer which may adversely affect the market value of the Notes. In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme, which include, <i>inter alia</i> , risks related to the structure of particular types of Notes, modifications and waivers of the Conditions of

	the Notes in certain circumstances without the consent of all of the Noteholders, changes in laws, taxation laws or regulations which affect the Notes, risks related to secondary market trading of the Notes, exchange rate risks and interest rate risks. See "Risk Factors" below.
Taxation	All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of taxes imposed by the Commonwealth of Australia (and, in the case of Notes that are on issue through a borrowing office outside Australia, by the relevant tax authority in the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located), subject as provided in the Conditions. In the event that any such withholding or deduction is made, the Issuer will, save in certain limited circumstances provided in the Conditions, be required to pay additional amounts to cover the amounts so withheld or deducted.
	A brief overview of the Australian withholding tax treatment of payments on the Notes is set out in the section entitled " <i>Taxation</i> " below. However, investors should obtain their own taxation advice regarding the taxation status of investing in any Notes.
	Where Notes will be issued by the Issuer though a borrowing office outside Australia, the applicable Pricing Supplement will include a brief overview of the withholding tax treatment of such Notes in the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located. See "Risk Factors—Risks applicable to Foreign Branch Notes" below.
Governing law (Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes)	Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes), the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons will be governed by English law, save that in the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, provisions relating to subordination, Conversion and Write-Off will be governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.
Governing law (Australian Domestic Notes)	Australian Domestic Notes, the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement will be governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.
Selling restrictions	The offering, sale, delivery and transfer of Notes and the distribution of this Offering Circular and any other materials in relation to any Notes are subject to restrictions. Each Dealer has agreed that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes this Offering Circular. See "Subscription and Sale" below for specific selling restrictions for Australia, the U.S., the United Kingdom, Singapore, Japan, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong"), Switzerland, Malaysia, Taiwan and New Zealand and a prohibition of sales to European Economic Area and United Kingdom retail investors and such other restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and sale of a particular Tranche of Notes.

RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should consider carefully the risks set forth below and the other information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Offering Circular prior to making any investment decision with respect to the Notes.

Each of the risks highlighted below, being risks relating to the Issuer, the Group and its businesses, could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, operations, financial condition or prospects, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the amount which investors will receive in respect of the Notes. In addition, each of the risks highlighted below, being risks relating to the Notes, could adversely affect the trading price of the Notes or the rights of investors under the Notes and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their investment.

Prospective investors should note that the risks described below are not the only risks faced by the Issuer or relating to the Notes. There may be additional risks and any of these risks could have the effects set forth above.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND THE GROUP

Risks relating to the nature of the business of the Group, including climate change

The Group is at risk from the severity and frequency of catastrophes or other events that may lead to an increased frequency or severity of claims.

General insurers and reinsurers may be impacted by an increased frequency or severity of claims from a catastrophe or other events, which could have a significant impact on their results of operations and financial condition. Catastrophes can include, but are not limited to, various natural events, such as cyclones, hurricanes, earthquakes, wind, hail, droughts, floods, tsunamis, fires, volcanic eruptions, explosions and pandemics, epidemics or other health crisis or outbreaks. Catastrophes can also be man-made such as terrorism, war and other events. The frequency and severity of such events and the losses associated with them are inherently unpredictable or difficult to predict and may materially impact the Group's results of operations. The Group has experienced, and can expect in the future to experience, claims from catastrophes that may have a material adverse impact on its results of operations and financial condition.

For the full year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's net claims on an accident year basis from catastrophe events totalled A\$1,645 million (U.S.\$1,092 million) compared with A\$1,530 million (U.S.\$1,060 million) for the full year ended 31 December 2022.

The extent of claims from a catastrophe caused by a peril is a function of two factors, namely, the total amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event and the severity of the event. Catastrophes can be localised to small geographic areas. However, natural disasters have the potential to produce significant damage over large areas. In addition, catastrophes can occur in heavily populated or urbanised areas, which can lead to increased claims. As the world becomes more heavily populated and urbanised areas increase, there may be increases in the value and geographic concentration of insured property in such areas, which could increase the severity of claims from future catastrophes. The cost of such claims may also inflate due to demand surge resulting from temporarily increased demand for labour and materials leading to higher costs of rebuilding and repairs as a consequence of such events. Although catastrophes can give rise to claims in a variety of general insurance and reinsurance lines, property insurance and reinsurance have in the past generated the vast majority of the Group's catastrophe-related claims.

The international geographic distribution of the Group's business subjects it to catastrophe risk from natural events occurring in a number of areas throughout the world. The Group monitors its aggregate exposures and the amount of reinsurance protection it buys takes into consideration the estimates of probable maximum loss from perils at selected return period. There is a range of uncertainty in this modelling and these estimates may prove to be incorrect leading to the Group's aggregate claims exceeding its estimates. One of the significant risks is the potential under-estimation of the impact on the Group of catastrophic events related to changes in weather patterns. There is also the risk of increased claims and related operational costs and changes in the economy due to the impact of climate change scenarios. In addition, the Group considers the frequency, severity and potential locations of natural catastrophes on its business. Over the past several years, changing weather patterns and climatic change have added to the unpredictability and frequency of natural disasters in certain parts of the world and created

additional uncertainty as to future trends and exposures. Over time, the adverse effects of climate change could threaten resilience and financial stability of general insurers.

While the Group has historically managed its exposure to catastrophes through, among other things, the purchase of catastrophe reinsurance, retrocessional coverage and whole account reinsurance, there can be no assurance that such coverage will continue to be available to it at acceptable rates and levels, that its existing coverage will prove adequate or that counterparties to these arrangements will perform their obligations thereunder.

The declaration of a global or local epidemic or pandemic may materially impact economies and/or financial markets, which may adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The declaration of an epidemic or pandemic can have a significant impact on an economy and the ability of individuals, businesses and governments to operate. Across the globe, travel, trade, business, working arrangements and consumption can all be materially impacted.

In the event of the declaration of a global pandemic, there is considerable uncertainty relating (but not limited) to government, regulatory or health authority actions, work stoppages, lockdowns, quarantines and travel restrictions. The impact of some or all of these factors could cause significant direct disruption to the Group's operations and financial performance, and could produce claims in a variety of industries and geographies from many of the Group's policyholders at the same time. Furthermore, as an international business with multiple subsidiaries, a pandemic and its associated impacts could necessitate further divisional capital requirements and support (either on a standalone basis or concurrently), which would create additional challenges and risks for the financial position of the Group.

Furthermore, increased economic uncertainty and the economic impacts of the spread of a global pandemic could result in policyholders seeking sources of liquidity and withdrawing at greater rates than previously expected, or materially affect the Group's ability to obtain and retain new policyholders. These factors are beyond the Group's control and could have a material adverse effect on the overall business sentiment and environment, causing the Group's business to suffer in ways that cannot be predicted, and which may materially adversely impact the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Acquisitions and disposals may adversely affect the Group's business

Historically, acquisitions have played a significant role in the growth of some of the Group's businesses, and the Group may continue to pursue growth through acquisitions in the future. The Group may not, however, be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates or to finance or complete such transactions on acceptable terms. Additionally, the integration of acquired businesses may result in significant challenges, and the Group may be unable to accomplish such integration smoothly or successfully.

Acquisitions are subject to many risks, including the following:

- acquisitions may cause a disruption to the Group's ongoing businesses, distract the Group's management
 and other resources and make it difficult to maintain the Group's standards, internal controls and
 procedures;
- the Issuer's current ratings by S&P, Moody's, A.M. Best or Fitch may be jeopardised;
- the Group may not be able to successfully integrate services, products and personnel into its operations, especially if it acquires large businesses;
- the Group may experience difficulties in realising projected efficiencies, synergies and cost savings;
- the Group may not be successful in acquiring all entities that it seeks to acquire;
- the Group may be required to dispose of or cancel certain product lines that it has acquired;
- the Group may be required to incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for acquisitions, for which financing may not be available or may only be available on unacceptable terms;

- the Group's acquisitions may not achieve anticipated revenues, earnings or cash flow;
- the Group's acquisitions may not result in any return on its investment and/or it may lose its entire investment;
- the Group may assume unforeseen liabilities and exposures; and
- the Group may overpay for acquisitions and need to impair goodwill or intangible assets.

The Group may also seek to dispose of certain businesses or entities, and recent disposals are disclosed in the Group Structure note to the Issuer's financial statements (note 5.1 of the Issuer's most recent half year financial statements and note 7.1 of the Issuer's most recent financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, each financial statement is incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular). Disposals are subject to many risks including:

- the final consideration might be lower than estimated consideration;
- there may be delays in regulatory approvals in each jurisdiction;
- regulators may place conditions or restrictions on the disposals;
- the Group may ultimately be unable to obtain the required regulatory approvals; and
- the buyer may be unable to pay the Group for any or all of the operations being disposed of.

There can be no assurance that any future disposal or acquisition will provide the Group with the benefits that it anticipates when entering into the transaction. The Group's failure to adequately address these acquisition and disposal risks could materially adversely affect its liquidity, results of operations, ratings and financial condition.

Critical accounting judgments and estimates

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ("AASB") and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the application of which often requires management to make judgements and estimates that affect amounts reported. In determining and applying accounting policies, judgment is often required in respect of items where the choice of a specific policy, accounting estimate or assumption to be followed could materially affect the reported results or net asset position of the Group; it may later be determined that a different choice would have been more appropriate. Management considers that certain accounting estimates and assumptions relating to insurance and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities, impairment testing of intangible assets and recoverability of deferred tax assets are its critical accounting estimates. A discussion of these critical accounting estimates is provided below. There is a risk that these judgments and estimates may be incorrect or that over time the valuations of the assets and liabilities develop differently to the judgments or estimates, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

Insurance and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities

The present value of future claims' cash flows is determined by the Group Chief Actuary, supported by a team of actuaries in each of the Group's divisions. A full actuarial assessment of reserves is conducted at least twice a year for all divisions. Between reserve reviews, reserve monitoring is conducted to ensure reserves remain appropriate. The actuarial reserving team engage with claims and underwriting staff, and senior management

continuously throughout the year to ensure a well informed reserving, and reserve monitoring, process. The present value of future claims cash flows is also subject to annual comprehensive independent actuarial review.

The determination of the amounts that the Group will ultimately pay for claims arising under insurance and reinsurance contracts issued involves a number of critical assumptions. Some of the uncertainties impacting these assumptions are as follows:

- changes in patterns of claims incidence, reporting and payment;
- volatility in the estimation of future costs for long-tail insurance classes due to the longer period of time that can elapse before a claim is paid in full;
- existence of complex underlying exposures;
- incidence of catastrophic events close to the balance date;
- changes in the legal environment, including the interpretation of liability laws and the quantum of damages; and
- changing social, environmental, political and economic trends, for example price and wage inflation.

The estimation of claims incurred but not reported is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost of settling claims that have been reported to the Group but are not yet paid, for which more information about claims is generally available. The notification and settlement of claims relating to liability and other long-tail classes of business may not happen for many years after the event giving rise to the claim. As a consequence, liability and other long-tail classes typically display greater variability between initial estimates and final settlement due to delays in reporting claims and uncertainty in respect of court awards and future claims inflation. Claims in respect of property and other short-tail classes are typically but not universally reported and settled soon after the claim event, giving rise to more certainty.

Estimates of future cash flows for each class of business are determined using a variety of estimation techniques, generally based on an analysis of historical experience and with reference to external benchmarks where relevant. The cash flows are discounted to present value using appropriate discount rates.

There can be no assurance that the ultimate losses will not materially exceed the Group's estimates of present value of future cash flows and will not have a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

Risk adjustment

The risk adjustment is approved by the Group Board and represents the compensation the Issuer requires for bearing the uncertainty in the net discounted estimate of future cash flows within the insurance liabilities. The determination of the appropriate level of risk adjustment takes into account:

- the level of economic capital that the Issuer allocates to support the net discounted cash flows and the weighted average cost of servicing that capital;
- the run-off profile and term to settlement of the net discounted cash flows;
- mix of business, in particular the mix of short-tail and long-tail business;
- the benefit of diversification between classes of business and geographic locations; and
- the level of uncertainty in the cash flow estimates due to estimation error, data quality, variability of key inflation assumptions, and possible economic and legislative changes.

The uncertainty by class of business is measured using techniques that determine a range of possible outcomes of ultimate payments and assign a likelihood to outcomes at different levels. These techniques generally use standard statistical distributions, and the measure of variability is referred to as the coefficient of variation.

The coefficient of variation for two or more classes of business or for two or more geographic locations combined is likely to be less than the coefficients of variation for the individual classes, reflecting the benefit of diversification in general insurance. The statistical measure used to determine diversification is called the correlation; the higher the correlation between two classes of business, the more likely it is that a negative outcome in one class will correspond to a negative outcome in the other class. For example, higher correlation exists between classes of business affected by court cases involving bodily injury claims such as motor third-party liability, workers' compensation and public liability, particularly in the same jurisdiction.

The confidence level for the Group is determined by analysing the variability of each class of business and the correlation between classes of business and divisions. Correlations are determined for aggregations of classes of business, where appropriate, at the divisional level. The correlations adopted by the Group are generally derived from industry analysis, the Group's historical experience and the judgement of experienced and qualified actuaries.

There can be no assurance that the ultimate losses will not materially exceed the Group's provisions including the risk adjustment and will not have a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

Onerous contracts

Insurance contracts are onerous when the liability for remaining coverage is insufficient to pay future claims and other insurance service expenses attributable to the contracts.

Contracts that are measured using the premium allocation approach are assumed not to be onerous unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. In identifying facts and circumstances that may be indicators of onerous contracts, the Group has considered management information for Group planning and performance management, in combination with other indicators where relevant. If there are facts and circumstances that may indicate the existence of possible onerous contracts, the onerous contract losses are measured based on the extent to which the fulfilment cash flows (sum of present value of future cash flows and a risk adjustment) attributable to the group of contracts exceed the liability for remaining coverage for that group.

Under both measurement models, onerous contract losses are measured on a gross basis (excluding the effect of reinsurance contracts held) and are immediately recognised in profit or loss. A loss component of the liability for remaining coverage is established (or increased) to depict the onerous contract losses recognised. Where the onerous contracts are covered by reinsurance contracts held, reinsurance income is recognised in profit or loss and a corresponding loss-recovery component of the reinsurance asset for remaining coverage is established to depict expected recoveries attributable to the onerous contract losses.

The consideration of facts and circumstances as well as the measurement of any onerous contract losses are determined separately for each underwriting year within a portfolio of contracts that are of similar risks and managed together. Where a subset of contracts within a portfolio would be identified as a separate group from other contracts within the portfolio only because of the existence of specific legal or regulatory constraints to the Group's practical ability to set a different price or level of benefits for policyholders with different characteristics, such contracts are included in the same group for the purposes of identifying and measuring onerous contracts.

Impairment testing of intangible assets

The Group monitors goodwill and identifiable intangible assets for impairment in accordance with the Group's policy, which is set out in note 7.2.1 of the Issuer's most recent financial statements for the year ended 31 December. At 31 December 2023, the Group has reviewed all intangible assets for indicators of impairment and has completed a detailed impairment test where indicators of impairment were identified.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets ("DTA")

At 31 December 2023, a deferred tax asset of U.S.\$420 million (31 December 2022 U.S.\$390 million) has been recognised in relation to the entities included in the U.S. tax group. Uncertainty continues to exist in relation to the utilisation of this DTA, which is subject to there being continued future taxable profits over the period of time in which the losses can be utilised. Losses expire over the next 19 years, with the majority expiring between 2032 and 2040. The uncertainty around the recognition of the DTA will be resolved in future years if taxable profits

are generated. Recovery of the DTA continues to be sensitive to changes in the combined operating ratio, premium growth and investment yield assumptions as these items are the key drivers of future taxable profits.

The Group's financial results are affected by changes in exchange rates

The Group's financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. As such, a stronger U.S. dollar against certain other major currencies will have a negative impact on the Group's reported revenue and profit and conversely a weaker U.S. dollar will increase the Group's reported revenue and profit. For the full year ended 31 December 2023, approximately 53 per cent. of the Group's gross written premium was in U.S. dollars, 23 per cent. of gross written premium was in Australian dollars and 10 per cent. of gross written premium was in Sterling. For the full year ended 31 December 2022, approximately 53 per cent. of the Group's gross written premium was in U.S. dollars, 25 per cent. of gross written premium was in Australian dollars and 9 per cent. of gross written premium was in Sterling. Although the Group's policy is to carefully manage its operational foreign currency exposures through matching of assets and liabilities in local currencies, it is still exposed to exchange rate risk in its financial reporting. Insofar as entities within the Group do not hedge operational foreign exchange exposures effectively, the Group's reported profit would be affected.

Under Australian Accounting Standards which are equivalent to IFRS, the parent entity is only permitted to hedge its exposure to its net investments in foreign operations back to the parent entity's functional currency of Australian dollars. Insofar as the Group does not hedge this exposure, the Group's foreign currency translation reserve would be impacted. This amount would then be recycled to profit or loss in the event that the foreign operation is disposed of. The Group is not permitted to hedge its foreign exchange variability between the Australian dollar and the U.S. dollar as a result of presenting the Group's financial statements in U.S. dollars.

Income and expense items of the consolidated Group's foreign operations with a non-U.S. dollar functional currency are translated to the Group's U.S. dollar presentation currency using the cumulative average rate of exchange for that period. On an average basis, the Australian dollar had depreciated by 4 per cent., while Sterling and euro had appreciated by 1 per cent. and 3 per cent., respectively against the U.S. dollar relative to the prior year. Balance sheet items of the Group and its foreign operations that have a non-U.S. dollar functional currency are translated at the period end rate of exchange. On this basis, for the full year ending 31 December 2023, the Australian dollar, Sterling and euro had each appreciated by 1 per cent., 6 per cent. and 4 per cent., respectively against the U.S. dollar compared with closing rates at 31 December 2022.

The Group's financial results are affected by changes in commodity prices

U.S. crop insurance comprises a significant portion of the Group's North American segment. One feature of crop insurance is that premium rates and claims payments can be impacted by fluctuations in crop prices. Changes in crop prices could therefore have an adverse effect on the Group's financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the crop insurance business is subsidised significantly by the U.S. Government paying farm insurance subsidies to the agricultural industry. The Group's crop insurance business could be adversely affected if the U.S. Government were to reduce crop subsidies in the future.

The Group's performance is affected by the cyclical nature of the insurance and reinsurance industries

The Group's performance is affected by changes in economic conditions, both globally and in the jurisdictions in which it conducts its business. Premium and claim trends in the general insurance and reinsurance markets are cyclical in nature. Furthermore, the timing and application of these cycles differ among the Group's geographic and product markets. Average premium rate increases across the Group during the full year period ended 31 December 2023 were 9.7 per cent., compared with an average premium rate increase of 7.9 per cent. during the full year ended 31 December 2022. Unpredictable economic, social and geopolitical developments also affect the industry's profitability, including but not limited to, changes in competitive conditions and pricing pressures, unforeseen developments in loss trends, market acceptance of new coverages, changes in operating expenses, fluctuations in inflation and interest rates and other changes in investment markets that affect market prices of investments and income from such investments. Fluctuations in the availability of capital also have a significant influence on the cyclical nature of general insurance and reinsurance markets. These cycles influence the demand for and pricing of the Group's products and services and, therefore, affect the Group's financial position, profits and dividends. Accordingly, the Group's results of operations may be adversely impacted if actual experience differs from management's estimates.

Differences between the Group's actual claims experience and underwriting and reserving assumptions may require it to increase its outstanding claims provisions

The Group's earnings depend significantly upon the extent to which its actual claims experience is consistent with the assumptions it uses in pricing and underwriting its products, actuarial reserving techniques it uses to analyse and project loss trends and the provisions it establishes for its obligations to pay claims. Establishing provisions blends both analysis of emerging trends and expert actuarial judgement, and is subject to uncertainty relating to the underlying risks, both internal and external. Due to the level of uncertainty associated with insurance claims process and emergence, the Group cannot be certain as to the amounts that it will ultimately pay for claims that have occurred but which have not yet been settled. Actual claims outcomes may vary from the estimated amounts, particularly when those payments may not occur until well into the future, which is the case for the Group's longer-tailed classes of insurance business. The Group evaluates its provisions periodically, allowing for emerging experience and appropriately reflecting this experience in changes to the assumptions used to establish the provisions. If the provisions previously established prove inadequate, the Group would likely have to increase its provisions which could have an adverse impact on its businesses, financial condition and performance. The opposite is also possible, where reserves prove to be more than adequate and releases can have a favourable impact on earnings.

For the full year ended 31 December 2023, the underlying prior accident year net adverse development was an undiscounted A\$339 million (U.S.\$225 million) comprising adverse development in North America and International, partly offset by positive development in Australia Pacific. The biggest driver of the adverse development related to a number of 2022 catastrophe events, primarily winter storm Elliot in North America and flood events in Australia. The underlying prior accident year net adverse development for the year ended 31 December 2022 was an undiscounted A\$203 million (U.S.\$141 million) comprising adverse development in North America and International, partly offset by positive development in Australia Pacific. The primary driver for the adverse development in 2022 was an additional strengthening of inflation allowances.

With the introduction of accounting standard AASB 17, the risk adjustment replaces the risk margin that was previously used under AASB 1023. The risk adjustment is approved by the Board and represents the compensation the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty in the net discounted estimate of future cash flows within the insurance liabilities. Net outstanding claims comprise claims reserves within the net liability for incurred claims including recoveries on reinsurance loss portfolio transfers. The net outstanding claims provisions at 31 December 2023 included a risk adjustment of A\$2,022 million (U.S.\$1,379 million), increasing reported net claims incurred for the year. On a AASB 17 restated basis, the net outstanding claims provisions at 31 December 2022 included a risk adjustment of A\$1,901 million (U.S.\$1,289 million). In addition to the move to risk adjustment, we no longer provide a probability of adequacy, but rather present a confidence level. The confidence level is a statistical measure of the level of confidence that the insurance contract liabilities will be sufficient to pay claims as and when they fall due. The confidence level increased to 90.6 per cent. at 31 December 2023, up from 90.0 per cent. at 31 December 2022 (AASB 17 restated)

The Group operates in a highly competitive industry

There is substantial competition among general insurance and reinsurance companies in all jurisdictions in which the Group does business. The Group competes with general insurers and reinsurers, who in some jurisdictions may have greater financial and marketing resources and greater name recognition than the Group. If the Group does not compete effectively there will be adverse consequences to its prospects and financial position.

The Group is dependent on its ability to reinsure risks

A general insurance company will usually attempt to limit its risks in particular lines of business or from specific events by using outward reinsurance arrangements. The Group enters into a significant number of reinsurance contracts to limit its risk. Under these arrangements, reinsurers assume a portion of the claims and related expenses in connection with insurance policies the Group writes. The availability, amount and cost of reinsurance depend on prevailing market conditions.

The Group has stringent controls with respect to the external reinsurers with which it does business, but there are risks associated with the determination of the appropriate levels of reinsurance protection and the cost of such reinsurance and the financial security of such reinsurers.

While the Group continues to explore and utilise opportunities to enhance its reinsurance structures, for example through reinsurance of run-off liabilities, there can be no assurance regarding the adequacy of its current reinsurance and retrocessional coverage or the future availability of coverage at adequate rates and levels for its external reinsurance arrangements. In the event that adequate reinsurance capacity at acceptable rates becomes unavailable, the Group would attempt to reduce its exposures to within available reinsurance capacity or acceptable levels of insurance risk, however, these reductions may not be immediate and the Group may remain exposed to certain risks unless and/or until these reductions can be completed.

Ceding of risk to the Group's reinsurers does not relieve it of its primary liability to its insureds. Accordingly, the Group is subject to credit risk with respect to its reinsurers. Although the Group initially places its reinsurance with reinsurers that it believes to be financially stable, this may change adversely by the time recoveries are due, which could be many years later. A reinsurer's failure to make payments under the terms of a significant reinsurance contract may have a material adverse effect on the Group's businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

There are risks associated with the Group's inward reinsurance business

In addition to purchasing reinsurance coverage, the Group, primarily through its International division (including its Lloyd's syndicates), provides reinsurance coverage for third-party insurance company cedants. Due to various factors, including reliance on ceding company information concerning the underlying risks, reporting delays and the cyclical nature of reinsurance rates, the Group's inward reinsurance business may be more volatile and present greater risks than its primary insurance business, especially for cover given in respect of catastrophes.

Changes in government policy, regulation or legislation in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates may affect its profitability

The Group is subject to extensive regulation and supervision in the jurisdictions in which it does business. This includes, by way of example, matters relating to licensing and examination, rate setting, trade practices, policy reforms, limitations on the nature and amount of certain investments, underwriting and claims practices, mandated participation in shared markets and guarantee funds, adequacy of the Group's claims provisions, capital and surplus requirements, insurer solvency, transactions between affiliates, the amount of dividends that may be paid and underwriting standards. Such regulation and supervision is primarily for the benefit and protection of policyholders and not for the benefit of investors or shareholders. In some cases, regulation in one country or jurisdiction may affect business operations in another. As the amount and complexity of these regulations increase, so will the cost of compliance and the risk of non-compliance. If the Group does not meet regulatory or other requirements, it may suffer penalties including fines, suspension or cancellation of its insurance licences which could adversely affect its ability to do business. In addition, significant regulatory action against the Group could have material adverse financial effects, cause significant reputational harm or harm its business prospects.

The Group is experiencing and the Issuer expects the Group to continue to experience a number of changes in regulation in certain markets in which the Group does business, including in the Australian, United Kingdom, European and U.S. markets. Regulatory changes are currently occurring across the financial, taxation, regulatory and supervisory landscape. Of particular focus are regulatory expectations and changes to laws and regulation in the areas of data protection or privacy, conduct or consumer protection, risk management, financial crime and competition. In addition, insurance, corporate and tax regulators are becoming more assertive and are requiring companies to provide increasing levels of evidence of compliance.

Changes to the IFRS for insurance companies have been proposed in recent years and further changes may be proposed in the future. The International Accounting Standards Board issued a new insurance contract standard, IFRS 17, which took effect on 1 January 2023. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 and introduces changes to the presentation of insurance contracts in the financial statements and the recognition and measurement criteria thereof. The standard is adopted in Australia by the AASB as AASB 17. These and any other changes to IFRS that may be proposed in the future, whether or not specifically targeted at insurance companies, could adversely affect the business, prospects, results of operations and financial position of the relevant operating subsidiaries.

United Kingdom and Europe

(a) Changes in existing laws and regulations, or in their interpretation by the authorities, may affect the Group's tax burden, its capital requirements, the way in which the Group companies conduct their business and the products they may offer. Governments, regulatory authorities and others have made and continue to make

proposals to reform the regulatory framework for the financial services industry to enhance its resilience against future crises and to enhance consumer protection. Proposals include, among others, requests for more stringent regulatory capital and liquidity standards, regulation of specific types of business perceived as inherently risky and expansion of the resolution powers of regulators. It is possible that the future regulatory framework for the financial industry may change. In the United Kingdom, for example, the Financial Services and Markets Act 2023 (the "2023 Act") received Royal Assent on 29 June 2023. Although certain provisions came into force on that date, the UK Government is taking a phased approach to its implementation and other provisions will come into force on days to be appointed (unless already specified). The 2023 Act permits the revocation of all retained EU law relating to financial services following Brexit, including the Solvency II Directive and the Insurance Distribution Directive, although such revocation will only take effect once regulators have drafted and consulted on replacement rules and are ready to enforce them. Other changes implemented by the 2023 Act include: (a) the new statutory objective for the Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA") and the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") requiring them to act in a way which facilitates the long-term growth and international competitiveness of the UK economy; and (b) a requirement for the regulators to consider the sustainable growth in the UK economy in the medium or long term in a manner consistent with the UK's net zero emissions commitments.

In parallel with the 2023 Act, HM Treasury and the PRA consulted on proposed reforms to the Solvency II Directive regime in April 2022, June 2023 and September 2023. The proposed reforms include a substantial reduction in the risk margin required to be held by insurers (the proposed reduction in the risk margin required to be held by general insurers is in the region of 30%) and a reduction in the reporting and administrative burdens to which UK insurers are currently subject. Parts of the new UK solvency regime (including those implemented under the Insurance and Reinsurance Undertakings (Prudential Requirements) (Risk Margin) Regulations 2023 reducing the risk margin cost of capital rate for Periodical Payment Orders from 6% to 4%) came into force on 31 December 2023, other parts are expected to be in force by June 2024 and the remainder by December 2024.

The changes described above and the proposed Insurance Recovery and Resolution developments in the UK and Europe may impact the Group's capitalisation and convey certain new powers to regulatory authorities in the event of a financial deterioration of its UK and European insurance and reinsurance entities. In addition, it is unclear how the Common Framework for the Supervision of Internationally Active Insurance Groups ("ComFrame") of the International Association of Insurance Supervisors ("IAIS") will finally be implemented. Effects of the regulatory changes on the Group may range from additional administrative cost to implement and comply with new rules to increased cost of capital and a materially adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operation and prospects. Finally, the potential for a multiplicity of different regulatory regimes, capital standards and reporting requirements will increase operational complexity and costs.

Regulators are increasingly focused on promoting the protection of customer/client information and the integrity of information technology systems of regulated firms, utilising data protection regulations such as the EU General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) (the "GDPR") and its equivalent in the UK (the "UK GDPR"). These initiatives increase the risk of potential liability and could lead to more conservative approaches to the sharing of data, which in turn could impact assessments of risks. Increased regulatory activity may also include greater scrutiny of personal data processing within the insurance sector, which may give rise to regulatory intervention and reputational harm. Failure to comply with applicable regulations may expose the Group to significant regulatory fines (for example, the maximum fine for noncompliance with certain GDPR requirements would be up to EUR 20 million or 4 per cent. of the Group's global turnover (whichever is greater) and the UK GDPR has similar thresholds), damages claims and reputational damage.

Data protection regulators and sector-specific regulators are also focussed on artificial intelligence ("AI"). Currently, this focus is on the ways in which risks associated with the deployment of AI can be assessed in the context of existing laws, including data protection rules on wholly automated decision making and requirements around treating customers fairly, with a clear focus on conducting risk assessments on the use of AI. However, further laws (most notably the EU AI Act) are also in the pipeline. The current and emerging regulatory regimes will require increased assessments of AI solutions, which may slow down the deployment of AI within the Group. In addition, failure to comply with relevant requirements in relation to the deployment of AI may expose the Group to regulatory fines (including under the GDPR/UK GDPR or AI-specific laws), damages claims and reputational damage.

There is also an increasing focus in the UK on consumer protection in general. In July 2022, the FCA published policy statement "PS 22/9: A New Consumer Duty", setting out a new consumer duty which is intended to: (a) have a significant impact on how firms (including insurers and insurance intermediaries) interact with retail customers; and (b) set higher expectations for the standard of care firms give to such customers over the lifecycle of their products. The consumer duty is consistent with the FCA's continuing focus on outcomes for consumers (e.g. that they are sold products which provide valuable benefits at an appropriate price, that they receive the service and support promised or to be reasonably expected, and that there are no barriers to them cancelling or deciding not to renew). Firms will need to be able to demonstrate how their business models, the actions they take and their culture are focused on delivering good customer outcomes. The FCA believes that an outcome focused approach will also have benefits for firms as it will give them 'greater flexibility to adapt and innovate'. As of 31 July 2023, firms are required to apply the consumer duty to new and existing products and services that are open to sale (or renewal). Firms have until 31 July 2024 to apply the consumer duty to products and services held in closed books. Firms were also required to have agreed implementation plans by the end of October 2022 and are expected to maintain oversight of such plan in order to ensure that the implementation work is sufficient to meet the duty standards.

(b) QBE UK Limited's business includes insurance in respect of liability for personal injury. Where a personal injury claim is determined or settled with a lump sum payment, the payment is calculated in accordance with the "Ogden Tables". The Ogden Tables contain a discount rate that is set by the United Kingdom government and is applied when calculating the present value of loss of earnings for claims settlement purposes. A change in the discount rate used in the Ogden Tables impacts all relevant claims settled after that date, regardless of whether the insurance to which the claim relates was priced on that basis or not (or occurred after that date or not). A reduction in the Ogden discount rate increases lump sum payments to personal injury claimants, and in consequence the amount of reserves required to be held by insurers in relation to outstanding claims. The UK Government, following a review of the Ogden discount rate (in accordance with the Damages Act 1996, as amended by the Civil Liability Act 2018) announced an increase to the Ogden discount rate in England and Wales to -0.25% on 15 July 2019. Different rates apply in Scotland (-0.75%) and Northern Ireland (-1.5%).

Australia

In Australia, APRA completed a process of refinement to the general insurance prudential framework in 2008 which reflected APRA's intention to treat, in principle, any general insurance group as one economic entity. New prudential standards relating to capital for "Level 1" individual insurers and "Level 2" insurance groups commenced on 1 January 2013. These standards introduced a common framework for required capital and eligible capital across general insurers and life insurers. APRA's intention was to make its capital requirements more risk-sensitive and to improve the alignment of its capital standards across the industries it regulates. APRA's life and general insurance capital (LAGIC) framework and reporting framework were previously based on the AASB 1023 Accounting Standards. With effect from 1 July 2023, APRA integrated the Australian Accounting Standards Board 17 Insurance Contracts ("AASB 17") into its capital and reporting framework for insurers, replacing AASB 1023.

With effect from 1 July 2017, APRA extended the prudential supervision framework to Level 3 conglomerate groups to protect individual entities from contagion risks associated with conglomerate group membership. The Group remains regulated on a Level 2 basis and is not regulated on a Level 3 basis. A change in the composition of the Group or in APRA's approach to regulation of conglomerate groups may result in increased costs to the Group.

The Australian Federal Government's Financial System Inquiry ("FSI") released its final report in December 2014. The FSI was charged with examining how Australia's financial system could be positioned to best meet Australia's evolving needs and support its economic growth. Whilst the FSI made 44 recommendations in respect of the Australian financial system, the FSI did not see a compelling case for further changing stability settings in the insurance sector. The FSI found that while the insurance sector has become more concentrated, with the top five insurers making up 80 per cent. of the market, the main barriers to entry are commercial rather than regulatory. The Federal Government released its response to the FSI on 20 October 2015. The Federal Government's response to the FSI in relation to general insurance is foregrounded on promoting industry-led initiatives to increase guidance and disclosure in general insurance, as well as aligning the interests of financial firms and consumers. As part of the Federal Government's response, legislative measures have been pursued to address consumer outcomes including the Treasury Laws Amendment (Putting Consumers First – Establishment of the Australian Financial Complaints Authority) Act 2018 of Australia that amends the Corporations Act and 12 other Acts to introduce a new external dispute resolution scheme, known as the Australian Financial Complaints Authority to resolve disputes about products and services provided by financial forms, and five Acts to, amongst other things,

require firms that must participate in the enhanced internal dispute resolution framework to report their internal dispute resolution activities to ASIC. The Parliament also passed the Treasury Laws Amendment (Design and Distribution Obligations and Product Intervention Powers) Act 2019 of Australia which imposes design and distribution obligations on the issuers, providers and distributors of financial products and provide ASIC with product intervention powers. Also in the response to the FSI has been the establishment of an industry funding model for ASIC. Therefore, the Issuer expects the cost of regulatory compliance and supervision of its Australian operations to increase.

The Australian Federal Government also completed a Review of Competition Policy to ensure an effective competition framework that promotes a strong and innovative business sector and better outcomes for consumers across the Australian economy. The final report was released on 31 March 2015. The report made numerous recommendations, the most significant of which was a shift from a "purpose" test to a test of purpose, effect or likely effect of substantial lessening of competition which has recently been accepted by the Federal Government. In response, the Parliament passed the Competition and Consumer Amendment (Competition Policy Review) Act 2017 of Australia, and the Competition and Consumer Amendment (Misuse of Market Power) Act 2017 of Australia that became effective on 6 November 2017. This legislation contains a broad range of amendments to the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 of Australia in areas such as cartels, price signalling and concerted practices, exclusionary provisions, third line forcing, resale price maintenance and merger and non-merger authorisations. The "purpose" test for misuse of market power was replaced with a "purpose or effects test". In addition, there are a number of ongoing Federal Government inquiries relating to competition in the financial (including insurance) sector. Of note is the final report issued by the Productivity Commission on 'Competition in the Financial Sector' on 3 August 2018.

The implementation of any recommendations from these reviews will ultimately be a decision for the Federal Government and its agencies. The Issuer is assessing the impact of the strategic policies set out in that response on the Group.

On 14 December 2017, the Federal Government established a Royal Commission into misconduct in the banking, superannuation and financial services industry (the "**Royal Commission**"). On 4 February 2019, the Royal Commission issued its final report and made a number of recommendations for policy makers, regulators and the financial services and insurance industry.

The Australian Government and regulators have accepted the majority of the recommendations from the Royal Commission and are in the process of implementation. The Royal Commission has led to, and may continue to lead to, regulatory enforcement activity, litigation and changes in laws, regulations or regulatory policy and has resulted in, and may continue to result in, ongoing reputational damage to the banking, superannuation and financial services industry, all of which has had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on the business and prospects of the banking, superannuation and financial services industry. The Issuer is monitoring developments in respect to these recommendations.

In October 2021, the Australian Government extended the unfair contract terms penalty regime to general insurance contracts. The penalty regime commenced on 9 November 2023. ASIC has commenced proceedings to enforce the unfair contract terms regime against a number of general insurers. Application of the regime to general insurance products is developing and the principles directing the imposition, and level, of fines for breaches is expected to be tested in the courts. Costs associated with ongoing regulatory monitoring and scrutiny of existing products and new to market products may fluctuate over time.

On 1 July 2022, the Australian Government established the Cyclone Reinsurance Pool ("**Pool**"), requiring all major insurers to enter the Pool by end of 2023. Pool participants must pass on savings from participation to customers to help reduce costs of general insurance in Northern Australia. Compliance with Pool requirements and pass through of benefits to customers is being monitored by the ACCC. Ongoing scrutiny and supervision of Pool participants will increase regulatory risk and costs.

In 2023, the Australian Government enacted the Compensation Scheme of Last Resort ("CSLR") which provides for consumer compensation for losses arising from financial service providers failing to pay compensation awarded for misconduct. The Australian Government also established a Financial Counsellor Funding ("FCF") model. Industry will be charged annual levies to cover the costs of the CSLR and the FCF. The costs will vary year to year based on current running costs of the schemes and the payouts and/or projected expenses/payouts. Depending on the economic environment and levels of regulatory compliance across the industry, the Group's contributions to the schemes may fluctuate on an annual basis.

On 7 August 2023, the Australian House of Representatives Standing Committee on Economics commenced an inquiry into insurers' responses to 2022 major floods claims, including for the (i) south-east Queensland and northern NSW floods of February and March 2022, (ii) Hunter and greater Sydney floods of July 2022, Victorian, NSW and Tasmanian floods of October 2022, and central west NSW floods of November and December 2022. The committee is scheduled to report by 30 September 2024, and the Issuer will assess the report when issued.

United States

Following the global financial crisis, the enactment of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act") represented a comprehensive overhaul of the financial services industry within the United States and established the Federal Insurance Office ("FIO") within the U.S. Treasury Department to monitor all aspects of the insurance industry and of lines of business other than certain health insurance, certain long-term care insurance and crop insurance. The director of the FIO is vested with the ability to recommend that an insurance company or an insurance holding company deemed "too big to fail" or that is "systemically significant" be subject to heightened prudential standards. The Dodd-Frank Act also provides for the pre-emption of state laws in certain instances involving the regulation of reinsurance and other limited insurance matters and established the federal Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (the "CFPB") which requires the CFPB and other federal agencies to implement many new rules. In addition, the NAIC, pursuant to its "Solvency Modernization Initiative", reviewed the U.S. financial regulatory system and all aspects of the financial regulation affecting insurance companies, focusing on (i) capital requirements; (ii) corporate governance and risk management; (iii) group supervision; (iv) statutory accounting and financial reporting; and (5) reinsurance. As part of the initiative, NAIC adopted the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment Model Act, which, when adopted by a state, requires certain U.S. insurers and insurance groups regularly perform own risk and solvency assessments and file a confidential summary report of such assessment with the relevant regulators. The assessment is a confidential internal assessment, in accordance with NAIC guidelines, appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of an insurer of the material and relevant risks identified by such insurer associated with such insurer's current business plan and the sufficiency of capital resources to support those risks. The ORSA Model Act ("ORSA Act") has been adopted by all states and now applies to the Group. Under the changes, U.S. state regulators will be granted explicit authority to examine not only local insurers, but also their affiliates in order to assess contagion risk within the insurance holding company system. The Dodd-Frank Act also generally imposed comprehensive regulation with respect to agreements or arrangements that fall within the 'swap' or 'security-based swap' definitions in the Dodd-Frank Act, under rules adopted (or in some cases to be adopted) by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") for swaps or by the SEC for security-based swaps. Among other things, absent an exemption, transactions in swaps or security-based swaps designated for mandatory clearing by the CFTC or SEC, respectively, are now required to be centrally cleared through regulated central clearinghouses; transactions in such swaps may also have to be traded on a regulated swap execution facility or exchange (the mandatory clearing and trading requirement currently apply to certain standardized interest rate swaps and credit default index swaps). There are also requirements for increased collateral or margin for non-cleared transactions when one counterparty is a swap dealer or security-based swap dealer. These requirements as well as other CFTC and SEC rules implementing the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act, have increased the Group's costs and may inhibit the Group's ability to engage in various derivatives transactions due to the added costs of such transactions.

Tax reform was signed into law in the United States on 22 December 2017 and effective from 1 January 2018 with the effect of implementing extensive reform to the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). The U.S. Congress made broad changes to the Code with the stated intent of reducing tax rates and modifying various policies. The modifications relevant to the Group include changes to the manner in which the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") may require the treatment, and valuation, of certain deferred tax assets, as discussed above. Additionally, the tax reform moves the United States closer to a territorial based system with respect to foreign income and contains certain base erosion rules relevant to the Group's operations in North America. It is not certain what the overall impact that the passage of the tax reform will have on the Group and such changes may adversely affect its business, results of operations, and financial condition.

In addition, the Group may be adversely affected by changes in government policy or legislation applying to companies in the insurance industry. These include possible changes in regulations covering pricing and benefit payments for certain statutory classes of business (e.g., the removal of the ability to use gender in pricing of insurance in the EU, compulsory third party insurance and workers' compensation in Australia and employers' liability in the United Kingdom), the deregulation and nationalisation of certain classes of business, the regulation of selling practices, the regulations covering policy terms, enhancing privacy, cybersecurity and artificial intelligence obligations and monitoring obligations and the imposition of new taxes and assessments or increases in existing taxes and assessments. Regulatory changes may affect the Group's existing and future businesses by,

for example, causing customers to cancel or not renew existing policies or requiring it to change its range of products or to provide certain products (such as terrorism, flood or pandemic cover where it is not already required) and services (including advice services), redesign its technology or other systems, retrain its staff, pay increased tax or incur other costs. It is not possible to determine what changes in government policy or legislation will be adopted in any jurisdiction and, if so, what form they will take or in what jurisdictions they may occur. Insurance laws or regulations that are adopted or amended may be more restrictive than the Group's current requirements, may result in higher costs or limit its growth or otherwise adversely affect its operations.

In addition, in November 2019, the **IAIS** adopted **ComFrame** for the supervision of "internationally active insurance groups" ("**IAIGs**"), which includes enhanced group-wide supervisory oversight across national boundaries. In connection with ComFrame, the IAIS announced a five-year monitoring period for a risk-based global insurance capital standard ("**ICS**") applicable to IAIGs. APRA has confirmed that the Group meets the definition of an IAIG. However, the Group cannot predict how ComFrame may be implemented in any of the jurisdictions in which it operates, and what additional capital requirements and other compliance costs these requires could impose on the Group.]

A downgrade in ratings may negatively impact business and borrowing in the capital markets

The Group's insurer financial strength ratings are important factors in establishing and maintaining the Group's competitive position.

Following the most recent annual reviews, the major rating agencies published updated credit opinions which resulted in the ratings and outlooks for the Issuer remaining unchanged, with the exception of Moody's, which revised the Issuer's Issuer Credit Rating ("ICR") outlook from 'negative' to 'stable' and A.M. Best, which revised the Issuer's ICR outlook on the Group's main operating entities from 'negative' to 'stable'.

Moody's affirmed the Group's 'A3' issuer rating and the 'A1' IFS ratings of the Group's main operating subsidiaries. The ratings outlook was revised from 'negative' to 'stable'. These ratings and outlooks were effective as of 24 June 2022. In early 2023, the Issuer terminated its commercial relationship with Moody's. The ratings and outlooks assigned to the Group entities, debt, and hybrid capital instruments by Moody's remain unchanged, but are now assigned on an unsolicited basis.

A.M. Best affirmed the long-term ICR of the Group's main operating subsidiaries at 'a+' and the Insurer Financial Strength ("**IFS**") ratings of the main operating subsidiaries at 'A', while revising the Group's ICR outlook from 'negative' to 'stable' and affirming the FSR outlook at 'stable' effective 5 May 2023.

S&P Global Ratings affirmed the Group's ICR at 'A-' and the IFS rating of the Group's core operating entities at 'A+'. These ratings and outlooks were effective as of 30 May 2023.

Fitch Ratings affirmed the long-term Issuer Default Rating ("**IDR**") at 'A-' and the IFS ratings of the Issuer's operating entities at 'A+'. The ratings outlook was 'stable'. These ratings and outlooks were effective as of 16 November 2023.

The rating agencies regularly review the Issuer's rating and the ratings of its main insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. Rating agencies may change their methodology or requirements for determining ratings, or they may become more conservative in assigning ratings. Rating agencies or regulators may also increase capital requirements for the Issuer and/or its subsidiaries.

Future downgrades in the ratings of any of the Issuer's insurance or reinsurance subsidiaries (or the potential for such a downgrade) could, among other things, materially increase the number of policy cancellations and non-renewals, adversely affect relationships with the distributors of the Group's products and services, including new sales of its products, and negatively impact the level of its premiums and adversely affect the its ability to obtain reinsurance at reasonable prices or at all.

If one or more of the Group's debt ratings were downgraded, the Group could also incur higher borrowing costs, and the Group's ability to access the capital markets could be impacted. This could adversely affect the Group's businesses, financial condition, results of operations and its cost of capital.

The Group's extensive international operations subject it to various risks

The Group operates in 27 countries around the world and continually assesses opportunities to expand its operations. Even though the Issuer typically has management and shareholder control of its non-Australian affiliates, the Group is subject to the attendant risks of doing business in many foreign countries such as:

- political instability;
- difficulties in enforcing the Group's rights;
- changes in foreign regulation or their interpretation or enforcement;
- unstable economic conditions;
- foreign taxes;
- adverse currency fluctuations; and
- lack of experience in new markets.

Failure to retain GEC and GEC-1 could harm the Group's business and operations

If the Issuer were to lose the services of Andrew Horton, who is the Group Chief Executive Officer, or other critical roles, such losses could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business. These effects could also be caused by lengthy vacancies in these roles due to inadequate talent pipeline, or sub-optimal appointments / onboarding for these roles.

The Group maintains several controls to mitigate this risk, including:

- Succession plans, including emergency succession, are reviewed and updated for all GEC and GEC-1
 roles globally as part of the talent and succession review cycle.
- All GEC successors undertake development assessments and have development plans in place.
- Global Executive Recruitment Principles and Practices are in place.
- Executive pre-boarding and onboarding frameworks are in place.

The Group relies on its insurance agents and brokers

The Group primarily distributes its products through third party-owned insurance agents and brokers. Even though the Group is not reliant on any individual distribution outlet, the failure, inability or unwillingness of third party-owned insurance agents and brokers to successfully market its insurance products could have a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial condition and results of operations. Third party-owned brokers and insurance agents are not obligated to promote the Group's insurance products and third party-owned agents and brokers may sell competitors' insurance products. As a result, the Group's business depends to a significant extent on its relationships with agents and brokers, the marketing efforts of those agents and brokers and its ability to offer insurance products and services that meet the requirements of the clients and customers of those agents and brokers.

Significant legal proceedings, litigation and regulatory actions may adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations

From time to time, the Group may be subject to a variety of legal and regulatory actions relating to its current and past business operations, including, but not limited to:

• actions by regulatory authorities that may challenge the Group's ability to increase or maintain its premium rates, require it to reduce premium rates, impose fines or penalties and/or result in other fees;

- disputes regarding its lender-placed insurance products, including those relating to rates, agent compensation, consumer disclosure, continuous coverage requirements, loan tracking services and other services that it provides to mortgage servicers;
- disputes over coverage or claims adjudication;
- disputes over its treatment of claims;
- disputes with tax and insurance authorities regarding its tax liabilities;
- disputes relating to customers' claims that the customer was not aware of the full cost or existence of the insurance or limitations on insurance coverage;
- industry-wide investigations regarding business practices including, but not limited to, the use and the marketing of certain types of insurance policies or certificates of insurance; and
- class actions in respect of its operations or its continuous disclosure obligations to its investors.

The Group relies to a significant degree on its computer systems

The Group relies to a significant degree on its computer systems in its daily operations, as well as in calculating underwriting risks, and incurs considerable expense on systems development and maintenance. The Group is exposed to a number of systems risks, including:

- complete or partial failure of the computer systems;
- lost or impaired functionality of the computer systems;
- temporary and/or intermittent failure of the computer systems;
- lack of capacity;
- failure of system integrations and / or network connections; and
- lack of experienced staff to maintain systems, including legacy systems.

The above events may cause a loss of customers, damage to the Group's reputation and significant remediation costs, resulting in a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

System security risks, data protection breaches and cyber-attacks could adversely affect the Group's business and results of operations

The Group's information technology systems could be exposed to threats from computer malware/viruses, natural disasters, unauthorised access, cyber attack and other similar disruptions. Although the Group has security controls in place, determined and sophisticated attackers may be able to penetrate its network, our systems (or those of third parties containing our data) and misappropriate or compromise confidential information, create disruptions or cause shutdowns. As an insurer, the Group receives and is required to protect confidential information of customers, vendors and other third parties that may include financial information. To the extent any disruption or security breach results in a loss or damage to the Group's data, or inappropriate disclosure of its confidential information or that of others, it could cause significant damage to the Group's reputation, affect its relationships with its customers and clients, lead to claims against it, result in regulatory action and ultimately harm its business. In addition, the Group may be required to incur significant costs to mitigate the damage caused by any security breach, or to protect against future damage.

The Group's risk management policies and procedures may leave it exposed to unidentified or unanticipated risk, which could negatively affect its business

The Group has devoted significant resources to developing its risk management policies and procedures and expects to continue to do so in the future. Nonetheless, its policies and procedures may not be fully effective.

Many of its methods for managing risk and exposures are based upon the use of observed historical market behaviour or statistics based on historical models. As a result, these methods may not predict future exposures, which could be significantly greater than the Group's historical measures indicate. Other risk management methods depend upon the evaluation of information regarding markets, clients, catastrophe occurrence or other matters that is publicly available or otherwise accessible to the Group. This information may not always be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated.

Investment Risk

Investment returns are an important contributor to the Issuer's overall profit. While the Issuer invests conservatively in high quality fixed interest securities and has a relatively modest exposure to risk assets, its investment portfolio is naturally subject to market forces. During 2023, the Issuer invested in a well-diversified range of asset classes to meet investment objectives within clearly defined risk appetites. The majority of the investment portfolio is invested in shorter duration, high quality investment grade fixed income which is consistent with achieving absolute return outcomes. Around 12 per cent. of the portfolio is invested in a mix of risk assets, the majority of which includes enhanced fixed income, listed equities, infrastructure assets and unlisted property. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Issuer's net investment income on assets backing policyholders' funds was 64 per cent. of total investment income (loss of 65 per cent. for the year ended 31 December 2022) and net investment income on assets backing shareholders' funds was 36 per cent. of total investment income (loss of 35 per cent. for the year ended 31 December 2022). Global debt and equity markets have experienced historic levels of volatility and the outlook remains relatively uncertain. Any declines in the value of the Group's investments or changes in interest or foreign exchange rates could materially adversely affect the Issuer's investment income. There can be no guarantee that investment returns achieved in 2023 will be sustained thereafter.

The Group may suffer losses due to its exposure to operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate internal processes and controls, people and systems or from external events. This includes legal and regulatory risk but excludes strategic and reputational risk.

Operational risks are a core component of doing business arising from the day-to-day operational activities of the Issuer as well as strategic projects and business change initiatives. Given that operational risks cannot be fully mitigated, the Group determines an appropriate balance between accepting potential losses and incurring costs of mitigation.

An operational risk event may give rise to substantial losses, including financial loss, fines, penalties, personal injuries, reputational damage, loss of market share, theft of property, customer redress and litigation. Losses from operational risk events may adversely impact the Group's reputation, and financial performance and position.

Examples of operational risk events include:

- fraudulent or unauthorised acts by employees, contractors and external parties;
- systems, technology and infrastructure failures, cyber incidents, including denial of service and malicious software attacks, or unauthorised access to customer or sensitive data;
- process errors or failures arising from human error or inadequate design of processes or controls;
- operational failures by third parties (including off-shored and outsourced service providers);
- weaknesses in employment practices, including those with respect to diversity, discrimination and workplace health and safety;
- deficiencies in product design or maintenance; and
- business disruption and property damage arising from events such as natural disasters, climate change, biological hazards, acts of terrorism, pandemics, epidemics or other health crisis or outbreaks.

In addition, the Group is dependent on its ability to retain and attract key management and operating personnel. The unexpected loss of key resources, or the inability to attract personnel with suitable experience, may adversely impact the Group's ability to operate effectively and efficiently, or to meet strategic objectives.

Models are used extensively in the conduct of the Group's business, for example, in calculating capital requirements and measuring and stressing exposures. If the models used prove to be inadequate or are based on incorrect or invalid assumptions, judgements or inputs, this may adversely affect the Group's financial performance and position.

The Group may be exposed to risk from non-compliance with the requirements of relevant laws, regulations, industry standards or codes, and other forms of misconduct, which may adversely impact its reputation, and financial performance and position

The Group is exposed to risk arising from failure or inability to comply with the requirements of relevant laws, regulations, industry standards or codes, and other forms of misconduct. This may include detrimental practices, such as:

- engaging in dealings with sanctioned parties or entities;
- failure to adequately collect and secure personal and sensitive information of individuals;
- selling or unduly influencing customers to purchase inappropriate products and services;
- conducting inappropriate market practices or being a party to fraudulent transactions; or
- non-adherence to fiduciary requirements or provision of financial advice which is inappropriate or not in the best interests of customers.

If the Issuer's compliance controls were to fail significantly, be absent, be set inappropriately, or not meet legal or regulatory expectations, then the Group may be exposed to: fines, public censure, litigation, settlements, restitution to customers, regulators or other stakeholders, unenforceability of contracts such as loans, guarantees and other security documents, enforced suspension of operations, or loss of licence to operate all or part of the Group's businesses. This may adversely impact the Issuer's reputation, and financial performance and position.

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

RISKS RELATED TO THE STRUCTURE OF A PARTICULAR ISSUE OF NOTES

A range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and those which might occur in relation to certain types of Notes.

Risks applicable to all Notes

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves a similar effective return

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Senior Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on those Senior Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

The Issuer will also have a right to redeem the Senior Notes at any time if it is liable to pay additional amounts on account of withholding tax.

There is a risk that redemption may occur at a time which does not suit Noteholders.

If the Issuer's financial condition were to deteriorate, Noteholders could lose all or a part of their investment

If the Issuer's financial condition were to deteriorate, payments of interest or other payments on the Notes may not be made or the market price of the Notes may decrease. This risk is even greater in respect of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, because the Issuer may in respect of such Notes defer payments of interest (in the case of Subordinated Notes) or decline to make interest payments altogether (in the case of Capital Notes). Potential investors should not assume that unfavourable market or other conditions or events will not harm the Issuer's financial condition. Accordingly, potential investors should carefully evaluate the investments risks associated with an investment in the Issuer and the Group, including those risks discussed in "Risk Factors — Risks Relating to the Issuer and the Group". If the Issuer is liquidated, dissolved or wound up, Noteholders could lose all or a part of their investment. A significant deterioration in the Issuer's financial condition may also result in the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event, which means that any Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes may be Converted or Written-Off. See "Risk Factors—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of the Issuer" below.

If the Issuer has the right to convert the interest rate on any Notes from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned

Notes may bear interest at a rate that may convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate and such conversion may affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes. If the Notes convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Notes convert from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Interest on the Notes is subject to interest rate risks

Notwithstanding that the applicable Pricing Supplement may specify that the rate of interest applicable to the Notes may be reset, an investment in Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates or changes in market interest rates during an Interest Period may adversely affect the value of the Notes. In addition, a holder of securities with a fixed interest rate that will periodically be reset during the term of the relevant securities is also exposed to the risk of fluctuating interest rate levels and uncertain interest income.

The regulation and reform of "benchmarks" may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks"

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks" (including, amongst others, EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, BBSW and AONIA, each as defined above or in the Conditions of the Notes) are the subject of ongoing national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented.

In Australia, examples of reforms that are already effective include changes to the methodology for calculation of BBSW and amendments to the Corporations Act made by the Treasury Laws Amendment (2017 Measures No. 5) Act 2018 of Australia which, among other things, enable ASIC to make rules relating to the generation and administration of financial benchmarks). On 6 June 2018, ASIC designated BBSW as a "significant financial benchmark" and made the ASIC Financial Benchmark (Administration) Rules 2018 (the "Administration Rules") and the ASIC Financial Benchmarks (Compelled) Rules 2018 (the "Compelled Rules"). On 27 June 2019, ASIC granted ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited a licence to administer BBSW. The Administration Rules require, among other things, a person who is licensed to administer a regulated benchmark (a benchmark administrator licensee) to: (i) use a method for generating that benchmark that is designed to ensure the quality, integrity, availability, reliability and credibility of that benchmark; (ii) to act efficiently, honestly and fairly in generating and administering that benchmark; and (iii) to ensure that arrangements with persons who contribute data to the generation of benchmarks (contributors) meet certain criteria for these purposes. The Compelled Rules, among other things, allow ASIC to require a benchmark administrator licensee to continue to generate or administer a regulated benchmark and to require contributors to continue to provide data required for the generation of the

relevant benchmark. Although the Compelled Rules and a number of the other Australian reforms have been designed to support the reliability and robustness of BBSW, it is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, BBSW will continue to be supported or the extent to which related regulations, rules, practices or methodologies may be amended going forward. This may cause BBSW to perform differently than it has in the past, and may have other consequences which cannot be predicted. For example, it is possible that these changes could cause BBSW to cease to exist, to become commercially or practically unworkable, or to become more or less volatile or liquid. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing BBSW.

In Europe, the EU Benchmark Regulation (subject to certain transitional provisions) applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities of "benchmarks" of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The euro risk free-rate working group published a set of guiding principles for fallback provisions in new euro denominated cash products (including bonds). The guiding principles indicate, among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk-free rate working group published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates, and on 4 May 2023 it published further guidance to supplement its earlier recommendations.

In the UK, Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation") among other things, applies to the provision of benchmarks and the use of a benchmark in the UK. Similarly, it prohibits the use in the UK by UK supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised by the FCA or registered on the FCA register (or, if non-UK based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to or referencing such a "benchmark".

SOFR is published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the "**Federal Reserve**") and is intended to be a broad measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight collateralised by Treasury securities and a current preferred replacement rate to U.S. LIBOR. The Federal Reserve notes on its publication page for SOFR that the Federal Reserve may alter the methods of calculation, publication schedule, rate revision practices or availability of SOFR at any time without notice (as further described under "—*The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates as reference rates*" below).

If the methodology or other terms of the "benchmark" are changed in order to comply with reforms, such changes could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the "benchmark".

Any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks", could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark". Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation and any of the international or national reforms in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark".

Benchmarks may be modified or discontinued by their administrator, which could adversely affect the value of the Floating Rate Notes.

The manner of administration of benchmarks may change, with the result that they may perform differently than in the past, or a benchmark could be eliminated entirely, or there could be other consequences that cannot be predicted. The elimination of any benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of any benchmark, could require or result in an adjustment to the interest calculation provisions, or result in adverse consequences to holders of securities linked to such benchmark. Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes,

uncertainty as to the nature of alternative reference rates and as to potential changes to such benchmark may adversely affect such benchmark during the term of the relevant Floating Rate Notes, the return on the relevant Floating Rate Notes and the trading market for securities based on the same benchmark.

It is not possible to predict whether, and to what extent, EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, BBSW, AONIA or any other benchmark will continue to be supported going forwards. In particular, there can be no guarantee, particularly given SOFR's and the SOFR Index's relatively recent publication (3 April 2018 and 2 March 2020, respectively), that SOFR and/or the SOFR Index will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the interests of holders of the Notes. If the manner in which SOFR and/or the SOFR Index are calculated is changed, such change may result in a reduction in the amount of interest payable on the Notes and the trading prices of the Notes. In addition, the Federal Reserve may withdraw, modify or amend the published SOFR or SOFR Index in its sole discretion and without notice.

This may cause EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, BBSW, AONIA or any other benchmark to perform differently than it did in the past and may have other consequences that cannot be predicted. The transition from LIBOR to SONIA or SOFR, as applicable, or from BBSW to AONIA, the elimination of any benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of any benchmark, could require an adjustment to the Conditions applicable to the Notes, or result in other consequences, in respect of any Notes referencing such benchmark. Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or methodologies used in the benchmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of and return on any such Notes. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of any relevant rate could affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under, such Floating Rate Notes.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates as reference rates

Interest on Notes may be determined by reference to a risk-free rate, such as SONIA, SOFR or AONIA. SONIA, SOFR and AONIA, whether determined on a compounded daily basis or as a weighted average rate (as applicable) for a specified period, differ from term rates such as BBSW and any other IBOR in a number of material respects, including (without limitation) that SONIA, SOFR and AONIA are backwards-looking, risk-free overnight rates, whereas such term rates are expressed on the basis of forward-looking terms and include a risk-element based on inter-bank lending. As such, investors should be aware that risk-free rates such as SONIA, SOFR and AONIA may behave materially differently as interest reference rates, in contrast to term rates such as BBSW. The use of SONIA, SOFR and AONIA, whether on a compounded daily or weighted average basis (as applicable) as a reference rate for bonds is nascent, and therefore has a limited history and is subject to change and development, both in terms of the substance of the calculation and in the development and adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of debt securities referencing SONIA, SOFR and AONIA. The future performance of SONIA, SOFR and AONIA is impossible to predict and therefore no future performance of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA or any notes linked to these rates may be inferred from any of the historical simulations or historical performance. Hypothetical or historical performance data are not indicative of, and have no bearing on, the future performance of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA or any SONIA-, SOFR- or AONIA-linked Notes. Changes in the levels of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA will affect the calculation of these rates, whether on a compounded daily or weighted average basis, as the case may be, and, therefore, the return of any SONIA-, SOFR- or AONIA-referenced Notes and the trading price of such Notes, but it is impossible to predict whether such levels will rise or fall.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Floating Rate Notes that reference SONIA, SOFR or AONIA issued under the Programme. The manner of adoption or application of reference rates based on SONIA, SOFR or AONIA in the bond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA in other markets, such as derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how potential inconsistencies between the adoption of reference rates based on SONIA, SOFR or AONIA across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of securities that are linked to such rates. In addition, the Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing SONIA, SOFR or AONIA that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any previous SONIA, SOFR or AONIA referenced Notes issued by it under the Programme. The development of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA as interest reference rates for the debt capital markets, as well as continued development of the SONIA, SOFR or AONIA-based rates for such markets and the

market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any SONIA, SOFR or AONIA-referenced Notes issued under the Programme from time to time.

SONIA, SOFR and AONIA with respect to a particular interest period will only be capable of being determined near the end of the relevant interest period.

The Rate of Interest on Notes which reference a SONIA, SOFR or AONIA rate (whether compounded daily or weighted average basis, as applicable) is only capable of being determined immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. Because each such date is near the end of such interest period, holders of such Notes will not know the amount of interest payable with respect to a particular interest period until shortly prior to the related interest payment date and it may be difficult for holders of Notes that reference a SONIA, SOFR or AONIA rate to reliably estimate the amount of interest that will be payable on such Notes and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes without changes to their IT systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes.

Further, if the Notes become due and payable as a result of an event of default under the Conditions or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment Date, the final rate of interest payable in respect of such Notes shall only be determined immediately prior to the date on which the Notes become due and payable.

Investors should be aware that the manner of adoption or application of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA as reference rates in the debt capital markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of SONIA, SOFR or AONIA as reference rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of Notes referencing SONIA, SOFR or AONIA.

Since SONIA, SOFR and AONIA are relatively new market indices, Notes linked to SONIA, SOFR or AONIA may have no established trading market when issued, and an established trading market may never develop or may not be very liquid. Further, if SONIA, SOFR or AONIA do not prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of such Notes linked to SONIA, SOFR or AONIA may be lower than those of Notes linked to indices that are more widely used. Investors in such Notes may not be able to sell such Notes at all or may not be able to sell such Notes at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market, and may consequently suffer from increased pricing volatility and market risk. There can also be no guarantee that SONIA, SOFR or AONIA will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the interests of investors in Notes referencing SONIA, SOFR or AONIA, as the case may be. If the manner in which SONIA, SOFR or AONIA is calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the amount of interest payable on such Notes and the trading prices of such Notes.

The occurrence of events that trigger the fall-back provisions in SONIA, SOFR or AONIA Notes may adversely affect the return on and the market value of such Floating Rate Notes.

Investors should be aware that, in the case of certain Floating Rate Notes, the Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fall-back arrangements in the event that a published benchmark ceases to exist or to be published or is otherwise unavailable. No consent of the holders of any such Notes shall be required in connection with determining or effecting any replacement rate pursuant to the applicable fall-back arrangements. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, any Floating Rate Notes which reference EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, BBSW, AONIA or any other benchmark. In the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, if a benchmark ceases to exist or to be published or is otherwise unavailable, any substitute or successor rate determined in accordance with the applicable Conditions will be subject to APRA's prior written approval. Investors should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any substitute or successor rate it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

In certain circumstances the ultimate fall-back for the purposes of calculation of interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page or the initial Rate of Interest applicable to such Notes on the Interest Commencement Date. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of any successor rate, any determinations that may need to be made by the Issuer and the involvement of any independent adviser, the relevant fall-back provisions may not operate as expected or as intended at the relevant time.

In the event that the SONIA reference rate is not available in the relevant Observation Period, the Conditions provide for certain fall-back arrangements, including that the SONIA reference rate may be (i) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing on the relevant London Banking Day; plus (ii) the mean of the spread of the SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on which a SONIA reference rate has been published, excluding the highest and lowest spread to the Bank Rate. In the event that the SONIA reference rate cannot be determined in accordance as such, the Rate of Interest shall be, either (a) the SONIA reference rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA reference rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors); or (b) if this is more recent, the latest rate determined under item (a). In the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, any replacement of the SONIA reference rate determined in accordance with the Conditions will be subject to APRA's prior written approval and investors should be aware that APRA may not give that approval.

In the event that the SOFR reference rate is not available on the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in relation to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the Conditions provide for certain fall-back arrangements, including that the SOFR reference rate may be (i) the daily secured financing rate in respect of the last U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such rate was published; or (ii) if a SOFR Index Cessation Event and a SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date have occurred, the rate calculated by the Principal Paying Agent as of the first Reset Date within the relevant Interest Period on which SOFR is no longer available by reference to a successor rate as recommended by the Federal Reserve Board, or, failing which, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or, failing which, a committee officially endorsed by the Federal Reserve Board or, failing which, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; or (iii) if no such successor rate has been recommended, determined by reference to the Overnight Bank Funding Rate as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; or (iv) if an OBFR Index Cessation Event has occurred, by reference to the FOMC Target Rate; or (v) if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing, the Rate of Interest at the last preceding Interest Determination Date. As a result, in the event that the SOFR reference rate is unavailable, the method to be used for calculation of the rate may be significantly different and the rate may effectively become a fixed rate.

Where the original benchmark rate is AONIA, the Conditions distinguish between temporary and permanent triggers affecting AONIA. In the event that a Temporary Disruption Trigger occurs in respect of AONIA, the rate for any date for which AONIA is required to be calculated will be the last provided or published level of AONIA. If a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger occurs in respect of AONIA then the rate for any day for which AONIA is required to be calculated will be determined in the following order of precedence (i) first, if an RBA Recommended Rate has been created and no RBA Recommended Rate Discontinuation Trigger has occurred, the RBA Recommended Rate; and (ii) lastly, if paragraph (i) does not apply, the Final Fallback Rate. In the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, any replacement of AONIA determined in accordance with the Conditions will be subject to APRA's prior written approval and investors should be aware that APRA may not give that approval.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessments about the potential risks involved in effecting any such fallback provisions when making their investment decision with respect to any such Floating Rate Notes.

SOFR may be more volatile than other benchmarks or market rates.

Since the initial publication of SOFR, daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in other benchmark or market rates. Although changes in Compounded SOFR generally are not expected to be as volatile as changes in daily levels of SOFR, the return on and value of the Notes may fluctuate more than floating rate securities that are linked to less volatile rates. In addition, the volatility of SOFR has reflected the underlying volatility of the overnight U.S. Treasury repo market. The Federal Reserve has at times conducted operations in the overnight U.S. Treasury repo market in order to help maintain the federal funds rate within a target range. There can be no assurance that the Federal Reserve will continue to conduct such operations in the future, and the duration and extent of any such operations is inherently uncertain. The effect of any such operations, or of the cessation of such operations to the extent they are commenced, is uncertain and could be materially adverse to investors in SOFR Notes.

A Required Percentage of Noteholders may be required to declare an Event of Default

If an Event of Default occurs in respect of a Series of Senior Notes or Subordinated Notes, such Notes may only be accelerated if any one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than the Required Percentage in nominal amount of the relevant Notes of the Series outstanding declare that the Notes are due and payable. The Required Percentage will be 25 per cent. unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement. A holder of less than the Required Percentage will not have a right to accelerate its holding of Notes without support from other holders. If holders with a Required Percentage wish to accelerate, their decision will bind all other holders.

Holders of Notes issued in the form of Global Notes and deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC will have to rely on their procedures, including for transfer, payment and communications

Notes issued under the Programme will be represented on issue by one or more Global Notes that may be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC. Except in the circumstances described in each Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive Notes in definitive form. Each of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective direct and indirect participants will maintain records of the beneficial interests in each Global Note held through it. While the Notes are represented by a Global Note, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the relevant clearing systems and their respective participants, and investors will have to rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and of their respective participants, including for transfer, payment and communications.

A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and its participants to receive payments under the Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in any Global Note.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued.

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed or issued) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, potential investors should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to changes in market interest rates

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

The Notes will constitute unsecured obligations of the Issuer. An investor in Notes relies on the creditworthiness of the Issuer and no other person. The Notes are not guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of the Commonwealth of Australia or any other jurisdiction, or by any of the Issuer's subsidiaries or by any other person and do not represent policy liabilities of any member of the Group. Investment in the Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in the actual or perceived creditworthiness of the Issuer may adversely affect the market value of the Notes.

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- (a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes (and, in the case of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, Ordinary Shares which may be issued on Conversion of such Notes), the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement to this Offering Circular;
- (b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including where the currency for payments in respect of the Notes is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and the Available Documents and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant interest rates and financial markets; and
- (e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are complex financial instruments and are not a suitable investment for all investors. In particular, the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are not intended to be promoted, offered, distributed and/or sold to retail investors. A potential investor should not invest in Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how such Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

No guarantee

A Note is not guaranteed or insured by any government agency or compensation scheme of the Commonwealth of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group, any Other Party or by any other person.

No policy liability

A Note is not a policy liability of any member of the Group.

Future issues or redemptions of securities may impact the Notes

The Conditions of the Notes do not in any way restrict the Issuer or the Group from issuing further securities or from incurring further indebtedness and do not restrict the Issuer from redeeming or otherwise repaying its other existing securities.

The Issuer's obligations under the Notes are structurally subordinated

The Issuer is the non-operating holding company of the other companies in the Group and its key assets are investments in its subsidiaries. In a Winding-Up of the Issuer, the Noteholders have no claim on any of those subsidiaries. The Noteholders' indirect interest in the assets of those subsidiaries is limited to the extent of the Issuer's interest in those assets which, in a winding up of other members of the Group, is most likely to be subject to subordination vis-à-vis creditors of those subsidiaries.

In addition, the Issuer is reliant on the continued receipt of dividends or other funding from its subsidiaries to make payments on its securities. The ability of the Issuer's subsidiaries to pay dividends or to otherwise make funds available to the Issuer may in certain circumstances be subject to regulatory, contractual or legal restrictions.

Modification and waiver, and Branch Substitution

The Conditions and the Euro Agency Agreement (or, in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, the Australian Note Deed Poll) contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider, or for entering into written

resolutions on, matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting (or, in the case of a written resolution, Noteholders who did not execute such written resolution) and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Conditions also provide that the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, agree to certain variations and waivers to the Conditions which will bind the Noteholders. In the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, the prior written approval of APRA is required in respect of any variation in respect of the Coupons, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll or the Conditions in respect of the Subordinated Notes and the Capital Notes where such variation may affect the eligibility of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital or the Capital Notes as Tier 1 Capital, as the case may be.

Amendments may be made to the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement without the consent of Noteholders.

In addition, the Conditions allow the Issuer, without the consent of the Noteholders, to make or agree to amend the Conditions applicable to Notes that are already on issue to specify that those Notes are on issue through a borrowing office (including outside Australia) (a "Branch Substitution") provided, broadly, that (a) it would not be illegal by the laws applicable to the relevant borrowing office for the Issuer to do so, (b) the obligations in respect of the Notes remain obligations of the Issuer ranking as contemplated in the Conditions and are not limited to the assets of that borrowing office, and (c) no redemption of the Notes is permitted as a result of a change in tax laws of the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located unless the change occurs after the date of the substitution (see "Risk Factors—If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves a similar effective return" and "—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to early optional redemption if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs or on dates specified in the Pricing Supplement").

The Issuer may make or agree to a Branch Substitution from time to time whether or not a borrowing office outside Australia is specified in an applicable Pricing Supplement. A Branch Substitution in respect of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes is, in each case, subject to APRA's prior written approval.

While the recourse of a Noteholder is not limited to the assets of a particular borrowing office of the Issuer or assets located in a jurisdiction or place where a borrowing office is located, changes in the taxation laws of that jurisdiction or place may give the Issuer a right to redeem those Notes (see "Risk Factors—Risks applicable to Foreign Branch Notes" below).

Risks applicable to Foreign Branch Notes

Where Notes are on issue through a borrowing office outside Australia (whether such Notes were originally issued through such borrowing office or as a result of a Branch Substitution), there is a risk that the Issuer may be liable to pay additional amounts as a result of the tax laws of the jurisdiction where the borrowing office is located. If this occurs as a result of a change in the laws of the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located (in the case of a Branch Substitution, occurring after the date of the Branch Substitution) the Issuer will have a right to redeem those Notes (see generally "Risk Factors—If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves a similar effective return" and "—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to early optional redemption if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs or on dates specified in the Pricing Supplement").

Risks applicable to Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes

The Issuer's obligations under Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subordinated

The Issuer's obligations under the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and, unless they have been Converted or Written-Off, will rank in a Winding-Up junior in priority of payment to the claims of all Senior Ranking Debt, whether outstanding on the Issue Date or issued after the Issue Date.

The Issuer's obligations under the Capital Notes rank junior in priority of payment to claims under the Subordinated Notes.

Accordingly, the Issuer's obligations under the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes will not be satisfied unless the Issuer can satisfy in full all of its other obligations ranking senior to those Notes. There is no restriction on the amount or terms of senior ranking, equal ranking or other securities which may be issued or incurred by the Issuer.

In the case of Subordinated Notes, prior to a Winding-Up of the Issuer, the obligations of the Issuer to make any payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes will be conditional on the Issuer being Solvent at the time of the payment and no payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes will be made unless the Issuer will be Solvent immediately after making the payment (the "Solvency Condition") (see "Risk Factors—There are restrictions on the payment of interest, principal and other amounts under Subordinated Notes" below). If on the date on which a payment under the Subordinated Notes falls due for payment, the Solvency Condition is not met or will not be met if such payment is made, the due date for payment of such amount shall be postponed until the next Business Day on which the Solvency Condition can be met in respect of such payment. This means that, prior to the Winding-Up of the Issuer, the rights of holders of Subordinated Notes in respect of a redemption or to receive payments of interest may be subordinated to other creditors of the Issuer whose rights against the Issuer are not subject to an equivalent solvency condition. There is a risk that the Issuer may cease to be Solvent and therefore a risk that interest may not be paid in full or at all.

In the case of Capital Notes, payment of interest is at the Issuer's discretion and subject to the interest payment conditions. The interest payment conditions require, among other things, that making the payment will not result in the Issuer breaching APRA's current capital adequacy arrangements, making the payment would not result in the Issuer becoming, or being likely to become, insolvent or APRA not objecting to the interest being paid. There is a risk that one or more elements of the payment conditions will not be satisfied, and there is therefore a risk that interest may not be paid in full or at all (see "Risk Factors—Interest may not be paid on Capital Notes").

It is likely that a Non-Viability Trigger Event will have occurred before the Issuer is in Winding-Up. To the extent that a Subordinated Note or Capital Note has been converted into Ordinary Shares, an investor holding those Ordinary Shares would rank as an ordinary shareholder in the Winding-Up of the Issuer. To the extent that a Subordinated Note or Capital Note has been Written-Off, an investor would have no claim in the Winding-Up of the Issuer (even though Ordinary Shares are still on issue) and they are likely to be worse off than holders of Ordinary Shares.

Although Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, as the case may be, may pay a higher rate of interest than Notes which are not subordinated, there is a risk that an investor in Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, as the case may be, will lose all or some of its investment should the Issuer become insolvent.

There are restrictions on the payment of interest, principal and other amounts under Subordinated Notes

In the case of Subordinated Notes, if the Solvency Condition is not satisfied in respect of any payment, no payment will be made in respect of the Subordinated Notes. The Issuer's failure to pay in such circumstances will not be an Event of Default. Amounts not paid on account of the Solvency Condition will be payable on the first Business Day on which the amount may be paid by the Issuer in compliance with the Solvency Condition.

In addition, unless the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies otherwise, the Issuer may elect, on any Optional Interest Payment Date, for any or no reason, to defer the due date for payment of any amount of interest under the Subordinated Notes to any future date specified by the Issuer (not being later than the Maturity Date). The result of any such deferral is that the relevant payment is not due and, accordingly, no Event of Default will or can occur as a result of the non-payment resulting from such deferral.

Any amount of principal not paid on account of the Solvency Condition will continue to accrue interest until paid, and interest will accrue on any Deferred Interest and any interest not paid on account of the Solvency Condition until it is paid unless, in each case, the Subordinated Notes are Converted or Written-Off prior to the unpaid amount being paid.

However, if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, to the extent that Subordinated Notes are required to be Converted to Ordinary Shares or Written-Off (as more fully described in "Risk Factors – Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of non-viability of the Issuer" below), all of the Issuer's obligations to make payments in respect of such Notes (including in respect of accrued but unpaid interest) will cease and Noteholders will have no rights to recover any unpaid amounts.

Any deferral of interest payments is likely to have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes. In addition, as a result of the Deferral Provisions of the Notes, the market price of the Notes may be more volatile than the market prices of other debt securities which were issued at an original issue discount or in respect of which interest accrues and which are not subject to such deferrals. The market price of the Notes may also be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in the Issuer's financial condition than other debt securities which are not subject to such deferrals.

Interest may not be paid on Capital Notes

There is a risk that interest will not be paid on Capital Notes. Capital Notes do not require the Issuer to pay interest. Interest will only be paid at the Issuer's discretion and the Issuer is under no obligation to pay any interest.

The payment of interest on Capital Notes is also subject to the interest payment conditions. The interest payment conditions require, among other things, that making the payment will not result in the Issuer breaching APRA's current capital adequacy arrangements, making the payment would not result in the Issuer becoming, or being likely to become, insolvent or APRA not objecting to the interest being paid. There is a risk that one or more elements of the payment conditions will not be satisfied, and there is therefore a risk that interest may not be paid in full or at all.

Failure to make interest payments on the Capital Notes is likely to have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes. In addition, as a result of the exercise of the Issuer's discretion and the operation of the interest payment conditions in respect of the Notes, the market price of the Notes may be more volatile than the market prices of other debt securities which were issued at an original issue discount or in respect of which interest accrues and which are not subject to such exercises of discretion. The market price of the Notes may also be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in the Issuer's financial condition than other debt securities which are not subject to the Issuer's discretion and the interest payment conditions.

Interest payments on Capital Notes are non-cumulative, and therefore if interest is not paid Noteholders will have no recourse whatsoever to payment from the Issuer and will not receive payment of such interest. Failure to pay interest will not constitute an Event of Default. In the event that the Issuer does not pay scheduled interest, Noteholders:

- (a) have no right to apply for the Issuer to be wound up or placed in administration, or to cause an External Administrator to be appointed in respect of the Issuer merely on the grounds that the Issuer does not pay such interest when scheduled; and
- (b) may not exercise any right of set-off and will not have offsetting rights or claims on the Issuer.

If the Issuer does not pay an interest payment in full on an Interest Payment Date, then the Issuer is restricted from paying any Ordinary Share Dividend or undertaking any Buy-Back or Capital Reduction, but that restriction applies only for a limited period and is subject to exceptions.

Interest payments on Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes may be restricted by the terms of other similar instruments

The Issuer may issue instruments with payment tests or distribution restrictions or other covenants which affect the Subordinated Notes or the Capital Notes (including by restricting circumstances in which interest can be paid on the Notes or the Notes can be redeemed) and is not restricted in any way from doing so by the Conditions.

In addition, the terms and conditions of any subordinated instruments that are on issue may restrict payments on any Capital Notes that are on issue.

The rights of a holder of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes if interest is not paid are limited

In the case of Subordinated Notes, in the event that the Issuer does not pay any interest when due and payable, there are limited remedies available to holders of Subordinated Notes. If the Issuer has not paid the interest 30 days after it became due, a "Payment Default" will occur and any one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than the Required Percentage (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in nominal amounts of the Subordinated Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding may bring proceedings:

- (a) to recover any amount then due and payable but unpaid on the Subordinated Notes (subject to the Issuer being able to make the payment and remain Solvent);
- to obtain an order for specific performance of any other obligation in respect of the Subordinated Notes;
 or
- (c) for the Winding-Up of the Issuer.

To the extent that a payment is not required to be made by operation of any Deferral Provision, the amount is not due and payable and a Payment Default cannot occur.

Although the Conditions specify certain remedies (for example, seeking an order for the winding up of the Issuer) the grant of these remedies may be in the discretion of the court, and as such may not be granted.

In the case of Capital Notes, interest payments are non-cumulative, and therefore if interest is not paid Noteholders will have no recourse whatsoever to payment from the Issuer and will not receive payment of such interest. Failure to pay interest will not constitute an Event of Default. In the event that the Issuer does not pay scheduled interest, Noteholders:

- (a) have no right to apply for the Issuer to be wound up, or placed in administration, or to cause an External Administrator to be appointed in respect of the Issuer merely on the grounds that the Issuer does not pay such interest when scheduled; and
- (b) may not exercise any right of set-off and will not have offsetting rights or claims on the Issuer.

In the case of Capital Notes, if the Issuer does not pay an interest payment in full on an Interest Payment Date, then the Issuer is restricted from paying any Ordinary Share Dividend or undertaking any Buy-Back or Capital Reduction, but that restriction applies only for a limited period and is subject to exceptions.

There are no available remedies if the Issuer is acquired

If a person or persons acquire control of the Issuer, the Conditions do not provide any right or remedy for the Noteholders on account of that acquisition occurring. Further, the acquisition of the Issuer may result in the Issuer's Ordinary Shares no longer being quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange ("ASX"). If after such event has occurred a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, the number of Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion will reflect the VWAP for the period of five Scheduled Trading Days on which the Ordinary Shares were last traded on the ASX. This may be well before the Non-Viability Trigger Event and accordingly the value of the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares when issued may be very different from the value based on that VWAP. This may adversely affect the position of Noteholders. See "Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of the Issuer" below.

No rights to set-off

Neither the Issuer nor a holder of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes has any contractual right to set-off any sum at any time due and payable to a Noteholder or the Issuer (as applicable) under or in relation to a Subordinated Note or Capital Note against amounts owing by the Noteholder to the Issuer or by the Issuer to the Noteholder (as applicable).

Future issues or redemptions of securities may impact the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes

The Issuer may in the future issue securities that:

- rank for payment of interest, distributions or return of capital (including on the Winding-Up of the Issuer) equally with, behind or ahead of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes;
- (b) have the same or different interest or distribution rates as that applicable to the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes;

- (c) have payment tests and distribution restrictions or other covenants which affect the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes (including by restricting circumstances in which interest can be paid or the Notes can be redeemed); or
- (d) have the same or different terms and conditions as the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes. The Group may incur further indebtedness and may issue further securities before, or after, the issue of the Notes.

An investment in Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes carries no right to participate in any future issue of securities (whether shares (including Ordinary Shares), Tier 1 Capital, Tier 2 Capital, subordinated or senior debt or otherwise) by the Issuer or any other member of the Group. No prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, which the future issue of securities by the Issuer or any other member of the Group may have on the market price or liquidity of the Notes or on the likelihood of the Issuer making payments in respect of the Notes. The Conditions do not restrict the Issuer from redeeming or otherwise repaying its other existing securities, including other existing securities which rank equally with or junior to the Notes, and carry no rights to require the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes to be redeemed along with any other securities (whether shares (including Ordinary Shares), Tier 1 Capital, Tier 2 Capital, subordinated or senior debt or otherwise).

No prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, which the issue of future securities or the future redemption or repayment by the Group of existing securities may have on the market price or liquidity of the Notes or on the Issuer's or the Group's financial position or performance.

Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes have no voting rights

Holders of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes have no voting rights in respect of meetings of members of the Issuer and has limited voting rights at a meeting of Noteholders or creditors. A Noteholder's voting rights as an unsecured creditor in respect of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes cannot be exercised so as to defeat the subordination of those Notes.

Capital Notes are perpetual securities with no fixed maturity date

Capital Notes are perpetual securities with no fixed maturity date. Accordingly, the Issuer is under no obligation to repay all or any part of the principal amount of the Capital Notes, the Issuer has no obligation to redeem the Capital Notes at any time and Noteholders have no right to call for their redemption or Conversion or otherwise accelerate the repayment of the principal amount of the Capital Notes. It is therefore possible that redemption will not occur at any point in time.

Therefore, to realise an investment in Capital Notes an investor would have to sell the Notes at the prevailing market price. Depending on market conditions at the time, the Capital Notes may be trading at a market price below the prevailing principal amount and/or the market for the Capital Notes may not be liquid. Brokerage fees may also be payable if Capital Notes are sold through a broker. The Issuer does not guarantee that investors will be able to sell their Capital Notes at an acceptable price or at all.

Holders of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes have limited or no rights to accelerate principal

In the case of Subordinated Notes, Noteholders may not declare the principal amount of the Notes to be due and payable other than on the occurrence of a Winding-Up of the Issuer.

In the case of Capital Notes, Noteholders have no rights to declare the principal amount of the Notes to be due and payable, however the Notes are automatically to be redeemed in the case of a Winding-Up of the Issuer.

Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of the Issuer

Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to Conversion into Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Issuer or Write-Off if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs. The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify whether the Conversion Option or the Write-Off Option applies.

Non-Viability Trigger Event

It is a requirement under APRA's prudential standards, which came into effect on 1 January 2013, that any instruments, in order to be eligible for inclusion as regulatory capital known as Additional Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital (including term subordinated debt), contain provisions for conversion or write-off in the event of non-viability.

Under the Conditions of the Subordinated Notes and the Capital Notes, a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs when APRA has provided a written determination to the Issuer that:

- (a) the conversion or write-off of certain regulatory capital instruments of the Issuer is necessary because without the conversion or write-off, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable; or
- (b) without a public sector injection of capital into, or equivalent support with respect to, the Issuer, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable.

The prudential standards do not define non-viability and APRA has not provided any specific guidance on how it would determine non-viability (however, in the context of regulatory capital instruments issued by authorised deposit-taking institutions ("ADIs"), APRA has indicated that non-viability is likely to arise prior to the insolvency of an ADI). Non-viability could be expected to include a serious impairment of the Issuer's financial position. However, it is possible that APRA's view of non-viability may not be confined to solvency or capital measures and APRA's position on these matters may change over time. Non-viability may be significantly impacted by a number of factors, including factors which impact the business, operation and financial condition of the Issuer, such as systemic and non-systemic macro-economic, environmental and operational factors.

A Non-Viability Trigger Event could occur at any time. It could occur on dates not previously contemplated by investors or which may be unfavourable in light of the then prevailing market conditions or investors' individual circumstances or timing preferences. Noteholders should also be aware that a Non-Viability Trigger Event may occur more than once. For example, as a result of a Non-Viability Trigger Event, a partial Conversion or Write-Off of some Capital Notes or Subordinated Notes may occur and yet fail to restore the Issuer to viability. In that case, if a further Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, the Capital Notes and (if all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments of the Issuer have been written-off or converted) Subordinated Notes that remain on issue may be subject to Conversion or Write-Off in circumstances where there has been a further deterioration in the financial position of the Issuer and holders of those Capital Notes and Subordinated Notes may have a worse outcome than holders of the Capital Notes or Subordinated Notes that were previously subject to Conversion.

Conversion or write-off of Relevant Capital Instruments

On the date on which a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs (the "Non-Viability Conversion Date"), the Issuer may be required:

- (a) where the Conversion Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
 - (i) to Convert immediately and irrevocably all or some of the Notes into Ordinary Shares; or
 - (ii) alternatively, if, for any reason (including if the Issuer is prevented by applicable law, or order of any court or action of any government authority (including regarding the insolvency, Winding-Up or other external administration of the Issuer in any jurisdiction) or any other reason from Converting the Notes into Ordinary Shares (an "Inability Event")) Conversion has not been effected within five Scheduled Trading Days after the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the Issuer will be required to Write-Off and immediately and irrevocably terminate all or some of the Notes with effect on and from the Conversion Date; or
- (b) where the Write-Off Option is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, to Write-Off and immediately and irrevocably terminate all or some of the Notes.

For the purposes of paragraph (a) and (b) above, the Notes will be Converted or Written-Off (as applicable) on an approximately proportionate basis with:

(a) in the case of Subordinated Notes, other Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments of the Issuer; or

(b) in the case of Capital Notes, other Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments of the Issuer.

Noteholders should note that APRA will not approve partial conversion or partial write-off in those exceptional circumstances where a public sector injection of funds is deemed necessary. In circumstances where APRA considers that the Issuer would be non-viable without a public sector injection of capital, the Issuer must immediately convert or write-off all Relevant Capital Instruments in the case of Subordinated Notes, or all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments in the case of Capital Notes. If APRA does not consider that a public sector injection of capital is required, and APRA is satisfied that conversion or write-off of an amount of Relevant Capital Instruments or Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments will be sufficient to ensure that the Issuer does not become non-viable, the Issuer must immediately convert or write-off that amount.

Noteholders should be aware that:

- (a) a Non-Viability Determination may require some or all Relevant Capital Instruments be converted or written-off. Where it requires only some be converted, Additional Tier 1 Capital securities (such as the Capital Notes) will be converted or written-off before any Tier 2 Capital securities containing conversion or write-off features are converted or written-off (such as the Subordinated Notes);
- (b) where a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs because APRA determines that, without a public sector injection of capital or equivalent support, the Issuer would become non-viable, all of the Capital Notes and Subordinated Notes will be Converted or Written-Off;
- (c) the Insurance Act 1973 of Australia (the "**Insurance Act**") does not impose on APRA a requirement to ensure that, in the exercise of its powers, holders of regulatory capital securities (such as the Capital Notes and Subordinated Notes) are no worse off than they would be in an insolvency. Where Capital Notes or Subordinated Notes are to be Converted, the number of Ordinary Shares a Noteholder will receive is determined by the Conversion formula applicable to the Note and not by APRA or by their ranking in a winding up if APRA were not to issue a Non-Viability Determination;
- (d) the Group has on issue AUD500 million of subordinated notes due 25 August 2036 (the "AUD Subordinated Notes due 2036"), GBP400 million of subordinated notes due 13 September 2038 (the "GBP Subordinated Notes due 2038"), AUD330 million of subordinated notes due 26 October 2038 (the "AUD Subordinated Notes due 2038"), AUD300 million of subordinated notes due 28 June 2039 (the "AUD Subordinated Notes due 2039"), U.S.\$700 million of subordinated notes due 2 December 2044 (the "USD Subordinated Notes due 2044"), U.S.\$300 million of subordinated notes due 12 November 2045 (the "USD Subordinated Notes due 2045"), U.S.\$524 million of subordinated notes due 17 June 2046 (the "USD Subordinated Notes due 2046") and U.S.\$900 million in aggregate of perpetual capital notes (the "Existing Securities");
- (e) there is no obligation on the Issuer to issue, or maintain on issue, any Relevant Tier 1 Securities or Relevant Tier 2 Securities that it has issued or may decide to issue in the future. As a result, if a Non-Viability Trigger Event requiring the conversion or write-off of some but not all Relevant Capital Instruments occurs, the relative impact on the (i) Capital Notes will depend on the amount of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments other than the Capital Notes (if any) at that time; and (ii) Subordinated Notes will depend on the amount of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments (such as the Capital Notes) (if any) that are on issue at that time; and
- (f) there is no requirement that the rights attaching to Ordinary Shares be cancelled or limited before Relevant Capital Instruments (including the Capital Notes and Subordinated Notes) are required to be converted or written-off.

Conversion Option

(a) If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies that a Tranche of Notes are to be Converted upon a Non-Viability Trigger Event, potential investors in Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes should understand that, if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs and Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares, investors are obliged to accept the shares even if they do not at the time consider such shares to be an appropriate investment for them at the time and despite any change in the financial position of the Issuer since the issue of the Notes or any disruption to the market for those shares or to capital markets generally. Investors have no right to elect to have Notes Written-Off instead of being Converted.

- (b) Further, the number of Ordinary Shares that an investor will receive on Conversion is calculated in accordance with a formula which provides for a calculation based on a discounted volume weighted average price of shares traded on the ASX ("VWAP") over five relevant business days but cannot be greater than a maximum conversion number based on 20 per cent. of the VWAP during the period of 5 relevant business days preceding the issue date of the relevant Notes (the "Issue Date VWAP"). The Issue Date VWAP is adjusted for only limited corporate actions of the Issuer, namely bonus issues, divisions and similar transactions. Accordingly, this may result in an investor in Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes receiving on Conversion Ordinary Shares worth significantly less than the Nominal Amount of the investor's Notes. In addition the calculation of the number of Ordinary Shares that a holder may receive upon a Conversion of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes relies upon a conversion of Australian dollar amounts in which shares are traded on the ASX into the Specified Currency in which the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes are issued, where that currency is not Australian dollars. In recent years, exchange rates between currencies have been highly volatile and there is a risk that the exchange rate between Australian dollars and the currency in which the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes are denominated may be subject to material changes. Depending upon the exchange rates prevailing around the time that a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, the Ordinary Shares that an investor in Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes actually receives upon a Conversion relating to a particular Non-Viability Trigger Event may be worth significantly less than the Ordinary Shares the investor may have received had the Conversion taken place on a different date or that the investor otherwise expected to receive and investors may suffer loss as a result.
- (c) To enable the Issuer to issue Ordinary Shares to an investor on Conversion, investors need to have appropriate securities accounts in Australia for the receipt of Ordinary Shares and to provide to the Issuer, no later than the Non-Viability Conversion Date, their name and address and certain security holder account and other details. Investors should understand that a failure to provide this information to the Issuer on time may result in the Issuer issuing the Ordinary Shares to a nominee which will sell the Ordinary Shares and pay the net proceeds to the investors. In this situation, investors will have no further rights against the Issuer in relation to the Conversion. The nominee will have no duty to obtain a fair market price in such sale.
- (d) Other Relevant Capital Instruments are likely to contain similar provisions for the issue of Ordinary Shares to a nominee on conversion and for the nominee to sell the Ordinary Shares. The larger the volume of Ordinary Shares that is required to be issued to a nominee for sale on Conversion, the more difficult it may be for any nominee to sell such Ordinary Shares. There is a risk that the market price for Ordinary Shares may be adversely affected in such circumstances, and the greater the amount of Relevant Capital Instruments that are required to be converted upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event, the more likely the market price of Ordinary Shares may be adversely affected as a result of the conversion.
- (e) If, (i) prior to the Non-Viability Conversion Date, an investor has notified the Issuer that it does not wish to receive Ordinary Shares as a result of the Conversion (whether entirely or to the extent specified in the notice); (ii) the Subordinated Notes or the Capital Notes are held by a person which the Issuer believes in good faith may not be a resident of Australia; (iii) for any reason (whether or not due to the fault of a Noteholder) the Issuer has not received any information required by it so as to impede the Issuer issuing the Ordinary Shares to a Noteholder on the Non-Viability Conversion Date; or (iv) a FATCA Withholding is required to be made in respect of the Ordinary Shares issued on the Conversion, the Issuer will, subject to certain conditions, issue the Ordinary Shares to a nominee which will sell the Ordinary Shares and pay the net proceeds to that investor or, in the case of (iv) above, deal with those Ordinary Shares in accordance with FATCA. In this situation, investors will have no further rights against the Issuer in relation to the conversion. The nominee will have no duty to obtain a fair market price in such sale.
- (f) There may be no market in Ordinary Shares received on Conversion and investors may not be able to sell the Ordinary Shares at a price equal to the value of their investment and as a result may suffer loss. The Ordinary Shares may not be able to be sold at prices representing the price ascribed to them in order to determine the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares to be issued on Conversion. In particular, the price ascribed to the Ordinary Shares in order to determine the Conversion Number will be based on trading which occurred before the occurrence of the Non-Viability Trigger Event, and the occurrence of such an event may have a negative impact on the price at which Ordinary Shares may be sold.

- (g) The sale of Ordinary Shares in the Issuer may also be restricted by applicable Australian law, including restrictions under the Corporations Act on the sale of Ordinary Shares to investors within 12 months of their issue (except where certain exemptions apply) on account of the Notes and the Ordinary Shares being issued without disclosure by the Issuer as required by the Corporations Act. The restrictions may apply to sales by any nominee for investors as well as sales by investors and by restricting sales investors may suffer loss. Noteholders agree under the Conditions not to trade Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion (except where relevant exemptions apply), until the Issuer has taken all actions required under the Corporations Act, other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules for the shares to be freely tradeable without further disclosure or other action. See "Risk Factors—Restrictions on holding and trading Ordinary Shares and Notes" below.
- (h) The rules and regulations of the ASX in certain circumstances limit the Issuer's ability, without shareholder approval, to issue Ordinary Shares and other equity securities (which may include convertible notes) without the approval of holders of Ordinary Shares. If the issue or Conversion of Notes would contravene that limit, then the Issuer may be prevented from Converting Notes and such Notes may be required to be Written-Off.
- (i) As described further under "Description of the Issuer and Summary Financial Information—Major Shareholders" below, there are provisions of Australian law that are relevant to the ability of any person to acquire interests in the Issuer beyond the limits prescribed by those laws. These provisions could apply to the Conversion of Notes into Ordinary Shares and, in some circumstances, could apply to the acquisition of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes.
- (j) Noteholders should take care to ensure that by acquiring any Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes which provide for such Notes to be Converted to Ordinary Shares, Noteholders do not breach any applicable restrictions on the ownership of interests in the Issuer. Without limiting this, if Conversion of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes into Ordinary Shares (whether in the hands of the Noteholder or a nominee) would breach those restrictions, the Issuer may be prevented from Converting such Notes and where Conversion is required under the Conditions such Notes may be required to be Written-Off.
- (k) While the Issuer currently has Ordinary Shares listed on the ASX, the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion may not be listed, including, for example, if the Issuer is acquired by another entity and delisted, and this may affect the ability of investors to sell Ordinary Shares, as well as the price at which they may be sold. Ordinary Shares are a different type of investment to the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes. Dividends are payable at the absolute discretion of the Issuer and the amount of each dividend is also discretionary. The payment of dividends is also subject to a number of factors including (without limitation) sanctions laws (as to which, see "General Information" below), dividend withholding tax (as to which, see "Taxation" below), other taxes and APRA's power to object to the payment of a dividend. In a Winding-Up, claims of holders of Ordinary Shares rank behind claims of holders of all other securities and debts of the Issuer. The market price of Ordinary Shares may be more sensitive to changes in the Issuer's performance, operational issues and other business issues than that of the Subordinated Notes. The constitution of the Issuer ("Constitution") and the Corporations Act set out the rights attaching to Ordinary Shares. Changes to the Corporations Act may vary certain rights attaching to Ordinary Shares. Rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares may also be varied if the Constitution is amended, which may occur if the amendment is approved by the requisite majority of holders of Ordinary Shares in accordance with the processes for amendment set out in the Constitution. For a summary of some of the key rights and liabilities attaching to the Ordinary Shares, see "Description of the Ordinary Shares", below.
- (l) In order to comply with increasing regulatory capital requirements imposed by applicable regulations, the Issuer may need to raise additional capital. Further capital raisings by the Issuer (which are not in any way restricted) could result in the dilution of the interests of the Noteholders.
- (m) Investors should also understand that if the Issuer is required to convert a Note but, for any reason, Conversion of that Note has not been effected within five Scheduled Trading Days after the Non-Viability Conversion Date (including, without limitation, an Inability Event), the Conversion will not occur and the rights of the relevant Noteholder (including without limitation in respect of a redemption and to the payment of interest) in relation to the Nominal Amount of that Note required to be Converted will be written-off and immediately and irrevocably terminated with effect on and from the Non-Viability Conversion Date. In this situation, investors will lose some or all of the value of their investment and

will not receive any compensation or have any claim at all on the Issuer, and are likely to be worse off than holders of Ordinary Shares.

Write-Off Option

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies that a Tranche of Notes are to be Written-Off upon a Non-Viability Trigger Event, upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event, investors will lose some or all of the value of their investment and will not receive any compensation. Investors have no right to elect to have Notes Converted instead of Written-Off. If Notes are Written-Off, Noteholders will have no claim on the Issuer (even though Ordinary Shares are on issue) and they are likely to be worse off than holders of Ordinary Shares.

Restrictions on holding and trading Ordinary Shares and Notes

Mergers, acquisitions and divestments of Australian public companies listed on the ASX (such as the Issuer) are regulated by detailed and comprehensive legislation and the rules and regulations of the ASX.

Under the Corporations Act, a person must not acquire a relevant interest in issued voting shares in an Australian listed company if, broadly, because of the transaction, that person's or someone else's voting power in the company increases from 20 per cent. or below to more than 20 per cent., or from a starting point that is above 20 per cent. and below 90 per cent., unless those shares are acquired in a manner specifically permitted by law. This restriction also limits the options available to a shareholder wanting to sell a shareholding of more than 20 per cent. in an Australian listed company.

Australian law also regulates acquisitions which would have the effect, or be likely to have the effect, of substantially lessening competition in a market in Australia, in a state, in a territory or in a region of Australia.

Acquisitions of certain interests (which may include the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion, or interests therein) in Australian companies by foreign interests are regulated by the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 of Australia ("FATA"). FATA applies (subject to certain monetary thresholds) to, among other things, any acquisition or issue of shares in an Australian company where the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Australian Treasurer") is satisfied that such acquisition or issue would result in a foreign person (including a foreign-controlled corporation) (whether alone or together with any associates) beginning to "control" the company (whether or not the company was previously controlled by a foreign person). A foreign person will be taken to control the company if:

- (a) the foreign person (alone or together with any associates) is in a position to control at least 20 per cent. of the voting power or potential voting power or holds any legal or equitable interest in 20 per cent. or more of the issued securities of the company;
- (b) two or more foreign persons (together with any associates of any of those foreign persons) are in a position to control 40 per cent. or more of the voting power or potential voting power or hold any legal or equitable interest in 40 per cent. or more of the issued securities of the company or;
- (c) the foreign person (alone or together with any associates) is in a position to determine the policy of the company in relation to any matter.

In any of these cases, and in certain other circumstances, the Australian Treasurer may prohibit the acquisition if it would be contrary to the Australian national interest or national security.

There are also specific limitations on the acquisition of a shareholding in an insurance company or the non-operating holding company ("NOHC") of an insurance company under the Financial Sector (Shareholdings) Act 1998 of Australia (the "FSSA"). Under the FSSA, a person (including a company) must not acquire an interest in an Australian financial sector company where the acquisition would take that person's voting power (which includes the voting power of the person's associates) in the financial sector company to more than 20 per cent. of the voting power of the financial sector company without first obtaining the Australian Treasurer's approval. Even if a person has less than 20 per cent. of the voting power, the Australian Treasurer has the power to declare that a person has practical control of that company and, by applying for an order from the Federal Court of Australia, may require the person to relinquish that control. The definition of a financial sector company includes holding companies of authorised insurance companies (such as the Issuer).

The Corporations Act also enables persons to compulsorily acquire shares in a company (including Ordinary Shares in the Issuer) in certain circumstances, including where they obtain a relevant interest in 90 per cent. or more of the issued voting shares of a company through a takeover bid or other means. A person may also compulsorily acquire shares pursuant to a court order in connection with a scheme of arrangement under the Corporations Act, following approval of the scheme of arrangement by the requisite number of shareholders at a prior vote.

The Australian Takeovers Panel also has the ability to make orders requiring persons to divest interests in shares (including Ordinary Shares in the Issuer), or to seize shares from persons, or restrict voting rights, where the Takeovers Panel (on an application by an interested party) makes a decision that unacceptable circumstances exist in relation to the affairs of a company that warrant the granting of such an order.

The Group operates in, and the Issuer has subsidiaries in, a number of jurisdictions outside Australia. Analogous shareholding or competition laws of those other jurisdictions may also operate to limit the quantum of the interest (including through the holding of Capital Notes, Subordinated Notes or Ordinary Shares in the Issuer) that a person may have in a company having subsidiaries in one or more of those jurisdictions.

If any such restriction prevents the Issuer from Converting the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes of a Noteholder within five Scheduled Trading Days after the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the rights of the Noteholder in relation to the Nominal Amount of that Subordinated Note required to be Converted will be immediately and irrevocably written-off and terminated, as described more fully in "Risk Factors—Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of the Issuer" above.

The restrictions discussed above and other laws (including, but not limited to insolvency laws) may operate to prevent Conversion from occurring. Laws in relation to the subject matter discussed above may also change in the future, and this may increase the likelihood that Conversion cannot be effected.

There may be no market in Ordinary Shares received on Conversion and the nominee may not be able to sell the Ordinary Shares at a price equal to the value of the investment made by investors and as a result investors may suffer loss.

The sale of Ordinary Shares in the Issuer may also be restricted by applicable Australian law, including restrictions under the Corporations Act on the sale of Ordinary Shares to investors within 12 months of their issue (except where certain exemptions apply) on account of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes and the Ordinary Shares being issued without disclosure by the Issuer as required by the Corporations Act.

The Corporations Act prevents securities, such as the Ordinary Shares to be issued on Conversion, from being sold within 12 months of their issue without disclosure (e.g., a prospectus lodged with ASIC) unless the sale is limited to investors to whom disclosure is not required to be made (broadly, professional or sophisticated investors, as defined in the Corporations Act), or unless the Issuer has taken certain steps (such as the lodging of a prospectus with ASIC or a notice complying with section 708A of the Corporations Act with the ASX) to procure that the Ordinary Shares may be freely traded among investors generally. The Issuer has an obligation under the Conditions to use reasonable endeavours to procure that the Ordinary Shares may be freely traded on the ASX without further action by the Noteholder (or person to whom the Ordinary Shares are issued). However, if the Issuer fails to take such action, or despite the Issuer's reasonable endeavours the Ordinary Shares are not made freely tradeable on the ASX, Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion will be restricted from being sold within 12 months of their issue other than to professional and to sophisticated investors.

The sale or purchase of Ordinary Shares and Capital Notes or Subordinated Notes may also be restricted where one or more of the seller and the purchaser of those Ordinary Shares, Capital Notes or Subordinated Notes are in possession of "inside information" that is information that is not generally available and which a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price or value of the Ordinary Shares.

The Issuer's obligation to use reasonable endeavours to procure free tradeability of the Ordinary Shares does not extend to restrictions (such as the restriction in the paragraph above) attributable to the circumstances of the Noteholder and not within the Issuer's control. The Conditions exclude any remedy in damages or acceleration for a breach of this obligation. These restrictions on tradability may cause investors to suffer loss.

The restrictions referred to above may also restrict Ordinary Shares being issued to nominees on Conversion. A nominee might not be able to be found to hold Ordinary Shares on Conversion due to the restrictions referred to

above or for any other reason. That may prevent the Issuer from issuing Ordinary Shares on Conversion, in which case the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes will be Written-Off in the circumstances described in "Risk Factors—Write-Off" above.

The Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules impose restrictions on certain persons and their associated or related entities from voting at general meetings of the Issuer in certain circumstances. These restrictions include, to the extent applicable to a shareholder, voting on: related party transactions involving the shareholder; change of control transactions involving the shareholder; capital actions involving the shareholder (including issues of shares requiring shareholder approval, share consolidations, splits and buy-backs); remuneration related resolutions presented to shareholders for approval, and other similar corporate actions.

If Noteholders are issued Ordinary Shares they should take their own advice having regard to their particular circumstances in relation to any compliance obligations arising in connection with that shareholding.

Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are subject to early optional redemption if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs or on dates specified in the Pricing Supplement

The Issuer may be entitled to redeem Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes in a broader range of circumstances than Senior Notes.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer will be entitled to redeem Subordinated Notes as a whole or in part (subject to APRA's prior written approval) if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer will be entitled to redeem Capital Notes as a whole or in part (subject to APRA's prior written approval) if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs.

The Pricing Supplement may specify a date or dates (not being less than five years from the issue date of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes) on which the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes may be redeemed.

A "Tax Event" occurs in summary where the Issuer receives an opinion of competent tax counsel to the effect that, as a result of the introduction of, or amendment or clarification to, or change in, or change in the interpretation of (or an announcement that there will be an introduction of, amendment or clarification to or change in) a law or regulation by any legislative body, court, governmental agency or regulatory authority in a relevant jurisdiction after the Issue Date, there is more than an insubstantial risk that:

- (a) the Issuer would be required to pay certain additional amounts on account of withholding tax;
- (b) in the case of Subordinated Notes, if interest payments on the Subordinated Notes are not or may not be allowed as a deduction for the purposes of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) the Issuer would be exposed to more than a *de minimis* increase in its costs in relation to the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes (which costs, in the case of Capital Notes, shall include a reduction in its franking account balance on account of an increase in the rate of franking attaching to the Capital Notes) as a result of the application of any laws relating to any taxes or duties (or other governmental charges or civil liabilities relating to taxation).

Where Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes are on issue through a borrowing office of the Issuer outside Australia (whether such Notes were originally issued through such borrowing office or as a result of a Branch Substitution), such Notes may be affected by the laws of the foreign jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office of the Issuer is located. Accordingly, subject to the applicable Pricing Supplement, a Tax Event arising under the laws of that jurisdiction or place may give the Issuer a right to redeem those Notes.

A "**Regulatory Event**" occurs on the introduction of, or an amendment or clarification to or change in, or a change in the interpretation of a law or regulation of Australia or any state or territory thereof, or a rule, regulation, prudential standard, directive, order or requirement of APRA, after the Issue Date ("**Regulatory Change**") (or an announcement that there will be a Regulatory Change which the Issuer expects will take effect within no more than 12 months), which has or (in the case of an announced Regulatory Change) will have the effect that the Issuer is not (or will not be) entitled to treat all of the Subordinated Notes in full as Tier 2 Capital of the Level 2 Insurance Group, or its then equivalent (in the case of the Subordinated Notes) or all of the Capital Notes in full as Tier 1 Capital of the Level 2 Insurance Group, or its then equivalent (in the case of the Capital Notes).

The Issuer will not be entitled to redeem Notes in these circumstances if the Issuer expected the event on the Issue Date.

Each Note redeemed because of a Tax Event or a Regulatory Event or on a date specified in the Pricing Supplement will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

The Issuer may only elect to redeem any Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes with the prior written approval of APRA and it will not be permitted to redeem any Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes unless either:

- (a) before or concurrently with the redemption, the Issuer replaces the Notes the subject of the redemption with a capital instrument which is of the same or better quality (for the purposes of APRA's prudential standards as they are applied to the Level 2 Insurance Group at the relevant time) and the Issuer obtains confirmation from APRA that APRA is satisfied that the replacement of the relevant Notes is done under conditions that are sustainable for the income capacity of the Issuer; or
- (b) the Issuer obtains confirmation from APRA that APRA is satisfied, having regard to the capital position of the Level 2 Insurance Group, that the Issuer does not have to replace the Notes the subject of the redemption.

Noteholders should not expect that APRA's approval will be given for any early redemption of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes. In addition, APRA has stated that, consistent with its prudential requirements, where it considers any replacement capital to be more expensive (including because of higher credit margins), APRA may not approve a redemption unless the issuer satisfies it as to the economic and prudential rationale for the redemption and that the redemption will not create an expectation that other regulatory capital instruments will be redeemed in similar circumstances.

At any time the Issuer is permitted to redeem Capital Notes, the Issuer may, in lieu of such redemption, elect to Resell Capital Notes to one or more Nominated Purchasers for their Face Value.

Noteholders cannot require the Issuer to redeem the Notes on the occurrence of a Tax Event or a Regulatory Event or where the Notes are redeemable at the Issuer's option.

Redemption (or in the case of Capital Notes, Resale) on account of a Tax Event or a Regulatory Event may occur at any time and there is a risk that it may occur at a time which does not suit Noteholders.

RISKS RELATING TO THE LEGAL AND REGULATORY LANDSCAPE

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (a) the Notes are legal investments for it, (b) the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of the Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Change of law

Changes in law, regulation or prudential standards may affect the liquidity or market value of Notes.

In the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, investors should also be aware that certain changes in law, regulation or prudential standards or interpretation thereof may trigger a Regulatory Event. For example, although the Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes are only issued after APRA has confirmed their regulatory treatment, if APRA subsequently determines that some or all of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes do not qualify in full as Tier 2 Capital or Additional Tier 1 Capital (as applicable), the Issuer may decide that a Regulatory Event has occurred and may elect to redeem all (but not some) of the relevant Notes in accordance with the Conditions (subject to APRA's prior written approval).

In September 2023, APRA released a discussion paper entitled "Discussion Paper – Enhancing bank resilience: Additional Tier 1 Capital in Australia" ("APRA Discussion Paper"). In the APRA Discussion Paper, APRA states that it is exploring the effectiveness of Additional Tier 1 Capital in Australia and intends to formally consult on any proposed amendments to prudential standards in 2024. Potential options raised by APRA include (i) changes to the design features of Additional Tier 1 Capital; (ii) changes to the required level or mix of regulatory capital requirements to reduce reliance on Additional Tier 1 Capital; and (iii) changes to diversify the investor base for Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments. APRA has stated that while the APRA Discussion Paper focuses on Additional Tier 1 Capital for ADIs, it expects that proposed revisions would also be made, where relevant, to the corresponding prudential standards for insurers. Until APRA's proposed changes (if any) are known, it is not possible to state what their impact (if any) might be on Capital Notes or other Notes.

Australian taxation consequences

A general outline of the Australian tax consequences of investing in Notes (other than Foreign Branch Notes) for certain potential investors is set out in the section entitled "*Taxation*". That discussion is in general terms and is not intended to provide specific advice addressing the circumstances of any particular potential investor. Accordingly, potential investors should seek independent advice concerning their own individual tax position. Investors should also be aware that certain changes in law, regulation or the interpretation thereof may trigger an option for the Issuer to redeem the Notes (in whole or in part) in accordance with the Conditions (in the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, subject to APRA's prior written approval).

Accounting Standards

A change in accounting standards by either the International Accounting Standards Board or AASB may affect the reported earnings and financial position of the Issuer or the Group in future financial periods. This may adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to pay interest.

Prudential regulation

As a prudentially regulated authorised NOHC, the Issuer is subject to the requirements of, among other things, the Insurance Act and prudential standards set by APRA. The Insurance Act includes certain powers that APRA may exercise in a manner that may be adverse to the interests of Noteholders, including powers to direct the Issuer not to pay or transfer any amount to any person (including in respect of any Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes), to conduct its business in a particular way or not to issue Ordinary Shares in connection with a Conversion of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes or not to pay a dividend in respect of any Ordinary Shares. APRA's prudential standards may also restrict the payment of dividends or other distributions in respect of Ordinary Shares in particular circumstances.

In addition, Part 4 of the Financial Sector (Transfer and Restructure) Act 1999 of Australia ("FSTRA") authorises APRA to order the compulsory transfer of business of a general insurer to another entity, including to an entity not controlled by the Issuer in particular circumstances. A number of the Issuer's subsidiaries in Australia are general insurers, and may be subject to a compulsory transfer under FSTRA.

Broadly, APRA may make a determination to transfer the business of a general insurer (i) where the general insurer has contravened the Insurance Act, any regulations or other instruments made under that Act or conditions imposed under that Act; (ii) where APRA has chosen to investigate the general insurer; (iii) where a judicial manager recommends the transfer, or (iv) there is an Insurance Act statutory manager of the general insurer, and in each case where APRA considers the transfer appropriate having considered the interests of the policy owners of the transferring and transferee entity. Such a determination may have a negative impact on the Issuer, its subsidiaries or the Group as a whole. Similar laws may exist in other jurisdictions in which the Group carries on business.

On 5 March 2018, the Financial Sector Legislation Amendment (Crisis Resolution Powers and Other Measures) Act 2018 of Australia ("Crisis Management Act") came into effect. The Crisis Management Act amended the Banking Act 1959 of Australia and the Insurance Act (among other statutes applicable to financial institutions in Australia). The Crisis Management Act enhanced APRA's powers to facilitate the orderly resolution of the entities it regulates (and their subsidiaries) in times of distress. Additional powers given to APRA under the Crisis Management Act could impact the Group and potentially the position of Noteholders, include greater oversight, management and directions powers in relation to the Group entities which are not currently regulated by APRA, increased statutory management powers over regulated entities within the Group, including a power to appoint an Insurance Act statutory manager to the Issuer, and changes which are designed to give statutory recognition to the

conversion or write-off of regulatory capital instruments. The Crisis Management Act further provides APRA with powers to set requirements on resolution planning and ensure banks and insurers are better prepared for a crisis and an expanded set of crisis resolution powers, which allow it to act decisively to facilitate the orderly resolution of a distressed bank or insurer.

Under the Insurance Act, a party to a contract with an authorised NOHC may not deny obligations under that contract, accelerate any debt under that contract, close out any transaction relating to that contract or enforce any security under that contract, on the grounds that an Insurance Act statutory manager is in control of that authorised NOHC's business (or the business of another member of the group). Accordingly, this may prevent Noteholders from exercising any contractual right to accelerating repayment of Notes on the grounds that an Insurance Act statutory manager has been appointed.

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act withholding may affect payments on the Notes or Ordinary Shares

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act provisions of the U.S. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010 ("FATCA") establish a due diligence, reporting and withholding regime. FATCA aims to detect U.S. taxpayers who use accounts with "foreign financial institutions" ("FFIs") to conceal income and assets from the IRS.

FATCA withholding

Under FATCA, a 30 per cent. withholding may be imposed (i) in respect of certain payments of U.S. source income and (ii) in respect of "foreign passthru payments" (a term which is not yet defined under FATCA), which are, in each case, paid to or in respect of entities that fail to meet certain certification or reporting requirements ("FATCA withholding").

A FATCA withholding may be required if (i) an investor does not provide information sufficient for the Issuer or any other financial institution through which payments on the Notes or Ordinary Shares are made to determine whether the investor is subject to FATCA withholding or (ii) an FFI to or through which payments on the Notes or Ordinary Shares are made is a "non-participating FFI".

FATCA withholding is not expected to apply in respect of Notes treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes and the payment is made under a grandfathered obligation, generally being any obligation issued on or before the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining the term "foreign passthru payment" are filed with the U.S. Federal Register.

In any event, FATCA withholding is not expected to apply on payments made in respect of Notes or Ordinary Shares before the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations defining the term "foreign passthru payment" are filed with the U.S. Federal Register.

Australian IGA

Australia and the United States signed an intergovernmental agreement ("Australian IGA") in respect of FATCA on 28 April 2014. The Australian Government has enacted legislation amending, among other things, the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia to give effect to the Australian IGA ("Australian IGA Legislation").

Australian financial institutions which are Reporting Australian Financial Institutions under the Australian IGA must comply with specific due diligence procedures. In general, these procedures seek to identify their account holders (e.g. the Noteholders) and provide the Australian Taxation Office ("ATO") with information on financial accounts (which may include the Notes or Ordinary Shares) held by U.S. persons and recalcitrant account holders. The ATO is required to provide such information to the IRS. Consequently, Noteholders may be requested to provide certain information and certifications to the Issuer and to any other financial institutions through which payments on the Notes or Ordinary Shares are made in order for the Issuer and such other financial institutions to comply with their FATCA obligations.

A Reporting Australian Financial Institution that complies with its obligations under the Australian IGA will not generally be subject to FATCA withholding on amounts it receives, and will not generally be required to deduct FATCA withholding from payments it makes with respect to the Notes or Ordinary Shares, other than in certain prescribed circumstances.

No additional amounts paid as a result of FATCA withholding

In the event that any amount is required to be withheld or deducted from a payment on the Notes or Ordinary Shares, or Ordinary Shares are required to be withheld or deducted from an issue of Ordinary Shares upon Conversion of Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes, in each case as a result of FATCA, pursuant to the Conditions of the Notes, no additional amounts will be paid by the Issuer and, in the case of the Subordinated Notes and the Capital Notes, no additional Ordinary Shares will be issued to Noteholders by the Issuer as a result of the deduction or withholding.

FATCA is particularly complex legislation

Investors should consult their own tax advisers to determine how FATCA and the Australian IGA may apply to them under the Notes.

Common Reporting Standard

The OECD Common Reporting Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information ("CRS") requires certain financial institutions to report information regarding certain accounts (which may include the Notes or Ordinary Shares) to their local tax authority and follow related due diligence procedures. Noteholders may be requested to provide certain information and certifications to ensure compliance with the CRS. A jurisdiction that has signed a CRS Competent Authority Agreement may provide this information to other jurisdictions that have signed the CRS Competent Authority Agreement. The Australian Government has enacted legislation amending, among other things, the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia to give effect to the CRS.

A change in English law or Australian law which governs the Notes may adversely affect Noteholders

The Conditions are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English Law, except in the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes, for provisions relating to subordination, Conversion and Write-Off, which are governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia and in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, the Conditions of which are governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or the laws of New South Wales or administrative practice after the date of this Offering Circular and any such change could materially adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

RISKS RELATED TO THE MARKET GENERALLY

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Liquidity in secondary security markets generally may affect the secondary market for the Notes

The global financial system has experienced difficulties in recent years following the global financial crisis in 2008 and 2009 with global credit and capital markets frequently experiencing extreme volatility, disruption and decreased liquidity. While there have been some periods of relative market stability the environment has become more volatile and unpredictable. The potential for sovereign debt defaults and/or bank failures has contributed to much of the volatility in equity values, credit spreads and sovereign yields. During certain periods, including during severe market stress, many investors substantially reduced and, in some cases, stopped their funding to borrowers, including other financial institutions, reflecting concern about the stability of the financial markets generally and the strength of counterparties.

Potential investors in the Notes should be aware of the potential for global credit market conditions to deteriorate, which may result in a severe lack of liquidity in the secondary market for instruments similar to the Notes. As a result there exist significant additional risks which may affect the returns on Notes to potential investors.

There is no prior market for Notes

The Notes have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid and may not be sustained. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily

or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market.

Although in-principle approval has been received for the listing and quotation of Notes to be issued under the Programme on the Official List of the SGX-ST, there can be no assurance that that listing will be obtained or maintained. Even if such a listing is obtained and maintained, such a listing does not assure the liquidity of the Notes nor provide the ability to trade the Notes through the SGX-ST.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay amounts owing to the investors in respect of the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (a) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (b) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of any repayments of amounts invested in respect of the Notes and (c) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive lesser amounts in respect of the Notes than expected, or no amounts.

The value of Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates

Investment in Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase relative to the rate paid on the Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Notes.

RISKS RELATING TO CREDIT AGENCY RATINGS

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may from time to time assign credit ratings to the Notes or the Issuer. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, the additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

Credit rating may change

Although the Notes may be rated upon issuance there is no obligation on the Issuer or any other member of the Group to maintain that rating.

Credit ratings agencies review and amend their rating methodology and review ratings assigned to instruments (such as the Notes) and may change either as a result of a number of factors, including changes to the ratings methodology of one or more of the other independent rating agencies. Any changes to rating methodology could affect the market price and liquidity of the Notes.

Restrictions on use of credit rating

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the "CRA Regulation") from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances. Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-European Union credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by a European Union registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-European Union rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes, European regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes and the Notes may have a different

regulatory treatment. This may result in European regulated investors selling the Notes which may impact the value of the Notes and any secondary market. The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by ESMA on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.

Investors regulated in the United Kingdom are subject to similar restrictions to those to which European regulated investors are subject under the CRA Regulation as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA (as amended, the "UK CRA Regulation"). As such, United Kingdom regulated investors are required to use, for United Kingdom regulatory purposes, ratings issued by a credit rating agency established in the United Kingdom and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. In the case of ratings issued by third country non-United Kingdom credit rating agencies, third country credit ratings can either be: (i) endorsed by a United Kingdom registered credit rating agency; or (ii) issued by a third country credit rating agency that is certified in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Note this is subject, in each case, to: (i) the relevant United Kingdom registration, certification or endorsement, as the case may be, not having been withdrawn or suspended; and (ii) transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances. If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes (as described in the relevant Pricing Supplement) changes for the purposes of the UK CRA Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes in the United Kingdom, and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment, which may impact the value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary market.

In addition, any credit rating in respect of any Notes or the Issuer is for distribution only to persons who are not a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors, professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is not required under Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act and, in all cases, in such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any jurisdiction in which an investor may be located. Anyone who is not such a person is not entitled to receive this Offering Circular and anyone who receives this Offering Circular must not distribute it to any person who is not entitled to receive it.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The documents described below shall be deemed to be incorporated into, and to form part of, this Offering Circular:

- the Issuer's annual report in respect of the two most recent financial years ended 31 December (including the financial statements) released to the ASX and any announcements concerning those annual reports (including the financial statements) released by the Issuer to the ASX after the date of its most recent financial statements:
- the most recent half year report (including the financial statements) released by the Issuer to the ASX;
 and
- all documents listed by the Issuer and stated to be incorporated in this Offering Circular by reference, including, in the case of any issue of Notes, a Pricing Supplement and ASX disclosures which are stated to form part of this Offering Circular.

This Offering Circular should be read in conjunction with all supplements or amendments to this Offering Circular published by the Issuer between the date of this Offering Circular and the Issue Date of any Tranche of Notes (which themselves may expressly incorporate additional documents with which this Offering Circular should be read).

Any statement contained herein or in a document which is deemed to be incorporated herein by reference shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Offering Circular to the extent that a statement contained in any such subsequent document which is deemed to be incorporated herein by reference modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Offering Circular.

The Issuer will provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Offering Circular has been validly delivered, upon receipt of a request from such person, a copy of any or all of the documents deemed to be incorporated herein by reference unless such documents have been modified or superseded as specified above. Requests for such documents should be directed to the Issuer at its registered offices set out in the section entitled "Directory" at the end of this Offering Circular. In addition, certain documents will be available from the specified offices of the Principal Paying Agent.

The annual reports and half year report incorporated in this Offering Circular by reference are also available on the Issuer's website at www.qbe.com.

The Issuer is a "disclosing entity" for the purposes of the Corporations Act and is subject to regular reporting and disclosure obligations under the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. Documents lodged by the Issuer with the ASX are available electronically on the website of the ASX, at www.asx.com.au. Copies of documents regarding the Issuer lodged with ASIC may be obtained from ASIC's website, or inspected at, any ASIC office for a fee. In addition, copies of documents incorporated by reference may be obtained from the Issuer free of charge at its registered office set out in the section entitled "Directory" at the end of this Offering Circular.

The information on any websites referred to in this Offering Circular or any website directly or indirectly linked to such websites is not incorporated by reference into, and does not form part of, this Offering Circular and should not be relied upon unless expressly stated to be incorporated into, and to form part of, this Offering Circular.

DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER AND SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

DETAILS OF THE ISSUER

The legal name of the Issuer is QBE Insurance Group Limited. It is registered in the Australian Capital Territory with Australian Business Number ("ABN") 28 008 485 014.

The Issuer is a public limited company incorporated in the Commonwealth of Australia and it operates under Australian legislation including the Corporations Act. Its registered office is Level 18, 388 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia (telephone number +61 2 9375 4444).

THE GROUP

The Group is a major international insurance and reinsurance company, with operations in key insurance markets. The Issuer is listed on the ASX and is headquartered in Sydney. The Group employs more than 13,000 people in 27 countries.

HISTORY

The Group's founding company, The North Queensland Insurance Company Limited, was established in Queensland, Australia in 1886. In 1959, the North Queensland Insurance Company Limited acquired an interest in The Equitable Probate and General Insurance Company. In 1973, following a merger with Bankers and Traders Insurance Company Limited, the Issuer was renamed QBE Insurance Group Limited.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Operations

Effective 1 January 2019, the Group's Asian operations joined its European operations to form a new International segment, and operations in the Pacific were combined with Australian & New Zealand operations to form the Australia Pacific segment. At the same time, the results of the Group's captive reinsurer, Equator Re, have been incorporated into the results of other segments. These changes will help drive efficiencies across the Group, with much of the administration of the former standalone Asia Pacific Operations absorbed by the larger and better resourced International and Australia Pacific segments.

Since 2020, certain inward reinsurance business written by North America but managed by International is reflected in the results of the International segment to drive better end-to-end underwriting, pricing, reserving and performance management discipline.

As a result of the above, the Group currently operates through the following segments:

- North America, which writes general insurance, reinsurance and crop business in the United States.
- International, which writes general insurance business in the United Kingdom, Europe and Canada. It also writes general insurance and reinsurance business through Lloyd's of London; worldwide reinsurance business through offices in the United Kingdom, the United States, Ireland, Bermuda, Dubai and mainland Europe; and provides personal and commercial insurance covers in Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia and Vietnam.
- Australia Pacific, which primarily underwrites general insurance risks throughout Australia, New Zealand and the Pacific region, providing all major lines of insurance for personal and commercial risks.

Description of Products and Services

The Group's major products and services are described below:

Property

Property insurance refers to the underwriting of a broad range of risks including policies for fire, industrial special risks and consequential loss, as well as schemes tailored for specific classes of cover

for both personal and property damage. The Group focuses on providing specialised insurance coverage and offers cover for catastrophe, property facultative, direct and excess of loss risks.

• Private Motor and Commercial Motor

Private motor insurance includes the provision of comprehensive insurance for damage to or loss and theft of a vehicle, as well as third party property damage. Commercial motor insurance refers to the underwriting of risks for business vehicles and fleets. Private motor policies are generic, unlike commercial motor coverage, where policies are often tailored to a customer's specific needs. The Group both insures and reinsures motor vehicle risks.

• Compulsory Third Party

Compulsory Third Party insurance ("CTP") covers insureds in Australia against liability to third parties injured in motor vehicle accidents and is the means by which those third parties are compensated for their injuries in Australia. The insurance is compulsory for all motor vehicles in Australia. Claims are governed by legislation and disputes can be resolved by the courts. In New South Wales, Queensland and the Australian Capital Territory, CTP is underwritten by private insurers. In other states and the Northern Territory, CTP is underwritten by the respective state and territory governments.

• Liability (Casualty)

Liability insurance is purchased to insure against claims made by third parties who are injured or who suffer property damage arising out of the insured's activities or statutory obligations. It includes professional indemnity (see below), medical malpractice and general, public and product liability. The Issuer believes that the Group's liability insurance and reinsurance portfolio is diversified, both in terms of business risk and geographic location.

• Marine

Marine insurance covers a broad range of risks including marine hull (insurance which covers loss or damage to a marine vessel) and marine cargo (insurance that covers the loss of or damage to goods being transported).

Energy

In the energy sector, the Group provides for physical loss or damage and business interruption coverage on risks such as offshore oil and gas platforms, onshore oil wells and segments of the petrochemical industry.

Aviation

Aviation insurance covers both aviation hull and aviation liability, including passengers.

• Accident and Health

Accident and health insurance covers insureds for expenses incurred in association with medical costs, including hospital stays and fixed lump sums such as in accidental death or loss of limbs. The Group both insures and reinsures accident and health risks.

• Professional Indemnity

Professional indemnity insurance is purchased by professional advisers such as engineers, architects and lawyers and by company directors and officers to insure against damages arising from actions for the provision of negligent advice or services. The Group provides this cover primarily on a general insurance basis.

• Lenders' Mortgage

Lenders' mortgage insurance protects banks and other lenders against non-payment or default on residential property loans.

Workers' Compensation

Workers' compensation insurance is provided for work-related injuries. The provision of workers' compensation insurance is typically a statutory class of business, as it is required by local or state government legislation. Legislation also typically requires employers to either self-insure with adequate reinsurance or to obtain appropriate workers' compensation insurance with an approved insurer. The level of insurance required is mainly determined by reference to the number of workers employed and the nature of work performed. It includes employers' liability (see below). In Australia in the states of New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia and Queensland, workers' compensation underwriting is administered by the state governments. The Group's role in New South Wales is currently largely limited to providing a claims management service on a fee basis.

• Employers' Liability

The Group provides general insurance cover for employers' liability in the United Kingdom and Ireland through its European operations and in several countries in the Asia Pacific region, including Hong Kong. This is similar to workers' compensation insurance as described above.

• Financial and Credit

Financial and credit insurance includes products such as residual value bonds or other credit enhancement tools.

Catastrophe

Catastrophe insurance is purchased to insure against catastrophes such as natural disasters. Typically, a form of excess of loss reinsurance is offered, subject to specified limits, to indemnify the reinsured for the amount of loss resulting from a catastrophic event or series of events in excess of a specified amount.

Householders'

Householders' insurance refers to the underwriting of home, contents, personal effects and personal liability risks. The Group both insures and reinsures householders' risks.

Commercial Packages

Commercial package insurance is a flexible package of insurance options designed to provide cost-effective protection for the Group's customers in retail, commercial and industrial businesses.

• Multi-Peril Crop Insurance

Multi-peril crop insurance provides protection against weather-related and other unavoidable causes of crop loss.

TREND INFORMATION

Other than:

- as disclosed in the Issuer's Annual Report for its full year ended 31 December 2023 which has been updated by the announcement released by the Issuer to the ASX as noted in the section entitled "Documents Incorporated by Reference" above; and
- the contingent liabilities described under "Legal and arbitration proceedings" below,

there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2023 and there are no known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer's prospects for at least the current financial year.

PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES

The Issuer does not intend to make or imply any profit forecasts or profit estimates in this Offering Circular. No statement contained in this Offering Circular should be interpreted as such a forecast or estimate.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND MANAGEMENT BODIES

Directors

Currently the Issuer's board of directors consists of the following ten directors, all of whom may be contacted at the Issuer's registered office.

Michael (Mike) Wilkins AO BCom, MBA, FCA, FAICD

Mike became a non-executive director of the Issuer in November 2016 and was appointed Chair in March 2020. He is Chair of the Governance & Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit, People & Remuneration and Risk & Capital Committees. Mike has more than 30 years' experience in financial services. He was the Managing Director and CEO of Insurance Australia Group Limited until November 2015 and previously served as Managing Director and CEO of Promina Group Limited and Managing Director of Tyndall Australia Limited. He is currently Chair of Medibank Private Limited and a non-executive director of Scentre Group Limited. He previously served as a non-executive director of AMP Limited, Alinta Limited, Maple-Brown Abbott Limited, The Geneva Association and the Australian Business and Community Network. Mike was the founding member of the Australian Business Roundtable for Disaster Resilience & Safer Communities from 2013 until his retirement in 2015.

• Andrew Horton BA Natural Sciences, ACA

Andrew joined the Issuer as Group Chief Executive Officer in September 2021. He was previously the CEO, and before that the Finance Director, of Beazley Group, a specialist insurer based in the United Kingdom with operations in Europe, the United States and Asia. Prior to this, he held various senior finance roles in ING, NatWest and Lloyds Bank. Andrew has more than 30 years' experience across insurance and banking, and has extensive experience across international markets.

• Yasmin Allen AM BCom

Yasmin became a non-executive director of the Issuer in July 2022. She is a member of the Audit and People & Remuneration Committees. Yasmin has more than 20 years' experience as a company director and chair serving companies across a wide range of sectors, including natural resources and financial services. She is currently a non-executive director of Cochlear Limited, Santos Limited and ASX Limited. She chairs Tiimely, formerly known as Tic Toc Online, a digital home loan platform company, the Harrison Riedel Foundation, a charity supporting young mental health, and the Digital Skills Organisation. Yasmin is a member of the Federal Government Takeovers Panel and has been acting President since 2019 and is a member of Chief Executive Women. She has served as a non-executive director for a number of companies including Insurance Australia Group Limited and was the former Chair of Macquarie Group's Global Infrastructure Funds. She was previously a senior investment banking executive specialising in equity markets in Australia and the United Kingdom.

• Stephen (Steve) Ferguson BCom, CA, AICD

Steve became a non-executive director of the Issuer in November 2023. He is a member of the Audit and the Risk & Capital Committees. Steve is an accomplished financial services executive and business leader with over 30 years' experience including serving as a Financial Services Leadership partner at Ernst & Young (EY) for more than 15 years, where he was also the signing Audit Partner for numerous top 50 ASX Listed companies. More recently, Steve has held Board level positions across the commercial, government and not-for-profit sectors for the past six years. Steve is currently serving as the Chair and Non-Executive Director for Bank Australia Limited, and Non-Executive Director for GenRe Australia

Limited, GenRe Life Australia Limited, BackTrack Youth Works Limited and for Parkinson's Australia Limited. He is also an external member of the UNSW Sydney Audit Committee and Risk Committee.

Penny James BSC (Hons), ACA

Penny became a non-executive director of the Issuer in January 2024. She is a member of the Risk & Capital Committee and the People & Remuneration Committee. Penny has over 30 years' experience in the financial services industry having held leadership roles in general insurance, life assurance, wealth management and asset management businesses. Her previous positions included Chief Executive Officer of Direct Line Insurance Group plc (having previously held the role of Chief Financial Officer), the Group Chief Risk Officer of Prudential plc and the Group Chief Financial Officer of Omega Insurance Holdings plc. Penny has been a Board Member of the Association of British Insurers and the Chair of the FCA Practitioner Panel. She is currently Senior Independent Director of Hargreaves Lansdown PLC (UK) and co-chair of the FTSE Women Leaders Review. Penny is also a non-executive director of Mitie Group plc.

• Tan Le BCom (Hons), LLB (Hons)

Tan became a non-executive director of the Issuer in September 2020. She is Chair of the People & Remuneration Committee and a member of the Governance & Nomination Committee. Tan is the founder and CEO of EMOTIV, a neuroinformatics company advancing understanding of the human brain. She was previously co-founder and President of SASme, a wireless technology company. Tan has been a contributor at the World Economic Forum (WEF) and previously served on the WEF Global Future Council and on the WEF Board of Stewards on Shaping the Future of Information & Entertainment.

• Kathryn (Kathy) Lisson BSc (Hons)

Kathy became a non-executive director of the Issuer in September 2016. She is Deputy Chair of the People & Remuneration Committee and a member of the Risk & Capital Committee. Kathy has over 30 years' experience across insurance and banking in technology, operations and management. She was previously Chief Operating Officer for two insurance companies (QBE Europe (a QBE regulated entity) and Brit Insurance) and Operational Transformation Director at Barclays Bank, which included delivering global solutions in digital technology, cyber security and IT risk. Kathy also held executive positions at Bank of Montreal, including as President of its Mortgage Corporation and EVP Technology Strategy and Delivery. Kathy was a senior partner at Ernst & Young and Price Waterhouse in Canada, leading their insurance and banking advisory practices. Kathy has also held several other non-executive director roles in the United Kingdom and in Canada.

• Sir Brian Pomeroy MA, FCA

Sir Brian became a non-executive director of the Issuer in 2014. He is Deputy Chair of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk & Capital Committee. He has extensive insurance industry experience, including in his previous role as a Nominated Member of the Council of Lloyd's and as Chair of the Independent Commission on Equitable Life Payments. He was formerly a non-executive member of the board of the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom and a non-executive director on the Issuer's European regulated boards. Sir Brian also chaired the United Kingdom Treasury's Financial Inclusion Taskforce, the Payments Council and the Gambling Commission. He was the Senior Partner of Deloitte Consulting in the United Kingdom until 1999.

• Jann Skinner BCom, FCA, FAICD

Jann became a non-executive director of the Issuer in October 2014. She is Chair of the Audit Committee, Deputy Chair of the Risk & Capital Committee and a member of the Governance & Nomination Committee. Jann has over 30 years' professional experience in audit and accounting with a focus on financial services, particularly the insurance industry. She was an audit partner for 17 years with PricewaterhouseCoopers before retiring in 2004. Jann is a non-executive director of Telix Pharmaceuticals Limited and Create Foundation Limited. Previously, Jann was a non-executive director of HSBC Bank Australia Limited, Enstar Australia Group and the Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation. Jann was also a non-executive director on the Issuer's Australian regulated boards.

• Rolf Tolle Dipl. Pol

Rolf became a non-executive director of the Issuer in 2016. He is Chair of the Risk & Capital Committee and a member of the People & Remuneration and Governance & Nomination Committees. He has significant experience in specialist insurance and reinsurance businesses, having held senior positions in a number of global companies. He was the first ever Franchise Performance Director at Lloyd's, for which he was awarded the Silver Medal for Services at Lloyd's, an honour bestowed on only a few individuals since its creation in 1917. Rolf is a director of Marco Insurance International Insurance Company Limited and British Reserve Insurance Company Limited. Rolf was previously a director of Beazley plc and Beazley Furlonge Ltd.

Peter Wilson BEco

Peter became a non-executive director of the Issuer in September 2023. He is a member of the Audit and the Risk & Capital Committees. Peter is an accomplished insurance executive and business leader with over 40 years' experience. He served as Chief Executive Officer of Axis Insurance from 2013 to 2022 and prior to that was President of United States Insurance. He was with CNA Insurance for more than 20 years, including as President and Chief Operating Officer for CNA Specialty. He also served as Executive Vice President at AIG, where he managed the commercial public D&O business in the U.S.

Key executive officers

The following are the Group's key executive officers:

• Andrew Horton BA Natural Sciences, ACA – Group Chief Executive Officer (see above)

• Inder Singh BCom – Group Chief Financial Officer

Inder joined the Group in 2015 and was appointed Group Chief Financial Officer in 2018. His previous roles at the Issuer include Chief Financial Officer for Australian & New Zealand Operations, and Group Head of Corporate Development and Financial Planning & Analysis. Inder has more than 20 years' experience in financial services spanning property and casualty, life insurance and banking. He started his career at Arthur Andersen before working in investment banking in Sydney and London with Deutsche Bank and UBS. Prior to joining the Group, he was Group M&A Director at Aviva plc in London where he led a number of transformational transactions.

• Vivienne (Viv) Bower BA Organisational Communication, GAICD – Group Executive, Corporate Affairs & Sustainability

Viv joined the Group in 2017 and was appointed Group Executive, Corporate Affairs and Sustainability in January 2019 and since 2017 has been the Chair for the QBE Global Foundation. She previously held senior investor relations and corporate affairs roles, including Group Head of Corporate Affairs and Investor Relations at Lendlease, Head of Group Internal Communications at Westpac and Group General Manager of Communications at Multiplex Group.

• Jason Harris BSc (Hons) Geology – Chief Executive Officer, International

Jason joined the Group as Chief Executive Officer, International in October 2020. Prior to joining the Group, Jason held a number of global and international leadership roles at XL Group including as Chief Executive, Global Property and Casualty and as Chief Executive, International Property and Casualty. He previously worked at AIG/Chartis in several senior roles including Executive Director, Commercial Lines. He is an underwriter by background and started his career in offshore energy. He has worked in insurance for over 25 years.

Peter Burton BSc (Hons) Physics, C Eng – Group Chief Underwriting Officer

Peter joined the Group in 2008 and was appointed Group Chief Underwriting Officer in September 2023. His previous roles in the Group include Executive Director of International Markets for our European Operations (with a portfolio covering London, Singapore, Dubai, Canada and the US) and prior to that

Director Natural Resources. Early in his time at the Group, Peter established the QBE Lloyd's Asian operations. Peter has more than 24 years' experience in the insurance industry. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for Marsh in their engineering and energy broking functions. Prior to joining the insurance industry, Peter worked in technical and engineering consultancy roles in the UK and internationally.

• Sue Houghton BA History, ACA – Chief Executive Officer, Australia Pacific

Sue joined the Group as Chief Executive Officer, Australia Pacific in August 2021. She was previously Managing Director, Insurance for the Westpac Group. Sue has more than 20 years' experience in the financial services sector, having held senior leadership and management roles at Wesfarmers Insurance, Insurance Australia Group and Arthur J Gallagher. She is a member of the Champions of Change Coalition and is a director and immediate past President of the Insurance Council of Australia.

• Amanda Hughes BCom, MBA, CA, GAICD – Group Chief People Officer

Amanda joined the Group in June 2020 as Group Head of Culture, Performance and Reward and was appointed Group Chief People Officer in December 2021. Prior to joining the Group, she was the Director of People and Culture at AMP and she previously held senior HR roles at Lendlease and Macquarie Group. Amanda began her career as a chartered accountant and has worked in Sydney, London and Auckland.

• Julie Wood B Science, Economics, Sociology - Chief Executive Officer, North America

Julie joined the Group in January 2023 as Group Head of Distribution and was then appointed to the role of Chief Executive Officer, North America in September 2023. She was previously at Marsh as their Southeast Partnership & Zonal Leader and a member of their US Executive Committee. Previously, she held the position of Zonal Casualty Leader at Marsh in Atlanta. Julie also held several senior executive roles at Zurich for 15 years.

• Fiona Larnach BScDipEd, MFin, FCPA, MAICD – Group Chief Risk Officer

Fiona joined the Group in March 2021 as Group Chief Risk Officer. Prior to joining the Group, she was the Chief Risk Officer for Barclays UK. She has also held senior roles at major financial services companies in Australia and the United Kingdom, including as Chief Risk Officer for Barclays UK. Prior to this, she has held senior management roles including as Chief Risk Officer, Retail Banking for Commonwealth Bank of Australia and as a risk advisory partner at Ernst & Young consulting to insurance, banking and wealth management clients, and has worked at Westpac, AMP Limited, GE Mortgage Insurance and Citibank.

• Matt Mansour MBA – Group Executive Technology and Operations

Matt joined the Group in 2018 as Group Chief Information Officer and was appointed to the Group Executive Committee in 2019. Prior to joining the Group, he held senior global roles in Barclays Bank and GE Capital. Matt has over 30 years' experience in technology, operations and digital business leadership roles.

• Carolyn Scobie BA, LLB, MA, AGIA, GAICD – Group General Counsel and Company Secretary

Carolyn joined the Group in 2016 as Group General Counsel and Company Secretary. Prior to joining the Group, she was Group General Counsel at Goodman Group, for 17 years, where she ran a multi-disciplinary legal team. Carolyn has extensive experience in corporate law, compliance, regulatory matters, litigation and managing the complexity of multiple jurisdictions.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The Issuer is a public limited company. As at 31 January 2024, the following shareholders (other than the group of key executive officers and directors) each held more than 1 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Issuer:

• HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – 35.55 per cent.

- JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 25.85 per cent.
- Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 13.11 per cent.
- National Nominees Limited 4.25 per cent.
- BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd (Agency Lending DRP A/C) − 2.55 per cent.
- BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd (DRP) 2.35 per cent.
- Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (Colonial First State Inv A/C) 2.00 per cent.
- Key executive officers and directors (20 persons) as a group 1 0.0685 per cent.

There are several provisions of Australian law that are relevant to the ability of any person to gain control of the Issuer.

Mergers, acquisitions and divestments of Australian public companies listed on the ASX (such as the Issuer) are regulated by detailed and comprehensive legislation and the rules and regulations of the ASX.

In summary, under the Corporations Act, a person must not acquire a relevant interest in issued voting shares in an Australian listed company if, broadly, because of the transaction, that person's or someone else's voting power in the company increases from 20 per cent. or below to more than 20 per cent., or from a starting point that is above 20 per cent. and below 90 per cent., unless those shares are acquired in a manner specifically permitted by law. This restriction also limits the options available to a shareholder wanting to sell a shareholding of more than 20 per cent. in an Australian listed company.

Australian law also regulates acquisitions which would have the effect, or be likely to have the effect, of substantially lessening competition in a market in Australia, in a state, in a territory or in a region of Australia.

Acquisitions of certain interests in Australian companies by foreign interests are also subject to review and prohibition by the Australian Treasurer.

There are also specific limitations on the acquisition of a shareholding in an insurance company or the NOHC of an insurance company under the FSSA. Under the FSSA, a person (including a company) must not acquire an interest in an Australian financial sector company where the acquisition would take that person's voting power (which includes the voting power of the person's associates) in the financial sector company to more than 20 per cent. of the voting power of the financial sector company without first obtaining the Australian Treasurer's approval. Even if a person has less than 20 per cent. of the voting power, the Australian Treasurer has the power to declare that a person has practical control of that company and, by applying for an order from the Federal Court of Australia may require the person to relinquish that control. The definition of a financial sector company includes non-operating holding companies of insurers such as the Issuer.

There are no arrangements in place within the Group the operation of which may result in a change of control of the Issuer.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

Historical financial information

The financial information in relation to the Issuer for its year ended 31 December 2023 is contained in its Annual Report ended 31 December 2023 which is incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular. See "Documents Incorporated by Reference" above.

¹ Key executive officers includes only key management personnel.

Auditing of historical annual financial statements

The historical financial statements referred to above have been audited. See the independent auditor's report at pages 144 to 151 of the Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group

Save as disclosed in this Offering Circular and the Issuer's Annual Report ended 31 December 2023, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 31 December 2023 and there has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Group since 31 December 2023.

LEGAL AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS

Except as described elsewhere in this Offering Circular and in the documents incorporated herein by reference, there are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) in the 12-month period before the date of this Offering Circular which may have, or have had in the recent past, material effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and/or that of the Group.

BORROWING OFFICES

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer's only borrowing offices are located in Sydney, Australia. If the Issuer establishes a borrowing office outside Australia and issues a Note through such borrowing office, that borrowing office will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SENIOR NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note, each Australian Domestic Note and each definitive Senior Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such definitive Senior Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche of Senior Notes may complete such Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Senior Notes. The applicable Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each Global Note, each Australian Domestic Note and each definitive Senior Note.

This Senior Note is one of a Series of Senior Notes issued by QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014) (the "**Issuer**") pursuant to the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (each as defined below).

References herein to the "Senior Notes" or "Notes" shall be references to the Senior Notes of this Series and shall mean:

- (a) in relation to any Senior Notes in bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**") or in registered form ("**Registered Notes**") which are represented by a global note (a "**Global Note**"), units of each Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency;
- (b) any Global Note;
- (c) any Australian Domestic Note;
- (d) any definitive note in bearer form (a "**Definitive Bearer Note**") issued in exchange for a Global Note in bearer form; and
- (e) any definitive note in registered form (a "**Definitive Registered Note**") (whether or not issued in exchange for a Global Note in registered form).

References herein to a Registered Note shall include a reference to an Australian Domestic Note (unless otherwise stated).

References herein to a Global Note or a Definitive Registered Note shall not be taken to include any Australian Domestic Note. Australian Domestic Notes may not be issued in bearer form.

The Senior Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons (as defined below) are issued pursuant to an amended and restated agency agreement dated 27 February 2024, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Euro Agency Agreement") between the Issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as issuing and principal paying agent and agent bank (the "Principal Paying Agent", which expression shall include any additional or successor issuing and principal paying agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents), The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as exchange agent (the "Exchange Agent" which expression shall include any successor exchange agent), The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch, as registrar (the "Registrar", which expression shall include any additional or successor registrar) and as transfer agent and the other transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the "Transfer Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor transfer agents).

Australian Domestic Notes are debt obligations of the Issuer constituted by, and owing under, the amended and restated deed poll dated 27 February 2024 and made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Australian Note Deed Poll"). In connection with the Australian Domestic Notes, the Issuer has entered into an agency and registry agreement dated 2 May 2016, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Australian Agency and Registry Agreement") between the Issuer, Austraclear Services Limited, as registrar (the "Australian Registrar", which expression shall include any successor registrar), Austraclear Services Limited, as calculation agent (the "Australian Calculation Agent", which expression shall include any successor calculation agent) and the other agents named therein.

Interest bearing Definitive Bearer Notes have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, in the case of Senior Notes which, when issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Registered Notes and Global Notes do not have Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

No certificates will be issued to Noteholders of Australian Domestic Notes unless the Issuer determines that certificates should be available or if certificates are required by any applicable law or directive.

The final terms for this Senior Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Pricing Supplement attached to or endorsed on this Senior Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions") for the purposes of this Senior Note. References to the "applicable Pricing Supplement" are to Part A of the Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Senior Note.

The Issuer may specify in the applicable Pricing Supplement that an issue of Senior Notes will be made through a borrowing office of the Issuer outside Australia. Any such Senior Note is herein referred to as a "Foreign Branch Note".

Any reference to "Noteholders" or "holders" in relation to any Senior Notes shall mean (in the case of Bearer Notes) the holders of the Senior Notes and (in the case of Registered Notes) the persons in whose name the Senior Notes are registered and shall, in relation to any Senior Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Senior Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) and "Series" means a Tranche of Senior Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Senior Notes which are (a) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) except for one or more of their date and price of issue, the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders (other than in respect of Australian Domestic Notes) are entitled to the benefit of the amended and restated deed of covenant dated 27 February 2024 and made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "**Deed of Covenant**"). The original Deed of Covenant is held by the Principal Paying Agent.

Copies of:

- (a) the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Issuer; and
- (c) the applicable Pricing Supplement is available from the Specified Office of the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent,

provided that such documents shall only be obtainable by a Noteholder, a Couponholder or a genuine prospective Noteholder, and provided further that the applicable Pricing Supplement shall only be obtainable by Noteholder, a Couponholder or a genuine prospective Noteholder of that Series, and such current or prospective Noteholder or Couponholder (as applicable) must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Principal Paying Agent as to its holding or prospective holding of such Senior Notes and identity.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Australian Note Deed Poll, the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement and the applicable Pricing Supplement which are applicable to them. The statements in the Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) or used in the applicable Pricing Supplement shall have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) and the applicable Pricing Supplement, the applicable Pricing Supplement will prevail.

In these Terms and Conditions:

- (a) "euro", "€" and "EUR" each means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty;
- (b) "Australian Dollar", "Australian dollar", "A\$" and "AUD" each means the lawful currency of Australia;
- (c) "Swiss Franc" and "CHF" each means the lawful currency of Switzerland;
- (d) "Sterling", "£" and "GBP" each means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;
- (e) "Japanese Yen", "\sumsy and "JPY" each means the lawful currency of Japan; and
- (f) "U.S. Dollar", "U.S. dollar", "U.S.\$" and "USD" each means the lawful currency of the United States of America.

1 Status

The Senior Notes and any related Coupons are direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* among themselves and with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than any obligations preferred by applicable law).

A Senior Note is not guaranteed or insured by any government, Government Agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group or by any other person.

The obligations of the Issuer in respect of any Foreign Branch Notes and related Coupons are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office. If the Issuer is unable to make a payment in respect of a Foreign Branch Note or related Coupon from the relevant borrowing office, the Issuer shall make the payment from some other place of business of the Issuer.

2 Form, denomination and currency

2.1 Bearer Notes and Registered Notes

Senior Notes are issued as Bearer Notes or as Registered Notes as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and, in the case of Senior Notes in definitive form ("**Definitive Notes**"), are serially numbered.

Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes and vice versa.

2.2 Denomination

Senior Notes are issued in one or more denominations ("Specified Denomination(s)"), as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, provided that:

- (a) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, Senior Notes shall only be offered and applications may only be invited (in each case directly or indirectly) if:
 - (i) the aggregate consideration payable to the Issuer by the subscriber is at least A\$500,000 (disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates) or the Senior Notes are otherwise issued in a manner which does not require disclosure in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;

- (ii) the offer or invitation from which the issue results does not constitute an offer to a "retail client" as defined for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act; and
- (iii) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place; and
- (b) in any other case, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof up to and including €199,000 (or in each case the equivalent in the Specified Currency). No Definitive Bearer Notes will be issued with a denomination above €199,000 (or its equivalent in the Specified Currency).

Senior Notes in one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Senior Notes in another Specified Denomination.

2.3 Currency

Senior Notes are issued in the currency ("Specified Currency") specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

3 Title and transfer

3.1 Title generally

Subject as set out in Conditions 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4:

- (a) title to Bearer Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery and title to the Registered Notes will pass upon registration of a transfer in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement (as applicable); and
- (b) the Issuer and the Agents will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note or Coupon and the registered holder of any Registered Note as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes.

3.2 Title to Global Notes in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg

For so long as the Senior Notes are represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Senior Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Senior Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Senior Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Senior Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Senior Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Senior Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

3.3 Title to Global Notes in DTC

For so long as the Depository Trust Company ("DTC") or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Senior Notes represented by such Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Euro Agency Agreement and the Senior Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through such participants.

3.4 Title to Australian Domestic Notes

In respect of Australian Domestic Notes, each entry in the Australian Register in respect of a Senior Note constitutes:

- (a) an irrevocable undertaking by the Issuer to the Noteholder to:
 - pay principal, (if applicable) interest and any other amount in accordance with these Conditions; and
 - (ii) comply with the other Conditions of the Senior Note; and
- (b) an entitlement to the other benefits given to Noteholder in respect of the Senior Note under these Conditions.

Entries in the Australian Register in relation to an Australian Domestic Note constitute conclusive evidence that the person so entered is the absolute owner of the Senior Note subject to correction for fraud or error.

Where two or more persons are entered in the Australian Register as the joint holder of an Australian Domestic Note then they are taken to hold the Senior Note as joint tenants with rights of survivorship, but the Australian Registrar is not bound to register more than four persons as joint holders of a Senior Note.

3.5 Transfers of interests in Global Notes

Interests in Senior Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be.

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate, indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be exchangeable for Senior Notes in definitive form or for a beneficial interest in another Registered Global Note only in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be and in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the Euro Agency Agreement. Transfers of a Registered Global Note shall be limited to transfers of such Registered Global Note, in whole but not in part, to a nominee of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (as the case may be) or to a successor of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (as the case may be) or such successor's nominee and will be subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions and the terms and conditions of the Euro Agency Agreement.

3.6 Transfers of Definitive Registered Notes

Subject as provided in Conditions 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Euro Agency Agreement and subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, a Definitive Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part (in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement). In order to effect any such transfer:

- (a) the holder or holders must:
 - (i) surrender the Definitive Registered Note for registration of the transfer of the Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, with the form of transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or holders thereof or his or their attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing; and

- (ii) complete and deposit such other certifications as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent; and
- (b) the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due and careful enquiry, be satisfied with the documents of title and the identity of the person making the request.

Any such transfer will be subject to such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar may from time to time prescribe (the initial such regulations being set out in Schedule 7 to the Euro Agency Agreement). Subject as provided above, the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent will, within three business days (being days on which commercial banks are open for business in the city where the Specified Office of the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such longer period as may be required to comply with any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations) authenticate and deliver, or procure the authentication and delivery of, at its Specified Office to the transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by uninsured mail to such address as the transferee may request, a new Definitive Registered Note of a like aggregate nominal amount to the Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a Definitive Registered Note, a new Definitive Registered Note in respect of the balance of the Registered Note not transferred will be so authenticated and delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

3.7 Transfers of Australian Domestic Notes

- (a) Australian Domestic Notes held in the Austraclear System will be transferable only in accordance with the Austraclear Regulations.
- (b) If Australian Domestic Notes are not held in the Austraclear System, application for the transfer of Australian Domestic Notes must be made by the lodgement of a Transfer Form with the Australian Registrar. Transfer Forms are available from the Australian Registrar. Each form must be duly stamped (if applicable) and accompanied by such evidence (if any) as the Australian Registrar may require to prove the title of the transferor or the transferor's right to transfer the Australian Domestic Notes and be signed by both the transferor and the transferee.
- (c) Australian Domestic Notes may be transferred in whole but not in part. Australian Domestic Notes may only be transferred if:
 - (i) the aggregate consideration payable by the relevant Noteholder is at least A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates to the subscriber or its associates) or if the offer or invitation (including any resulting issue) otherwise does not require disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;
 - (ii) the offer or invitation is not made to a person who is a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act; and
 - (iii) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place.

3.8 Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 8, the Issuer, Registrar or Australian Registrar (as applicable) shall not be required to register the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

3.9 Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer as provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and except that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.

3.10 Transfers of interests in Regulation S Global Notes and Australian Domestic Notes

Prior to expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial interest in, a Regulation S Global Note or an Australian Domestic Note to a transferee in the United States or who is a U.S. person will only be made:

- (a) in respect of a Regulation S Global Note only, upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification substantially in the form set out in the Euro Agency Agreement, amended as appropriate (a "Transfer Certificate"), copies of which are available from the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, from the transferor of the Senior Note or beneficial interest therein to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A; or
- (b) in respect of a Regulation S Global Note or an Australian Domestic Note, otherwise pursuant to and in accordance with an available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, subject to receipt by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States,

and in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

In the case of Condition 3.10(a) above, such transferee may take delivery through a Legended Note in a global or definitive form. After expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period:

- (i) beneficial interests in Regulation S Global Notes may be held through DTC directly, by a participant in DTC, or indirectly through a participant in DTC; and
- (ii) such certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers.

3.11 Transfers of beneficial interests in Legended Notes

Transfers of Legended Notes or beneficial interests therein may be made:

- (a) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Regulation S Global Note, upon receipt by the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the transfer to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S and that, if such transfer is being made prior to expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, the interests in the Senior Notes being transferred will be held immediately thereafter through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg;
- (b) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Legended Note where the transferee is a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A, without certification; or
- (c) otherwise pursuant to the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, subject to receipt by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States,

and, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Legended Notes, or upon specific request for removal of the Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Legended Notes or refuse to remove such Legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to the Issuer such satisfactory evidence as may reasonably be required by the Issuer, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that neither the Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

3.12 Closed periods

Other than in respect of an Australian Domestic Note, no Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note or part of a Registered Note to be registered:

- (a) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal on that Registered Note;
- (b) after notice is given that such Registered Note will be redeemed pursuant to Conditions 8.2 or 8.3:
- (c) during the period of 15 days before any Optional Redemption Date pursuant to Condition 8.4;
- (d) during the period of five Registry Business Days ending on (and including) any Record Date.

3.13 Exchanges of Definitive Registered Notes generally

Holders of Definitive Registered Notes may exchange such Senior Notes for interests in a Registered Global Note of the same type at any time.

4 Interest generally

4.1 Fixed Rate Notes and Floating Rate Notes

Senior Notes may bear interest at a fixed ("**Fixed Rate Notes**") or floating rate ("**Floating Rate Notes**") or a combination of both, depending upon the Interest Basis specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If the applicable Pricing Supplement so specifies, the applicable Rate of Interest may be reset from one Interest Period to another.

4.2 Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of Conditions 4, 5 and 6, whether by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent, shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith, manifest error or proven error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default or bad faith) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

4.3 Accrual of interest

Each Senior Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Senior Note, that part only of such Senior Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused (upon due presentation in the case of Senior Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes). In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

- (a) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Senior Note have been paid; and
- (b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Senior Note has been received by the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar or the Australian Registrar, as the case may be, and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

5 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

5.1 Application

This Condition 5 applies only in respect of Senior Notes to which Fixed Rate Note Provisions are applicable according to the applicable Pricing Supplement.

5.2 Fixed Rate Note specifications

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Calculation Amount, the Interest Commencement Date, the Maturity Date, the Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest Payment Date(s), the Fixed Coupon Amount(s), any applicable Broken Amount(s), the Day Count Fraction and any applicable Determination Date.

5.3 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year and up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

5.4 Specified Fixed Coupon Amounts and Broken Amounts

The amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.

5.5 Calculation of interest

Except in the case of Senior Notes where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (a) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Senior Notes represented by such Global Note;
- (b) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Australian Domestic Notes, the outstanding nominal amount of the Senior Note; and
- (c) otherwise, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note which is in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

6 Interest on Floating Rate Notes

6.1 Application

This Condition 6 applies only in respect of Senior Notes to which Floating Rate Note Provisions are applicable according to the applicable Pricing Supplement.

6.2 Floating Rate Note specifications

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Calculation Amount, the Interest Commencement Date, the Specified Period(s) or Specified Interest Payment Dates, the Business Day Convention, any Additional Business Centre(s), the Margin, the Day Count Fraction and any other information on the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined.

6.3 Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

- (a) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) if no express Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period.

6.4 Business Day Convention

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 6.3(b) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date:
 - (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of Condition 6.4(a)(ii)(B) below shall apply *mutatis mutandis*; or
 - (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event:
 - (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; and
 - (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred;
- (b) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day;
- (c) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (d) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

6.5 Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the following provisions of these Conditions relating to either Screen Rate Determination, ISDA Determination, AONIA Rate Determination or BBSW Determination shall apply accordingly, depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

6.6 Screen Rate Determination

(a) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes not referencing Compounded Daily SONIA, Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate or Average SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and unless the Reference Rate in respect of the relevant Series of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

- (i) the Relevant Rate (where the Relevant Rate on the Relevant Screen Page is a composite quotation or is customarily supplied by one entity) which appears on the Relevant Screen Page; or
- (ii) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose Relevant Rates appear on the Relevant Screen Page,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) at the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable).

If Condition 6.6(a)(ii) applies and five or more of such Relevant Rates are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest Relevant Rate, one only of such Relevant Rates) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest Relevant Rate, one only of such Relevant Rates) shall be disregarded by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case of Condition 6.6(a)(i) above, no such Relevant Rate appears or, in the case of Condition 6.6(a)(ii) above, fewer than three Relevant Rates appear, then, unless the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) has been notified of any Reference Rate Successor Rate (and any related adjustments and successor inputs) pursuant to Condition 6.13 below, if applicable, the Issuer shall request the relevant Reference Banks to provide the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with the rate or rates that each such Reference Bank is quoting to leading banks in respect of the Relevant Rate at approximately the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with such rate or rates, the Rate of Interest for the Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such rates plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable).

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with such rate or rates as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth

decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates (being the nearest equivalent to the Relevant Rate) that at least two out of five leading banks selected by the Issuer in the Relevant Financial Centre are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to leading banks carrying on business in the Relevant Financial Centre; except that if fewer than two of such banks are quoting to leading banks in the Relevant Financial Centre, the Rate of Interest shall be the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest Determination Date (after readjustment for any difference between any Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest applicable to the preceding Interest Period and to the relevant Interest Period).

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies an alternate method for the determination of the Screen Rate Determination, then that alternate method will apply.

(b) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SONIA with respect to such Interest Accrual Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.6(b), "Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the daily Sterling overnight reference rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-pLBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"do" is the number of London Banking Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to d_o , each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London:

"n_i", for any London Banking Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such London Banking Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following London Banking Day;

"Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (B) (in the case of any other Interest Accrual Period) the date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due;

"p" is the number of London Banking Days by which an Observation Period lags the corresponding Interest Accrual Period, being the number of London Banking Days specified as the "SONIA Lag Period (p)" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five London Banking Days);

"SONIA reference rate", in respect of any London Banking Day ("LBD_x"), is a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such LBD_x as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such LBD_x; and

"SONIA_{i-pLBD}" means the SONIA reference rate for the London Banking Day (being a London Banking Day falling in the relevant Observation Period) falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i".

If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Observation Period, the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) determines that the applicable SONIA reference rate has not been made available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then, unless the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) has been notified of any Reference Rate Successor Rate (and any related adjustments and successor inputs) pursuant to Condition 6.13 below, if applicable, the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) shall determine the SONIA reference rate in respect of such London Banking Day as being:

- (i) (a) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier, close of business) on such London Banking Day; plus (b) the mean of the spread of the SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on which a SONIA reference rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and the lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or
- (ii) if the Bank Rate under paragraph (i)(a) above is not available at the relevant time, either (a) the SONIA reference rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA reference rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors); or (b) if this is more recent, the latest rate determined under paragraph (i) above.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be:

- (iii) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as the case may be) relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as applicable) relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period); or
- (iv) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Senior Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period had the Senior Notes been on issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin and, if applicable, any Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest, applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

As used herein, an "Interest Accrual Period" means (i) each Interest Period and (ii) any other period (if any) in respect of which interest is to be calculated, being the period from (and including) the first day of such period to (but excluding) the day on which the relevant payment of interest falls due (which, if the relevant Senior Notes becomes due and payable in accordance with Condition 11, shall be the date on which such Senior Notes become due and payable).

If the relevant Senior Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11, the final Rate of Interest shall be calculated for the Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date on which the Senior Notes become so due and payable, and such Rate of Interest shall continue to apply to the Senior Notes for so long as interest continues to accrue thereon as provided in Condition 4.3.

(c) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SOFR", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SOFR with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.6(c), "Compounded Daily SOFR" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{360}{d}$$

where:

"d" means, in relation to any Interest Period, the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"d₀" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to d₀, each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in:

(i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or

(ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"n_i" means, for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i", the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (I) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (II) if applicable, the relevant payment date if the Senior Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date;

"**p**" means:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the "Lookback Period (p)" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days); or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the "Observation Shift Period" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days);

"Reset Period" means the period comprising the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement under the heading "Reset Period":

"SOFR" means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, a rate determined in accordance with the following provisions:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day that appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at or about 3.00 p.m. (New York City time) on the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; and
- (ii) if the rate specified in paragraph (i) above does not so appear, unless both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, then the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) shall use the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day on which the Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website:

"SOFR_i" means, in relation to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i":

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, SOFR in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, SOFR in respect of such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"SOFR Interest Determination Date" means, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day that precedes the Interest Payment Date by the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the Reset Period; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any calendar day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a calendar day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) (or any successor thereto) recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire calendar day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to determination of the Compounded Daily SOFR have the meanings set forth under Condition 6.6(f) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded Daily SOFR, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Senior Notes.

(d) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded SOFR Index Rate

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded SOFR Index Rate", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded SOFR Index Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

"Compounded SOFR Index Rate" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in U.S. dollars as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day in relation to which "SOFR Index_{Start}" is determined to (but excluding) the day in relation to which "SOFR Index_{End}" is determined (being the number of calendar days in the applicable reference period);

"Relevant Number" is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"SOFR Index_{End}" means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (I) the Interest Payment Date for the relevant Interest Period or (II) if applicable, the relevant payment date if the Senior Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date;

"SOFR Indexstart" means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first date of the relevant Interest Period;

"SOFR Index" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, prior to a Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the SOFR Index published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as such value appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; provided that
- (ii) if the SOFR Index_{Start} or the SOFR Index_{End} does not appear on the SOFR Administrator's Website on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date and a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to the Compounded SOFR Index Rate, the Compounded SOFR Index Rate for the applicable Interest Period for which such SOFR Index is not available shall be the "Compounded Daily SOFR" determined in accordance with Condition 6.6(c) above as if the Calculation Method specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement were "Compounded Daily SOFR" (and not "SOFR Index Determination"), and for these purposes: (i) the "Observation Method" shall be deemed to be "Observation Shift", and (ii) the "Observation Shift Period" shall be deemed to be equal to the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days, as if those alternative elections had been made in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" has the meaning set out in Condition 6.6(c) above.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to determination of the Compounded SOFR Index Rate have the meanings set forth under Condition 6.6(f) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded SOFR Index Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Senior Notes.

(e) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Average SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Average SOFR", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Average SOFR Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

"Average SOFR Rate" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the arithmetic mean of SOFR in effect during such Interest Period as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_o} SOFR_i \times n_i}{d}$$

where \mathbf{d} , \mathbf{d}_0 , \mathbf{I} , \mathbf{n}_i , SOFR and SOFR_i have the meanings set out in Condition 6.6(c) above.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Average SOFR Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Senior Notes.

(f) SOFR Benchmark Replacement

Notwithstanding any other provisions in these Conditions if any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to a Benchmark, then the following provisions of this Condition 6.6(f) shall apply.

(i) Benchmark Replacement

If the Issuer or its Designee determines prior to the Reference Time in respect of any determination of the SOFR on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and all determinations on all subsequent dates (subject to any subsequent application of this 6.6(f) with respect to such Benchmark Replacement).

In the event that the Issuer or its Designee is unable to, or does not, determine a Benchmark Replacement, or a Benchmark Replacement is not implemented in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be:

- (1) that determined as at the last preceding SOFR Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as the case may be) relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as applicable) relating to that last preceding Interest Period); or
- (2) if there is no such preceding SOFR Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Senior Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period had the Senior Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin and, if applicable, any Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest, applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

(ii) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes

In connection with the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its Designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Principal Paying Agent of the certificate referred to in Condition 6.6(f) below and subject as provided below, the Agents shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders or Couponholders and without liability to the Noteholders or any other person, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes with effect from the date specified in the notice referred to in Condition 6.6(f)(iv) below.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 6.6(f)(ii), the Agents shall not be obliged to concur with the Issuer in respect of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes which, in the sole opinion of the relevant Agent, would (i) expose the relevant Agent to any additional liability or (ii) increase the obligations or duties, or decrease the rights or protections, afforded to the relevant Agent in the Agency Agreement and/or these Conditions.

(iii) Decisions and Determinations

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its Designee pursuant to this Condition 6.6(f), including (without limitation) any determination with respect

to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, may be made in the Issuer's or its Designee's sole discretion (as applicable), and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions or other documentation relating to the Senior Notes, shall become effective without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, Couponholders or any other party.

In connection with any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), if and for so long as the Senior Notes are admitted to trading and listed on the official list of a stock exchange, the Issuer shall comply with the rules of that stock exchange.

(iv) Notice and Certification

Any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes determined under this Condition 6.6(f) shall be notified promptly (in any case, not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date) by the Issuer to the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Principal Paying Agent or other such party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 15, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes.

No later than notifying the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Principal Paying Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent a certificate (on which the Principal Paying Agent shall be entitled to rely without further enquiry or liability) signed by an Authorised Officer of the Issuer confirming (i) that a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, (ii) the Benchmark Replacement, and (iii) the specific terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 6.6(f).

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date, any Benchmark Replacement is notified to the Principal Paying Agent or any other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being responsible for determining the Rate of Interest pursuant to this Condition 6.6(f)(iv), and the Principal Paying Agent or such other responsible party (as applicable) is in any way uncertain as to the application of such Benchmark Replacement in the calculation or determination of any Rate of Interest, it shall promptly notify the Issuer thereof and the Issuer or its Designee shall direct the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) in writing as to which course of action to adopt in the application of such Benchmark Replacement in the determination of such Rate of Interest. If the Principal Paying Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being responsible for determining the Rate of Interest is not promptly provided with such direction, it shall notify the Issuer thereof, and the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) shall be under no obligation to make such calculation or determination and shall not incur any liability for not doing so. For the avoidance of doubt, for the period that the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) remains uncertain of the application of the Benchmark Replacement in the calculation or determination of any Rate of Interest, the original Benchmark and any other applicable fallback provisions provided for in this Condition 6.6(f)(iv) and/or the applicable Final Terms, as the case may be, will continue to apply.

(v) **Definitions**

In this Condition 6.6(f):

"Benchmark" means, initially, SOFR or SOFR Index (provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR or SOFR Index (or the published daily SOFR or SOFR Index used in the calculation thereof) or any Benchmark which has replaced it in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), then the term "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement);

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its Designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (A) the sum of: (1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the Corresponding Tenor and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (B) the sum of: (1) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (C) the sum of: (1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer or its Designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes at such time and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its Designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (A) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (B) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, then the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (C) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its Designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of Interest Period, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer or its Designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its Designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its Designee determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its Designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (A) in the case of paragraph (A) or (B) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the later of (1) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (2) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (B) in the case of paragraph (C) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

- "Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):
- (A) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component);
- (B) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (C) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;
- "Corresponding Tenor" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement under Condition 6.6(f), a tenor (including overnight) having approximately the same length (disregarding Business Day adjustment) as the applicable tenor for the then-current Benchmark;
- "Designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer;
- "ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time:
- "ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;
- "ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;
- "Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (A) if the Benchmark is SOFR or SOFR Index, 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) or such other time as is reasonably agreed between the Issuer or its Designee and the Principal Paying Agent, and (B) if the Benchmark is not SOFR or SOFR Index, the time determined by the Issuer or its Designee in accordance with the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;
- "Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto;
- "SOFR" with respect to any day means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such day by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of the benchmark (or a successor administrator of SOFR);

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, at https://www.newyorkfed.org or any successor source;

"SOFR Index" with respect to any day means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such day by the SOFR Index Administrator on the SOFR Index Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Index Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of SOFR Index);

"SOFR Index Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

6.7 ISDA Determination

Where "ISDA Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period shall be determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.7, "**ISDA Rate**" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (a) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (b) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (c) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Period unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.7, "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

6.8 BBSW Determination or AONIA Rate Determination

- (a) Where "BBSW Determination" or "AONIA Rate Determination" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined for each Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Floating Rate Notes for each such Interest Period is the sum of the Margin and either (x) the BBSW Rate or (y) the AONIA Rate as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (b) Each Noteholder shall be deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to be bound by, and consents to, the determination of, substitution for and any adjustments made to the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate, as applicable, in each case as described in this Condition 6.8 and in Condition 6.14 below (in all cases without the need for any Noteholder consent). Any determination, decision or election (including a decision to take or refrain from taking any action or as to the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event or circumstance), and any substitution for and adjustments made to, the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate, as applicable, and in each case made in accordance with this Condition 6.8 and Condition 6.14, will, in the absence of manifest or proven error, be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Noteholder and each Agent and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions or other documentation relating to the Senior Notes, shall become effective without the consent of any person.

- (c) If the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) is unwilling or unable to determine a necessary rate, adjustment, quantum, formula, methodology or other variable in order to calculate the applicable Rate of Interest, such rate, adjustment, quantum, formula, methodology or other variable will be determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) or, an alternate financial institution (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) appointed by the Issuer (in its sole discretion) to so determine.
- (d) All rates determined pursuant to this Condition 6.8 and Condition 6.14 shall be expressed as a percentage rate per annum and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place (i.e., to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point) with 0.00005 being rounded upwards.

6.9 Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) or the relevant BBSW Rate (where BBSW Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.9, "**Designated Maturity**" means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the Specified Duration and means, in relation to BBSW Determination, the Specified Maturity.

6.10 Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of Conditions 6.6, 6.7 and 6.8 above is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest. Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be zero.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of Conditions 6.6, 6.7 and 6.8 above is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

6.11 Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts on Floating Rate Notes

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period.

The Principal Paying Agent, the Australian Calculation Agent, or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (as applicable) will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

(a) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Senior Notes represented by such Global Note;

- (b) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are Australian Domestic Notes, the outstanding nominal amount of the Senior Note; or
- (c) otherwise, the Calculation Amount,

and in each case multiplying such amount by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note which is in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Senior Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

6.12 Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts on Floating Rate Notes

- Except where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being (a) "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation (by no later than the first day of each Interest Period) and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 15 as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. Each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.
- Where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being (b) "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period (as applicable) and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 15 as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than, in the case of Compounded Daily SONIA, the second London Banking Day (as defined in Condition 6.6(b)) and, in the case of Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate and Average SOFR, the second U.S. Government Securities Business Day (as defined in Condition 6.6(c)) thereafter. Each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period (as applicable). Any such amendment or alternative arrangements will be promptly notified to each stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

6.13 Benchmark Discontinuation

Notwithstanding the provisions in Conditions 6.6 and 6.8 above, except when the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate", "Average SOFR", "AONIA" or "BBSW Rate", if the Issuer determines that a Reference Rate used in a Relevant Rate has been or will be affected by a Reference Rate Disruption Event (as applicable), then the following provisions shall apply.

- (a) The Issuer:
 - (i) shall determine the Reference Rate Successor Rate;
 - (ii) may, if it determines it to be appropriate, also determine an adjustment factor or an adjustment methodology to make such Reference Rate Successor Rate comparable to the relevant Reference Rate; and
 - (iii) may, if it determines it to be appropriate, also determine successors to one or more of the Business Day Convention, Business Day, Day Count Fraction, Relevant Financial Centre, Relevant Time, Relevant Screen Page, Interest Determination Date or other relevant input for calculating such Reference Rate Successor Rate,

and such successor rate together, if applicable, with such other adjustments and successor inputs shall, from the date determined by the Issuer to be appropriate, be used to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 6.13).

- (b) If, in respect of any Interest Determination Date, the Issuer is unable to determine a Reference Rate Successor Rate in accordance with paragraph (a) above, the relevant Reference Rate in respect of:
 - (i) that Interest Determination Date shall be the Reference Rate determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date; and
 - (ii) any subsequent Interest Determination Date shall be determined in accordance with paragraph (a) above and, if necessary, this paragraph (b).
- (c) In making its determinations in accordance with this Condition 6.13, the Issuer:
 - (i) shall act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner; and
 - (ii) may appoint an independent financial institution or other independent adviser at its own expense or consult with such other sources of market practice as it considers appropriate,

but otherwise may make such determinations in its discretion.

- (d) The Issuer shall promptly notify the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as applicable), the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest and, in accordance with Condition 15, the Noteholders, of the Reference Rate Successor Rate and other adjustments and successor inputs determined in accordance with this Condition 6.13.
- (e) For the purposes of this Condition 6.13:

"Reference Rate Disruption Event" means that the relevant Reference Rate:

- (i) is discontinued or otherwise ceases to be calculated, administered or published; or
- (ii) ceases to be in customary market usage in the relevant market as a reference rate appropriate to relevant floating rate debt securities of a tenor and interest period comparable to that of the Notes; and

"Reference Rate Successor Rate" means the rate identified by the Issuer to be the successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate subject to the Reference Rate Disruption Event or the rate that is otherwise in customary market usage in the relevant market for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for relevant floating rate debt securities of a tenor and interest period most comparable to that of the Notes.

6.14 Benchmark Rate fallback

If in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred; or
- (b) a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred,

then the Benchmark Rate for an Interest Period, whilst such Temporary Disruption Trigger is continuing or after a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred, means (in the following order of application and precedence):

- (i) where BBSW Rate is the Applicable Benchmark Rate, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, the Administrator Recommended Rate;
 - (B) then the Supervisor Recommended Rate; and
 - (C) lastly, the Final Fallback Rate;
- (ii) where AONIA is the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a determination of the AONIA Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (i) above, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to AONIA, the rate for any day for which AONIA is required will be the last provided or published level of AONIA;
- (iii) where a determination of the RBA Recommended Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (i) or (ii) above, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to the RBA Recommended Rate, the rate for any day for which the RBA Recommended Rate is required will be the last rate provided or published by the Administrator of the RBA Recommended Rate (or if no such rate has been so provided or published, the last provided or published level of AONIA);
- (iv) where BBSW Rate is the Applicable Benchmark Rate, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, the rate for any day for which the BBSW Rate is required on or after the Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the first rate available in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, if at the time of the BBSW Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date, no AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the AONIA Rate;
 - (B) then, if at the time of the BBSW Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date, an AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, an RBA Recommended Rate has been created but no RBA Recommended Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the RBA Recommended Fallback Rate: and
 - (C) lastly, if neither paragraph (A) nor paragraph (B) above apply, the Final Fallback Rate:
- (v) where AONIA is the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a determination of the AONIA Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (iv)(A) above, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to AONIA, the rate for any day for which AONIA is required on or after the AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the first rate available in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, if at the time of the AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date, an RBA Recommended Rate has been created but no RBA Recommended Rate

Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the RBA Recommended Rate; and

- (B) lastly, if paragraph (A) above does not apply, the Final Fallback Rate; and
- (vi) where a determination of the RBA Recommended Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (iv) or (v) above, respectively, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to the RBA Recommended Rate, the rate for any day for which the RBA Recommended Rate is required on or after that Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the Final Fallback Rate.

When calculating an amount of interest in circumstances where a Fallback Rate other than the Final Fallback Rate applies, that interest will be calculated as if references to the BBSW Rate or AONIA Rate (as applicable) were references to that Fallback Rate. When calculating interest in circumstances where the Final Fallback Rate applies, the amount of interest will be calculated on the same basis as if the Applicable Benchmark Rate in effect immediately prior to the application of that Final Fallback Rate remained in effect but with necessary adjustments to substitute all references to that Applicable Benchmark Rate with corresponding references to the Final Fallback Rate.

6.15 Benchmark Rate fallback definitions

In Conditions 6.8 and 6.14:

"Adjustment Spread" means the adjustment spread as at the Adjustment Spread Fixing Date (which may be a positive or negative value or zero and determined pursuant to a formula or methodology) that is:

- (a) determined as the median of the historical differences between the BBSW Rate and AONIA over a five calendar year period prior to the Adjustment Spread Fixing Date using practices based on those used for the determination of the Bloomberg Adjustment Spread as at 1 December 2022, provided that for so long as the Bloomberg Adjustment Spread is published and determined based on the five year median of the historical differences between the BBSW Rate and AONIA, that adjustment spread will be deemed to be acceptable for the purposes of this paragraph (a); or
- (b) if no such median can be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), set using the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) (after consultation with the Issuer where practicable) to be appropriate.
- "Adjustment Spread Fixing Date" means the first date on which a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger occurs with respect to the BBSW Rate.

"Administrator" means:

- (a) in respect of the BBSW Rate, ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited (ABN 38 616 075 417);
- (b) in respect of AONIA, the Reserve Bank of Australia; and
- (c) in respect of any other Applicable Benchmark Rate, the administrator for that rate or benchmark or, if there is no administrator, the provider of that rate or benchmark,

and, in each case, any successor administrator or, as applicable, any successor administrator or provider.

"Administrator Recommended Rate" means the rate formally recommended for use as the temporary replacement for the BBSW Rate by the Administrator of the BBSW Rate.

"AONIA" means the Australian dollar interbank overnight cash rate (known as AONIA).

"AONIA Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling five Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date falling five Business Days prior to the end of such Interest Period (or the date falling five Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Senior Notes become due and payable).

"AONIA Rate" means, for an Interest Period and in respect of an Interest Determination Date, the rate determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) to be Compounded Daily AONIA for that Interest Period and Interest Determination Date plus the Adjustment Spread (if any).

"Applicable Benchmark Rate" means the Benchmark Rate specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and, if a Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, then the rate determined in accordance with Condition 6.14.

"BBSW Rate" means, for an Interest Period, the rate for prime bank eligible securities having a tenor closest to the Interest Period which is designated as the "AVG MID" on the 'Refinitiv Screen ASX29 Page' or the 'Bloomberg Screen BBSW Page' (or any designation which replaces that designation on the applicable page, or any replacement page) at the Publication Time on the first Business Day of that Interest Period.

"Benchmark Rate" means, in respect of a Senior Note, for an Interest Period, either the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

"Bloomberg Adjustment Spread" means the term adjusted AONIA spread relating to the BBSW Rate provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited (or a successor provider as approved and/or appointed by ISDA from time to time as the provider of term adjusted AONIA and the spread) ("BISL") on the Fallback Rate (AONIA) Screen (or by other means), or provided to, and published by, authorised distributors where Fallback Rate (AONIA) Screen means the Bloomberg Screen corresponding to the Bloomberg ticker for the fallback for the BBSW Rate accessed via the Bloomberg Screen <FBAK> <GO> Page (or, if applicable, accessed via the Bloomberg Screen <HP> <GO>) or any other published source designated by BISL.

"Compounded Daily AONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the AONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Period (with AONIA as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) on the fifth Business Day prior to the last day of each Interest Period, as follows:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{AONIA_{i-5~SBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

 $AONIA_{i-5SBD}$ means the per annum rate expressed as a decimal which is the level of AONIA provided by the Administrator and published as of the Publication Time for the Business Day falling five Business Days prior to such Business Day "i";

d is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period;

 d_0 is the number of Business Days in the relevant Interest Period;

 \boldsymbol{i} is a series of whole numbers from 1 to $\boldsymbol{d_0}$, each representing the relevant Business Day in chronological order from (and including) the first Business Day in the relevant Interest Period to (and including) the last Business Day in such Interest Period;

 n_i for any Business Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following Business Day; and

SBD means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business in Sydney.

If, for any reason, Compounded Daily AONIA needs to be determined for a period other than an Interest Period, Compounded Daily AONIA is to be determined as if that period were an Interest Period starting on (and including) the first day of that period and ending on (but excluding) the last day of that period.

"Designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer;

"Fallback Rate" means, where a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger for an Applicable Benchmark Rate has occurred, the rate that applies to replace that Applicable Benchmark Rate in accordance with Condition 6.14.

"Final Fallback Rate" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, the rate:

- determined by the Issuer or its Designee (as applicable) as a commercially reasonable alternative (a) for the Applicable Benchmark Rate taking into account all available information that, in good faith, it considers relevant, provided that any rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) implemented by central counterparties and / or futures exchanges with representative trade volumes in derivatives or futures referencing the Applicable Benchmark Rate will be deemed to be acceptable for the purposes of this paragraph (a), together with (without double counting) such adjustment spread (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that is customarily applied to the relevant successor rate or alternative rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for Benchmark Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time (together with such other adjustments to the Business Day Convention, interest determination dates and related provisions and definitions, in each case that are consistent with accepted market practice for the use of such successor rate or alternative rate for Benchmark Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time), or, if no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged, the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread determined by the Issuer or its Designee (as applicable) to be appropriate; provided that
- (b) if and for so long as no such successor rate or alternative rate can be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), the Final Fallback Rate will be the last provided or published level of that Applicable Benchmark Rate.

"Non-Representative" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, that the Supervisor of that Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate:

- (a) has determined that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is intended to measure and that representativeness will not be restored; and
- (b) is aware that such determination will engage certain contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such Supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts.

"Permanent Discontinuation Trigger" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate announcing that it has ceased or that it will cease to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator or provider, as applicable, that will continue to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate and, in the case of the BBSW Rate, a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate has confirmed that cessation;

- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate, the Reserve Bank of Australia (or any successor central bank for Australian dollars), an insolvency official or resolution authority with jurisdiction over the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate which states that the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate has ceased or will cease to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator or provider that will continue to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate and, in the case of the BBSW Rate and a public statement or publication of information other than by the Supervisor, a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate has confirmed that cessation;
- (c) a public statement by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, as a consequence of which the Applicable Benchmark Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Senior Notes, or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences to the Issuer or a Noteholder;
- (d) as a consequence of a change in law or directive arising after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of Senior Notes of a Series, it has become unlawful for the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable), the Issuer or any other party responsible for calculations of interest under the Conditions to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Applicable Benchmark Rate;
- (e) a public statement or publication of information by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, stating that the Applicable Benchmark Rate is Non-Representative; or
- (f) the Applicable Benchmark Rate has otherwise ceased to exist or be administered on a permanent or indefinite basis.

"Permanent Fallback Effective Date" means, in respect of a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger for an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) in the case of paragraphs (a) and (b) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the first date on which the Applicable Benchmark Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided and is no longer published or provided;
- (b) in the case of paragraphs (c) and (d) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the date from which use of the Applicable Benchmark Rate is prohibited or becomes subject to restrictions or adverse consequences or the calculation becomes unlawful (as applicable);
- (c) in the case of paragraph (e) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the first date on which the Applicable Benchmark Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided but is Non-Representative by reference to the most recent statement or publication contemplated in that paragraph and even if such Applicable Benchmark Rates continues to be published or provided on such date; or
- (d) in the case of paragraph (f) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the date that event occurs.

"Publication Time" means:

(a) in respect of the BBSW Rate, 12.00noon (Sydney time) or any amended publication time for the final intraday refix of such rate specified by the Administrator for the BBSW Rate in its benchmark methodology; and

(b) in respect of AONIA, 4.00pm (Sydney time) or any amended publication time for the final intraday refix of such rate specified by the Administrator for AONIA in its benchmark methodology.

"RBA Recommended Fallback Rate" has the same meaning given to AONIA Rate but with necessary adjustments to substitute all references to AONIA with corresponding references to the RBA Recommended Rate.

"RBA Recommended Rate" means, in respect of any relevant day (including any day "i"), the rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) recommended as the replacement for AONIA by the Reserve Bank of Australia (which rate may be produced by the Reserve Bank of Australia or another administrator) and as provided by the Administrator of that rate or, if that rate is not provided by the Administrator thereof, published by an authorised distributor in respect of that day.

"Supervisor" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, the supervisor or competent authority that is responsible for supervising that Applicable Benchmark Rate or the Administrator of that Applicable Benchmark Rate, or any committee officially endorsed or convened by any such supervisor or competent authority that is responsible for supervising that Applicable Benchmark Rate or the Administrator of that Applicable Benchmark Rate.

"Supervisor Recommended Rate" means the rate formally recommended for use as the temporary replacement for the BBSW Rate by the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate.

"Temporary Disruption Trigger" means, in respect of any Applicable Benchmark Rate which is required for any determination:

- (a) the Applicable Benchmark Rate has not been published by the applicable Administrator or an authorised distributor and is not otherwise provided by the Administrator, in respect of, on, for or by the time and date on which that Applicable Benchmark Rate is required; or
- (b) the Applicable Benchmark Rate is published or provided but Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) determines that there is an obvious or proven error in that rate.

7 Payments

7.1 Method of payment

Subject to the other provisions of this Condition 7:

- (a) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the Principal Financial Centre; and
- (b) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee.

7.2 Payments subject to fiscal and other laws

Payments will be subject in all cases to:

- (a) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto (whether by operation of law or agreement of the Issuer); and
- (b) any FATCA Withholding,

but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9.

7.3 Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Senior Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, "Payment Day" means any day which (subject to Condition 10) is:

- (a) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:
 - (i) in the case of Senior Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation; and
 - (ii) each Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (b) either:
 - (i) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the Principal Financial Centre; or
 - (ii) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day which is a T2 Business Day; and
- in the case of any payment in respect of a Registered Global Note denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and in respect of which an accountholder of DTC (with an interest in such Registered Global Note) has elected to receive any part of such payment in U.S. Dollars, a day on which commercial banks are not authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed in New York City.

7.4 Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal in respect of the Senior Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (a) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 9.3;
- (b) the Final Redemption Amount of the Senior Notes;
- (c) the Early Redemption Amount of the Senior Notes;
- (d) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Senior Notes; and
- (e) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Senior Notes.

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Senior Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 9.3.

7.5 Payments in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in Condition 7.1 above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Definitive Bearer Notes, and payments of interest in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)).

Fixed Rate Notes which are Definitive Bearer Notes (other than Long Maturity Notes) should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 10) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in no event thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note which is a Definitive Bearer Note becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note or Long Maturity Note which is a Definitive Bearer Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.

If the due date for redemption of any Definitive Bearer Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Senior Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant Definitive Bearer Note.

7.6 Payments in respect of Global Notes in bearer form

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of any Global Note in bearer form will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to Definitive Bearer Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)). A record of each payment made against presentation or surrender of any Global Note in bearer form, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented and such record shall be prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been made. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of "Payment Day" set out in Condition 7.3.

7.7 Payments in respect of Registered Notes

(a) Payments of principal

Payments of principal in respect of each Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note (whether or not in global form) will be made against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the Registered Note at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any of the Paying Agents. Such payments will be made by transfer to the Designated Account of the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day (being for this purpose also a Registry Business Day) immediately prior to the relevant due date.

(b) Payments of interest in respect of Registered Notes

Payments of interest in respect of each Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note (whether or not in global form) will be made in the Specified Currency on the relevant due date to the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not such fifteenth day is a Registry Business Day) before the relevant due date ("Record Date").

Upon application of the holder to the Specified Office of the Registrar not less than three Registry Business Days before the due date for any payment of interest in respect of a Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note, the payment may be made by transfer on the due date in the manner provided in Condition 7.7(a). Any such application for transfer shall be deemed to relate to all future payments of interest (other than interest due on redemption) in respect of the Registered Notes which become payable to the holder who has made the initial application until such time as the Registrar is notified in writing to the contrary by such holder.

Payment of the interest due in respect of each Registered Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note) on redemption will be made in the same manner as payment of the nominal amount of such Registered Note.

Notwithstanding the above, in respect of Registered Global Notes, all payments will be made to the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment.

(c) Certain payments in respect of Global Notes to DTC

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Condition 7.7, all amounts payable to DTC or its nominee as registered holder of a Global Note in registered form in respect of Senior Notes denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars shall be paid by transfer by the Registrar to an account in the relevant Specified Currency of the Exchange Agent on behalf of DTC or its nominee for payment in such Specified Currency for conversion into U.S. Dollars in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement (except, in the case of any Senior Note, to the extent specified by the relevant beneficial holder in accordance with DTC procedures, as more fully described in the Euro Agency Agreement).

(d) No responsibility for records

None of the Issuer or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

7.8 General provisions applicable to payments on Global Notes

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Senior Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Senior Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Condition 7.8, if any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of Bearer Notes is payable in U.S. Dollars, such U.S. Dollar payments of principal and/or interest in respect of such Senior Notes will be made at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent in the United States if:

- (a) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with Specified Offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. Dollars at such Specified Offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Bearer Notes in the manner provided above when due;
- (b) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such Specified Offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. Dollars; and
- such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

7.9 Payments in respect of Australian Domestic Notes

Monies payable by the Issuer in respect of an Australian Domestic Note shall be paid:

- (a) in the case of a payment of interest, to the holder appearing in the Australian Register at the close of business on the Record Date; and
- (b) in the case of a payment of principal, to the holder appearing in the Australian Register at 10.00 a.m. (Sydney time) on the date which is fixed for payment.

If Australian Domestic Notes are:

- (i) held in the Austraclear System, payments in respect of each Senior Note will be made by crediting on the relevant payment date the amount then due to the account of the Noteholder in accordance with the Austraclear Regulations; or
- (ii) not held in the Austraclear System, payments in respect of each Senior Note will be made by crediting on the relevant payment date the amount then due to an account previously notified to the Issuer and the Australian Registrar by the holder in respect of that Senior Note. If the holder has not notified the Issuer and the Australian Registrar of such an account by the time specified in Condition 7.9(a) or 7.9(b) (as applicable) payments in respect of the relevant Senior Note will be made by cheque dispatched by post on the relevant payment date at the risk of the Noteholder. Cheques despatched to the nominated address of a holder will in such cases be deemed to have been received by the holder on the relevant payment date and no further amount will be payable by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Senior Note as a result of payment not being received by the holder on the due date.

8 Redemption and purchase

8.1 Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Senior Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

8.2 Redemption for withholding tax reasons

The Senior Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer (in whole or in part) at any time (if this Senior Note is a Fixed Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if this Senior Note is a Floating Rate Note) by giving not less than 30 and not more than 60 days' notice to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Registrar (as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 15, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if on the date of the next payment due under the Senior Notes, the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 9 as a result of:

- (a) any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax; or
- (b) any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations,

and such change or amendment only occurs or became effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Senior Notes and such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking measures reasonably available to it, provided that:

(i) the due date for redemption shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date on which the Issuer could make such payment without being obliged to pay such additional amount: and

- (ii) prior to the giving of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 8.2, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Registrar (as applicable):
 - (A) a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred and stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption; and
 - (B) an opinion of legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment.

Each Senior Note redeemed pursuant to this Condition 8.2 will be redeemed at its Early Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

8.3 Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

If Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may, having given not less than 20 nor more than 40 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem the Senior Notes (in whole or in part) then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date.

Any such redemption must be of a nominal amount not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount and not more than the Maximum Redemption Amount, in each case, if applicable, as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the notes to be redeemed (the "Redeemed Notes") will be selected:

- (a) in the case of Redeemed Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) represented by Definitive Notes, individually by lot;
- (b) in the case of Redeemed Notes that are Australian Domestic Notes, in a fair and reasonable manner as determined by the Issuer and in compliance with any law, directive or requirement of any clearing system in which the Senior Notes are held;
- (c) in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Global Notes, in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) and/or DTC,

in each case not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such selection date, the "Selection Date").

In the case of:

- (i) Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 15 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption; and
- (ii) Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, no exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this Condition 8.3 and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 at least five days prior to the Selection Date.

8.4 Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

If Investor Put is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, upon the holder of any Senior Note giving to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 15 not less than 20 nor more than 40 days' notice the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem, subject to, and in accordance with, the terms specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such Senior Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date.

In the case of Senior Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes, Registered Notes may be redeemed under this Condition 8.4 in any multiple of their lowest Specified Denomination. It may be that before an Investor Put can be exercised, certain conditions and/or circumstances will need to be satisfied.

To exercise the right to require redemption of a Definitive Bearer Note or Definitive Registered Note, the holder of the Senior Note must, if the Senior Note is held outside Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, deliver at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar falling within the notice period:

- (a) a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any Specified Office of any Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar (a "Put Notice") and in which the holder must specify:
 - (i) a bank account to which payment is to be made under this Condition;
 - (ii) in the case of a Definitive Registered Note, the nominal amount thereof to be redeemed; and
 - (iii) if less than the full nominal amount of the Definitive Registered Note so surrendered is to be redeemed, an address to which a new Registered Note in respect of the balance of such Registered Note is to be sent subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Condition 3.6; and
- (b) such Senior Note, or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent or Registrar (as applicable) that such Senior Note will, following delivery of the Put Notice be held to its order or under its control

If the Senior Note to be redeemed is represented by a Global Note or is in definitive form and held through Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, to exercise the right to require redemption of the Senior Note the holder of the Senior Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Principal Paying Agent of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (which may include notice being given on such holder's instruction by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC or any common depositary, as the case may be, for them to the Principal Paying Agent by electronic means) in a form acceptable to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC from time to time and, if the Senior Note is represented by a Global Note, at the same time present or procure the presentation of the relevant Global Note to the Principal Paying Agent for notation accordingly.

To exercise the right to require redemption of an Australian Domestic Note, the holder of the Senior Note must complete, sign and deliver to the Specified Office of the Australian Registrar within the notice period:

- a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any Specified Office of the Australian Registrar (an "Australian Domestic Note Put Notice") and in which the holder must specify a bank account to which payment is to be made under this Condition; and
- (b) such evidence as the Australian Registrar may require to establish the rights of that holder to the relevant Senior Note.

Any Put Notice or Australian Domestic Note Put Notice given by a holder of any Senior Note pursuant to this Condition 8.4 shall be irrevocable except where prior to the due date of redemption an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the notice given pursuant to this Condition 8.4 and instead to declare such Senior Note forthwith due and payable pursuant to Condition 11.

8.5 Early Redemption Amounts

For the purpose of Condition 8.2 and Condition 11, each Senior Note will be redeemed at its Early Redemption Amount calculated, if not specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as follows:

- (a) in the case of a Senior Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof; or
- (b) in the case of a Senior Note with a Final Redemption Amount which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price, at the amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no such amount or manner is so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, at its nominal amount.

8.6 Purchases

The Issuer or any subsidiary of the Issuer may at any time purchase Senior Notes or any other bond, note or other debt instrument issued by the Issuer from time to time (whether ranking senior to, equally with or subordinate to the Senior Notes) (provided that, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise.

8.7 Cancellation

All Senior Notes which are redeemed or purchased for cancellation by the Issuer shall be cancelled forthwith:

- (a) in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Senior Note together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) in the case of Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes), by surrendering such Registered Note to the Registrar; and
- (c) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, without any further action being required.

Any Senior Notes so cancelled may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Senior Notes shall be discharged.

9 Taxation

9.1 Withholding Tax

All payments of principal, interest and other amounts by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Senior Notes or the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any present or future Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of a Tax Authority in a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.

9.2 Deductions

If the Issuer is required by law to make a withholding or deduction, the Issuer shall pay the full amount required to be withheld or deducted by law to the relevant authority within the time allowed for such payment without incurring any penalty under the applicable law.

Subject to Condition 9.3, if any withholding or deduction has been made and the amount of the withholding or deduction has been paid by the Issuer to the relevant authority and the balance of the amount payable paid to the relevant Noteholder, the full amount payable to such Noteholder shall be deemed to have been duly paid and satisfied by the Issuer.

9.3 Additional Amounts

If a law of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction requires that any payments in respect of the Senior Notes or Coupons be subject to deduction or withholding with respect to any present or future Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Issuer will, to the fullest extent then permitted by law, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Senior Notes or Coupons after such deduction or withholding shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Senior Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Senior Note or Coupon:

- (a) in respect of which the Noteholder, or a third party recipient on behalf of a Noteholder, is liable for those Taxes by reason of its having some connection with Australia, other than the mere holding of the Senior Notes or the receipt of the relevant payment provided that a Noteholder shall not be regarded as having a connection with Australia for the reason that the holder is a resident of Australia within the meaning of the Tax Act where, and to the extent that, such Taxes are payable by reason of section 128B(2A) of the Tax Act;
- (b) in respect of which the holder, or a third party recipient on behalf of a holder, is an Offshore Associate of the Issuer (acting other than in the capacity of a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme within the meaning of the Corporations Act);
- (c) in respect of which the Noteholder could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such Taxes by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or similar case for exemption to any tax authority;
- (d) to, or to a third party on behalf of, an Australian resident Noteholder or a non-resident Noteholder who is engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment of the non-resident in Australia, if that person has not supplied an appropriate tax file number, Australian Business Number or other exemption details;
- (e) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Noteholder where such withholding or deduction is required to be made pursuant to a notice or direction issued by the Commissioner of Taxation of Australia under section 255 of the Tax Act or section 260-5 of Schedule 1 to the Tax Act or any similar law;
- (f) which is imposed or withheld as a consequence of a determination having been made under Part IVA of the Tax Act (or any modification thereof or provision substituted therefor) by the Commissioner of Taxation of the Commonwealth of Australia that withholding tax is payable in respect of a payment in circumstances where the payment would not have been subject to withholding tax in the absence of the scheme which was the subject of that determination;
- (g) which is an estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property or similar tax, assessment or other charge;
- (h) in respect of Senior Notes that are not Australian Domestic Notes, presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day to have been a Payment Day; or
- (i) in the case of Senior Notes issued by the Issuer acting through a borrowing office outside Australia, such further exceptions as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

9.4 FATCA

The Issuer and any Paying Agent may withhold or make deductions from payments to a Noteholder where it is required to do so under or in connection with FATCA, or where it has reasonable grounds to suspect that the Noteholder or a beneficial owner of Senior Notes may be subject to FATCA, and may deal with such amount deducted or withheld in accordance with FATCA. If any withholding or deduction arises under or in connection with FATCA, the Issuer will not be required to pay any further amounts to the Noteholder on account of such withholding or deduction or otherwise reimburse or compensate, or make any payment to, a Noteholder or a beneficial owner of Senior Notes for or in respect of any such withholding or deduction.

10 Prescription

- (a) The Senior Notes (whether in bearer or registered form) and any Coupons will become void unless presented for payment (or in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, a claim for payment is made) within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest and other amounts) after the Relevant Date in respect of such payment.
- (b) There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 10 or Condition 7.5 or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 7.5.

11 Events of Default and consequences

If any one or more of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall occur with respect to any Senior Note:

- (a) if default is made in the payment of any principal or interest due in respect of the Senior Notes or any of them and the default continues for a period of seven days (in the case of payment of principal) or 14 days (in the case of payment of interest);
- (b) if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under these Conditions and (except in any case where the failure is incapable of remedy, when no such continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the failure continues for the period of 30 days following the receipt by the Issuer or the Principal Paying Agent of a notice served by a Noteholder on the Issuer requiring the same to be remedied;
- (c) if there is any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution affects any asset or assets of the Issuer having an aggregate value of A\$500,000,000 which is not discharged within 30 days;
- (d) the Issuer is or becomes unable to pay its debts as and when they fall due, applies for or consents to or suffers the appointment of a liquidator or receiver or administrator of the Issuer or of the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer (other than in respect of monies borrowed or raised on a non-recourse basis) or makes or enters into a general assignment or any arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of creditors generally; or
- (e) an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the Winding-Up of the Issuer other than under or in connection with a scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction not involving a bankruptcy or insolvency,

then, for so long as such event is continuing, any one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than the Required Percentage in nominal amount of the Senior Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding may, by written notice to the Issuer at the Specified Office of the Issuer (with a copy to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Registrar (as applicable)), effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Issuer, declare the Senior Notes to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 8.5), together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 11, no Event of Default (other than Condition 11(e)) in respect of the Senior Notes shall occur solely on account of any failure by the Issuer to perform or observe any of its obligations in relation to, or the agreement or declaration of any moratorium with respect to, or the taking of any proceeding in respect of, any Regulatory Capital Instrument.

12 Replacement of Senior Notes, Coupons and Talons

Should any Senior Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note) or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes or Coupons) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.

Mutilated or defaced Senior Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13 Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Senior Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 10.

14 Agents

14.1 Appointment and replacement of Agents

The names of the initial Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed in the definition of "Specified Office" in Condition 20.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent and/or appoint additional or other Agents and/or approve any change in the Specified Office through which any Agent acts, subject to Condition 14.2. Notice of any change in any of the Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly be given to the relevant Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

14.2 Required Agents

The Issuer shall:

- (a) at all times maintain a Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) if and for so long as there are any Registered Notes outstanding, at all times maintain a Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes) or an Australian Registrar (in the case of Australian Domestic Notes);
- (c) if and for so long as any Senior Notes are:
 - (i) admitted to the Official List of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited; and/or
 - (ii) admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system,

and the rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system so require, at all times maintain a Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent (in the case of Registered Notes) having its Specified Office in Singapore and/or in such other place as may be required by such other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system;

- if and for so long as any of the Registered Global Notes payable in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars are held through DTC or its nominee, at all times maintain an Exchange Agent with a Specified Office in New York City; and
- (e) forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a Specified Office in New York City in the circumstances described in Condition 7.8.

14.3 Role of the Euro Agents

In acting under the Euro Agency Agreement, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation to, or relationship of agency or trust with, any Noteholders or Couponholders.

The Euro Agency Agreement contains provisions permitting any entity into which any Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated or to which it transfers all or substantially all of its assets to become the successor agent.

14.4 Role of the Australian Agents

Each person in whose account an Australian Domestic Note is recorded is deemed to acknowledge in favour of the Australian Registrar and each relevant person that:

- (a) the Australian Registrar's decision to act as the Australian Registrar in respect of the Senior Note does not constitute a recommendation or endorsement by the Australian Registrar or the relevant person in relation to the Senior Note but only indicates that such Senior Note is considered by the Registrar to be compatible with the performance by it of its obligations as Australian Registrar under its agreement with the Issuer to act as Australian Registrar in respect of the Senior Note;
- (b) in acting under the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement in connection with the Senior Notes, the Australian Registrar acts solely as agent of the Issuer and does not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Noteholders save insofar as any funds received by the Australian Registrar are required in accordance with the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement, pending their application in accordance with the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement, to be held by it in a segregated account on trust for the persons entitled thereto; and
- (c) the Noteholder does not rely on any fact, matter or circumstance contrary to this Condition 14.4.

15 Notices

15.1 Bearer Notes

Subject to Condition 15.3, all notices regarding Bearer Notes will be deemed to be validly given if published in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*). Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

15.2 Registered Notes

Subject to Condition 15.3, all notices regarding Registered Notes will be deemed to be validly given if:

- (a) sent by prepaid post (airmail if posted to an address overseas) to the registered holders (or the first named of joint holders) at their respective addresses recorded in the Register or the Australian Register (as applicable) and will be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after mailing; or
- (b) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes only, published in *The Australian Financial Review* or any other English language daily newspaper of general circulation in Australia and will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

15.3 Global Notes

So long as any Global Notes representing the Senior Notes are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, there shall be substituted for publication as described in Condition 15.1 or 15.2 (as applicable), the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC for communication by them to the holders of the Senior Notes. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Senior Notes on the second day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC.

15.4 Listed Notes

If and for so long as any Senior Notes are:

- (a) admitted to the Official List of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited; and/or
- (b) admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system,

and the rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system prescribe a specific manner for the giving of notices, all notices relating to such Senior Notes shall in addition to any requirements for those notices in these Conditions, also be given in a manner which complies with those rules.

15.5 Notices given by Noteholders

Subject to Condition 15.6, notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by:

- (a) in the case of Senior Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes, lodging the same, together (in the case of any Senior Note in definitive form) with the relative Senior Note or Senior Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes); or
- (b) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, prepaid post (airmail if posted to an address overseas) or delivery to the Specified Office of the Issuer.

All such notices will be deemed to be validly given in respect of paragraph (a), on the date of lodgement in accordance with that paragraph, or, in the case of paragraph (b), on the seventh day after mailing, or, if delivered to the Specified Office of the Issuer, the date of delivery (unless delivered after 5.00 p.m. in the place of receipt or on a day that is not a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the place of receipt, in which case the notice will be taken to be given at 9.00 a.m. on the next day that is a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the place of receipt).

15.6 Notices given by Noteholders in respect of Global Notes

Whilst any of the Senior Notes are represented by a Global Note, any notices to be given by any Noteholder may be given by any holder of a Senior Note to the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, in such manner as the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

15.7 Couponholders

Couponholders are taken for all purposes to have received any notice given to the Noteholders.

16 Meetings of Noteholders, modification and waiver

16.1 Meetings and quorum

The Euro Agency Agreement and the Australian Note Deed Poll each contain provisions (which have effect as if incorporated in these Conditions) for convening meetings of the Noteholders of any Series to consider any matter affecting their interest, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of any modification of, or waiver with respect to, these Conditions, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) insofar as the same may apply to such Senior Notes.

Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Senior Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Senior Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Senior Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Senior Notes or the Coupons (including modifying the date of maturity of the Senior Notes or any date for payment of interest thereon, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Senior Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Senior Notes or the Coupons), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds in nominal amount of the Senior Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing not less than one-third in nominal amount of the Senior Notes for the time being outstanding.

16.2 Extraordinary Resolutions

The Euro Agency Agreement and the Australian Note Deed Poll each provide that:

- (a) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) by a majority consisting of not less than 75 per cent. of the votes cast on such resolution;
- (b) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Senior Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding; or
- (c) a consent given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Senior Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding,

shall, in each case, be effective as an extraordinary resolution of the Noteholders (an "Extraordinary Resolution").

An Extraordinary Resolution passed by the Noteholders of any Series will be binding on all the Noteholders of that Series, whether or not they are present at any meeting and whether or not they voted on the resolution, and on all Couponholders of that Series.

16.3 Issuer modifications

The Issuer may make or agree to, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, any amendment or modification of, or addition to, any provisions of the Senior Notes, the Coupons, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll:

- (a) which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as a whole;
- (b) to reflect the substitution of a borrowing office in accordance with Condition 16.5; or
- (c) which is of a formal, minor or technical nature, or is made to correct a manifest or proven error, to cure any ambiguity or defect or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law.

Any such amendment, modification or addition shall be binding on the Noteholders, and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 as soon as practicable thereafter.

16.4 Noteholder approval not required

The Issuer does not require the approval of Noteholders to vary or terminate any registry agreement or other deed or agreement (other than the Australian Note Deed Poll and these Terms and Conditions) in respect of any Australian Domestic Notes.

16.5 Branch Substitution

The Issuer may, from time to time, make or agree to, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, whether or not a borrowing office outside Australia is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amend or modify the Conditions applicable to the Senior Notes to specify that the Senior Notes are on issue through a borrowing office of the Issuer (whether in or outside Australia) (a "Branch Substitution"), provided that:

- (a) the Issuer may not make or agree to a Branch Substitution if it would be illegal by the laws applicable to the relevant borrowing office to have the Senior Notes on issue through that borrowing office or to perform its obligations in respect of the Senior Notes;
- (b) the obligations in respect of the Senior Notes remain obligations of the Issuer ranking as contemplated by these Conditions and are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office; and
- (c) no redemption of the Senior Notes (whether in whole or in part) in accordance with Condition 8.2 is permitted as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction where the borrowing office resulting from the Branch Substitution is located or any political subdivision thereof (or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations) unless the change or amendment to such laws or regulations occurs or becomes effective on or after the date of the Branch Substitution.

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees to any Branch Substitution in accordance with this Condition 16.5. Nothing in this Condition 16.5 creates any obligation on, nor gives a Noteholder any right to require, the Issuer to make or agree to a Branch Substitution.

17 Further issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Senior Notes, or the same in all respects save for one or more of the amount, the Issue Date, the Issue Price and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Senior Notes.

The Issuer may also from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders, on giving not less than 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders, consolidate Senior Notes denominated or redenominated in euro with one or more issues of other notes ("Other Notes") issued by it and denominated in the currency of any of the Member States of the European Union provided that such Other Notes are denominated in, or have been redenominated into euro and otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and conditions as the Senior Notes.

In the event of any such consolidation, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, provide for additional, and/or substitute denominations of such Senior Notes.

Notice of any such consolidation and/or provision of additional or substitute denominations will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

The Issuer shall not be restricted from creating or issuing any other notes.

18 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Senior Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

19 Governing law and submission to jurisdiction

19.1 Governing law

The Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Senior Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes), the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Senior Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

The Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Domestic Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws in force in the State of New South Wales, Australia.

19.2 Submission to jurisdiction

The Issuer irrevocably agrees for the benefit of the Noteholders and the Couponholders (as applicable):

- (a) that the courts of England are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Senior Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and/or the Coupons (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Senior Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and/or the Coupons) and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts; and
- (b) that the courts of the State of New South Wales, Australia are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Australian Domestic Notes and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the courts New South Wales, Australia.

The Issuer waives any objection to the courts of England or the courts of the State of New South Wales, Australia (as the case may be) on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum. The Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceedings (together referred to as "**Proceedings**") arising out of or in connection with the Senior Notes and the Coupons (including any Proceedings relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Senior Notes and/or the Coupons) against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

19.3 Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer appoints QBE European Operations Plc at its office at Plantation Place, 30 Fenchurch Street, London EC3M 3BD, United Kingdom as its agent for service of process ("**Process Agent**"), and undertakes that, in the event of QBE European Operations Plc ceasing so to act or ceasing to be registered in England, it will appoint another person as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve proceedings in any other manner permitted by law.

19.4 Other documents

The Issuer has in the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant submitted to the jurisdiction of the English courts and appointed an agent for service of process in terms substantially similar to those set out above.

20 Definitions and interpretation

20.1 Definitions

ABN shall have the meaning given to Australian Business Number.

Additional Business Centre means a place specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Additional Financial Centre means a place specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Agents means the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Australian Registrar, the Australian Calculation Agent and the other Paying Agents, Transfer Agents and Exchange Agents.

Austraclear means Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773).

Austraclear Regulations means the regulations known as the "Austraclear Regulations" (as amended or replaced from time to time) together with any instructions or directions established by Austraclear to govern the use of the Austraclear System.

Austraclear System means the system operated by Austraclear in Australia for holding securities and electronic recording and settling of transactions in those securities between members of that system.

Australian Agency and Registry Agreement shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Business Number shall have the meaning given in the A New Tax System (Australian Business Number) Act 1999 of Australia.

Australian Calculation Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Dollar, **A**\$ and **AUD** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Domestic Note means a registered debt obligation of the Issuer constituted by, and owing under the Australian Note Deed Poll, the details of which are recorded in, and evidenced by, inscription in the Australian Register.

Australian Domestic Note Put Notice shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.4.

Australian Note Deed Poll shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Register means the relevant register of holders of the Australian Domestic Notes maintained by the Australian Registrar.

Australian Registrar shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Bearer Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Broken Amount means an amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Business Day means a day which is a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the Relevant Financial Centre and each Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Business Day Convention shall have the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Calculation Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Clearing System Business Day means Monday to Friday inclusive except December 25 and January 1.

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking S.A..

Conditions shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.

Coupon shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Couponholders means the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

Day Count Fraction means:

- (a) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
 - (i) in the case of Senior Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of:
 - (A) the number of days in such Determination Period; and
 - (B) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; or
 - (ii) in the case of Senior Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; and
 - (B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
- (b) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where "30/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360;
- (c) in respect of Floating Rate Notes:
 - (i) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
 - (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;

- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
- (v) if "Australian Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, one divided by the number of Interest Payment Dates in a year (or where the Determination Period does not constitute an Interest Period, the actual number of days in the Determination Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Determination Period falls in a leap year, the sum of:
 - (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Determination Period falling in a leap year divided by 366; and
 - (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Determination Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365));
- (vi) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M₁" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(vii) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

" Y_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30; or

(viii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (A) that day is the last day of February or (B) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

"**D**₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless (A) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (B) such number would be 31, in which case D₂ will be 30.

Deed of Covenant shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Definitive Bearer Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Definitive Notes shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.1.

Definitive Registered Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Designated Account means the account (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese Yen to a non-resident of Japan, shall be a non-resident account) maintained by a holder with a Designated Bank and identified as such in the Register.

Designated Bank means (in the case of payment in a Specified Currency other than euro) a bank in the Principal Financial Centre and (in the case of a payment in euro) any bank which processes payments in euro.

Determination Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to but excluding the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date).

Distribution Compliance Period means the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the distribution of each Tranche of Senior Notes, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead manager (in the case of a syndicated issue).

DTC shall have the meaning given in Condition 3.3.

Early Redemption Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or where no such amount is specified, the amount calculated in accordance with Condition 8.5.

euro, € and EUR shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Euro Agency Agreement shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Euro-zone means the region comprised of Member States of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty.

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank SA/NV.

Exchange Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Extraordinary Resolution shall have the meaning given Condition 16.

FATCA means:

- (a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the United States of America Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any associated regulations;
- (b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and any other jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of any law or regulation referred to in paragraph (a) above; or
- (c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or regulation referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation authority in any other jurisdiction.

FATCA Withholding means any deduction or withholding made for or on account of FATCA.

Final Redemption Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Fixed Coupon Amount means an amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Fixed Rate Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.1.

Floating Rate Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.1.

Foreign Branch Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Global Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Government Agency means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental, administrative, fiscal or judicial body, department, commission, authority, tribunal, agency or entity.

Group means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for the time being.

Interest Accrual Period shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.6(b).

Interest Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.11.

Interest Commencement Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Interest Determination Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is the Euro-zone interbank offered rate ("EURIBOR"), the second day which is a T2 Business Day prior to the start of each Interest Period;
- (b) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate or Average SOFR, the SOFR Interest Determination Date (as defined in Condition 6.6(c));
- (c) where the BBSW Rate applies or the Final Fallback Rate applies under paragraph (iv)(C) of Condition 6.14, the first day of that Interest Period;
- (d) where AONIA Rate applies, the fifth Business Day prior to the last day of that Interest Period; and
- (e) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is not specified in paragraphs (a) to (d) above, the first date of each Interest Period.

subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention.

Interest Payment Date means (in the case of a Fixed Rate Note) a date so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (in the case of a Floating Rate Note) the date on which interest is to be payable as determined under Condition 6.3.

Interest Period means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

ISDA Definitions means the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date.

ISDA Rate shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.7.

Issue Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Issue Price means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Issuer shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Japanese Yen, ¥ and **JPY** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Legended Note means Registered Notes (whether in definitive form or represented by a Registered Global Note) sold in private transactions to QIBs in accordance with the requirements of Rule 144A. **Legend** shall be interpreted accordingly.

Long Maturity Note means a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that such Senior Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal amount of such Senior Note.

Margin means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Maturity Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Maximum Rate of Interest means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Maximum Redemption Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Minimum Rate of Interest means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Minimum Redemption Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Non-Representative means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, that the Supervisor of that Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate:

- (a) has determined that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is intended to measure and that representativeness will not be restored; and
- (b) is aware that such determination will engage certain contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such Supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts.

Noteholders or **holders** shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Offshore Associate means an associate (as defined in section 128F of the Tax Act) of the Issuer that is either:

- (a) a non-resident of Australia which does not acquire the Senior Notes or Coupons in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia; or
- (b) a resident of Australia that acquires the Senior Notes or Coupons in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia.

Optional Redemption Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Optional Redemption Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Other Notes shall have the meaning given in Condition 17.

Paying Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Payment Day shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.3.

Pricing Supplement means Part A of the Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Senior Note.

Principal Financial Centre means the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Specified Currency is Sterling, London;
- (b) if the Specified Currency is Swiss Francs, Geneva;

- (c) if the Specified Currency is euro, Frankfurt;
- (d) if the Specified Currency is Japanese Yen, Tokyo;
- (e) if the Specified Currency is U.S. Dollars, New York; or
- (f) if the Specified Currency is Australian Dollars, Sydney.

Principal Paying Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Proceedings shall have the meaning given in Condition 19.2.

Process Agent shall have the meaning given in Condition 19.3.

Put Notice shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.4.

QIB means a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A.

Rate of Interest means, in respect of a Senior Note, the interest rate (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) payable in respect of that Senior Note specified in the Pricing Supplement or calculated or determined in accordance with these Conditions and the Pricing Supplement.

Record Date:

- (a) in respect of an Australian Domestic Note and in respect of a payment of interest, means the date which is five Registry Business Days before the Interest Payment Date or other date for payment or such other date as may be approved from time to time by the Issuer in its absolute discretion; and
- (b) in respect of a Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note, shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.7(b).

Redeemed Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.3.

Reference Banks means the principal offices of four major banks in the Relevant Financial Centre, selected by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) (in each case, after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Reference Rate means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Register means the relevant register of holders of the Registered Notes maintained by the Registrar.

Registered Global Note means a Global Note that is a Registered Note (but, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include an Australian Domestic Note) and includes:

- (a) a Rule 144A Global Note; and
- (b) a Regulation S Global Note,

(and any reference to "Registered Global Notes" shall be construed as a reference to Rule 144A Global Notes and/or Regulation S Global Notes, as the context requires).

Registered Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Registrar shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Registry Business Day means a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the city where the Specified Office of the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as applicable) is located.

Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Regulation S Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Senior Notes sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S.

Regulatory Capital Instrument means a share, note or other security or instrument that is eligible to be included as regulatory capital of any member of the Group or that is eligible to fund regulatory capital of any member of the Group under any capital adequacy guidelines, prudential standards or similar requirements made by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority or any other prudential regulator or Government Agency performing a similar function in any relevant jurisdiction.

Relevant Date in relation to any Senior Note and any payment in respect of such Senior Note, means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

Relevant Financial Centre means the financial centre specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, Brussels;
- (b) if BBSW Determination applies, Sydney; or
- (c) in any other case, the financial centre with which the relevant Reference Rate is most closely connected.

Relevant Rate means the Reference Rate benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency for a period (if applicable or appropriate to Reference Rate benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration.

Relevant Screen Page means the page, section, caption, column or other part ("Page") of a particular information service specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such other Page as may succeed or replace it on that information service or such other Page on such other information service as the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) may determine replaces or succeeds that Page (after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Relevant Tax Jurisdiction means Australia and, in the case of Senior Notes that are issued by the Issuer acting through a borrowing office outside Australia, the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located.

Relevant Time means the time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, 11.00 a.m.;
- (a) if BBSW Determination applies, 10.30 a.m. or such other time at which the BBSW Rate customarily appears on the Thomson Reuters Screen "BBSW" Page; or
- (b) in any other case, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits or equivalent interbank securities as are customarily used in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre (as applicable) in the Specified Currency in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre.

Representative Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or if none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the time.

Required Percentage means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Rule 144A means Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

Rule 144A Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Senior Notes sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons to QIBs.

Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Selection Date shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.3.

Senior Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Series shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Specified Currency shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.3.

Specified Denomination(s) shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.2.

Specified Duration means the period of time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or if none is specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Period, ignoring any adjustment as a consequence of Condition 6.4.

Specified Interest Payment Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Specified Maturity means the period of time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Specified Office means, in respect of.

- (a) the Issuer, Level 18, 388 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000;
- (a) the Principal Paying Agent and the Exchange Agent, 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA;
- (b) the Registrar and the Transfer Agent, 2-4 Eugene Ruppert, Vertigo Building, Polaris, L-2453 Luxembourg;
- (c) the Australian Registrar, 20 Bridge Street, Sydney NSW 2000; and
- (d) any other Agent, such office to be notified to the Noteholders from time to time,

or in any case, such other office as notified to the Noteholders from time to time.

Specified Period means a period specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Sterling, £ and **GBP** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

sub-unit means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent.

Subsidiary shall have the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act and **Subsidiaries** has a corresponding meaning.

Swiss Franc and CHF shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Talon shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

T2 Business Day means a day on which the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem, or any successor thereto, is operating credit or transfer instructions in respect of payments in euro.

Tax Act means:

- (a) the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia, the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 of Australia or the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia (and a reference to any section of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia includes a reference to that section as rewritten in the Income Tax Assessment 1997 of Australia);
- (b) any other law setting the rate of income tax payable; and
- (c) any regulation made under such laws.

Tax Authority means any government, state, municipal, local or other fiscal, revenue, customs or excise authority, body or official, having power to tax.

Taxes means taxes, levies, imposts, charges and duties (including stamp and transaction duties) imposed by any authority together with any related interest, penalties, fines and expenses in connection with them, except if imposed on, or calculated having regard to, the net income of the Noteholder.

Tranche shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Transfer Agents shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Transfer Certificate shall have the meaning given in Condition 3.10.

Transfer Form means a form available from the Australian Registrar or such other form as the Issuer may determine from time to time and notify to the holders of Australian Domestic Notes.

Treaty means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

U.S. Dollar, **U.S.**\$ and **USD** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

20.2 Interpretation

- (a) Unless otherwise specified, a reference to a Condition is a reference to a provision of these Conditions.
- (b) Headings and boldings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of these Conditions.
- (c) The singular includes the plural and vice versa.
- (d) A reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other law includes regulations and other instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them and references to the law includes statutes, ordinances, directives or common law and principles of equity having general application.
- (e) A reference to the "Corporations Act" as it relates to the Issuer is to that Act as may be modified in relation to the Issuer by ASIC.
- (f) Unless otherwise specified, a period of time dating from a given day or the day of an act or event is to be calculated exclusive of that day.
- (g) A day is to be interpreted as the period of time commencing at midnight and ending 24 hours later.

- (h) A reference to an agreement, deed or instrument (including these Conditions) includes a reference to that agreement, deed or instrument as amended, added to or restated from time to time.
- (i) The words "includes" or "including", "for example" or "such as" do not exclude a reference to other items, whether of the same class or genus or not.
- (j) All references to the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg shall be to the records that each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg holds for its customers which reflect the amount of such customers' interests in the Senior Notes.
- (k) For the purposes of Condition 16.3, in determining whether an amendment is not materially prejudicial to the interests of Noteholders as a whole, the taxation and regulatory capital consequences to Noteholders (or any class of Noteholders) and other special consequences which are personal to a Noteholder (or any class of Noteholders) do not need to be taken into account.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SUBORDINATED NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note, each Australian Domestic Note and each definitive Subordinated Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such definitive Subordinated Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche of Subordinated Notes may complete such Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Subordinated Notes. The applicable Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each Global Note, each Australian Domestic Note and each definitive Subordinated Note.

This Subordinated Note is one of a Series of Subordinated Notes issued by QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014) (the "**Issuer**") pursuant to the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (each as defined below).

References herein to the "Subordinated Notes" or "Notes" shall be references to the Subordinated Notes of this Series and shall mean:

- (a) in relation to any Subordinated Notes in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes") which are represented by a global note (a "Global Note"), units of each Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency;
- (b) any Global Note;
- (c) any Australian Domestic Note;
- (d) any definitive note in bearer form (a "**Definitive Bearer Note**") issued in exchange for a Global Note in bearer form; and
- (e) any definitive note in registered form (a "**Definitive Registered Note**") (whether or not issued in exchange for a Global Note in registered form).

References herein to a Registered Note shall include a reference to an Australian Domestic Note (unless otherwise stated).

References herein to a Global Note or a Definitive Registered Note shall not be taken to include any Australian Domestic Note. Australian Domestic Notes may not be issued in bearer form.

The Subordinated Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons (as defined below) are issued pursuant to an amended and restated agency agreement dated 27 February 2024, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Euro Agency Agreement") between the Issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as issuing and principal paying agent and agent bank (the "Principal Paying Agent", which expression shall include any additional or successor issuing and principal paying agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents), The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as exchange agent (the "Exchange Agent" which expression shall include any successor exchange agent), The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch, as registrar (the "Registrar", which expression shall include any additional or successor registrar) and as transfer agent and the other transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the "Transfer Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor transfer agents).

Australian Domestic Notes are debt obligations of the Issuer constituted by, and owing under, the amended and restated deed poll dated 27 February 2024 and made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Australian Note Deed Poll"). In connection with the Australian Domestic Notes, the Issuer has entered into an agency and registry agreement dated 2 May 2016, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Australian Agency and Registry Agreement") between the Issuer, Austraclear Services Limited, as registrar (the "Australian Registrar",

which expression shall include any successor registrar), Austraclear Services Limited, as calculation agent (the "Australian Calculation Agent", which expression shall include any successor calculation agent) and the other agents named therein.

Interest bearing Definitive Bearer Notes have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, in the case of Subordinated Notes which, when issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Registered Notes and Global Notes do not have Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

No certificates will be issued to Noteholders of Australian Domestic Notes unless the Issuer determines that certificates should be available or if certificates are required by any applicable law or directive.

The final terms for this Subordinated Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Pricing Supplement attached to or endorsed on this Subordinated Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions") for the purposes of this Subordinated Note. References to the "applicable Pricing Supplement" are to Part A of the Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Subordinated Note.

Subject to APRA's prior written approval, the Issuer may specify in the applicable Pricing Supplement that an issue of Subordinated Notes will be made through a borrowing office of the Issuer outside Australia. Any such Subordinated Note is herein referred to as a "Foreign Branch Note".

Any reference to "Noteholders" or "holders" in relation to any Subordinated Notes shall mean (in the case of Bearer Notes) the holders of the Subordinated Notes and (in the case of Registered Notes) the persons in whose name the Subordinated Notes are registered and shall, in relation to any Subordinated Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Subordinated Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) and "Series" means a Tranche of Subordinated Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Subordinated Notes which are (a) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) except for one or more of their date and price of issue, the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders (other than in respect of Australian Domestic Notes) are entitled to the benefit of the amended and restated deed of covenant dated 27 February 2024 and made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "**Deed of Covenant**"). The original Deed of Covenant is held by the Principal Paying Agent.

Copies of:

- (a) the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Issuer; and
- (c) the applicable Pricing Supplement is available from the Specified Office of the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent,

provided that such documents shall only be obtainable by a Noteholder, a Couponholder or a genuine prospective Noteholder, and provided further that the applicable Pricing Supplement shall only be obtainable by Noteholder, a Couponholder or a genuine prospective Noteholder of that Series, and such current or prospective Noteholder or Couponholder (as applicable) must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Principal Paying Agent as to its holding or prospective holding of such Subordinated Notes and identity.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Australian Note Deed Poll, the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement and the applicable Pricing Supplement which are applicable to them. The statements in the Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) or used in the applicable Pricing Supplement shall have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) and the applicable Pricing Supplement, the applicable Pricing Supplement will prevail.

In these Terms and Conditions:

- (a) "euro", "€" and "EUR" each means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty;
- (b) "Australian Dollar", "Australian dollar", "A\$" and "AUD" each means the lawful currency of Australia;
- (c) "Swiss Franc" and "CHF" each means the lawful currency of Switzerland;
- (d) "Sterling", "£" and "GBP" each means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;
- (e) "Japanese Yen", "\sumset" and "JPY" each means the lawful currency of Japan; and
- (f) "U.S. Dollar", "U.S. dollar", "U.S.\$" and "USD" each means the lawful currency of the United States of America.

1 Status and Subordination

1.1 Status and ranking

The Subordinated Notes and any related Coupons are direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank in a Winding-Up:

- (a) ahead of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Junior Ranking Instruments;
- (b) equally among themselves and with the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments; and
- (c) behind the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Senior Ranking Debt.

The obligations of the Issuer in respect of any Foreign Branch Notes and related Coupons are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office. If the Issuer is unable to make a payment in respect of a Foreign Branch Note or related Coupon from the relevant borrowing office, the Issuer shall make the payment from some other place of business of the Issuer.

1.2 Subordination in a Winding-Up

In a Winding-Up of the Issuer, a claim by a Noteholder, or any other person on behalf of the Noteholder, for an amount owing by the Issuer in connection with a Subordinated Note, is subordinated to claims in respect of Senior Ranking Debt, in that:

(a) all claims in respect of Senior Ranking Debt must be paid in full before the Noteholder's claim is paid; and

(b) until the claims in respect of Senior Ranking Debt have been paid in full, the Noteholder must not claim in the Winding-Up in competition with the creditors under the Senior Ranking Debt so as to diminish any distribution, dividend or payment which, but for that claim, the creditors under the Senior Ranking Debt would have been entitled to receive and must not claim in any other Winding-Up of the Issuer.

1.3 Agreements and acknowledgments of Noteholders

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that:

- (a) this Condition 1 is a debt subordination for the purposes of section 563C of the Corporations Act;
- (b) without limiting its rights other than in respect of a Subordinated Note, it must not exercise its voting rights or other rights as an unsecured creditor in the Winding-Up or administration of the Issuer in any jurisdiction to defeat the subordination in this Condition 1;
- (c) the debt subordination effected by this Condition 1 is not affected by any act or omission of the Issuer or any creditor under any Senior Ranking Debt which might otherwise affect it at law or in equity; and
- (d) it must pay or deliver to the liquidator any amount or asset received on account of its claim in the winding-up of the Issuer in any jurisdiction in connection with a Subordinated Note in excess of its entitlement under this Condition 1.

1.4 Effect of Non-Viability Trigger Event

If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, despite any other provision in these Conditions, Subordinated Notes will be Converted into Ordinary Shares as provided in Condition 7 or, if Condition 7.3 applies, Written-Off.

1.5 No consent of creditors under Senior Ranking Debt

Nothing in this Condition 1 shall be taken to require the consent of any creditor under any Senior Ranking Debt to any amendment of these Conditions.

1.6 No security interest

Nothing in this Condition 1 shall be taken to create an Encumbrance on or over any right of a Noteholder.

1.7 No guarantee, insurance or other support

A Subordinated Note is not guaranteed or insured by any government, Government Agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group or by any other person.

2 Form, denomination and currency

2.1 Bearer Notes and Registered Notes

Subordinated Notes are issued as Bearer Notes or as Registered Notes as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and, in the case of Subordinated Notes in definitive form ("**Definitive Notes**"), are serially numbered.

Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes and vice versa.

2.2 Denomination

Subordinated Notes are issued in one or more denominations ("Specified Denomination(s)"), as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, provided that:

- (a) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, Subordinated Notes shall only be offered and applications may only be invited (in each case directly or indirectly) if:
 - (i) the aggregate consideration payable to the Issuer by the subscriber is at least A\$500,000 (disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates) or the Subordinated Notes are otherwise issued in a manner which does not require disclosure in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;
 - (ii) the offer or invitation from which the issue results does not constitute an offer to a "retail client" as defined for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act; and
 - (iii) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place; and
- (b) in any other case, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof up to and including €199,000 (or in each case the equivalent in the Specified Currency). No Definitive Bearer Notes will be issued with a denomination above €199,000 (or its equivalent in the Specified Currency).

Subordinated Notes in one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Subordinated Notes in another Specified Denomination.

Each Subordinated Note must be paid for in full on application.

2.3 Currency

Subordinated Notes are issued in the currency ("**Specified Currency**") specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

3 Title and transfer

3.1 Title generally

Subject as set out in Conditions 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4:

- (a) title to Bearer Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery and title to the Registered Notes will pass upon registration of a transfer in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement (as applicable); and
- (b) the Issuer and the Agents will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note or Coupon and the registered holder of any Registered Note as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes.

3.2 Title to Global Notes in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg

For so long as the Subordinated Notes are represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Subordinated Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Subordinated Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such

Subordinated Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Subordinated Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Subordinated Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Subordinated Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

3.3 Title to Global Notes in DTC

For so long as the Depository Trust Company ("**DTC**") or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Subordinated Notes represented by such Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Euro Agency Agreement and the Subordinated Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through such participants.

3.4 Title to Australian Domestic Notes

In respect of Australian Domestic Notes, each entry in the Australian Register in respect of a Subordinated Note constitutes:

- (a) an irrevocable undertaking by the Issuer to the Noteholder to:
 - pay principal, (if applicable) interest and any other amount in accordance with these Conditions; and
 - (ii) comply with the other Conditions of the Subordinated Note; and
- (b) an entitlement to the other benefits given to Noteholder in respect of the Subordinated Note under these Conditions.

Entries in the Australian Register in relation to an Australian Domestic Note constitute conclusive evidence that the person so entered is the absolute owner of the Subordinated Note subject to correction for fraud or error.

Where two or more persons are entered in the Australian Register as the joint holder of an Australian Domestic Note then they are taken to hold the Subordinated Note as joint tenants with rights of survivorship, but the Australian Registrar is not bound to register more than four persons as joint holders of a Subordinated Note.

3.5 Transfers of interests in Global Notes

Interests in Subordinated Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be.

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate, indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be exchangeable for Subordinated Notes in definitive form or for a beneficial interest in another Registered Global Note only in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be and in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the Euro Agency Agreement. Transfers of a Registered Global Note shall be limited to transfers of such Registered Global Note, in whole but not in part, to a nominee of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (as the case may be) or to a successor of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (as the case may be) or such successor's nominee and will be subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions and the terms and conditions of the Euro Agency Agreement.

3.6 Transfers of Definitive Registered Notes

Subject as provided in Conditions 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Euro Agency Agreement and subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, a Definitive Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part (in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement). In order to effect any such transfer:

- (a) the holder or holders must:
 - (i) surrender the Definitive Registered Note for registration of the transfer of the Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, with the form of transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or holders thereof or his or their attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing; and
 - (ii) complete and deposit such other certifications as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent; and
- (b) the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due and careful enquiry, be satisfied with the documents of title and the identity of the person making the request.

Any such transfer will be subject to such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar may from time to time prescribe (the initial such regulations being set out in Schedule 7 to the Euro Agency Agreement). Subject as provided above, the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent will, within three business days (being days on which commercial banks are open for business in the city where the Specified Office of the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such longer period as may be required to comply with any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations) authenticate and deliver, or procure the authentication and delivery of, at its Specified Office to the transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by uninsured mail to such address as the transferee may request, a new Definitive Registered Note of a like aggregate nominal amount to the Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a Definitive Registered Note, a new Definitive Registered Note in respect of the balance of the Registered Note not transferred will be so authenticated and delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

3.7 Transfers of Australian Domestic Notes

- (a) Australian Domestic Notes held in the Austraclear System will be transferable only in accordance with the Austraclear Regulations.
- (b) If Australian Domestic Notes are not held in the Austraclear System, application for the transfer of Australian Domestic Notes must be made by the lodgement of a Transfer Form with the Australian Registrar. Transfer Forms are available from the Australian Registrar. Each form must be duly stamped (if applicable) and accompanied by such evidence (if any) as the Australian Registrar may require to prove the title of the transferor or the transferor's right to transfer the Australian Domestic Notes and be signed by both the transferor and the transferee.
- (c) Australian Domestic Notes may be transferred in whole but not in part. Australian Domestic Notes may only be transferred if:
 - (i) the aggregate consideration payable by the relevant Noteholder is at least A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates to the subscriber or its associates) or if the offer or invitation (including any resulting issue) otherwise does not require disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;
 - (ii) the offer or invitation is not made to a person who is a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act; and

(iii) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place.

3.8 Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 10, the Issuer, Registrar or Australian Registrar (as applicable) shall not be required to register the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

3.9 Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer as provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and except that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.

3.10 Transfers of interests in Regulation S Global Notes and Australian Domestic Notes

Prior to expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial interest in, a Regulation S Global Note or an Australian Domestic Note to a transferee in the United States or who is a U.S. person will only be made:

- (a) in respect of a Regulation S Global Note only, upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification substantially in the form set out in the Euro Agency Agreement, amended as appropriate (a "Transfer Certificate"), copies of which are available from the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, from the transferor of the Subordinated Note or beneficial interest therein to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A; or
- (b) in respect of a Regulation S Global Note or an Australian Domestic Note, otherwise pursuant to and in accordance with an available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, subject to receipt by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States,

and in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

In the case of Condition 3.10(a) above, such transferee may take delivery through a Legended Note in a global or definitive form. After expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period:

- (i) beneficial interests in Regulation S Global Notes may be held through DTC directly, by a participant in DTC, or indirectly through a participant in DTC; and
- (ii) such certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers.

3.11 Transfers of beneficial interests in Legended Notes

Transfers of Legended Notes or beneficial interests therein may be made:

(a) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Regulation S Global Note, upon receipt by the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S and that, if such transfer is being made prior to expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, the interests in the Subordinated Notes being transferred will be held immediately thereafter through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg;

- (b) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Legended Note where the transferee is a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A, without certification; or
- (c) otherwise pursuant to the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, subject to receipt by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States,

and, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Legended Notes, or upon specific request for removal of the Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Legended Notes or refuse to remove such Legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to the Issuer such satisfactory evidence as may reasonably be required by the Issuer, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that neither the Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

3.12 Closed periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered:

- (a) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal on that Registered Note;
- (b) after notice is given that such Registered Note will be redeemed pursuant to Conditions 10.2 or 10.3; and
- (c) during the period of five Registry Business Days ending on (and including) any Record Date.

3.13 Exchanges of Definitive Registered Notes generally

Holders of Definitive Registered Notes may exchange such Subordinated Notes for interests in a Registered Global Note of the same type at any time.

4 Interest generally

4.1 Fixed Rate Notes and Floating Rate Notes

Subordinated Notes may bear interest at a fixed ("Fixed Rate Notes") or floating rate ("Floating Rate Notes") or a combination of both, depending upon the Interest Basis specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

4.2 Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of Conditions 4, 5 and 6, whether by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent, shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith, manifest error or proven error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default or bad faith) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

4.3 Accrual of interest

Each Subordinated Note (or in the case of the redemption, Conversion or Write-Off of part only of a Subordinated Note, that part only of such Subordinated Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the earlier of the date for its redemption or the date it is Converted or Written-Off unless, in connection with

redemption only, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused (upon due presentation in the case of Subordinated Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes). In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

- (a) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Subordinated Note have been paid; and
- (b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Subordinated Note has been received by the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar or the Australian Registrar, as the case may be, and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

4.4 Optional interest deferral

- (a) Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may elect to defer payment of all or part only of any interest amount payable in respect of the Subordinated Notes (including any additional amounts which may be payable under Condition 11.3, any Deferred Interest and any Additional Interest) on any Optional Interest Payment Date to any future date specified by the Issuer (not being later than the Maturity Date), by giving no less than five Business Days' notice to the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent prior to the Record Date relating to such Optional Interest Payment Date. Notwithstanding the requirements to give notice pursuant to this Condition 4.4, failure to give such notice shall not prejudice the right of the Issuer to defer the payment of any interest amount pursuant to this Condition 4.4.
- (b) If payment of an interest amount is deferred pursuant to paragraph (a) above, such interest amount shall constitute "**Deferred Interest**".
- (c) Any Deferred Interest may be paid in whole or in part at any time upon the expiry of not less than 14 days' notice to such effect given by the Issuer to the Noteholders. All Deferred Interest (together with any Additional Interest) on a Subordinated Note will, subject to the Solvency Condition being satisfied, automatically become immediately due and payable in whole upon the earliest of the following dates:
 - (i) the date on which any interest payment or payment in respect of interest is made on any Junior Ranking Instruments or Equal Ranking Instruments (excluding any such payment on an Equal Ranking Instrument in a case where the terms of that instrument do not enable the Issuer to defer, pass on or eliminate the relevant payment on such Equal Ranking Instruments) or on which a dividend or other distribution on any class of the Issuer's share capital is paid or becomes payable;
 - (ii) the date specified in the relevant notice delivered pursuant to paragraph (a);
 - (iii) (without double counting) the date on which the Subordinated Notes are redeemed in accordance with these Conditions;
 - (iv) the date on which a Winding-Up Default occurs; or
 - (v) the date fixed for:
 - (A) any redemption of Subordinated Notes; or
 - (B) any purchase of Subordinated Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer,

pursuant to Condition 10.

4.5 Solvency Condition deferral

- (a) When the Issuer is not in a Winding-Up in Australia:
 - (i) the obligations of the Issuer to make any payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes will be conditional on the Issuer being Solvent at the time of the payment; and

(ii) no payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes will be made unless the Issuer will be Solvent immediately after making the payment,

(the "Solvency Condition").

- (b) Any amount not paid on account of the Solvency Condition remains as a debt owing by the Issuer to the relevant Noteholders, which is payable on the first Business Day on which the amount may be paid in compliance with the Solvency Condition.
- (c) For so long as an amount of interest (including without limitation any Deferred Interest or Additional Interest) is not paid on account of the Solvency Condition, that amount shall accrue additional interest in accordance with Condition 4.6 as if that amount were Deferred Interest.
- (d) A certificate signed by an Authorised Officer of the Issuer, its auditor or, if the Issuer is being Wound-Up, its liquidator, as to whether the Issuer is Solvent at any time is (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) conclusive evidence of the information contained in the certificate and will be binding on the Agents and Noteholders. In the absence of such a certificate, the Agents and Noteholders are entitled to assume (unless the contrary is proved) that the Issuer is Solvent at the time of, and will be Solvent immediately after, any payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes.

4.6 Additional Interest

- (a) Interest will accrue on Deferred Interest at the applicable Rate of Interest from time to time in accordance with this Condition 4.6 and such interest shall constitute "Additional Interest". Any Additional Interest shall be payable in accordance with this Condition 4 and this Condition 4.6, subject to deferral on the same basis as is provided in this Condition 4.6.
- (b) Any Additional Interest accrued up to an Interest Payment Date and not paid on that Interest Payment Date shall, for the purposes of determining any subsequent amount accruing under this Condition 4.6, constitute Deferred Interest.

4.7 Amounts not due and payable

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions:

- (a) to the extent that a payment is not required to be made by operation of any Deferral Provision, the amount is not due and payable; and
- (b) no Event of Default or other default or breach of these Conditions can occur as a result of any such non-payment.

4.8 Interest on unpaid interest

If an amount of interest (including without limitation any Deferred Interest or Additional Interest) is not paid for any reason other than the operation of a Deferral Provision, that amount shall accrue additional interest in accordance with Condition 4.6 as if that amount were Deferred Interest.

5 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

5.1 Application

This Condition 5 applies only in respect of Subordinated Notes to which Fixed Rate Note Provisions are applicable according to the applicable Pricing Supplement.

5.2 Fixed Rate Note specifications

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Calculation Amount, the Interest Commencement Date, the Maturity Date, the Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest Payment Date(s), the Fixed Coupon

Amount(s), any applicable Broken Amount(s), the Day Count Fraction and any applicable Determination Date.

5.3 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Unless previously redeemed in full, Converted in full, Written-Off in full or otherwise cancelled in full, and subject to the Deferral Provisions, each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year and up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

5.4 Specified Fixed Coupon Amounts and Broken Amounts

Subject to the Deferral Provisions, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.

5.5 Calculation of interest

Except in the case of Subordinated Notes where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (a) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes represented by such Global Note;
- (b) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Australian Domestic Notes, the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Note; and
- (c) otherwise, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note which is in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination (or where such Subordinated Note has been Converted or Written-Off in part, the Face Value of that Subordinated Note), without any further rounding.

6 Interest on Floating Rate Notes

6.1 Application

This Condition 6 applies only in respect of Subordinated Notes to which Floating Rate Note Provisions are applicable according to the applicable Pricing Supplement.

6.2 Floating Rate Note specifications

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Calculation Amount, the Interest Commencement Date, the Specified Period(s) or Specified Interest Payment Dates, the Business Day Convention, any Additional Business Centre(s), the Margin, the Day Count Fraction and any other information on the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined.

6.3 Interest Payment Dates

Unless previously redeemed in full, Converted in full, Written-Off in full or otherwise cancelled in full, and subject to the Deferral Provisions, each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

- (a) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) if no express Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period.

6.4 Business Day Convention

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- (a) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 6.3(b) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date:
 - (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of Condition 6.4(a)(ii)(B) below shall apply *mutatis mutandis*; or
 - (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event:
 - (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; and
 - (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred;
- (b) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day;
- (c) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (d) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

6.5 Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the following provisions of these Conditions relating to either Screen Rate Determination, ISDA Determination, AONIA Rate Determination or BBSW Determination shall apply accordingly, depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

6.6 Screen Rate Determination

(a) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes not referencing Compounded Daily SONIA, Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate or Average SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and unless the Reference Rate in respect of the relevant Series of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

- (i) the Relevant Rate (where the Relevant Rate on the Relevant Screen Page is a composite quotation or is customarily supplied by one entity) which appears on the Relevant Screen Page; or
- (ii) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose Relevant Rates appear on the Relevant Screen Page,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) at the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable).

If Condition 6.6(a)(ii) applies and five or more of such Relevant Rates are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest Relevant Rate, one only of such Relevant Rates) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest Relevant Rate, one only of such Relevant Rates) shall be disregarded by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case of Condition 6.6(a)(i) above, no such Relevant Rate appears or, in the case of Condition 6.6(a)(ii) above, fewer than three Relevant Rates appear, then, unless the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) has been notified of any Reference Rate Successor Rate (and any related adjustments and successor inputs) pursuant to Condition 6.12 below, if applicable, the Issuer shall request the relevant Reference Banks to provide the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with the rate or rates that each such Reference Bank is quoting to leading banks in respect of the Relevant Rate at approximately the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with such rate or rates, the Rate of Interest for the Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such rates plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable).

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with such rate or rates as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates (being the nearest equivalent to the Relevant Rate) that at least two out of five leading banks selected by the Issuer in the Relevant Financial Centre are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to leading banks carrying on business in the Relevant Financial Centre; except that if fewer than two of such banks are quoting to leading banks in the Relevant Financial Centre, the Rate of Interest shall be the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest Determination Date.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies an alternate method for the determination of the Screen Rate Determination, then that alternate method will apply.

(b) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SONIA with respect to such Interest Accrual Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.6(b), "Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the daily Sterling overnight reference rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-pLBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"d₀" is the number of London Banking Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to d_o , each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London:

"n_i", for any London Banking Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such London Banking Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following London Banking Day;

"Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (B) (in the case of any other Interest Accrual Period) the date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due;

"p" is the number of London Banking Days by which an Observation Period lags the corresponding Interest Accrual Period, being the number of London Banking Days specified as the "SONIA Lag Period (p)" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five London Banking Days);

"SONIA reference rate", in respect of any London Banking Day ("LBD_x"), is a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such LBD_x as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant

Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such LBD_x ; and

"SONIA_{i-pLBD}" means the SONIA reference rate for the London Banking Day (being a London Banking Day falling in the relevant Observation Period) falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i".

If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Observation Period, the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) determines that the applicable SONIA reference rate has not been made available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then, unless the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) has been notified of any Reference Rate Successor Rate (and any related adjustments and successor inputs) pursuant to Condition 6.12 below, if applicable, the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) shall determine the SONIA reference rate in respect of such London Banking Day as being:

- (i) (a) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier, close of business) on such London Banking Day; plus (b) the mean of the spread of the SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on which a SONIA reference rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and the lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or
- (ii) if the Bank Rate under paragraph (i)(a) above is not available at the relevant time, either (a) the SONIA reference rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA reference rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors); or (b) if this is more recent, the latest rate determined under paragraph (i) above.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be:

- (iii) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date; or
- (iv) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Subordinated Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period had the Subordinated Notes been on issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

As used herein, an "Interest Accrual Period" means (i) each Interest Period and (ii) any other period (if any) in respect of which interest is to be calculated, being the period from (and including) the first day of such period to (but excluding) the day on which the relevant payment of interest falls due (which, if the relevant Subordinated Notes becomes due and payable in accordance with Condition 13, shall be the date on which such Subordinated Notes become due and payable).

(c) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SOFR", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SOFR with

respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.6(c), "Compounded Daily SOFR" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right] \times \frac{360}{d}$$

where:

"d" means, in relation to any Interest Period, the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"d₀" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to d_0 , each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"n_i" means for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i", the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (I) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (II) if applicable, the relevant payment date if the Subordinated Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date;

"p" means:

(i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the

"Lookback Period (p)" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days); or

(ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the "Observation Shift Period" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days);

"Reset Period" means the period comprising the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement under the heading "Reset Period";

"SOFR" means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, a rate determined in accordance with the following provisions:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day that appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at or about 3.00 p.m. (New York City time) on the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; and
- (ii) if the rate specified in paragraph (i) above does not so appear, unless both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, then the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) shall use the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day on which the Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFRi" means, in relation to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i":

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, SOFR in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, SOFR in respect of such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"SOFR Interest Determination Date" means, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day that precedes the Interest Payment Date by the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the Reset Period; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any calendar day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a calendar day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) (or any successor thereto) recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire calendar day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to determination of the Compounded Daily SOFR have the meanings set forth under Condition 6.6(f) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded Daily SOFR, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Subordinated Notes.

(d) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded SOFR Index Rate

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded SOFR Index Rate", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded SOFR Index Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

"Compounded SOFR Index Rate" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in U.S. dollars as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day in relation to which "SOFR Index_{Start}" is determined to (but excluding) the day in relation to which "SOFR Index_{End}" is determined (being the number of calendar days in the applicable reference period);

"Relevant Number" is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"SOFR Index_{End}" means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (I) the Interest Payment Date for the relevant Interest Period or (II) if applicable, the relevant payment date if the Subordinated Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date;

"SOFR Index_{Start}" means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first date of the relevant Interest Period;

"SOFR Index" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, prior to a Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the SOFR Index published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as such value appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; provided that
- (ii) if the SOFR Index_{Start} or the SOFR Index_{End} does not appear on the SOFR Administrator's Website on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date and a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to the Compounded SOFR Index Rate, the Compounded SOFR Index Rate for the applicable Interest Period for which such SOFR Index is not available shall be the "Compounded Daily SOFR" determined in accordance with Condition 6.6(c) above as if the Calculation Method specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement were "Compounded Daily SOFR" (and not "SOFR Index Determination"), and for these purposes: (i) the "Observation Method" shall be deemed to be "Observation Shift", and (ii) the "Observation Shift Period" shall be deemed to be equal to the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days, as if those alternative elections had been made in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" has the meaning set out in Condition 6.6(c) above.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to determination of the Compounded SOFR Index Rate have the meanings set forth under Condition 6.6(f) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded SOFR Index Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Subordinated Notes.

(e) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Average SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Average SOFR", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Average SOFR Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

"Average SOFR Rate" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the arithmetic mean of SOFR in effect during such Interest Period as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_o} SOFR_i \times n_i}{d}$$

where $\mathbf{d}, \mathbf{d}_0, \mathbf{I}, \mathbf{n}_i, \mathbf{SOFR}$ and \mathbf{SOFR}_i have the meanings set out in Condition 6.6(c) above.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Average SOFR Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Subordinated Notes.

(f) SOFR Benchmark Replacement

Notwithstanding any other provisions in these Conditions if any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to a Benchmark, then the following provisions of this Condition 6.6(f) shall apply subject to the prior written approval of APRA.

Holders of Subordinated Notes should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Conforming Change or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

(i) Benchmark Replacement

If the Issuer or its Designee determines prior to the Reference Time in respect of any determination of the SOFR on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and all determinations on all subsequent dates (subject to any subsequent application of this 6.6(f) with respect to such Benchmark Replacement).

In the event that the Issuer or its Designee is unable to, or does not, determine a Benchmark Replacement, or a Benchmark Replacement is not implemented in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be:

- (1) that determined as at the last preceding SOFR Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period); or
- (2) if there is no such preceding SOFR Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Subordinated Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period had the Subordinated Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

(ii) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes

In connection with the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its Designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Principal Paying Agent of the certificate referred to in Condition 6.6(f)(iv) below and subject as provided below, the Agents shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders or Couponholders and without liability to the Noteholders or any other person, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes with effect from the date specified in the notice referred to in Condition 6.6(f)(iv) below.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 6.6(f)(ii), the Agents shall not be obliged to concur with the Issuer in respect of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes which, in the sole opinion of the relevant Agent, would (i) expose the relevant Agent to any additional liability or (ii) increase the obligations or duties, or decrease the rights or protections, afforded to the relevant Agent in the Agency Agreement and/or these Conditions.

(iii) Decisions and Determinations

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its Designee pursuant to this Condition 6.6(f), including (without limitation) any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, may be made in the Issuer's or its Designee's sole discretion (as applicable), and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions or other documentation relating to the Subordinated Notes, shall become effective without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, Couponholders or any other party.

In connection with any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), if and for so long as the Subordinated Notes are admitted to trading and listed on the official list of a stock exchange, the Issuer shall comply with the rules of that stock exchange.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 6.6(f), no Benchmark Replacement will be adopted, nor will any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes be made, if and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, the same could reasonably be expected to prejudice the treatment of any relevant Series of Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital.

(iv) Notice and Certification

Any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes determined under this Condition 6.6(f) shall be notified promptly (in any case, not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant SOFR

Interest Determination Date) by the Issuer to the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Principal Paying Agent or other such party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 17, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes.

No later than notifying the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Principal Paying Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent a certificate (on which the Principal Paying Agent shall be entitled to rely without further enquiry or liability) signed by an Authorised Officer of the Issuer confirming (i) that a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, (ii) the Benchmark Replacement, and (iii) the specific terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 6.6(f).

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date, any Benchmark Replacement is notified to the Principal Paying Agent or any other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being responsible for determining the Rate of Interest pursuant to this Condition 6.6(f)(iv), and the Principal Paying Agent or such other responsible party (as applicable) is in any way uncertain as to the application of such Benchmark Replacement in the calculation or determination of any Rate of Interest, it shall promptly notify the Issuer thereof and the Issuer or its Designee shall direct the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) in writing as to which course of action to adopt in the application of such Benchmark Replacement in the determination of such Rate of Interest. If the Principal Paying Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being responsible for determining the Rate of Interest is not promptly provided with such direction, it shall notify the Issuer thereof, and the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) shall be under no obligation to make such calculation or determination and shall not incur any liability for not doing so. For the avoidance of doubt, for the period that the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) remains uncertain of the application of the Benchmark Replacement in the calculation or determination of any Rate of Interest, the original Benchmark and any other applicable fallback provisions provided for in this Condition 6.6(f)(iv) and/or the applicable Final Terms, as the case may be, will continue to apply.

(v) Definitions

In this Condition 6.6(f):

"Benchmark" means, initially, SOFR or SOFR Index (provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR or SOFR Index (or the published daily SOFR or SOFR Index used in the calculation thereof) or any Benchmark which has replaced it in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), then the term "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement);

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its Designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (A) the sum of: (1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the Corresponding Tenor and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (B) the sum of: (1) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (C) the sum of: (1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer or its Designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes at such time and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its Designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (A) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (B) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, then the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (C) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its Designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of Interest Period, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer or its Designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its Designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its Designee determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its Designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (A) in the case of paragraph (A) or (B) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the later of (1) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (2) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (B) in the case of paragraph (C) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (A) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component);
- (B) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with

jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or

(C) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;

"Corresponding Tenor" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement under Condition 6.6(f), a tenor (including overnight) having approximately the same length (disregarding Business Day adjustment) as the applicable tenor for the then-current Benchmark;

"Designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time:

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (A) if the Benchmark is SOFR or SOFR Index, 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) or such other time as is reasonably agreed between the Issuer or its Designee and the Principal Paying Agent, and (B) if the Benchmark is not SOFR or SOFR Index, the time determined by the Issuer or its Designee in accordance with the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto;

"SOFR" with respect to any day means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such day by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"**SOFR Administrator**" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of the benchmark (or a successor administrator of SOFR);

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, at https://www.newyorkfed.org or any successor source;

"SOFR Index" with respect to any day means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such day by the SOFR Index Administrator on the SOFR Index Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Index Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of SOFR Index);

"SOFR Index Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

6.7 ISDA Determination

Where "ISDA Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period shall be determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.7, "**ISDA Rate**" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (a) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (b) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (c) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Period unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.7, "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

6.8 BBSW Determination or AONIA Rate Determination

- (a) Where "BBSW Determination" or "AONIA Rate Determination" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined for each Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Floating Rate Notes for each such Interest Period is the sum of the Margin and either (x) the BBSW Rate or (y) the AONIA Rate as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (b) Each Noteholder shall be deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to be bound by, and consents to, the determination of, substitution for and any adjustments made to the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate, as applicable, in each case as described in this Condition 6.8 and in Condition 6.13 below (in all cases without the need for any Noteholder consent). Any determination, decision or election (including a decision to take or refrain from taking any action or as to the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event or circumstance), and any substitution for and adjustments made to, the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate, as applicable, and in each case made in accordance with this Condition 6.8 and Condition 6.13, will, in the absence of manifest or proven error, be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Noteholder and each Agent and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions or other documentation relating to the Subordinated Notes, shall become effective without the consent of any person.
- (c) If the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) is unwilling or unable to determine a necessary rate, adjustment, quantum, formula, methodology or other variable in order to calculate the applicable Rate of Interest, such rate, adjustment, quantum, formula, methodology or other variable will be determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) or, an alternate financial institution (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) appointed by the Issuer (in its sole discretion) to so determine.
- (d) All rates determined pursuant to this Condition 6.8 and Condition 6.13 shall be expressed as a percentage rate per annum and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place (i.e., to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point) with 0.00005 being rounded upwards.

6.9 Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) or the relevant BBSW Rate (where BBSW Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.9, "**Designated Maturity**" means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the Specified Duration and means, in relation to BBSW Determination, the Specified Maturity.

6.10 Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts on Floating Rate Notes

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period.

The Principal Paying Agent, the Australian Calculation Agent, or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (as applicable) will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (a) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes represented by such Global Note;
- (b) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are Australian Domestic Notes, the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Note; or
- (c) otherwise, the Calculation Amount,

and in each case multiplying such amount by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note which is in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Subordinated Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination (or where such Subordinated Note has been Converted or Written-Off in part, the Face Value of that Subordinated Note), without any further rounding.

6.11 Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts on Floating Rate Notes

(a) Except where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation (by no later than the first day of each Interest Period) and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 17 as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. Each Rate of

Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

(b) Where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period (as applicable) and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 17 as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than, in the case of Compounded Daily SONIA, the second London Banking Day (as defined in Condition 6.6(b)) and, in the case of Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate and Average SOFR, the second U.S. Government Securities Business Day (as defined in Condition 6.6(c)) thereafter. Each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period (as applicable). Any such amendment or alternative arrangements will be promptly notified to each stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

6.12 Benchmark Discontinuation

Notwithstanding the provisions in Conditions 6.6 and 6.8 above, except when the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate", "Average SOFR", "AONIA" or "BBSW Rate", if the Issuer determines that a Reference Rate used in a Relevant Rate has been or will be affected by a Reference Rate Disruption Event (as applicable), then the following provisions shall apply.

- (a) Subject to APRA's prior written approval, the Issuer:
 - (i) shall determine the Reference Rate Successor Rate;
 - (ii) may, if it determines it to be appropriate, also determine an adjustment factor or an adjustment methodology to make such Reference Rate Successor Rate comparable to the relevant Reference Rate; and
 - (iii) may, if it determines it to be appropriate, also determine successors to one or more of the Business Day Convention, Business Day, Day Count Fraction, Relevant Financial Centre, Relevant Time, Relevant Screen Page, Interest Determination Date or other relevant input for calculating such Reference Rate Successor Rate,

and such successor rate together, if applicable, with such other adjustments and successor inputs shall, from the date determined by the Issuer to be appropriate, be used to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 6.12).

Noteholders should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any Reference Rate Successor Rate it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

(b) If, in respect of any Interest Determination Date, the Issuer is unable to determine a Reference Rate Successor Rate in accordance with paragraph (a) above, the relevant Reference Rate in respect of:

- (i) that Interest Determination Date shall be the Reference Rate determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date; and
- (ii) any subsequent Interest Determination Date shall be determined in accordance with paragraph (a) above and, if necessary, this paragraph (b).
- (c) In making its determinations in accordance with this Condition 6.12, the Issuer:
 - (i) shall act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner; and
 - (ii) may appoint an independent financial institution or other independent adviser at its own expense or consult with such other sources of market practice as it considers appropriate,

but otherwise may make such determinations in its discretion.

- (d) The Issuer shall promptly notify the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as applicable), the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest and, in accordance with Condition 17, the Noteholders, of the Reference Rate Successor Rate and other adjustments and successor inputs determined in accordance with this Condition 6.12.
- (e) For the purposes of this Condition 6.12:

"Reference Rate Disruption Event" means that the relevant Reference Rate:

- (i) is discontinued or otherwise ceases to be calculated, administered or published; or
- (ii) ceases to be in customary market usage in the relevant market as a reference rate appropriate to relevant floating rate debt securities of a tenor and interest period comparable to that of the Notes; and

"Reference Rate Successor Rate" means the rate identified by the Issuer to be the successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate subject to the Reference Rate Disruption Event or the rate that is otherwise in customary market usage in the relevant market for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for relevant floating rate debt securities of a tenor and interest period most comparable to that of the Notes.

6.13 Benchmark Rate fallback

If in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred; or
- (b) a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred,

then (subject, in the case of a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger only, to APRA's prior written approval) the Benchmark Rate for an Interest Period, whilst such Temporary Disruption Trigger is continuing or after a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred, means (in the following order of application and precedence):

- (i) where BBSW Rate is the Applicable Benchmark Rate, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, the Administrator Recommended Rate;
 - (B) then the Supervisor Recommended Rate; and
 - (C) lastly, the Final Fallback Rate;

- (ii) where AONIA is the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a determination of the AONIA Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (i) above, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to AONIA, the rate for any day for which AONIA is required will be the last provided or published level of AONIA;
- (iii) where a determination of the RBA Recommended Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (i) or (ii) above, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to the RBA Recommended Rate, the rate for any day for which the RBA Recommended Rate is required will be the last rate provided or published by the Administrator of the RBA Recommended Rate (or if no such rate has been so provided or published, the last provided or published level of AONIA);
- (iv) where BBSW Rate is the Applicable Benchmark Rate, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, the rate for any day for which the BBSW Rate is required on or after the Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the first rate available in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, if at the time of the BBSW Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date, no AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the AONIA Rate;
 - (B) then, if at the time of the BBSW Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date, an AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, an RBA Recommended Rate has been created but no RBA Recommended Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the RBA Recommended Fallback Rate; and
 - (C) lastly, if neither paragraph (A) nor paragraph (B) above apply, the Final Fallback Rate:
- (v) where AONIA is the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a determination of the AONIA Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (iv)(A) above, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to AONIA, the rate for any day for which AONIA is required on or after the AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the first rate available in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, if at the time of the AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date, an RBA Recommended Rate has been created but no RBA Recommended Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the RBA Recommended Rate; and
 - (B) lastly, if paragraph (A) above does not apply, the Final Fallback Rate; and
- (vi) where a determination of the RBA Recommended Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (iv) or (v) above, respectively, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to the RBA Recommended Rate, the rate for any day for which the RBA Recommended Rate is required on or after that Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the Final Fallback Rate.

When calculating an amount of interest in circumstances where a Fallback Rate other than the Final Fallback Rate applies, that interest will be calculated as if references to the BBSW Rate or AONIA Rate (as applicable) were references to that Fallback Rate. When calculating interest in circumstances where the Final Fallback Rate applies, the amount of interest will be calculated on the same basis as if the Applicable Benchmark Rate in effect immediately prior to the application of that Final Fallback Rate remained in effect but with necessary adjustments to substitute all references to that Applicable Benchmark Rate with corresponding references to the Final Fallback Rate.

Noteholders should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any Fallback Rate it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

6.14 Benchmark Rate fallback definitions

In Conditions 6.8 and 6.13:

- "Adjustment Spread" means the adjustment spread as at the Adjustment Spread Fixing Date (which may be a positive or negative value or zero and determined pursuant to a formula or methodology) that is:
- determined as the median of the historical differences between the BBSW Rate and AONIA over a five calendar year period prior to the Adjustment Spread Fixing Date using practices based on those used for the determination of the Bloomberg Adjustment Spread as at 1 December 2022, provided that for so long as the Bloomberg Adjustment Spread is published and determined based on the five year median of the historical differences between the BBSW Rate and AONIA, that adjustment spread will be deemed to be acceptable for the purposes of this paragraph (a); or
- (b) if no such median can be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), set using the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) (after consultation with the Issuer where practicable) to be appropriate.
- "Adjustment Spread Fixing Date" means the first date on which a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger occurs with respect to the BBSW Rate.

"Administrator" means:

- (a) in respect of the BBSW Rate, ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited (ABN 38 616 075 417);
- (b) in respect of AONIA, the Reserve Bank of Australia; and
- in respect of any other Applicable Benchmark Rate, the administrator for that rate or benchmark or, if there is no administrator, the provider of that rate or benchmark,

and, in each case, any successor administrator or, as applicable, any successor administrator or provider.

- "Administrator Recommended Rate" means the rate formally recommended for use as the temporary replacement for the BBSW Rate by the Administrator of the BBSW Rate.
- "AONIA" means the Australian dollar interbank overnight cash rate (known as AONIA).
- "AONIA Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling five Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date falling five Business Days prior to the end of such Interest Period (or the date falling five Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Subordinated Notes become due and payable).
- "AONIA Rate" means, for an Interest Period and in respect of an Interest Determination Date, the rate determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) to be Compounded Daily AONIA for that Interest Period and Interest Determination Date plus the Adjustment Spread (if any).
- "Applicable Benchmark Rate" means the Benchmark Rate specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and, if a Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, then the rate determined in accordance with Condition 6.13.
- "BBSW Rate" means, for an Interest Period, the rate for prime bank eligible securities having a tenor closest to the Interest Period which is designated as the "AVG MID" on the 'Refinitiv Screen ASX29 Page' or the 'Bloomberg Screen BBSW Page' (or any designation which replaces that designation on the applicable page, or any replacement page) at the Publication Time on the first Business Day of that Interest Period.

"Benchmark Rate" means, in respect of a Subordinated Note, for an Interest Period, either the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

"Bloomberg Adjustment Spread" means the term adjusted AONIA spread relating to the BBSW Rate provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited (or a successor provider as approved and/or appointed by ISDA from time to time as the provider of term adjusted AONIA and the spread) ("BISL") on the Fallback Rate (AONIA) Screen (or by other means), or provided to, and published by, authorised distributors where Fallback Rate (AONIA) Screen means the Bloomberg Screen corresponding to the Bloomberg ticker for the fallback for the BBSW Rate accessed via the Bloomberg Screen <FBAK> <GO> Page (or, if applicable, accessed via the Bloomberg Screen <HP> <GO>) or any other published source designated by BISL.

"Compounded Daily AONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the AONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Period (with AONIA as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) on the fifth Business Day prior to the last day of each Interest Period, as follows:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{AONIA_{i-5 SBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

 $AONIA_{i-5SBD}$ means the per annum rate expressed as a decimal which is the level of AONIA provided by the Administrator and published as of the Publication Time for the Business Day falling five Business Days prior to such Business Day "i";

d is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period;

 d_0 is the number of Business Days in the relevant Interest Period;

i is a series of whole numbers from 1 to d_0 , each representing the relevant Business Day in chronological order from (and including) the first Business Day in the relevant Interest Period to (and including) the last Business Day in such Interest Period;

 n_i for any Business Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following Business Day; and

SBD means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business in Sydney.

If, for any reason, Compounded Daily AONIA needs to be determined for a period other than an Interest Period, Compounded Daily AONIA is to be determined as if that period were an Interest Period starting on (and including) the first day of that period and ending on (but excluding) the last day of that period.

"Designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer;

"Fallback Rate" means, where a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger for an Applicable Benchmark Rate has occurred, the rate that applies to replace that Applicable Benchmark Rate in accordance with Condition 6.13.

"Final Fallback Rate" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, the rate:

(a) determined by the Issuer or its Designee (as applicable) as a commercially reasonable alternative for the Applicable Benchmark Rate taking into account all available information that, in good faith, it considers relevant, provided that any rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) implemented by central counterparties and / or futures exchanges with representative trade

volumes in derivatives or futures referencing the Applicable Benchmark Rate will be deemed to be acceptable for the purposes of this paragraph (a), together with (without double counting) such adjustment spread (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that is customarily applied to the relevant successor rate or alternative rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for Benchmark Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time (together with such other adjustments to the Business Day Convention, interest determination dates and related provisions and definitions, in each case that are consistent with accepted market practice for the use of such successor rate or alternative rate for Benchmark Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time), or, if no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged, the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread determined by the Issuer or its Designee (as applicable) to be appropriate; provided that

(b) if and for so long as no such successor rate or alternative rate can be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), the Final Fallback Rate will be the last provided or published level of that Applicable Benchmark Rate.

"Non-Representative" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, that the Supervisor of that Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate:

- (a) has determined that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is intended to measure and that representativeness will not be restored; and
- (b) is aware that such determination will engage certain contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such Supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts.

"Permanent Discontinuation Trigger" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate announcing that it has ceased or that it will cease to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator or provider, as applicable, that will continue to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate and, in the case of the BBSW Rate, a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate has confirmed that cessation;
- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate, the Reserve Bank of Australia (or any successor central bank for Australian dollars), an insolvency official or resolution authority with jurisdiction over the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate which states that the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate has ceased or will cease to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator or provider that will continue to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate and, in the case of the BBSW Rate and a public statement or publication of information other than by the Supervisor, a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate has confirmed that cessation;
- (c) a public statement by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, as a consequence of which the Applicable Benchmark Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Subordinated Notes, or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences to the Issuer or a Noteholder;

- (d) as a consequence of a change in law or directive arising after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of Subordinated Notes of a Series, it has become unlawful for the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable), the Issuer or any other party responsible for calculations of interest under the Conditions to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Applicable Benchmark Rate;
- (e) a public statement or publication of information by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, stating that the Applicable Benchmark Rate is Non-Representative; or
- (f) the Applicable Benchmark Rate has otherwise ceased to exist or be administered on a permanent or indefinite basis.

"Permanent Fallback Effective Date" means, in respect of a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger for an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) in the case of paragraphs (a) and (b) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the first date on which the Applicable Benchmark Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided and is no longer published or provided;
- (b) in the case of paragraphs (c) and (d) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the date from which use of the Applicable Benchmark Rate is prohibited or becomes subject to restrictions or adverse consequences or the calculation becomes unlawful (as applicable);
- (c) in the case of paragraph (e) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the first date on which the Applicable Benchmark Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided but is Non-Representative by reference to the most recent statement or publication contemplated in that paragraph and even if such Applicable Benchmark Rates continues to be published or provided on such date; or
- (d) in the case of paragraph (f) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the date that event occurs.

"Publication Time" means:

- (a) in respect of the BBSW Rate, 12.00noon (Sydney time) or any amended publication time for the final intraday refix of such rate specified by the Administrator for the BBSW Rate in its benchmark methodology; and
- (b) in respect of AONIA, 4.00pm (Sydney time) or any amended publication time for the final intraday refix of such rate specified by the Administrator for AONIA in its benchmark methodology.

"RBA Recommended Fallback Rate" has the same meaning given to AONIA Rate but with necessary adjustments to substitute all references to AONIA with corresponding references to the RBA Recommended Rate.

"RBA Recommended Rate" means, in respect of any relevant day (including any day "i"), the rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) recommended as the replacement for AONIA by the Reserve Bank of Australia (which rate may be produced by the Reserve Bank of Australia or another administrator) and as provided by the Administrator of that rate or, if that rate is not provided by the Administrator thereof, published by an authorised distributor in respect of that day.

"Supervisor" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, the supervisor or competent authority that is responsible for supervising that Applicable Benchmark Rate or the Administrator of that Applicable Benchmark Rate, or any committee officially endorsed or convened by any such supervisor or competent authority that is responsible for supervising that Applicable Benchmark Rate or the Administrator of that Applicable Benchmark Rate.

"Supervisor Recommended Rate" means the rate formally recommended for use as the temporary replacement for the BBSW Rate by the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate.

"Temporary Disruption Trigger" means, in respect of any Applicable Benchmark Rate which is required for any determination:

- (a) the Applicable Benchmark Rate has not been published by the applicable Administrator or an authorised distributor and is not otherwise provided by the Administrator, in respect of, on, for or by the time and date on which that Applicable Benchmark Rate is required; or
- (b) the Applicable Benchmark Rate is published or provided but the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) determines that there is an obvious or proven error in that rate.

7 Conversion or Write-Off on Non-Viability Trigger Event

7.1 Non-Viability Trigger Event

- (a) A "Non-Viability Trigger Event" occurs when APRA provides a written determination to the Issuer that:
 - (i) the conversion or write-off of Relevant Capital Instruments is necessary because, without the conversion or write-off, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable; or
 - (ii) without a public sector injection of capital into, or equivalent support with respect to, the Issuer, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable.

A written determination by APRA under this Condition 7.1(a) is a "Non-Viability Determination".

- (b) If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, the Issuer must convert or write-off:
 - (i) all Relevant Capital Instruments; or
 - (ii) where Condition 7.1(a)(i) applies, an amount of the Relevant Capital Instruments that is less than all Relevant Capital Instruments if APRA is satisfied that conversion or write-off of that amount will be sufficient to ensure that the Issuer does not become non-viable.

A Non-Viability Determination takes effect, and the Issuer must perform the obligations set out in these Conditions in respect of the determination, immediately on the day it is received by the Issuer, whether or not such day is a Business Day.

7.2 Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice

- (a) If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs:
 - (i) on the date that event occurs (the "Non-Viability Conversion Date"), the Issuer must immediately determine in accordance with the Non-Viability Determination:
 - (A) the aggregate Face Value of Subordinated Notes that will Convert or be Written-Off (such amount being the "**Required Amount**") and the aggregate nominal amount of other Relevant Capital Instruments which will convert or be written-off; and
 - (B) the identity of the Noteholders at the time that the Conversion or Write-Off is to take effect on that date (and in making that determination the Issuer may make any decisions with respect to the identity of the Noteholders at that time

as may be necessary or desirable to ensure Conversion or Write-Off occurs in an orderly manner, including disregarding any transfers of Subordinated Notes that have not been settled or registered at that time);

- (ii) subject only to Condition 7.3 and despite any other provision in these Conditions, on the Non-Viability Conversion Date the Required Amount of Subordinated Notes will Convert or be Written-Off, and the relevant aggregate nominal amount of other Relevant Capital Instruments will convert or be written-off, in each case immediately and irrevocably; and
- (iii) the Issuer must give notice of the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event (a "Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice") to Noteholders and the Agents as soon as practicable after the relevant Conversion or Write-Off occurs which states the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the Required Amount of Subordinated Notes Converted or Written-Off and the relevant amount of other Relevant Capital Instruments converted or written-off, the Nominal Amount of the relevant Noteholder's Subordinated Notes Converted or Written-Off together with relevant particulars of any related calculations or determinations as they relate to that Noteholder made by the Issuer.
- (b) If, in accordance with Condition 7.1(b)(ii), the Issuer is required to convert or write-off only an amount of Relevant Capital Instruments that is less than all Relevant Capital Instruments, the Issuer will determine the Required Amount of Subordinated Notes which will Convert or be Written-Off and other Relevant Capital Instruments which will convert or be written-off on the following basis:
 - first, the Issuer must convert or procure the conversion or write-off of all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments before Conversion or Write-Off of the Subordinated Notes;
 - (ii) second, if conversion or write-off of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments is less than the amount sufficient to satisfy APRA that the Issuer would not become non-viable (and provided that APRA has not withdrawn the Non-Viability Determination as a result of the conversion or write-off of the Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments), the Issuer must Convert or Write-Off Subordinated Notes and convert or write-off or procure the conversion or write-off of other Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments in an aggregate Face Value and nominal amount which, when added to the aggregate nominal amount of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments converted or written-off, will satisfy APRA that the Issuer would not become non-viable; and
 - (iii) in Converting or Writing-Off the Subordinated Notes or converting or writing-off or procuring the conversion or writing-off of other Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments, the Issuer will endeavour to treat Noteholders and holders of other Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments (and Noteholders as between themselves) on a pro rata basis or such other basis as may, in the Issuer's opinion, be fair and reasonable, but may elect to Convert or Write-Off some but not all Subordinated Notes in whole, may elect to Convert or Write-Off some or all Subordinated Notes in part rather than in whole and may otherwise discriminate to take account of logistical considerations and the need to effect the Conversion or Write-Off of Subordinated Notes and the conversion or write-off of other Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments immediately and, for the purposes of this Condition 7.2(b)(iii), where the Specified Currency of the principal amount of Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments is not the same for all Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments, the Issuer may treat them as if converted into a single currency of the Issuer's choice at such rate of exchange determined in accordance with the terms of such Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if those terms do not specify a basis for determining such rates of exchange, at such rate of exchange as the Issuer in good faith considers reasonable.
- (c) None of the following shall prevent, impede or delay the Conversion or Write-Off of Subordinated Notes as required by this Condition 7.2:

- (i) any failure of, or delay in, the conversion or write-off of any other Relevant Capital Instruments;
- (ii) any failure or delay in giving a Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice;
- (iii) any failure or delay in quotation of the Ordinary Shares to be issued on Conversion;
- (iv) any decision as to the identity of Noteholders whose Notes are to be Converted in accordance with Condition 7.2(a)(i)(B); or
- (v) any requirement to select or adjust the amount of Subordinated Notes to be Converted in accordance with Condition 7.2(b)(iii).
- (d) From (and including) the Non-Viability Conversion Date, subject to Condition 7.3 and Condition 19.2(c), the Issuer shall treat the Noteholder in respect of the Subordinated Notes as the holder of the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares and will take all such steps, including updating any register relating to the Ordinary Shares, required to record the Conversion.

7.3 Specification of Conversion or Write-Off

- (a) The applicable Pricing Supplement shall specify whether Conversion or Write-Off is applicable to the Subordinated Notes upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event.
- (b) Where:
 - (i) the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies Conversion as applicable and, for any reason (including, without limitation, an Inability Event), a Conversion in respect of a Subordinated Note required by these Conditions has not been effected within five Scheduled Trading Days after the Non-Viability Conversion Date; or
 - (ii) the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies Write-Off as applicable,

the rights of the relevant Noteholder (including without limitation in respect of a redemption (whether or not a notice of that redemption has been given) and to the payment of interest (including without limitation any Deferred Interest and any Additional Interest) and the Redemption Amount) in relation to the Nominal Amount of that Subordinated Note required to be Converted or Written-Off (as applicable) are immediately and irrevocably written-off and terminated ("Written-Off") with effect on and from the Non-Viability Conversion Date.

7.4 Partial Conversion or Write-Off

To the extent that a Subordinated Note has been Converted or Written-Off in part only:

- (a) the Face Value (including without limitation for the purposes of calculating interest), the Redemption Amount, the amount of any interest (including any Deferred Interest and Additional Interest) applicable to that Subordinated Note and any related amount shall be reduced in the same proportion as the Face Value Converted or Written-Off in respect of that Subordinated Note bore to the Face Value of that Subordinated Note before such Conversion or Write-Off and these Conditions (including without limitation this Condition 7) shall continue to apply in respect of the Subordinated Note as so reduced;
- (b) where the Non-Viability Conversion Date is not an Interest Payment Date, the amount of interest or Additional Interest payable in respect of that Subordinated Note on each Interest Payment Date falling after that Conversion Date will be reduced and calculated on the Face Value of that Subordinated Note as so reduced on the date of the Conversion or Write-Off;
- (c) other than in respect of an Australian Domestic Note, the Noteholder must immediately:
 - (i) in the case of Bearer Notes, present and surrender each such Subordinated Note together with, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and all

unexchanged Talons attached to it, to the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent; and

(ii) in the case of Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes), present and surrender such Subordinated Note to the Specified Office of the Registrar,

and, at the option of the Issuer, that Subordinated Note (and, as applicable, those Coupons and Talons) shall either:

- (iii) be endorsed to reflect the Conversion or Write-Off; or
- (iv) be surrendered, in which case the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be) shall authenticate and deliver (or procure the delivery of) a new Subordinated Note (and, as applicable, Coupons and Talons) to the Noteholder representing the Subordinated Notes (and, as applicable, the Coupons and Talons) held by the Noteholder following the Conversion or Write-Off, and in any such case, delivery of the new Subordinated Note will be to the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be) or by uninsured mail (at the risk of the Noteholder) to such address as the Noteholder may request; and
- (d) in respect of a Registered Note (including an Australian Domestic Note) only, the Issuer shall notify the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as the case may be) of the nominal amount of such Subordinated Note that has been Converted or Written-Off and instruct the Registrar or Australian Registrar (as the case may be) to reflect such Conversion or Write-Off in the Register or Australian Register (as applicable) so that the nominal amount of such Subordinated Note is reduced by such amount as has been Converted or Written-Off.

Any failure or delay in performing the obligations in this Condition 7.4 shall not prevent, impede or delay the Conversion or Write-Off of the Subordinated Notes required by Condition 7.2.

To the extent that some but not all Subordinated Notes are Converted or Written-Off in full, any Subordinated Notes not Converted or Written-Off in full shall remain outstanding and these Conditions shall remain in full force and effect as regards such Subordinated Notes.

7.5 Surrender and cancellation of Subordinated Notes

If a Subordinated Note is Converted or Written-Off in full:

- (a) other than in respect of an Australian Domestic Note, the Noteholder must immediately present and surrender that Subordinated Note (together, in the case of a Subordinated Note that is a Definitive Bearer Note, with such unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons as are attached to it) at the Specified Office of:
 - (i) in the case of Bearer Notes, the Principal Paying Agent;
 - (ii) in the case of a Registered Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note), to the Registrar; and
- (b) the Principal Paying Agent, Registrar or Australian Registrar (as the case may be) shall cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the Subordinated Note,

but any failure or delay in so presenting or surrendering any Subordinated Note (in the case of Subordinated Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes) or its cancellation (in any case) shall not prevent, impede or delay the Conversion or Write-Off of the Subordinated Notes required by Condition 7.2.

7.6 No conversion at the option of Noteholders

A Noteholder cannot require the Issuer to convert all or some of the Subordinated Notes held by that Noteholder into Ordinary Shares.

7.7 Direction to Agents

The Issuer authorises and directs the Agents to take any and all action contemplated by these Conditions, the Deed of Covenant, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement (as applicable) which is necessary or convenient to give effect to any Conversion and/or any Write-Off upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event and each Noteholder irrevocably consents to any and all such action.

8 Conversion mechanics

8.1 Conversion

On a Non-Viability Conversion Date, where the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies Conversion as applicable, subject to Conditions 7.3 and 8.12, the following will apply:

(a) The Issuer will allot and issue the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares in respect of each Subordinated Note required to be Converted to the relevant Noteholder or as contemplated in Conditions 8.11 and 8.12. The "Conversion Number" for each Subordinated Note is calculated according to the following formula, and subject always to the Conversion Number being no greater than the Maximum Conversion Number:

Conversion Number = $\frac{\text{Nominal Amount}}{99\% \times \text{VWAP}}$

where:

"Nominal Amount" means, in respect of a Subordinated Note, all or such lesser amount of the Face Value of that Subordinated Note determined by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 7.2(b) and the other provisions of Condition 7 to be the proportionate allocation of the Required Amount to the Face Value of that Subordinated Note; and

"Maximum Conversion Number" means a number calculated according to the following formula:

 $Maximum\ Conversion\ Number = \frac{Nominal\ Amount}{0.20 \times Issue\ Date\ VWAP}$

- (b) Each Noteholder's rights (including without limitation) in respect of a redemption (whether or not notice of that redemption has been given) and to payment of interest (including without limitation any Deferred Interest and any Additional Interest) in relation to the Nominal Amount of each of its Subordinated Notes required to be Converted will be immediately and irrevocably terminated for an amount equal to the Nominal Amount applicable to the relevant Subordinated Note and the Issuer will apply that Nominal Amount by way of payment for the subscription for the Ordinary Shares required to be allotted and issued under Condition 8.1(a). Each Noteholder is taken to have irrevocably directed that any amount payable under this Condition 8.1 is to be applied as provided for in this Condition 8.1 and no Noteholder has any right to payment in any other way.
- (c) If the total number of Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued in respect of a Noteholder's aggregate holding of Subordinated Notes includes a fraction of an Ordinary Share, that fraction of an Ordinary Share will be disregarded and the relevant Noteholder shall have no rights whatsoever in respect of that fraction.

8.2 Adjustments to VWAP generally

For the purposes of calculating VWAP under Condition 8.1:

(a) where, on some or all of the Trading Days in the relevant VWAP Period, Ordinary Shares have been quoted on ASX as cum dividend or cum any other distribution or entitlement and Subordinated Notes will be Converted into Ordinary Shares after that date and those Ordinary Shares will no longer carry that dividend or any other distribution or entitlement, the VWAP on

the Trading Days on which those Ordinary Shares have been quoted cum dividend or cum any other distribution or entitlement will be reduced by an amount ("Cum Value") equal to:

- (i) in the case of a dividend or other distribution, the amount of that dividend or other distribution including, if the dividend or other distribution is franked, the amount that would be included in the assessable income of a recipient of the dividend or other distribution who is both a resident of Australia and a natural person under the Tax Act:
- (ii) in the case of any other entitlement that is not a dividend or other distribution under Condition 8.2(a)(i) which is traded on ASX on any of those Trading Days, the volume weighted average price of all such entitlements sold on ASX during the VWAP Period on the Trading Days on which those entitlements were traded; or
- (iii) in the case of any other entitlement which is not traded on ASX during the VWAP Period, the value of the entitlement as reasonably determined by the Issuer; and
- (b) where, on some or all of the Trading Days in the VWAP Period, Ordinary Shares have been quoted as ex dividend or ex any other distribution or entitlement, and Subordinated Notes will be Converted into Ordinary Shares which would be entitled to receive the relevant dividend, distribution or entitlement, the VWAP on the Trading Days on which those Ordinary Shares have been quoted ex dividend or ex any other distribution or entitlement will be increased by the Cum Value.

Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.2 will be effective and binding on Noteholders and the Agents under these Conditions and will be construed accordingly.

8.3 Adjustments to VWAP for Reorganisation

(a) Where during the relevant VWAP Period there is a change to the number of Ordinary Shares on issue as a result of a Reorganisation, in calculating the VWAP for the VWAP Period, the VWAP for each Trading Day in the relevant VWAP Period which falls before the date on which trading in Ordinary Shares is conducted on a post Reorganisation basis shall be adjusted by multiplying the applicable VWAP by the following formula:

A B

where:

"A" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares immediately before the Reorganisation; and

"B" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares immediately after the Reorganisation.

(b) Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.3 will be effective and binding on Noteholders and the Agents under these Conditions and these Conditions will be construed accordingly.

8.4 Adjustments to Issue Date VWAP generally

For the purposes of determining the Issue Date VWAP, adjustments will be made in accordance with Conditions 8.2 and 8.3 during the VWAP Period for the Issue Date VWAP. On and from the Issue Date, adjustments to the Issue Date VWAP:

- (a) may be made by the Issuer in accordance with Conditions 8.5 to 8.7 (inclusive); and
- (b) if so made, will correspondingly cause an adjustment to the Maximum Conversion Number.

8.5 Adjustments to Issue Date VWAP for bonus issues

(a) Subject to Condition 8.5(b), if at any time after the Issue Date, the Issuer makes a pro rata bonus issue of Ordinary Shares to holders of Ordinary Shares generally, the Issue Date VWAP will be adjusted immediately in accordance with the following formula:

$$V = Vo x$$

$$RD + RN$$

where:

"V" means the Issue Date VWAP applying immediately after the application of this formula;

"Vo" means the Issue Date VWAP applying immediately prior to the application of this formula;

"RD" means the number of Ordinary Shares on issue immediately prior to the allotment of new Ordinary Shares pursuant to the bonus issue; and

"RN" means the number of Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the bonus issue.

- (b) For the avoidance of doubt, Condition 8.5(a) does not apply to Ordinary Shares issued as part of a bonus share plan, employee or executive share plan, executive option plan, share top up plan, share purchase plan or a dividend reinvestment plan.
- (c) For the purpose of Condition 8.5(a), an issue will be regarded as a bonus issue notwithstanding that the Issuer does not make offers to some or all holders of Ordinary Shares with registered addresses outside Australia, provided that in so doing the Issuer is not in contravention of the ASX Listing Rules.
- (d) No adjustments to the Issue Date VWAP will be made under this Condition 8.5 for any offer of Ordinary Shares not covered by Condition 8.5(a), including a rights issue or other essentially pro rata issue.
- (e) The fact that no adjustment is made for an issue of Ordinary Shares except as covered by Condition 8.5(a) shall not in any way restrict the Issuer from issuing Ordinary Shares at any time on such terms as it sees fit nor be taken to constitute a modification or variation of rights or privileges of Noteholders or otherwise requiring any consent or concurrence of the Noteholders.
- (f) Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.5 will be effective and binding on Noteholders under these Conditions and these Conditions will be construed accordingly.

8.6 Adjustments to Issue Date VWAP for Reorganisation

(a) If at any time after the Issue Date there is a change to the number of Ordinary Shares on issue because of a Reorganisation, the Issue Date VWAP will be adjusted by multiplying the Issue Date VWAP applicable on the Trading Day immediately before the date of any such Reorganisation by the following formula:

A B

where:

"A" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares on issue immediately before the Reorganisation; and

"B" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares on issue immediately after the Reorganisation.

- (b) Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.6 will be effective and binding on the Noteholders under these Conditions and these Conditions will be construed accordingly.
- (c) Each Noteholder acknowledges that the Issuer may consolidate, divide or reclassify securities so that there is a lesser or greater number of Ordinary Shares at any time in its absolute discretion without any such action constituting a modification or variation of rights or privileges of Noteholders or otherwise requiring any consent or concurrence of the Noteholders.

8.7 No adjustment to Issue Date VWAP in certain circumstances

Despite the provisions of Conditions 8.5 and 8.6, no adjustment will be made to the Issue Date VWAP where any such adjustment (rounded if applicable) would be less than one per cent. of the Issue Date VWAP then in effect.

8.8 Announcement of adjustments to Issue Date VWAP

The Issuer will notify the Noteholders of any adjustment to the Issue Date VWAP under Condition 8 within 10 Business Days of the Issuer determining the adjustment.

8.9 Status of Ordinary Shares

Ordinary Shares issued upon Conversion will rank equally with all other fully paid Ordinary Shares on issue at the time of such Conversion.

8.10 Listing Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion

The Issuer must use reasonable endeavours to:

- (a) list the Ordinary Shares issued upon Conversion on ASX; and
- (b) procure that the Ordinary Shares issued upon Conversion are able to be freely traded after their issue date on ASX in compliance with all requirements of the Corporations Act, all other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules without requirement for further disclosure or other action by any Noteholder or persons to whom its shares are issued (except in case of applicable law other than Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act, to the extent that a restriction on trading is attributable to the particular circumstances of the Noteholder and is not otherwise within the control of the Issuer).

The Noteholder agrees not to trade Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion (except as permitted by the Corporations Act, other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules) until the Issuer has taken such steps as are required by the Corporations Act, other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules for the shares to be freely tradeable without such further disclosure or other action and agrees to allow the Issuer to impose a holding lock or refuse to register a transfer in respect of Ordinary Shares until such time. The Issuer will promptly notify Noteholders when this restriction on trading ceases to apply.

8.11 Provision of information

Where a Nominal Amount of Subordinated Notes held by a Noteholder is required to be Converted under Condition 7, a Noteholder wishing to receive Ordinary Shares must, no later than the Non-Viability Conversion Date, have provided to the Issuer (which notice shall be irrevocable):

(a) its name and address (or the name and address of any person in whose name it directs the Ordinary Shares to be issued) for entry into any register of title and receipt of any certificate or holding statement in respect of any Ordinary Shares;

- (b) the Noteholder's security account details in CHESS or such other account to which the Ordinary Shares may be credited; and
- such other information as is reasonably requested by and satisfactory to the Issuer for the purposes of enabling it to issue the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares to the Noteholder,

provided that any notice specifying a person other than the Noteholder as the proposed recipient of any Ordinary Shares must be accompanied by the written agreement of that person to become a member of the Issuer.

8.12 Issue to nominee

- (a) Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, if any Subordinated Notes are required to be Converted under Condition 7 and:
 - (i) a Noteholder has notified the Issuer that it does not wish to receive Ordinary Shares as a result of the Conversion (whether entirely or to the extent specified in the notice), which notice may be given at any time prior to the Non-Viability Conversion Date;
 - (ii) the Subordinated Notes are held by a person which the Issuer believes in good faith may not be a resident of Australia (a "Foreign Noteholder");
 - (iii) if for any reason (whether or not due to the fault of a Noteholder) the Issuer has not received to its satisfaction any or all information required in accordance with Condition 8.11 so as to impede or delay the Issuer issuing the Ordinary Shares to a Noteholder or to Noteholders generally on the Non-Viability Conversion Date; or
 - (iv) a FATCA Withholding is required to be made in respect of the Ordinary Shares issued on the Conversion,

then, on the Non-Viability Conversion Date:

- (v) where subparagraph (i), (ii) or (iv) applies, the Issuer is obliged to issue the Ordinary Shares to that Noteholder only to the extent (if at all) that:
 - (A) where subparagraph (i) applies, the Noteholder wishes to receive them;
 - (B) where subparagraph (ii) applies, the Issuer is satisfied that the laws of both Australia and the Foreign Noteholder's country of residence permit the issue of the Ordinary Shares to the Foreign Noteholder (but as to which the Issuer is not bound to enquire), either unconditionally or after compliance with conditions which the Issuer, in its absolute discretion, regards as acceptable and not unduly onerous; or
 - (C) where subparagraph (iv) applies, the issue to that Noteholder is net of the FATCA Withholding,

and to the extent that the Issuer is not obliged to issue Ordinary Shares to that Noteholder, the Issuer will issue the balance of the Ordinary Shares to the nominee in accordance with subparagraph (vi) of this Condition 8.12; and

- (vi) otherwise, subject to applicable law, the Issuer will issue the balance of Ordinary Shares in respect of that Noteholder to a nominee appointed by the Issuer (which nominee may not be the Issuer or a Related Entity of the Issuer) and, subject to applicable law:
 - (A) where subparagraph (iii) applies, the nominee will hold Ordinary Shares in an aggregate amount equal to the aggregate number to be issued in respect of that Noteholder and will transfer Ordinary Shares to that Noteholder if, within 30 days of the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the Noteholder provides the

nominee with the information required to be provided by that Noteholder under Condition 8.11 (as if a reference in subparagraph (c) of Condition 8.11 to the Issuer is a reference to the nominee and a reference to the issue of Ordinary Shares is a reference to the transfer of Ordinary Shares);

- (B) where subparagraph (iv) applies, the nominee shall deal with Ordinary Shares the subject of a FATCA Withholding and any proceeds of their disposal in accordance with FATCA; and
- (C) the nominee will as soon as reasonably possible (or, where subparagraph (iii) applies, as soon as reasonably possible after the expiration of the period of 30 days), sell the Ordinary Shares it receives and pay a cash amount equal to the net proceeds received, after deducting any applicable brokerage, stamp duty and other taxes and charges, to that Noteholder.
- (b) The issue of Ordinary Shares to a nominee pursuant to paragraph (a)(vi) will satisfy all obligations of the Issuer to that Noteholder in connection with the Conversion and on and from the issue of Ordinary Shares to such nominee such Subordinated Notes will be deemed to be Converted and the rights of the Noteholder the subject of this Condition shall be limited to its rights in respect of the Ordinary Shares or their net cash proceeds as provided in this Condition.
- (c) Nothing in this Condition 8.12 shall affect the Conversion of the Subordinated Notes of a Noteholder which is not a person to which any of subparagraphs (a)(i) to (iii) (inclusive) applies.

8.13 No duty on sale

For the purpose of Condition 8.12, the Issuer does not owe any obligations or duties to the Noteholders in relation to the price at which Ordinary Shares are sold and has no liability for any loss suffered by a Noteholder as a result of the sale of Ordinary Shares by any such nominee.

8.14 Power of attorney

- (a) Each Noteholder appoints each of the Issuer, its officers and any External Administrator of the Issuer (each an "Attorney") severally to be the attorney of the Noteholder with power in the name and on behalf of the Noteholder to sign all documents and transfers and do any other thing as may in the Attorney's opinion be necessary or desirable to be done in order for the Noteholder to observe or perform the Noteholder's obligations under these Conditions including, but not limited to, effecting any Conversion or Write-Off of Subordinated Notes, making any entry in the Register or the register of any Ordinary Shares or exercising any voting power in relation to any consent or approval required for Conversion or Write-Off.
- (b) The power of attorney given in this Condition 8.14 is given for valuable consideration and to secure the performance by the Noteholder of the Noteholder's obligations under these Conditions and is irrevocable.

8.15 Noteholder acknowledgments

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that:

- (a) where it is required to accept Ordinary Shares under these Conditions, it consents to becoming a member of the Issuer and agrees to be bound by the Constitution, in each case in respect of the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion;
- (b) its Subordinated Notes will be Converted or, where applicable, Written-Off, when required by these Conditions notwithstanding:
 - (i) any change in the financial position of the Issuer since the Issue Date;
 - (ii) any disruption to the market or potential market for the Ordinary Shares or to capital markets generally;

- (iii) any breach by the Issuer of any obligation in connection with the Subordinated Notes; or
- (iv) any other circumstance which might affect a Conversion of the Subordinated Notes;
- (c) Conversion and, where applicable, Write-Off, of the Subordinated Notes in accordance with Condition 7 and this Condition 8 are fundamental terms of the Subordinated Notes and are not subject to any other conditions other than those expressly provided in Condition 7 and this Condition 8;
- (d) Conversion must occur immediately on the Non-Viability Conversion Date and Conversion or Write-Off may result in disruption or failures in trading or dealings in the Subordinated Notes or other loss to Noteholders:
- (e) it will not have any rights to vote in respect of any Conversion or Write-Off;
- (f) without prejudice to the Issuer's obligations under Condition 8.10, the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion may not be quoted at the time of issue, or at all;
- (g) the determinations made by the Issuer under Condition 7.2 are final and binding; and
- (h) it has no remedies on account of a failure by the Issuer to issue Ordinary Shares in accordance with Condition 8 other than (and subject always to Condition 7.3) to seek specific performance of the obligation to issue the Ordinary Shares to it or, where Condition 8.12 applies, to the nominee.

9 Payments

9.1 Method of payment

Subject to the other provisions of this Condition 9:

- (a) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the Principal Financial Centre; and
- (b) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee.

9.2 Payments subject to fiscal and other laws

Payments will be subject in all cases to:

- (a) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto (whether by operation of law or agreement of the Issuer); and
- (b) any FATCA Withholding,

but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 11.

9.3 Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Subordinated Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, "Payment Day" means any day which (subject to Condition 12) is:

(a) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:

- (i) in the case of Subordinated Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation; and
- (ii) each Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (b) either:
 - (i) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the Principal Financial Centre; or
 - (ii) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day which is a T2 Business Day; and
- (c) in the case of any payment in respect of a Registered Global Note denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and in respect of which an accountholder of DTC (with an interest in such Registered Global Note) has elected to receive any part of such payment in U.S. Dollars, a day on which commercial banks are not authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed in New York City.

Nothing in this Condition 9.3 affects the operation of Condition 8.1(b) on the Non-Viability Conversion Date.

9.4 Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal in respect of the Subordinated Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (a) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 11.3;
- (b) the Redemption Amount of the Subordinated Notes.

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Subordinated Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 11.3.

9.5 Payments in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in Condition 9.1 above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Definitive Bearer Notes, and payments of interest in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)).

Fixed Rate Notes which are Definitive Bearer Notes (other than Long Maturity Notes) should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 12) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in no event thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note which is a Definitive Bearer Note becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note or Long Maturity Note which is a Definitive Bearer Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.

If the due date for redemption of any Definitive Bearer Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Subordinated Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant Definitive Bearer Note.

9.6 Payments in respect of Global Notes in bearer form

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of any Global Note in bearer form will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to Definitive Bearer Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)). A record of each payment made against presentation or surrender of any Global Note in bearer form, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented and such record shall be prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been made. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of "Payment Day" set out in Condition 9.3.

9.7 Payments in respect of Registered Notes

(a) Payments of principal

Payments of principal in respect of each Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note (whether or not in global form) will be made against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the Registered Note at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any of the Paying Agents. Such payments will be made by transfer to the Designated Account of the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day (being for this purpose also a Registry Business Day) immediately prior to the relevant due date.

(b) Payments of interest in respect of Registered Notes

Payments of interest in respect of each Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note (whether or not in global form) will be made in the Specified Currency on the relevant due date to the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not such fifteenth day is a Registry Business Day) before the relevant due date ("Record Date").

Upon application of the holder to the Specified Office of the Registrar not less than three Registry Business Days before the due date for any payment of interest in respect of a Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note, the payment may be made by transfer on the due date in the manner provided in Condition 9.7(a). Any such application for transfer shall be deemed to relate to all future payments of interest (other than interest due on redemption) in respect of the Registered Notes which become payable to the holder who has made the initial application until such time as the Registrar is notified in writing to the contrary by such holder.

Payment of the interest due in respect of each Registered Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note) on redemption will be made in the same manner as payment of the nominal amount of such Registered Note.

Notwithstanding the above, in respect of Registered Global Notes, all payments will be made to the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment.

(c) Certain payments in respect of Global Notes to DTC

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Condition 9.7, all amounts payable to DTC or its nominee as registered holder of a Global Note in registered form in respect of Subordinated Notes denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars shall be paid by transfer by the Registrar to an account in the relevant Specified Currency of the Exchange Agent on behalf of DTC or its nominee for payment in such Specified Currency for conversion into U.S. Dollars in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement (except, in the case of any Subordinated Note, to the extent specified by the relevant beneficial holder in accordance with DTC procedures, as more fully described in the Euro Agency Agreement).

(d) No responsibility for records

None of the Issuer or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

9.8 General provisions applicable to payments on Global Notes

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Subordinated Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Subordinated Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Condition 9.8, if any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of Bearer Notes is payable in U.S. Dollars, such U.S. Dollar payments of principal and/or interest in respect of such Subordinated Notes will be made at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent in the United States if:

- (a) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with Specified Offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. Dollars at such Specified Offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Bearer Notes in the manner provided above when due;
- (b) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such Specified Offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. Dollars; and
- such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

9.9 Payments in respect of Australian Domestic Notes

Monies payable by the Issuer in respect of an Australian Domestic Note shall be paid:

- (a) in the case of a payment of interest, to the holder appearing in the Australian Register at the close of business on the Record Date; and
- (b) in the case of a payment of principal, to the holder appearing in the Australian Register at 10.00 a.m. (Sydney time) on the date which is fixed for payment.

If Australian Domestic Notes are:

- (i) held in the Austraclear System, payments in respect of each Subordinated Note will be made by crediting on the relevant payment date the amount then due to the account of the Noteholder in accordance with the Austraclear Regulations; or
- (ii) not held in the Austraclear System, payments in respect of each Subordinated Note will be made by crediting on the relevant payment date the amount then due to an account previously notified to the Issuer and the Australian Registrar by the holder in respect of that Subordinated Note. If the holder has not notified the Issuer and the Australian Registrar of such an account by the time specified in Condition 9.9(a) or 9.9(b) (as applicable) payments in respect of the relevant Subordinated Note will be made by cheque dispatched by post on the relevant payment date at the risk of the Noteholder. Cheques despatched to the nominated address of a holder will in such cases be deemed to have been received by the holder on the relevant payment date and no further amount will be payable by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Subordinated Note as a result of payment not being received by the holder on the due date.

9.10 No set-off or offsetting rights

A Noteholder:

- (a) may not exercise any right of set-off against the Issuer in respect of any claim by the Issuer against that Noteholder; and
- (b) will have no offsetting rights or claims on the Issuer if the Issuer does not pay an amount when scheduled under these Conditions.

The Issuer may not exercise any right of set-off against a Noteholder in respect of any claim by that Noteholder against the Issuer.

10 Redemption and purchase

10.1 Redemption at maturity

Unless previously Converted, Written-Off, redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Subordinated Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Redemption Amount in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

10.2 Early redemption by the Issuer for tax or regulatory reasons

Subject to Condition 10.7, and unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Subordinated Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer (in whole or in part) at any time (if this Subordinated Note is a Fixed Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if this Subordinated Note is a Floating Rate Note) by giving not less than 30 and not more than 60 days' notice to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Registrar (as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 17, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs.

Each Subordinated Note redeemed pursuant to this Condition 10.2 will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

10.3 Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

Subject to Condition 10.7, if Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may, having given not less than 20 nor more than 40 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem the Subordinated Notes (in whole or in part) then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (which date shall not, for the avoidance of doubt, fall prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date) at the Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the notes to be redeemed (the "Redeemed Notes") will be selected:

- (a) in the case of Redeemed Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) represented by Definitive Notes, individually by lot;
- (b) in the case of Redeemed Notes that are Australian Domestic Notes, in a fair and reasonable manner as determined by the Issuer and in compliance with any law, directive or requirement of any clearing system in which the Subordinated Notes are held;
- (c) in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Global Notes, in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) and/or DTC,

in each case not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such selection date, the "Selection Date").

In the case of:

- (i) Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 17 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption; and
- (ii) Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, no exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this Condition 10.3 and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 at least five days prior to the Selection Date.

Any notice given under this Condition 10.3 is irrevocable and obliges the Issuer to redeem the Subordinated Notes at the time and in the manner specified in the notice, unless a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs after the giving of notice under this Condition 10.3, in which case such notice will be taken to be revoked immediately and automatically and Condition 7 will apply.

10.4 No redemption at the option of the Noteholders

Without prejudice to Condition 13, a Noteholder cannot require the Issuer to redeem all or some of the Subordinated Notes held by that Noteholder before their Maturity Date.

10.5 Purchases

Subject to Condition 10.7, the Issuer or any Related Entity of the Issuer may at any time purchase Subordinated Notes or any other bond, note or other debt instrument issued by the Issuer from time to time (whether ranking senior to, equally with or subordinate to the Subordinated Notes) (provided that, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise and, if so purchased, such Subordinated Notes shall be cancelled.

10.6 Cancellation

All Subordinated Notes which are redeemed or purchased for cancellation by the Issuer shall be cancelled forthwith:

- in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Subordinated Note together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) in the case of Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes), by surrendering such Registered Note to the Registrar; and

(c) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, without any further action being required.

Any Subordinated Notes so cancelled may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Subordinated Notes shall be discharged.

10.7 Early redemption and purchase restrictions

The Issuer may only elect to redeem any Subordinated Notes under this Condition 10, and the Issuer or any of its Related Entities may only elect to purchase any Subordinated Notes under Condition 10, with the prior written approval of APRA and it will not be permitted to redeem any Subordinated Notes under this Condition 10 unless either:

- (a) before or concurrently with the redemption or purchase, the Issuer replaces the Subordinated Notes the subject of the redemption or purchase with a capital instrument which is of the same or better quality (for the purposes of APRA's prudential standards as they are applied to the Level 2 Insurance Group at the relevant time) and the Issuer obtains confirmation from APRA that APRA is satisfied that the replacement of the relevant Subordinated Notes is done under conditions that are sustainable for the income capacity of the Issuer; or
- (b) the Issuer obtains confirmation from APRA that APRA is satisfied, having regard to the capital position of the Level 2 Insurance Group, that the Issuer does not have to replace the Subordinated Notes the subject of the redemption or purchase.

Noteholders should not expect that APRA's approval will be given for any early redemption or purchase of Subordinated Notes under these Conditions.

11 Taxation

11.1 Withholding Tax

All payments of principal, interest and other amounts by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Subordinated Notes or the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any present or future Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of a Tax Authority in a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.

11.2 Deductions

If the Issuer is required by law to make a withholding or deduction, the Issuer shall pay the full amount required to be withheld or deducted by law to the relevant authority within the time allowed for such payment without incurring any penalty under the applicable law.

Subject to Condition 11.3, if any withholding or deduction has been made and the amount of the withholding or deduction has been paid by the Issuer to the relevant authority and the balance of the amount payable paid to the relevant Noteholder, the full amount payable to such Noteholder shall be deemed to have been duly paid and satisfied by the Issuer.

11.3 Additional Amounts

If a law of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction requires that any payments in respect of the Subordinated Notes or Coupons be subject to deduction or withholding with respect to any present or future Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Issuer will, to the fullest extent then permitted by law, subject to the Deferral Provisions, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Subordinated Notes or Coupons after such deduction or withholding shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Subordinated Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Subordinated Note or Coupon:

- (a) in respect of which the Noteholder, or a third party recipient on behalf of a Noteholder, is liable for those Taxes by reason of its having some connection with Australia, other than the mere holding of the Subordinated Notes or the receipt of the relevant payment provided that a Noteholder shall not be regarded as having a connection with Australia for the reason that the holder is a resident of Australia within the meaning of the Tax Act where, and to the extent that, such Taxes are payable by reason of section 128B(2A) of the Tax Act;
- (b) in respect of which the holder, or a third party recipient on behalf of a holder, is an Offshore Associate of the Issuer (acting other than in the capacity of a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme within the meaning of the Corporations Act);
- (c) in respect of which the Noteholder could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such Taxes by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or similar case for exemption to any tax authority;
- (d) to, or to a third party on behalf of, an Australian resident Noteholder or a non-resident Noteholder who is engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment of the non-resident in Australia, if that person has not supplied an appropriate tax file number, Australian Business Number or other exemption details;
- (e) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Noteholder where such withholding or deduction is required to be made pursuant to a notice or direction issued by the Commissioner of Taxation of Australia under section 255 of the Tax Act or section 260-5 of Schedule 1 to the Tax Act or any similar law:
- (f) which is imposed or withheld as a consequence of a determination having been made under Part IVA of the Tax Act (or any modification thereof or provision substituted therefor) by the Commissioner of Taxation of the Commonwealth of Australia that withholding tax is payable in respect of a payment in circumstances where the payment would not have been subject to withholding tax in the absence of the scheme which was the subject of that determination;
- (g) which is an estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property or similar tax, assessment or other charge;
- (h) in respect of Subordinated Notes that are not Australian Domestic Notes, presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day to have been a Payment Day; or
- (i) in the case of Subordinated Notes issued by the Issuer acting through a borrowing office outside Australia, such further exceptions as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

11.4 FATCA

The Issuer and any Paying Agent may withhold or make deductions from payments or from the issue of Ordinary Shares to a Noteholder where it is required to do so under or in connection with FATCA, or where it has reasonable grounds to suspect that the Noteholder or a beneficial owner of Subordinated Notes may be subject to FATCA, and may deal with such amount deducted or withheld, and any such Ordinary Shares deducted or withheld in accordance with FATCA and, in the case of Ordinary Shares, Condition 8.12. If any withholding or deduction arises under or in connection with FATCA, the Issuer will not be required to pay any further amounts or issue any further Ordinary Shares to the Noteholder on account of such withholding or deduction or otherwise reimburse or compensate, or make any payment to, a Noteholder or a beneficial owner of Subordinated Notes for or in respect of any such withholding or deduction.

12 Prescription

- (a) The Subordinated Notes (whether in bearer or registered form) and any Coupons will become void unless presented for payment (or in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, a claim for payment is made) within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest and other amounts) after the Relevant Date in respect of such payment.
- (b) There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 12 or Condition 9.5 or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 9.5.

13 Events of Default and consequences

13.1 Events of Default and enforcement

If any one or more of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall occur with respect to any Subordinated Note:

- (a) either:
 - (i) the Issuer does not pay the Redemption Amount in respect of the Subordinated Notes when such payment becomes due and payable and such failure continues for a period of seven days after the applicable due date; or
 - (ii) the Issuer does not pay any interest (including any Deferred Interest or any Additional Interest) or other amount when such payment becomes due and payable and such failure continues for a period of 30 days after the applicable due date,

(a "Payment Default"); or

- (b) either:
 - (i) the making of an order by a court (including a court with appellate jurisdiction) with competent jurisdiction in Australia which is not appealed or stayed within 21 days of the entry of that order; or
 - (ii) an effective resolution is passed (or taken by applicable law to have been passed) by the shareholders of the Issuer,

for the Winding-Up of the Issuer in each case other than in connection with a scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction not involving the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Issuer (a "Winding-Up Default"),

then, for so long as such event is continuing, any one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than the Required Percentage in nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding may:

- (c) in the case of a Payment Default, bring proceedings:
 - (i) to recover any amount then due and payable but unpaid on the Subordinated Notes (subject to the Issuer being able to make the payment and remain Solvent);
 - (ii) to obtain an order for specific performance of any other obligation in respect of the Subordinated Notes; or
 - (iii) for the Winding-Up of the Issuer; and
- (d) in the case of a Winding-Up Default, in addition to taking any of the actions specified in Condition 13.1(c), declare by notice to the Issuer that the Redemption Amount of each

Subordinated Note is payable together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption, on a date specified in the notice and, subject to Condition 1, may prove in the Winding-Up of the Issuer in Australia for that amount.

To the extent that a payment is not required to be made by operation of any Deferral Provision, the amount is not due and payable and a Payment Default cannot occur.

13.2 No other remedies against the Issuer

None of the Noteholders may exercise any other remedies (including any right to sue for damages which has the same economic effect as acceleration) as a consequence of an Event of Default or other default except as specified in this Condition 13 or as otherwise expressly provided in these Conditions (but this does not, subject to these Conditions, affect the rights of the Noteholders to seek an injunction or order for specific performance in respect of an obligation).

14 Replacement of Subordinated Notes, Coupons and Talons

Should any Subordinated Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note) or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes or Coupons) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.

Mutilated or defaced Subordinated Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

15 Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Subordinated Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 12.

16 Agents

16.1 Appointment and replacement of Agents

The names of the initial Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed in the definition of "Specified Office" in Condition 22.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent and/or appoint additional or other Agents and/or approve any change in the Specified Office through which any Agent acts, subject to Condition 16.2. Notice of any change in any of the Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly be given to the relevant Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

16.2 Required Agents

The Issuer shall:

- (a) at all times maintain a Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) if and for so long as there are any Registered Notes outstanding, at all times maintain a Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes) or an Australian Registrar (in the case of Australian Domestic Notes);
- (c) if and for so long as any Subordinated Notes are:

- admitted to the Official List of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited;
 and/or
- (ii) admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system,

and the rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system so require, at all times maintain a Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent (in the case of Registered Notes) having its Specified Office in Singapore and/or in such other place as may be required by such other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system;

- if and for so long as any of the Registered Global Notes payable in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars are held through DTC or its nominee, at all times maintain an Exchange Agent with a Specified Office in New York City; and
- (e) forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a Specified Office in New York City in the circumstances described in Condition 9.8.

16.3 Role of the Euro Agents

In acting under the Euro Agency Agreement, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation to, or relationship of agency or trust with, any Noteholders or Couponholders.

The Euro Agency Agreement contains provisions permitting any entity into which any Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated or to which it transfers all or substantially all of its assets to become the successor agent.

16.4 Role of the Australian Agents

Each person in whose account an Australian Domestic Note is recorded is deemed to acknowledge in favour of the Australian Registrar and each relevant person that:

- (a) the Australian Registrar's decision to act as the Australian Registrar in respect of the Subordinated Note does not constitute a recommendation or endorsement by the Australian Registrar or the relevant person in relation to the Subordinated Note but only indicates that such Subordinated Note is considered by the Registrar to be compatible with the performance by it of its obligations as Australian Registrar under its agreement with the Issuer to act as Australian Registrar in respect of the Subordinated Note;
- (b) in acting under the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement in connection with the Subordinated Notes, the Australian Registrar acts solely as agent of the Issuer and does not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Noteholders save insofar as any funds received by the Australian Registrar are required in accordance with the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement, pending their application in accordance with the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement, to be held by it in a segregated account on trust for the persons entitled thereto; and
- (c) the Noteholder does not rely on any fact, matter or circumstance contrary to this Condition 16.4.

17 Notices

17.1 Bearer Notes

Subject to Condition 17.3, all notices regarding Bearer Notes will be deemed to be validly given if published in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*). Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

17.2 Registered Notes

Subject to Condition 17.3, all notices regarding Registered Notes will be deemed to be validly given if:

- (a) sent by prepaid post (airmail if posted to an address overseas) to the registered holders (or the first named of joint holders) at their respective addresses recorded in the Register or the Australian Register (as applicable) and will be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after mailing; or
- (b) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes only, published in *The Australian Financial Review* or any other English language daily newspaper of general circulation in Australia and will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

17.3 Global Notes

So long as any Global Notes representing the Subordinated Notes are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, there shall be substituted for publication as described in Condition 17.1 or 17.2 (as applicable), the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC for communication by them to the holders of the Subordinated Notes. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Subordinated Notes on the second day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC.

17.4 Listed Notes

If and for so long as any Subordinated Notes are:

- (a) admitted to the Official List of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited; and/or
- admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system,

and the rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system prescribe a specific manner for the giving of notices, all notices relating to such Subordinated Notes shall in addition to any requirements for those notices in these Conditions, also be given in a manner which complies with those rules.

17.5 Notices given by Noteholders

Subject to Condition 17.6, notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by:

- (a) in the case of Subordinated Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes, lodging the same, together (in the case of any Subordinated Note in definitive form) with the relative Subordinated Note or Subordinated Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes); or
- (b) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, prepaid post (airmail if posted to an address overseas) or delivery to the Specified Office of the Issuer.

All such notices will be deemed to be validly given in respect of paragraph (a), on the date of lodgement in accordance with that paragraph, or, in the case of paragraph (b), on the seventh day after mailing, or, if delivered to the Specified Office of the Issuer, the date of delivery (unless delivered after 5.00 p.m. in the place of receipt or on a day that is not a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the place of receipt, in which case the notice will be taken to be given at 9.00 a.m. on the next day that is a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the place of receipt).

17.6 Notices given by Noteholders in respect of Global Notes

Whilst any of the Subordinated Notes are represented by a Global Note, any notices to be given by any Noteholder may be given by any holder of a Subordinated Note to the Principal Paying Agent or the

Registrar through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, in such manner as the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

17.7 Couponholders

Couponholders are taken for all purposes to have received any notice given to the Noteholders.

18 Meetings of Noteholders, modification and waiver

18.1 Meetings and quorum

The Euro Agency Agreement and the Australian Note Deed Poll each contain provisions (which have effect as if incorporated in these Conditions) for convening meetings of the Noteholders of any Series to consider any matter affecting their interest, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of any modification of, or waiver with respect to, these Conditions, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) insofar as the same may apply to such Subordinated Notes.

Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Subordinated Notes or the Coupons (including modifying the date of maturity of the Subordinated Notes or any date for payment of interest thereon, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Subordinated Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Subordinated Notes or the Coupons), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds in nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing not less than one-third in nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes for the time being outstanding.

18.2 Extraordinary Resolutions

The Euro Agency Agreement and the Australian Note Deed Poll each provide that:

- (a) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) by a majority consisting of not less than 75 per cent. of the votes cast on such resolution;
- (b) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Subordinated Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding; or
- (c) a consent given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Subordinated Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding,

shall, in each case, be effective as an extraordinary resolution of the Noteholders (an "Extraordinary Resolution").

An Extraordinary Resolution passed by the Noteholders of any Series will be binding on all the Noteholders of that Series, whether or not they are present at any meeting and whether or not they voted on the resolution, and on all Couponholders of that Series.

18.3 Issuer modifications

The Issuer may make or agree to, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, any amendment or modification of, or addition to, any provisions of the Subordinated Notes, the Coupons, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll:

- (a) which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as a whole;
- (b) to reflect the substitution of a borrowing office in accordance with Condition 18.5;
- (c) which is of a formal, minor or technical nature, or is made to correct a manifest or proven error, to cure any ambiguity or defect or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law; or
- (d) which is:
 - (i) made to:
 - (A) alter the terms of any Subordinated Notes to align them with any Equal Ranking Instruments issued after the Issue Date; or
 - (B) alter the definition of "Equal Ranking Instruments" on account of the issue (after the Issue Date) of capital instruments of the Group; and
 - (ii) not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as a whole.

Any such amendment, modification or addition shall be binding on the Noteholders, and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 as soon as practicable thereafter.

18.4 Noteholder approval not required

The Issuer does not require the approval of Noteholders to vary or terminate any registry agreement or other deed or agreement (other than the Australian Note Deed Poll and these Terms and Conditions) in respect of any Australian Domestic Notes.

18.5 Branch Substitution

Subject to APRA's prior written approval, the Issuer may, from time to time, make or agree to, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, whether or not a borrowing office outside Australia is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amend or modify the Conditions applicable to the Subordinated Notes to specify that the Subordinated Notes are on issue through a borrowing office of the Issuer (whether in or outside Australia) (a "**Branch Substitution**"), provided that:

- (a) the Issuer may not make or agree to a Branch Substitution if it would be illegal by the laws applicable to the relevant borrowing office to have the Subordinated Notes on issue through that borrowing office or to perform its obligations in respect of the Subordinated Notes;
- (b) the obligations in respect of the Subordinated Notes remain obligations of the Issuer ranking as contemplated by these Conditions and are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office; and
- (c) no redemption of the Subordinated Notes (whether in whole or in part) in accordance with Condition 10.2 is permitted following the occurrence of a Tax Event relating to the Relevant Tax Jurisdiction where the borrowing office resulting from the Branch Substitution is located unless such Tax Event occurs on or after the date of the Branch Substitution.

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees to any Branch Substitution in accordance with this Condition 18.5. Nothing in this Condition 18.5 creates any obligation on, nor gives a Noteholder any right to require, the Issuer to make or agree to a Branch Substitution.

18.6 No variation which may affect Tier 2 Capital eligibility

The prior written approval of APRA is required in respect of any variation, amendment or modification of, or addition to any provisions of the Subordinated Notes, the Coupons, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll where such variation, amendment, modification or addition may affect the eligibility of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital.

19 Further issues and consolidation

19.1 Further issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Subordinated Notes, or the same in all respects save for one or more of the amount, the Issue Date, the Issue Price and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Subordinated Notes, provided that the terms of any further notes ranking equally with, or forming a single Series with outstanding Subordinated Notes must be such that, those further notes, upon their issue, are eligible for inclusion in the Issuer's Tier 2 Capital.

The Issuer shall not be restricted from creating or issuing any other notes.

19.2 No other rights

No person, by virtue of being a Noteholder, has:

- (a) any claim against the Issuer except as expressly set out in these Conditions;
- (b) any right to participate in the issue of any shares or any other securities of any kind of the Issuer or any other member of the Group; or
- (c) any right to receive notice of or vote at any meeting of members of the Issuer.

19.3 Consolidation

The Issuer may also from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders, on giving not less than 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders, consolidate Subordinated Notes denominated or redenominated in euro with one or more issues of other notes ("Other Notes") issued by it and denominated in the currency of any of the Member States of the European Union provided that such Other Notes are denominated in, or have been redenominated into euro and otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and conditions as the Subordinated Notes.

In the event of any such consolidation, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, provide for additional, and/or substitute denominations of such Subordinated Notes.

Notice of any such consolidation and/or provision of additional or substitute denominations will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

20 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Subordinated Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

21 Governing law and submission to jurisdiction

21.1 Governing law

The Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Subordinated Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes), the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Subordinated Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law except for:

- (a) the subordination provisions set forth in Condition 1; and
- (b) the provisions of Conditions 7 and 8;

which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws in force in the State of New South Wales, Australia.

The Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Domestic Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws in force in the State of New South Wales, Australia.

21.2 Submission to jurisdiction

The Issuer irrevocably agrees for the benefit of the Noteholders and the Couponholders (as applicable):

- (a) that the courts of England are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Subordinated Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and/or the Coupons (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Subordinated Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and/or the Coupons) and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts; and
- (b) that the courts of the State of New South Wales, Australia are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Australian Domestic Notes and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the courts New South Wales, Australia.

The Issuer waives any objection to the courts of England or the courts of the State of New South Wales, Australia (as the case may be) on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum. The Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceedings (together referred to as "**Proceedings**") arising out of or in connection with the Subordinated Notes and the Coupons (including any Proceedings relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Subordinated Notes and/or the Coupons) against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

21.3 Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer appoints QBE European Operations Plc at its office at Plantation Place, 30 Fenchurch Street, London EC3M 3BD, United Kingdom as its agent for service of process ("**Process Agent**"), and undertakes that, in the event of QBE European Operations Plc ceasing so to act or ceasing to be registered in England, it will appoint another person as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve proceedings in any other manner permitted by law.

21.4 Other documents

The Issuer has in the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant submitted to the jurisdiction of the English courts and appointed an agent for service of process in terms substantially similar to those set out above.

22 Definitions and interpretation

22.1 Definitions

ABN shall have the meaning given to Australian Business Number.

Additional Business Centre means a place specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Additional Financial Centre means a place specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Additional Interest shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.6.

Agents means the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Australian Registrar, the Australian Calculation Agent and the other Paying Agents, Transfer Agents and Exchange Agents.

APRA means the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (ABN 79 635 582 658) or any successor body responsible for prudential regulation of the Issuer.

ASX means ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691) or the securities market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX, as amended, varied or waived (whether in their application in respect of the Issuer or generally) from time to time.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX from time to time with any applicable modifications or waivers granted by ASX.

Austraclear means Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773).

Austraclear Regulations means the regulations known as the "Austraclear Regulations" (as amended or replaced from time to time) together with any instructions or directions established by Austraclear to govern the use of the Austraclear System.

Austraclear System means the system operated by Austraclear in Australia for holding securities and electronic recording and settling of transactions in those securities between members of that system.

Australian Agency and Registry Agreement shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Business Number shall have the meaning given in the A New Tax System (Australian Business Number) Act 1999 of Australia.

Australian Calculation Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Dollar, **A\$** and **AUD** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Domestic Note means a registered debt obligation of the Issuer constituted by, and owing under the Australian Note Deed Poll, the details of which are recorded in, and evidenced by, inscription in the Australian Register.

Australian Note Deed Poll shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Register means the relevant register of holders of the Australian Domestic Notes maintained by the Australian Registrar.

Australian Registrar shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Authorised Officer means:

(b) any person who is a director or the secretary of the Issuer or has been notified by the Issuer in writing to the Agents as being duly authorised to sign documents and to do other acts and things on behalf of the Issuer for the purposes of these Conditions and the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement (as applicable); and

(c) without limiting paragraph (a) above, the Issuer's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Company Secretary or General Counsel.

Bearer Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Broken Amount means an amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Business Day means a day which is a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the Relevant Financial Centre and each Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Business Day Convention shall have the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Calculation Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

CHESS means the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System operated by ASX or any system that replaces it relevant to the Subordinated Notes (including in respect of the transfer or Conversion of such Subordinated Notes).

Clearing System Business Day means Monday to Friday inclusive except December 25 and January 1.

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking S.A..

Conditions shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Conversion Number shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.1(a).

Convert means the conversion of all, some or a proportion of the Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares under these Conditions and **Conversion**, **Converting** and **Converted** have corresponding meanings.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.

Coupon shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Couponholders means the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

Cum Value shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.2(a).

Day Count Fraction means:

- (a) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
 - (i) in the case of Subordinated Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of:
 - (A) the number of days in such Determination Period; and
 - (B) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; or

- (ii) in the case of Subordinated Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; and
 - (B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
- (b) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where "30/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360;
- (c) in respect of Floating Rate Notes:
 - (i) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
 - (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
 - (iii) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
 - (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
 - (v) if "Australian Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, one divided by the number of Interest Payment Dates in a year (or where the Determination Period does not constitute an Interest Period, the actual number of days in the Determination Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Determination Period falls in a leap year, the sum of:
 - (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Determination Period falling in a leap year divided by 366; and
 - (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Determination Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365));
 - (vi) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" \mathbf{D}_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(vii) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" \mathbf{D}_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30; or

(viii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

" \mathbf{Y}_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (A) that day is the last day of February or (B) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless (A) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (B) such number would be 31, in which case D₂ will be 30.

Deed of Covenant shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Deferral Provision means any of Condition 4.4(a), 4.4(b) or 4.5.

Deferred Interest shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.4.

Definitive Bearer Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Definitive Notes shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.1.

Definitive Registered Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Designated Account means the account (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese Yen to a non-resident of Japan, shall be a non-resident account) maintained by a holder with a Designated Bank and identified as such in the Register.

Designated Bank means (in the case of payment in a Specified Currency other than euro) a bank in the Principal Financial Centre and (in the case of a payment in euro) any bank which processes payments in euro.

Determination Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to but excluding the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date).

Distribution Compliance Period means the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the distribution of each Tranche of Subordinated Notes, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead manager (in the case of a syndicated issue).

DTC shall have the meaning given in Condition 3.3.

Encumbrance means any mortgage, pledge, charge, lien, assignment by way of security, hypothecation, security interest, title retention, preferential right or trust arrangement, any other security agreement or security arrangement and any other arrangement of any kind having the same effect as any of the foregoing other than liens arising by operation of law.

Equal Ranking Instrument means any instrument that ranks in a Winding-Up of the Issuer as the most junior claim in the Winding-Up of the Issuer ranking senior to Junior Ranking Instruments and includes:

(a) the U.S.\$700,000,000 Subordinated Notes due 2 December 2044 issued by the Issuer on 2 December 2014;

- (b) the U.S.\$300,000,000 Subordinated Notes due 12 November 2045 issued by the Issuer on 12 November 2015;
- (c) the U.S.\$524,124,000 Subordinated Notes due 17 June 2046 issued by the Issuer on 17 June 2016;
- (d) the AUD 500,000,000 Subordinated Notes due 25 August 2036 issued by the Issuer on 25 August 2020;
- (e) the GBP 400,000,000 Subordinated Notes due 13 September 2038 issued by the Issuer on 13 September 2021;
- (f) the AUD 300,000,000 Subordinated Notes due 28 June 2039 issued by the Issuer on 28 June 2023:
- (g) the AUD 330,000,000 Subordinated Notes due 26 October 2038 issued by the Issuer on 26 October 2023; and
- (h) any other instruments issued after 1 January 2013 as Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments.

euro, € and EUR shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Euro Agency Agreement shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Euro-zone means the region comprised of Member States of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty.

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank SA/NV.

Exchange Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

External Administrator means, in respect of a person:

- (i) a liquidator, provisional liquidator, an administrator or a statutory manager of that person; or
- (j) a receiver, or a receiver and manager, in respect of all or substantially all of the assets and undertakings of that person.

Extraordinary Resolution shall have the meaning given Condition 18.

Face Value means, in respect of a Subordinated Note, the outstanding principal amount of that Subordinated Note, as such principal amount may have been reduced by redemption, Conversion or Write-Off.

FATCA means:

- (a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the United States of America Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any associated regulations;
- (b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and any other jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of any law or regulation referred to in paragraph (a) above; or
- (c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or regulation referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation authority in any other jurisdiction.

FATCA Withholding means any deduction or withholding made for or on account of FATCA.

Financial Year means any year beginning on 1 January and ending on 31 December.

Fixed Coupon Amount means an amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Fixed Rate Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.1.

Floating Rate Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.1.

Foreign Branch Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Foreign Noteholder shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.12(a).

Global Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Government Agency means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental, administrative, fiscal or judicial body, department, commission, authority, tribunal, agency or entity.

Group means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for the time being.

Inability Event means the Issuer is prevented by applicable law or order of any court or action of any government authority (including regarding the insolvency, winding-up or other external administration of the Issuer in any jurisdiction) or any other reason from Converting the Subordinated Notes.

Interest Accrual Period shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.6(b).

Interest Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.10.

Interest Commencement Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Interest Determination Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is the Euro-zone interbank offered rate ("EURIBOR"), the second day which is a T2 Business Day prior to the start of each Interest Period;
- (b) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate or Average SOFR, the SOFR Interest Determination Date (as defined in Condition 6.6(c));
- (c) where the BBSW Rate applies or the Final Fallback Rate applies under paragraph (iv)(C) of Condition 6.13, the first day of that Interest Period;
- (d) where AONIA Rate applies, the fifth Business Day prior to the last day of that Interest Period; and
- (e) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is not specified in paragraphs (a) to (d) above, the first date of each Interest Period,

subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention.

Interest Payment Date means (in the case of a Fixed Rate Note) a date so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (in the case of a Floating Rate Note) the date on which interest is to be payable as determined under Condition 6.3.

Interest Period means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

ISDA Definitions means the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date.

ISDA Rate shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.7.

Issue Date means, in respect of a Subordinated Note, the date on which that Subordinated Note is issued.

Issue Date VWAP means the VWAP during the applicable VWAP Period, as adjusted in accordance with Condition 8.

Issue Price means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Issuer shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Japanese Yen, \mathbf{Y} and **JPY** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Junior Ranking Instrument means:

- (a) any instrument of the Issuer issued as Tier 1 Capital (whether or not constituting Tier 1 Capital at the Issue Date or at the time of commencement of the Winding-Up of the Issuer); and
- (b) any shares (including Ordinary Shares) in the capital of the Issuer.

Legended Note means Registered Notes (whether in definitive form or represented by a Registered Global Note) sold in private transactions to QIBs in accordance with the requirements of Rule 144A. **Legend** shall be interpreted accordingly.

Level 2 Insurance Group means the "Level 2 insurance group" (as defined by APRA from time to time) of which the Issuer is the Parent Entity.

Long Maturity Note means a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that such Subordinated Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal amount of such Subordinated Note.

Margin means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Maturity Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Maximum Conversion Number shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.1(a).

Nominal Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.1(a).

Non-Viability Determination shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.1(a).

Non-Viability Conversion Date shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.2(a).

Non-Viability Trigger Event shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.1(a).

Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.2(a).

Noteholders or **holders** shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Offshore Associate means an associate (as defined in section 128F of the Tax Act) of the Issuer that is either:

(a) a non-resident of Australia which does not acquire the Subordinated Notes or Coupons in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia; or

(b) a resident of Australia that acquires the Subordinated Notes or Coupons in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia.

Optional Interest Payment Date means, an Interest Payment Date where no interest payments, dividends or other distributions have been made on any Equal Ranking Instruments or Junior Ranking Instruments (other than an Equal Ranking Instrument in the case where the terms of that instrument do not enable the Issuer to defer, pass on or eliminate the relevant payment on such Equal Ranking Instrument) during the Financial Year in which such Interest Payment Date falls and no dividend has been made on any Ordinary Shares during the during the Financial Year in which such Interest Payment Date falls.

Optional Redemption Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Ordinary Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Issuer.

Other Notes shall have the meaning given in Condition 19.3.

Parent Entity shall have the meaning given to that term by APRA from time to time.

Paying Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Payment Day shall have the meaning given in Condition 9.3.

Payment Default shall have the meaning given in Condition 13.1(a).

Pricing Supplement means Part A of the Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Subordinated Note.

Principal Financial Centre means the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (c) if the Specified Currency is Sterling, London;
- (d) if the Specified Currency is Swiss Francs, Geneva;
- (e) if the Specified Currency is euro, Frankfurt;
- (f) if the Specified Currency is Japanese Yen, Tokyo;
- (g) if the Specified Currency is U.S. Dollars, New York; or
- (h) if the Specified Currency is Australian Dollars, Sydney.

Principal Paying Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Proceedings shall have the meaning given in Condition 21.2.

Process Agent shall have the meaning given in Condition 21.3.

QIB means a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A.

Rate of Interest means, in respect of a Subordinated Note, the interest rate (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) payable in respect of that Subordinated Note specified in the Pricing Supplement or calculated or determined in accordance with these Conditions and the Pricing Supplement.

Record Date:

(a) in respect of an Australian Domestic Note and in respect of a payment of interest, means the date which is five Registry Business Days before the Interest Payment Date or other date for

payment or such other date as may be approved from time to time by the Issuer in its absolute discretion; and

(b) in respect of a Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note, shall have the meaning given in Condition 9.7(b).

Redeemed Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 10.3.

Redemption Amount means, in respect of a Subordinated Note, the Face Value of that Subordinated Note at the time of its redemption in accordance with these Conditions.

Reference Banks means the principal offices of four major banks in the Relevant Financial Centre, selected by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) (in each case, after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Reference Rate means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Register means the relevant register of holders of the Registered Notes maintained by the Registrar.

Registered Global Note means a Global Note that is a Registered Note (but, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include an Australian Domestic Note) and includes:

- (a) a Rule 144A Global Note; and
- (b) a Regulation S Global Note,

(and any reference to "Registered Global Notes" shall be construed as a reference to Rule 144A Global Notes and/or Regulation S Global Notes, as the context requires).

Registered Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Registrar shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Registry Business Day means a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the city where the Specified Office of the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as applicable) is located.

Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Regulation S Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Subordinated Notes sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S.

Regulatory Event means the introduction of, or an amendment or clarification to or change in, or a change in the interpretation of a law or regulation of Australia or any state or territory thereof, or a rule, regulation, prudential standard, directive, order or requirement of APRA, after the Issue Date ("Regulatory Change") (or an announcement that there will be a Regulatory Change which the Issuer expects will take effect within no more than 12 months), which has or (in the case of an announced Regulatory Change) will have the effect that the Issuer is not (or will not be) entitled to treat all of the Subordinated Notes in full as Tier 2 Capital, or its then equivalent, of the Level 2 Insurance Group, provided that on the Issue Date the Issuer did not expect that the matters giving rise to the Regulatory Event would occur.

Related Entity shall have the meaning given by APRA from time to time.

Relevant Capital Instrument means Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments and Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments.

Relevant Date in relation to any Subordinated Note and any payment in respect of such Subordinated Note, means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such due date,

it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

Relevant Financial Centre means the financial centre specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, Brussels;
- (b) if BBSW Determination applies, Sydney; or
- (c) in any other case, the financial centre with which the relevant Reference Rate is most closely connected.

Relevant Rate means the Reference Rate benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency for a period (if applicable or appropriate to Reference Rate benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration.

Relevant Screen Page means the page, section, caption, column or other part ("Page") of a particular information service specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such other Page as may succeed or replace it on that information service or such other Page on such other information service as the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) may determine replaces or succeeds that Page (after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Relevant Tax Jurisdiction means Australia and, in the case of Subordinated Notes that are issued by the Issuer acting through a borrowing office outside Australia, the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located.

Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instrument means a capital instrument forming part of the Tier 1 Capital of the Level 2 Insurance Group that, in accordance with its terms or by operation of law, is capable of being converted or written-off where APRA makes a determination as referred to in Condition 7.1(a).

Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instrument means a capital instrument forming part of the Tier 2 Capital of the Level 2 Insurance Group that, in accordance with its terms or by operation of law, is capable of being converted or written-off where APRA makes a determination as referred to in Condition 7.1(a).

Relevant Time means the time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, 11.00 a.m.;
- (b) if BBSW Determination applies, 10.30 a.m. or such other time at which the BBSW Rate customarily appears on the Thomson Reuters Screen "BBSW" Page; or
- (c) in any other case, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits or equivalent interbank securities as are customarily used in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre (as applicable) in the Specified Currency in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre.

Reorganisation means, in relation to the Issuer, a division, consolidation or reclassification of the Issuer's share capital not involving any cash payment or other distribution or consideration to or by holders of Ordinary Shares.

Representative Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or if none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the time.

Required Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.2(a).

Required Percentage means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Rule 144A means Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

Rule 144A Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Subordinated Notes sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons to QIBs.

Scheduled Trading Day means a day which is a business day within the meaning of the ASX Listing Rules.

Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Selection Date shall have the meaning given in Condition 10.3.

Senior Ranking Debt means the claims of all creditors of the Issuer which would be entitled to be admitted in the Winding-Up of the Issuer other than claims in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments or Junior Ranking Instruments (including the claims described in section 563AA and in section 563A of the Corporations Act).

Series shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Solvency Condition shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.5.

Solvent means at any time in respect of the Issuer:

- (d) it is able to pay all its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
- (e) its assets exceed its liabilities,

in each case determined on an unconsolidated stand-alone basis.

Specified Currency shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.3.

Specified Denomination(s) shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.2.

Specified Duration means the period of time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or if none is specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Period, ignoring any adjustment as a consequence of Condition 6.4.

Specified Interest Payment Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Specified Maturity means the period of time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Specified Office means, in respect of.

- (a) the Issuer, Level 18, 388 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000;
- (b) the Principal Paying Agent and the Exchange Agent, 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA:
- (c) the Registrar and the Transfer Agent, 2-4 Eugene Ruppert, Vertigo Building, Polaris, L-2453 Luxembourg;
- (d) the Australian Registrar, 20 Bridge Street, Sydney NSW 2000; and
- (e) any other Agent, such office to be notified to the Noteholders from time to time,

or in any case, such other office as notified to the Noteholders from time to time.

Specified Period means a period specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Sterling, £ and GBP shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

sub-unit means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent.

Subordinated Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Subsidiary shall have the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act and **Subsidiaries** has a corresponding meaning.

Swiss Franc and **CHF** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Talon shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

T2 Business Day means a day on which the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem, or any successor thereto, is operating credit or transfer instructions in respect of payments in euro.

Tax Act means:

- (f) the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia, the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 of Australia or the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia (and a reference to any section of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia includes a reference to that section as rewritten in the Income Tax Assessment 1997 of Australia);
- (g) any other law setting the rate of income tax payable; and
- (h) any regulation made under such laws.

Tax Authority means any government, state, municipal, local or other fiscal, revenue, customs or excise authority, body or official, having power to tax.

Tax Event means the receipt by the Issuer of an opinion of competent tax counsel to the effect that, as a result of the introduction of, or amendment or clarification to, or change in, or change in the interpretation of (or an announcement that there will be an introduction of, amendment or clarification to or change in) a law or regulation by any legislative body, court, governmental agency or regulatory authority in a relevant jurisdiction after the Issue Date, there is more than an insubstantial risk that:

- (a) the Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 11;
- (b) interest payments on the Subordinated Notes are not or may not be allowed as a deduction for the purposes of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) the Issuer would be exposed to more than a *de minimis* increase in its costs in relation to the Subordinated Notes as a result of the application of any laws relating to any taxes or duties (or other governmental charges or civil liabilities relating to taxation),

provided that on the Issue Date the Issuer did not expect that the matters giving rise to the Tax Event would occur.

Taxes means taxes, levies, imposts, charges and duties (including stamp and transaction duties) imposed by any authority together with any related interest, penalties, fines and expenses in connection with them, except if imposed on, or calculated having regard to, the net income of the Noteholder;

Tier 1 Capital means Tier 1 capital as defined by APRA from time to time.

Tier 2 Capital means Tier 2 capital as defined by APRA from time to time.

Trading Day means any day:

- (a) which is a Scheduled Trading Day; and
- (b) on which the Ordinary Shares:
 - (i) are not suspended from trading on ASX (excluding any intra-day trading halt which the Issuer reasonably considers has not materially affected the VWAP on that day) or such other principal exchange on which the Ordinary Shares are then listed; and
 - (ii) have traded at least once on ASX.

Tranche shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Transfer Agents shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Transfer Certificate shall have the meaning given in Condition 3.10.

Transfer Form means a form available from the Australian Registrar or such other form as the Issuer may determine from time to time and notify to the holders of Australian Domestic Notes.

Treaty means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

U.S. Dollar, U.S.\$ and USD shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

VWAP means the average of the daily volume weighted average prices (in AUD) of Ordinary Shares traded on ASX during the relevant VWAP Period, subject to any adjustments made under Condition 8 (such average being rounded to the nearest full Australian cent) (and, where the Specified Currency is not AUD, with each such daily price converted into the Specified Currency on the basis of:

- (a) where the Specified Currency is USD, the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers of Australian dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; or
- (b) where the Specified Currency is not AUD or USD, the rates to be determined in the manner set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement,

in each case expressed in units of the Specified Currency per A\$1.00) but does not include any "Crossing" transacted outside the "Open Session State" or any "Special Crossing" transacted at any time, each as defined in the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, or any overseas trades pursuant to the exercise of options over Ordinary Shares.

VWAP Period means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

- (a) in the case of the Issue Date VWAP, the period of five Trading Days immediately preceding (but not including) the Issue Date; or
- (b) otherwise, the period of five Trading Days immediately preceding (but not including) the Non-Viability Conversion Date.

Winding-Up means, in relation to the Issuer, a winding-up by a court of competent jurisdiction under applicable law (which, in the case of Australia, includes the Corporations Act) and the terms **Wind-Up** and **Wound-Up** shall, when used in relation to the Issuer, have corresponding meanings.

Winding-Up Default shall have the meaning given in Condition 13.1(b).

Written-Off shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.3 and Write-Off has a corresponding meaning.

22.2 Interpretation

- (a) Unless otherwise specified, a reference to a Condition is a reference to a provision of these Conditions.
- (b) Headings and boldings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of these Conditions.
- (c) The singular includes the plural and vice versa.
- (d) A reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other law includes regulations and other instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them and references to the law includes statutes, ordinances, directives or common law and principles of equity having general application.
- (e) A reference to the "Corporations Act" as it relates to the Issuer is to that Act as may be modified in relation to the Issuer by ASIC.
- (f) Unless otherwise specified, a period of time dating from a given day or the day of an act or event is to be calculated exclusive of that day.
- (g) A day is to be interpreted as the period of time commencing at midnight and ending 24 hours later.
- (h) Any reference to any requirements of APRA or any other prudential regulatory requirements in these Conditions will apply or be operative with respect to the Issuer only if the Issuer is an entity, or the holding company of an entity, or is a direct or indirect subsidiary of a holding company, which is subject to regulation and supervision by APRA at the relevant time.
- (i) Any requirement for APRA's consent or approval in any provision of these Conditions will apply only if APRA requires that such consent or approval be given at the relevant time.
- (j) Where, under these Conditions, APRA's approval is required for any act to be done or not done, that term does not imply that APRA's approval has been given as at the Issue Date.
- (k) A reference to any term defined by APRA shall, if that term is replaced or superseded in any of APRA's applicable prudential regulatory requirements or standards, be taken to be a reference to the replacement or equivalent term.
- (l) A reference to an agreement, deed or instrument (including these Conditions) includes a reference to that agreement, deed or instrument as amended, added to or restated from time to time.
- (m) The words "includes" or "including", "for example" or "such as" do not exclude a reference to other items, whether of the same class or genus or not.
- (n) All references to the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg shall be to the records that each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg holds for its customers which reflect the amount of such customers' interests in the Subordinated Notes.
- (o) For the purposes of Condition 18.3, in determining whether an amendment is not materially prejudicial to the interests of Noteholders as a whole, the taxation and regulatory capital consequences to Noteholders (or any class of Noteholders) and other special consequences which are personal to a Noteholder (or any class of Noteholders) do not need to be taken into account.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CAPITAL NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Capital Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note, each Australian Domestic Note and each definitive Capital Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such definitive Capital Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche of Capital Notes may complete such Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Capital Notes. The applicable Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each Global Note, each Australian Domestic Note and each definitive Capital Note.

This Capital Note is one of a Series of Capital Notes issued by QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014) (the "Issuer") pursuant to the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (each as defined below).

References herein to the "Capital Notes" or "Notes" shall be references to the Capital Notes of this Series and shall mean:

- (a) in relation to any Capital Notes in bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**") or in registered form ("**Registered Notes**") which are represented by a global note (a "**Global Note**"), units of each Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency;
- (b) any Global Note;
- (c) any Australian Domestic Note;
- (d) any definitive note in bearer form (a "**Definitive Bearer Note**") issued in exchange for a Global Note in bearer form; and
- (e) any definitive note in registered form (a "**Definitive Registered Note**") (whether or not issued in exchange for a Global Note in registered form).

References herein to a Registered Note shall include a reference to an Australian Domestic Note (unless otherwise stated).

References herein to a Global Note or a Definitive Registered Note shall not be taken to include any Australian Domestic Note. Australian Domestic Notes may not be issued in bearer form.

The Capital Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons (as defined below) are issued pursuant to an amended and restated agency agreement dated 27 February 2024, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Euro Agency Agreement") between the Issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as issuing and principal paying agent and agent bank (the "Principal Paying Agent", which expression shall include any additional or successor issuing and principal paying agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents), The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as exchange agent (the "Exchange Agent" which expression shall include any successor exchange agent), The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch, as registrar (the "Registrar", which expression shall include any additional or successor registrar) and as transfer agent and the other transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the "Transfer Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor transfer agents).

Australian Domestic Notes are perpetual debt obligations of the Issuer constituted by, and owing under, the amended and restated deed poll dated 27 February 2024 and made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Australian Note Deed Poll"). In connection with the Australian Domestic Notes, the Issuer has entered into an agency and registry agreement dated 2 May 2016, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Australian Agency and Registry Agreement") between the Issuer, Austraclear Services Limited, as registrar (the "Australian Registrar", which expression shall include any successor registrar), Austraclear Services Limited, as calculation agent (the "Australian Calculation Agent", which expression shall include any successor calculation agent) and the other agents named therein.

Interest bearing Definitive Bearer Notes have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, in the case of Capital Notes issued in definitive form, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Registered Notes and Global Notes do not have Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

No certificates will be issued to Noteholders of Australian Domestic Notes unless the Issuer determines that certificates should be available or if certificates are required by any applicable law or directive.

The final terms for this Capital Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Pricing Supplement attached to or endorsed on this Capital Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions") for the purposes of this Capital Note. References to the "applicable Pricing Supplement" are to Part A of the Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Capital Note.

Subject to APRA's prior written approval, the Issuer may specify in the applicable Pricing Supplement that an issue of Capital Notes will be made through a borrowing office of the Issuer outside Australia. Any such Capital Note is herein referred to as a "Foreign Branch Note".

Any reference to "Noteholders" or "holders" in relation to any Capital Notes shall mean (in the case of Bearer Notes) the holders of the Capital Notes and (in the case of Registered Notes) the persons in whose name the Capital Notes are registered and shall, in relation to any Capital Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Capital Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) and "Series" means a Tranche of Capital Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Capital Notes which are (a) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) except for one or more of their date and price of issue, the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to be calculated.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders (other than in respect of Australian Domestic Notes) are entitled to the benefit of the amended and restated deed of covenant dated 27 February 2024 and made by the Issuer, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "**Deed of Covenant**"). The original Deed of Covenant is held by the Principal Paying Agent.

Copies of:

- (a) the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Issuer; and
- (c) the applicable Pricing Supplement is available from the Specified Office of the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent,

provided that such documents shall only be obtainable by a Noteholder, a Couponholder or a genuine prospective Noteholder, and provided further that the applicable Pricing Supplement shall only be obtainable by Noteholder, a Couponholder or a genuine prospective Noteholder of that Series, and such current or prospective Noteholder or Couponholder (as applicable) must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Principal Paying Agent as to its holding or prospective holding of such Capital Notes and identity.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Australian Note Deed Poll, the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement and the applicable Pricing Supplement which are applicable to them. The statements in the Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) or used in the applicable Pricing Supplement shall have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless

the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) and the applicable Pricing Supplement, the applicable Pricing Supplement will prevail.

In these Terms and Conditions:

- (a) "euro", "€" and "EUR" each means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty;
- (b) "Australian Dollar", "Australian dollar", "A\$" and "AUD" each means the lawful currency of Australia;
- (c) "Swiss Franc" and "CHF" each means the lawful currency of Switzerland;
- (d) "Sterling", "£" and "GBP" each means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;
- (e) "Japanese Yen", "\frac{1}{2}" and "JPY" each means the lawful currency of Japan; and
- (f) "U.S. Dollar", "U.S. dollar", "U.S.\$" and "USD" each means the lawful currency of the United States of America.

1 Status and Subordination

1.1 Status and ranking

The Capital Notes and any related Coupons are direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank for payment of interest and for the Face Value in a Winding-Up:

- (a) ahead of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Ordinary Shares;
- (b) equally among themselves and with the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments; and
- (c) behind the obligations of the Issuer in respect of Senior Ranking Debt.

The obligations of the Issuer in respect of any Foreign Branch Notes and related Coupons are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office. If the Issuer is unable to make a payment in respect of a Foreign Branch Note or related Coupon from the relevant borrowing office, the Issuer shall make the payment from some other place of business of the Issuer.

1.2 Winding-Up

- (a) If an order is made by a court of competent jurisdiction in Australia (other than an order successfully appealed or permanently stayed within 30 days), or an effective resolution is passed or is taken under applicable law to have been passed, for the Winding-Up of the Issuer in Australia, the Capital Notes are redeemable for their Face Value in accordance with this Condition 1.2.
- (b) In a Winding-Up of the Issuer in Australia, a Capital Note confers upon the Noteholder, subject to Condition 7, the right to payment in cash of the Face Value of such Capital Note on a subordinated basis in accordance with Condition 1.3, but no further or other claim on the Issuer in the Winding-Up of the Issuer in any jurisdiction.

1.3 Subordination in a Winding-Up

In a Winding-Up of the Issuer in Australia, the claim by a Noteholder, or any other person on behalf of the Noteholder, for the Face Value of a Capital Note, is subordinated to claims in respect of Senior Ranking Debt, in that:

- (a) all claims in respect of Senior Ranking Debt (including in respect of any entitlement to interest under section 563B of the Corporations Act) must be paid in full before the Noteholder's claim is paid; and
- (b) until the claims in respect of Senior Ranking Debt have been paid in full, the Noteholder must not claim in the Winding-Up in competition with the creditors under the Senior Ranking Debt so as to diminish any distribution, dividend or payment which, but for that claim, the creditors under the Senior Ranking Debt would have been entitled to receive,

so that the Noteholder receives, for each Capital Note it holds, an amount equal to the amount it would have received if, in the Winding-Up of the Issuer, it had held an issued and fully paid Preference Share.

1.4 Agreements and acknowledgments of Noteholders

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that:

- (a) this Condition 1 is a debt subordination for the purposes of section 563C of the Corporations Act;
- (b) it does not have, and waives to the maximum extent permitted by law, any entitlement to interest under section 563B of the Corporations Act to the extent that a holder of a Preference Share would not be entitled to such interest;
- (c) without limiting its rights other than in respect of a Capital Note, it must not exercise its voting rights or other rights as an unsecured creditor in the Winding-Up or administration of the Issuer in any jurisdiction to defeat the subordination in this Condition 1;
- (d) the debt subordination effected by this Condition 1 is not affected by any act or omission of the Issuer or any creditor under any Senior Ranking Debt which might otherwise affect it at law or in equity; and
- (e) it must pay or deliver to the liquidator any amount or asset received on account of its claim in the winding-up of the Issuer in any jurisdiction in connection with a Capital Note in excess of its entitlement under this Condition 1.

1.5 Effect of Non-Viability Trigger Event

If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, despite any other provision in these Conditions, Capital Notes will be Converted into Ordinary Shares as provided in Condition 7 or, if Condition 7.3 applies, Written-Off.

1.6 No consent of creditors under Senior Ranking Debt

Nothing in this Condition 1 shall be taken to require the consent of any creditor under any Senior Ranking Debt to any amendment of these Conditions.

1.7 No security interest

Nothing in this Condition 1 shall be taken to create an Encumbrance on or over any right of a Noteholder.

1.8 No guarantee, insurance or other support

A Capital Note is not guaranteed or insured by any government, Government Agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other jurisdiction, by any other member of the Group or by any other person.

Form, denomination and currency

2.1 Bearer Notes and Registered Notes

Capital Notes are issued as Bearer Notes or as Registered Notes as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and, in the case of Capital Notes in definitive form ("**Definitive Notes**"), are serially numbered.

Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes and vice versa.

2.2 Denomination

Capital Notes are issued in one or more denominations ("**Specified Denomination(s)**"), as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, provided that:

- (a) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, Capital Notes shall only be offered and applications may only be invited (in each case directly or indirectly) if:
 - (i) the aggregate consideration payable to the Issuer by the subscriber is at least A\$500,000 (disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates) or the Capital Notes are otherwise issued in a manner which does not require disclosure in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;
 - (ii) the offer or invitation from which the issue results does not constitute an offer to a "retail client" as defined for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act; and
 - (iii) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place; and
- (b) in any other case, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof up to and including €199,000 (or in each case the equivalent in the Specified Currency). No Definitive Bearer Notes will be issued with a denomination above €199,000 (or its equivalent in the Specified Currency).

Capital Notes in one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Capital Notes in another Specified Denomination.

Each Capital Note must be paid for in full on application.

2.3 Currency

Capital Notes are issued in the currency ("Specified Currency") specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

3 Title and transfer

3.1 Title generally

Subject as set out in Conditions 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4:

- (a) title to Bearer Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery and title to the Registered Notes will pass upon registration of a transfer in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement (as applicable); and
- (b) the Issuer and the Agents will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note or Coupon and the registered holder of any Registered Note as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not payments in respect of the Capital Notes have been made as scheduled and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes.

3.2 Title to Global Notes in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg

For so long as the Capital Notes are represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Capital Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Capital Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Capital Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Capital Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Capital Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Capital Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

3.3 Title to Global Notes in DTC

For so long as the Depository Trust Company ("**DTC**") or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Capital Notes represented by such Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Euro Agency Agreement and the Capital Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through such participants.

3.4 Title to Australian Domestic Notes

In respect of Australian Domestic Notes, each entry in the Australian Register in respect of a Capital Note constitutes:

- (a) an irrevocable undertaking by the Issuer to the Noteholder to:
 - (i) pay principal, (if applicable) interest and any other amount in accordance with these Conditions; and
 - (ii) comply with the other Conditions of the Capital Note; and
- (b) an entitlement to the other benefits given to Noteholder in respect of the Capital Note under these Conditions.

Entries in the Australian Register in relation to an Australian Domestic Note constitute conclusive evidence that the person so entered is the absolute owner of the Capital Note subject to correction for fraud or error.

Where two or more persons are entered in the Australian Register as the joint holder of an Australian Domestic Note then they are taken to hold the Capital Note as joint tenants with rights of survivorship, but the Australian Registrar is not bound to register more than four persons as joint holders of a Capital Note.

3.5 Transfers of interests in Global Notes

Interests in Capital Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be.

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate, indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be exchangeable for Capital Notes in definitive form or for a beneficial interest in another Registered Global Note only in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of

Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be and in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the Euro Agency Agreement. Transfers of a Registered Global Note shall be limited to transfers of such Registered Global Note, in whole but not in part, to a nominee of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (as the case may be) or to a successor of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC (as the case may be) or such successor's nominee and will be subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions and the terms and conditions of the Euro Agency Agreement.

3.6 Transfers of Definitive Registered Notes

Subject as provided in Conditions 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Euro Agency Agreement and subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, a Definitive Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part (in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement). In order to effect any such transfer:

- (a) the holder or holders must:
 - (i) surrender the Definitive Registered Note for registration of the transfer of the Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, with the form of transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or holders thereof or his or their attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing; and
 - (ii) complete and deposit such other certifications as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent; and
- (b) the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due and careful enquiry, be satisfied with the documents of title and the identity of the person making the request.

Any such transfer will be subject to such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar may from time to time prescribe (the initial such regulations being set out in Schedule 7 to the Euro Agency Agreement). Subject as provided above, the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent will, within three business days (being days on which commercial banks are open for business in the city where the Specified Office of the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such longer period as may be required to comply with any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations) authenticate and deliver, or procure the authentication and delivery of, at its Specified Office to the transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by uninsured mail to such address as the transferee may request, a new Definitive Registered Note of a like aggregate nominal amount to the Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a Definitive Registered Note, a new Definitive Registered Note in respect of the balance of the Registered Note not transferred will be so authenticated and delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

3.7 Transfers of Australian Domestic Notes

- (a) Australian Domestic Notes held in the Austraclear System will be transferable only in accordance with the Austraclear Regulations.
- (b) If Australian Domestic Notes are not held in the Austraclear System, application for the transfer of Australian Domestic Notes must be made by the lodgement of a Transfer Form with the Australian Registrar. Transfer Forms are available from the Australian Registrar. Each form must be duly stamped (if applicable) and accompanied by such evidence (if any) as the Australian Registrar may require to prove the title of the transferor or the transferor's right to transfer the Australian Domestic Notes and be signed by both the transferor and the transferee.
- (c) Australian Domestic Notes may be transferred in whole but not in part. Australian Domestic Notes may only be transferred if:

- (i) the aggregate consideration payable by the relevant Noteholder is at least A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the Issuer or its associates to the subscriber or its associates) or if the offer or invitation (including any resulting issue) otherwise does not require disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;
- (ii) the offer or invitation is not made to a person who is a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act; and
- (iii) the offer or invitation complies with all other applicable laws and directives in the jurisdiction in which the offer, invitation or issue takes place.

3.8 Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 10, the Issuer, Registrar or Australian Registrar (as applicable) shall not be required to register the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

3.9 Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer as provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and except that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.

3.10 Transfers of interests in Regulation S Global Notes and Australian Domestic Notes

Prior to expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial interest in, a Regulation S Global Note or an Australian Domestic Note to a transferee in the United States or who is a U.S. person will only be made:

- (a) in respect of a Regulation S Global Note only, upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification substantially in the form set out in the Euro Agency Agreement, amended as appropriate (a "Transfer Certificate"), copies of which are available from the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, from the transferor of the Capital Note or beneficial interest therein to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A; or
- (b) in respect of a Regulation S Global Note or an Australian Domestic Note, otherwise pursuant to and in accordance with an available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, subject to receipt by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States,

and in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

In the case of Condition 3.10(a) above, such transferee may take delivery through a Legended Note in a global or definitive form. After expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period:

- (i) beneficial interests in Regulation S Global Notes may be held through DTC directly, by a participant in DTC, or indirectly through a participant in DTC; and
- (ii) such certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers.

3.11 Transfers of beneficial interests in Legended Notes

Transfers of Legended Notes or beneficial interests therein may be made:

- (a) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Regulation S Global Note, upon receipt by the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the transfer to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S and that, if such transfer is being made prior to expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, the interests in the Capital Notes being transferred will be held immediately thereafter through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg;
- (b) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Legended Note where the transferee is a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A, without certification; or
- (c) otherwise pursuant to the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, subject to receipt by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States,

and, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Legended Notes, or upon specific request for removal of the Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Legended Notes or refuse to remove such Legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to the Issuer such satisfactory evidence as may reasonably be required by the Issuer, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that neither the Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

3.12 Closed periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered:

- (a) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal on that Registered Note;
- (b) after notice is given that such Registered Note will be redeemed pursuant to Conditions 10.1 or 10.2; and
- (c) during the period of five Registry Business Days ending on (and including) any Record Date.

3.13 Exchanges of Definitive Registered Notes generally

Holders of Definitive Registered Notes may exchange such Capital Notes for interests in a Registered Global Note of the same type at any time.

4 Interest generally

4.1 Fixed Rate Notes and Floating Rate Notes

Capital Notes may bear interest at a fixed ("Fixed Rate Notes") or floating rate ("Floating Rate Notes") or a combination of both, depending upon the Interest Basis specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

4.2 Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of Conditions 4, 5 and 6, whether by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent, shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith, manifest error or proven error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default or bad faith) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

4.3 Cessation of interest

Each Capital Note (or in the case of the redemption, Conversion or Write-Off of part only of a Capital Note, that part only of such Capital Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the earlier of the date for its redemption or the date it is Converted or Written-Off unless, in connection with redemption only, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused (upon due presentation in the case of Capital Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes). In such event, the Capital Notes will continue to bear interest until whichever is the earlier of:

- (a) the date on which such Capital Note has been redeemed; and
- (b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Capital Note has been received by the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar or the Australian Registrar, as the case may be, and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

4.4 Interest Payment Conditions

The payment of any interest amount will be made unless:

- (a) the Issuer, in its absolute discretion, determines that the interest amount is not payable to Noteholders;
- (b) payment of the interest amount would result in the Issuer breaching APRA's capital adequacy requirements applicable to it;
- (c) payment of the interest amount would result in the Issuer ceasing to be, or being likely to cease to be, Solvent; or
- (d) APRA objects to the payment of the interest amount.

In determining not to pay interest on a Capital Note, the Issuer shall consider payment of the relevant interest amount as if it were payment of a dividend on a Preference Share.

4.5 Non-payment of interest

- (a) Interest is non-cumulative. If all or any part of any interest amount is not paid because of Condition 4.4, the Issuer has no liability to pay the unpaid amount of the interest amount and Noteholders have no claim or entitlement in respect of any person in respect of such non-payment and such non-payment does not constitute an event of default however described, determined or defined.
- (b) No interest accrues on any unpaid interest amount and the Noteholders have no claim or entitlement in respect of interest on any unpaid interest amounts.
- (c) If all or any part of an interest amount will not be paid in whole or part because of Condition 4.4, the Issuer must give notice to the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent promptly after determining or becoming aware that that payment will not be made.

4.6 Dividend Restriction

(a) If, for any reason, an amount of interest has not been paid in full on the relevant Interest Payment Date, a Dividend Restriction shall apply from that date until the next Interest Payment Date unless the amount of interest is paid in full within 10 Business Days of the relevant Interest Payment Date.

"Dividend Restriction" means that the Issuer must not, without prior approval of an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders:

(i) determine, declare or pay any Ordinary Share Dividend; or

- (ii) undertake any Buy-Back or Capital Reduction.
- (b) The Dividend Restriction does not apply:
 - (i) in connection with any employment contract, employee equity plan, other benefit plan or other similar arrangement with or for the benefit of any one or more employees, officers, directors or consultants of a member of the Group;
 - (ii) in connection with the Issuer or a member of the Group purchasing Ordinary Shares:
 - (A) in connection with transactions for the account of customers of a member of the Group; or
 - (B) with the prior written approval of APRA, in connection with the distribution or trading of any securities of the Issuer or any other shares in the capital of the Issuer in the ordinary course of business; or
 - (iii) to the extent that at the time an amount of interest has not been paid on the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Issuer is legally obliged to pay on or after that date an Ordinary Share Dividend or is legally obliged to complete on or after that date a Buy-Back or Capital Reduction.

5 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

5.1 Application

This Condition 5 applies only in respect of Capital Notes to which Fixed Rate Note Provisions are applicable according to the applicable Pricing Supplement.

5.2 Fixed Rate Note specifications

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Calculation Amount, the Interest Commencement Date, the Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest Payment Date(s), the Fixed Coupon Amount(s), any applicable Broken Amount(s), the Day Count Fraction and any applicable Determination Date.

5.3 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Unless previously redeemed in full, Converted in full, Written-Off in full or otherwise cancelled in full, and subject to Condition 4.4, each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest scheduled to be paid in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year.

5.4 Specified Fixed Coupon Amounts and Broken Amounts

Subject to Condition 4.4, the amount of interest scheduled to be paid on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.

5.5 Calculation of interest

Except in the case of Capital Notes where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Capital Notes represented by such Global Note;

- (b) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Australian Domestic Notes, the outstanding nominal amount of the Capital Note; and
- (c) otherwise, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note which is in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest scheduled to be paid in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination (or where such Capital Note has been Converted or Written-Off in part, the Face Value of that Capital Note), without any further rounding.

6 Interest on Floating Rate Notes

6.1 Application

This Condition 6 applies only in respect of Capital Notes to which Floating Rate Note Provisions are applicable according to the applicable Pricing Supplement.

6.2 Floating Rate Note specifications

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Calculation Amount, the Interest Commencement Date, the Specified Period(s) or Specified Interest Payment Dates, the Business Day Convention, any Additional Business Centre(s), the Margin, the Day Count Fraction and any other information on the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined.

6.3 Interest Payment Dates

Unless previously redeemed in full, Converted in full, Written-Off in full or otherwise cancelled in full, and subject to Condition 4.4, each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be scheduled to be paid in arrear on either:

- (a) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) if no express Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be scheduled to be paid in respect of each Interest Period.

6.4 Business Day Convention

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 6.3(b) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date:
 - (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of Condition 6.4(a)(ii)(B) below shall apply *mutatis mutandis*; or

- (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event:
 - (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; and
 - (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred;
- (b) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day;
- (c) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (d) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

6.5 Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest scheduled to be paid from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the following provisions of these Conditions relating to either Screen Rate Determination, ISDA Determination, AONIA Rate Determination or BBSW Determination shall apply accordingly, depending upon which is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

6.6 Screen Rate Determination

(a) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes not referencing Compounded Daily SONIA, Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate or Average SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and unless the Reference Rate in respect of the relevant Series of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR" the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

- (i) the Relevant Rate (where the Relevant Rate on the Relevant Screen Page is a composite quotation or is customarily supplied by one entity) which appears on the Relevant Screen Page; or
- (ii) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose Relevant Rates appear on the Relevant Screen Page,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) at the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable).

If Condition 6.6(a)(ii) applies and five or more of such Relevant Rates are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest Relevant Rate, one only of such Relevant Rates) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest Relevant Rate, one only of such Relevant Rates) shall be disregarded by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case of Condition 6.6(a)(i) above, no such Relevant Rate appears or, in the case of Condition 6.6(a)(ii) above, fewer than three Relevant Rates appear, then, unless the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) has been notified of any Reference Rate Successor Rate (and any related adjustments and successor inputs) pursuant to Condition 6.12 below, if applicable, the Issuer shall request the relevant Reference Banks to provide the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with the rate or rates that each such Reference Bank is quoting to leading banks in respect of the Relevant Rate at approximately the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with such rate or rates, the Rate of Interest for the Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such rates plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable).

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) with such rate or rates as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates (being the nearest equivalent to the Relevant Rate) that at least two out of five leading banks selected by the Issuer in the Relevant Financial Centre are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to leading banks carrying on business in the Relevant Financial Centre; except that if fewer than two of such banks are quoting to leading banks in the Relevant Financial Centre, the Rate of Interest shall be the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest Determination Date.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies an alternate method for the determination of the Screen Rate Determination, then that alternate method will apply.

(b) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SONIA with respect to such Interest Accrual Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.6(b), "Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Accrual Period (with the daily Sterling overnight reference rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-pLBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"d₀" is the number of London Banking Days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to d_o, each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period;

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"ni", for any London Banking Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such London Banking Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following London Banking Day;

"Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (B) (in the case of any other Interest Accrual Period) the date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due;

"p" is the number of London Banking Days by which an Observation Period lags the corresponding Interest Accrual Period, being the number of London Banking Days specified as the "SONIA Lag Period (p)" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five London Banking Days);

"SONIA reference rate", in respect of any London Banking Day ("LBD_x"), is a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such LBD_x as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such LBD_x; and

"SONIA_{i-pLBD}" means the SONIA reference rate for the London Banking Day (being a London Banking Day falling in the relevant Observation Period) falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i".

If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Observation Period, the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) determines that the applicable SONIA reference rate has not been made available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then, unless the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) has been notified of any Reference Rate Successor Rate (and any related adjustments and successor inputs) pursuant to Condition 6.12 below, if applicable, the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) shall determine the SONIA reference rate in respect of such London Banking Day as being:

- (i) (a) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier, close of business) on such London Banking Day; plus (b) the mean of the spread of the SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on which a SONIA reference rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and the lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or
- (ii) if the Bank Rate under paragraph (i)(a) above is not available at the relevant time, either (a) the SONIA reference rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA reference rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors); or (b) if this is more recent, the latest rate determined under paragraph (i) above.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be:

- (i) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date; or
- (ii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Capital Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period had the Capital Notes been on issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

As used herein, an "Interest Accrual Period" means (i) each Interest Period and (ii) any other period (if any) in respect of which interest is to be calculated, being the period from (and including) the first day of such period to (but excluding) the day on which the relevant payment of interest falls due.

(c) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SOFR", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SOFR with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.6(c), "Compounded Daily SOFR" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{360}{d}$$

where:

"d" means, in relation to any Interest Period, the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"d₀" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to d_0 , each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"n_i" means, for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i", the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (I) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (II) if applicable, the relevant payment date if the Capital Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date;

"**p**" means:

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the "Lookback Period (p)" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days); or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the "Observation Shift Period" in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days);

"Reset Period" means the period comprising the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement under the heading "Reset Period";

"SOFR" means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, a rate determined in accordance with the following provisions:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day that appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at or about 3.00 p.m. (New York City time) on the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; and
- (ii) if the rate specified in paragraph (i) above does not so appear, unless both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, then the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) shall use the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day on which the Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website:

"SOFRi" means, in relation to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i":

- (i) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, SOFR in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, SOFR in respect of such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i";

"SOFR Interest Determination Date" means, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day that precedes the Interest Payment Date by the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the Reset Period; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any calendar day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a calendar day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) (or any successor thereto) recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire calendar day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to determination of the Compounded Daily SOFR have the meanings set forth under Condition 6.6(f) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded Daily SOFR, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Capital Notes.

(d) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded SOFR Index Rate

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded SOFR Index Rate", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded SOFR Index Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

"Compounded SOFR Index Rate" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in U.S. dollars as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{start}} - 1\right) \times \frac{360}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day in relation to which "SOFR Index_{Start}" is determined to (but excluding) the day in relation to which "SOFR Index_{End}" is determined (being the number of calendar days in the applicable reference period);

"Relevant Number" is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"SOFR Index_{End}" means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (I) the Interest Payment Date for the relevant Interest Period or (II) if applicable, the relevant payment date if the Capital Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date;

"SOFR Indexstart" means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first date of the relevant Interest Period;

"SOFR Index" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, prior to a Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the SOFR Index published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as such value appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; provided that
- (ii) if the SOFR Index_{Start} or the SOFR Index_{End} does not appear on the SOFR Administrator's Website on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date and a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to the Compounded SOFR Index Rate, the Compounded SOFR Index Rate for the applicable Interest Period for which such SOFR Index is not available shall be the "Compounded Daily SOFR" determined in accordance with Condition 6.6(c) above as if the Calculation Method specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement were "Compounded Daily SOFR" (and not "SOFR Index Determination"), and for these purposes: (i) the "Observation Method" shall be deemed to be "Observation Shift", and (ii) the "Observation Shift Period" shall be deemed to be equal to the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days, as if those alternative elections had been made in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" has the meaning set out in Condition 6.6(c) above.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to determination of the Compounded SOFR Index Rate have the meanings set forth under Condition 6.6(f) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded SOFR Index Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Capital Notes.

(e) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Average SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Average SOFR", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Average SOFR Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

"Average SOFR Rate" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the arithmetic mean of SOFR in effect during such Interest Period as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_o} SOFR_i \times n_i}{d}$$

where $\mathbf{d}, \mathbf{d}_0, \mathbf{I}, \mathbf{n}_i, \mathbf{SOFR}$ and \mathbf{SOFR}_i have the meanings set out in Condition 6.6(c) above.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Average SOFR Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 6.6(f) below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the Capital Notes

(f) SOFR Benchmark Replacement

Notwithstanding any other provisions in these Conditions if any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to a Benchmark, then the

following provisions of this Condition 6.6(f) shall apply subject to the prior written approval of APRA.

Holders of Capital Notes should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Conforming Change or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

(i) Benchmark Replacement

If the Issuer or its Designee determines prior to the Reference Time in respect of any determination of the SOFR on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and all determinations on all subsequent dates (subject to any subsequent application of this 6.6(f) with respect to such Benchmark Replacement).

In the event that the Issuer or its Designee is unable to, or does not, determine a Benchmark Replacement, or a Benchmark Replacement is not implemented in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be:

- (1) that determined as at the last preceding SOFR Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period); or
- (2) if there is no such preceding SOFR Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Capital Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period had the Capital Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the Margin applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

(ii) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes

In connection with the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its Designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Principal Paying Agent of the certificate referred to in Condition 6.6(f)(iv) below and subject as provided below, the Agents shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders or Couponholders and without liability to the Noteholders or any other person, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes with effect from the date specified in the notice referred to in Condition 6.6(f)(iv) below.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 6.6(f)(ii), the Agents shall not be obliged to concur with the Issuer in respect of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes which, in the sole opinion of the relevant Agent, would (i) expose the relevant Agent to any additional liability or (ii) increase the obligations or duties, or decrease the rights or protections, afforded to the relevant Agent in the Agency Agreement and/or these Conditions.

(iii) Decisions and Determinations

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its Designee pursuant to this Condition 6.6(f), including (without limitation) any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, may be made in the Issuer's or its Designee's sole discretion (as

applicable), and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions or other documentation relating to the Capital Notes, shall become effective without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, Couponholders or any other party.

In connection with any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), if and for so long as the Capital Notes are admitted to trading and listed on the official list of a stock exchange, the Issuer shall comply with the rules of that stock exchange.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 6.6(f), no Benchmark Replacement will be adopted, nor will any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes be made, if and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, the same could reasonably be expected to prejudice the treatment of any relevant Series of Capital Notes as Tier 1 Capital.

(iv) Notice and Certification

Any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes determined under this Condition 6.6(f) shall be notified promptly (in any case, not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant SOFR Interest Determination Date) by the Issuer to the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Principal Paying Agent or other such party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 17, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes.

No later than notifying the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Principal Paying Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as applicable) of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent a certificate (on which the Principal Paying Agent shall be entitled to rely without further enquiry or liability) signed by an Authorised Officer of the Issuer confirming (i) that a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, (ii) the Benchmark Replacement, and (iii) the specific terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 6.6(f).

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date, any Benchmark Replacement is notified to the Principal Paying Agent or any other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being responsible for determining the Rate of Interest pursuant to this Condition 6.6(f)(iv), and the Principal Paying Agent or such other responsible party (as applicable) is in any way uncertain as to the application of such Benchmark Replacement in the calculation or determination of any Rate of Interest, it shall promptly notify the Issuer thereof and the Issuer or its Designee shall direct the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) in writing as to which course of action to adopt in the application of such Benchmark Replacement in the determination of such Rate of Interest. If the Principal Paying Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being responsible for determining the Rate of Interest is not promptly provided with such direction, it shall notify the Issuer thereof, and the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) shall be under no obligation to make such calculation or determination and shall not incur any liability for not doing so. For the avoidance of doubt, for the period that the Principal Paying Agent or such other party (as applicable) remains uncertain of the application of the Benchmark Replacement in the calculation or determination of any Rate of Interest, the original Benchmark and any other applicable fallback provisions provided for in this Condition 6.6(f)(iv) and/or the applicable Final Terms, as the case may be, will continue to apply.

(v) Definitions

In this Condition 6.6(f):

"Benchmark" means, initially, SOFR or SOFR Index (provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR or SOFR Index (or the published daily SOFR or SOFR Index used in the calculation thereof) or any Benchmark which has replaced it in accordance with this Condition 6.6(f), then the term "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement);

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its Designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (A) the sum of: (1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the Corresponding Tenor and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (B) the sum of: (1) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (C) the sum of: (1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer or its Designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes at such time and (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its Designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (A) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (B) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, then the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (C) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its Designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of Interest Period, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer or its Designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its Designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its Designee determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its Designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (A) in the case of paragraph (A) or (B) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the later of (1) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (2) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (B) in the case of paragraph (C) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

- "Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):
- (A) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component);
- (B) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (C) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;
- "Corresponding Tenor" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement under Condition 6.6(f), a tenor (including overnight) having approximately the same length (disregarding Business Day adjustment) as the applicable tenor for the then-current Benchmark;
- "Designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer;
- "ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time:
- "ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;
- "ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;
- "Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (A) if the Benchmark is SOFR or SOFR Index, 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) or such other time as is reasonably agreed between the Issuer or its Designee and the Principal Paying Agent, and (B) if the Benchmark is not SOFR or SOFR Index, the time determined by the Issuer or its Designee in accordance with the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;
- "Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto;
- "SOFR" with respect to any day means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such day by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of the benchmark (or a successor administrator of SOFR);

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, at https://www.newyorkfed.org or any successor source;

"SOFR Index" with respect to any day means the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such day by the SOFR Index Administrator on the SOFR Index Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Index Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of SOFR Index);

"SOFR Index Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

6.7 ISDA Determination

Where "ISDA Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period shall be determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any).

For the purposes of this Condition 6.7, "**ISDA Rate**" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (a) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (b) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (c) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Period unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.7, "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

6.8 BBSW Determination or AONIA Rate Determination

- (a) Where "BBSW Determination" or "AONIA Rate Determination" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined for each Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Floating Rate Notes for each such Interest Period is the sum of the Margin and either (x) the BBSW Rate or (y) the AONIA Rate as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (b) Each Noteholder shall be deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to be bound by, and consents to, the determination of, substitution for and any adjustments made to the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate, as applicable, in each case as described in this Condition 6.8 and in Condition 6.13 below (in all cases without the need for any Noteholder consent). Any determination, decision or election (including a decision to take or refrain from taking any action or as to the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event or circumstance), and any substitution for and adjustments made to, the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate, as applicable, and in each case made in accordance with this Condition 6.8 and Condition 6.13, will, in the absence of manifest or proven error, be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Noteholder and each Agent and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions or other documentation relating to the Capital Notes, shall become effective without the consent of any person.

- (c) If the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) is unwilling or unable to determine a necessary rate, adjustment, quantum, formula, methodology or other variable in order to calculate the applicable Rate of Interest, such rate, adjustment, quantum, formula, methodology or other variable will be determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) or, an alternate financial institution (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) appointed by the Issuer (in its sole discretion) to so determine.
- (d) All rates determined pursuant to this Condition 6.8 and Condition 6.13 shall be expressed as a percentage rate per annum and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place (i.e., to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point) with 0.00005 being rounded upwards.

6.9 Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement) or the relevant BBSW Rate (where BBSW Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.9, "**Designated Maturity**" means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the Specified Duration and means, in relation to BBSW Determination, the Specified Maturity.

6.10 Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts on Floating Rate Notes

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period.

The Principal Paying Agent, the Australian Calculation Agent, or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (as applicable) will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") scheduled to be paid on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (a) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Capital Notes represented by such Global Note;
- (b) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are Australian Domestic Notes, the outstanding nominal amount of the Capital Note; or
- (c) otherwise, the Calculation Amount,

and in each case multiplying such amount by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note which is in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount scheduled to be paid in respect of such Capital Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination (or where such Capital Note has been Converted or Written-Off in part, the Face Value of that Capital Note), without any further rounding.

6.11 Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts on Floating Rate Notes

- Except where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being (a) "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation (by no later than the first day of each Interest Period) and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 17 as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. Each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.
- (b) Where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate" or "Average SOFR", the Principal Paying Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period (as applicable) and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 17 as soon as possible after their determination but in any event no later than, in the case of Compounded Daily SONIA, the second London Banking Day (as defined in Condition 6.6(b)) and, in the case of Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate and Average SOFR, the second U.S. Government Securities Business Day (as defined in Condition 6.6(c)) thereafter. Each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Accrual Period or Interest Period (as applicable). Any such amendment or alternative arrangements will be promptly notified to each stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

6.12 Benchmark Discontinuation

Notwithstanding the provisions in Conditions 6.6 and 6.8 above, except when the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "Compounded Daily SOFR", "Compounded SOFR Index Rate", "Average SOFR", "AONIA" or "BBSW Rate", if the Issuer determines that a Reference Rate used in a Relevant Rate has been or will be affected by a Reference Rate Disruption Event (as applicable), then the following provisions shall apply.

- (a) Subject to APRA's prior written approval, the Issuer:
 - (i) shall determine the Reference Rate Successor Rate;
 - (ii) may, if it determines it to be appropriate, also determine an adjustment factor or an adjustment methodology to make such Reference Rate Successor Rate comparable to the relevant Reference Rate; and
 - (iii) may, if it determines it to be appropriate, also determine successors to one or more of the Business Day Convention, Business Day, Day Count Fraction, Relevant Financial

Centre, Relevant Time, Relevant Screen Page, Interest Determination Date or other relevant input for calculating such Reference Rate Successor Rate,

and such successor rate together, if applicable, with such other adjustments and successor inputs shall, from the date determined by the Issuer to be appropriate, be used to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 6.12).

Noteholders should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any Reference Rate Successor Rate it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

- (b) If, in respect of any Interest Determination Date, the Issuer is unable to determine a Reference Rate Successor Rate in accordance with paragraph (a) above, the relevant Reference Rate in respect of:
 - (i) that Interest Determination Date shall be the Reference Rate determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date; and
 - (ii) any subsequent Interest Determination Date shall be determined in accordance with paragraph (a) above and, if necessary, this paragraph (b).
- (c) In making its determinations in accordance with this Condition 6.12, the Issuer:
 - (i) shall act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner; and
 - (ii) may appoint an independent financial institution or other independent adviser at its own expense or consult with such other sources of market practice as it considers appropriate,

but otherwise may make such determinations in its discretion.

- (d) The Issuer shall promptly notify the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as applicable), the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest and, in accordance with Condition 17, the Noteholders, of the Reference Rate Successor Rate and other adjustments and successor inputs determined in accordance with this Condition 6.12.
- (e) For the purposes of this Condition 6.12:

"Reference Rate Disruption Event" means that the relevant Reference Rate:

- (i) is discontinued or otherwise ceases to be calculated, administered or published; or
- (ii) ceases to be in customary market usage in the relevant market as a reference rate appropriate to relevant floating rate debt securities of a tenor and interest period comparable to that of the Notes; and

"Reference Rate Successor Rate" means the rate identified by the Issuer to be the successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate subject to the Reference Rate Disruption Event or the rate that is otherwise in customary market usage in the relevant market for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for relevant floating rate debt securities of a tenor and interest period most comparable to that of the Notes.

6.13 Benchmark Rate fallback

If in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred; or
- (b) a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred,

then (subject, in the case of a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger only, to APRA's prior written approval) the Benchmark Rate for an Interest Period, whilst such Temporary Disruption Trigger is continuing or after a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred, means (in the following order of application and precedence):

- (i) where BBSW Rate is the Applicable Benchmark Rate, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, the Administrator Recommended Rate;
 - (B) then the Supervisor Recommended Rate; and
 - (C) lastly, the Final Fallback Rate;
- (ii) where AONIA is the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a determination of the AONIA Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (i) above, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to AONIA, the rate for any day for which AONIA is required will be the last provided or published level of AONIA;
- (iii) where a determination of the RBA Recommended Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (i) or (ii) above, if a Temporary Disruption Trigger has occurred with respect to the RBA Recommended Rate, the rate for any day for which the RBA Recommended Rate is required will be the last rate provided or published by the Administrator of the RBA Recommended Rate (or if no such rate has been so provided or published, the last provided or published level of AONIA);
- (iv) where BBSW Rate is the Applicable Benchmark Rate, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, the rate for any day for which the BBSW Rate is required on or after the Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the first rate available in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, if at the time of the BBSW Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date, no AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the AONIA Rate;
 - (B) then, if at the time of the BBSW Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date, an AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, an RBA Recommended Rate has been created but no RBA Recommended Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the RBA Recommended Fallback Rate; and
 - (C) lastly, if neither paragraph (A) nor paragraph (B) above apply, the Final Fallback Rate:
- (v) where AONIA is the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a determination of the AONIA Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (iv)(A) above, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to AONIA, the rate for any day for which AONIA is required on or after the AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the first rate available in the following order of precedence:
 - (A) first, if at the time of the AONIA Permanent Fallback Effective Date, an RBA Recommended Rate has been created but no RBA Recommended Rate Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred, the RBA Recommended Rate; and
 - (B) lastly, if paragraph (A) above does not apply, the Final Fallback Rate; and
- (vi) where a determination of the RBA Recommended Rate is required for the purposes of paragraph (iv) or (v) above, respectively, if a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger has occurred with respect to the RBA Recommended Rate, the rate for any day for which

the RBA Recommended Rate is required on or after that Permanent Fallback Effective Date will be the Final Fallback Rate.

When calculating an amount of interest in circumstances where a Fallback Rate other than the Final Fallback Rate applies, that interest will be calculated as if references to the BBSW Rate or AONIA Rate (as applicable) were references to that Fallback Rate. When calculating interest in circumstances where the Final Fallback Rate applies, the amount of interest will be calculated on the same basis as if the Applicable Benchmark Rate in effect immediately prior to the application of that Final Fallback Rate remained in effect but with necessary adjustments to substitute all references to that Applicable Benchmark Rate with corresponding references to the Final Fallback Rate.

Noteholders should note that APRA's approval may not be given for any Fallback Rate it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

6.14 Benchmark Rate fallback definitions

In Conditions 6.8 and 6.13:

- "Adjustment Spread" means the adjustment spread as at the Adjustment Spread Fixing Date (which may be a positive or negative value or zero and determined pursuant to a formula or methodology) that is:
- (a) determined as the median of the historical differences between the BBSW Rate and AONIA over a five calendar year period prior to the Adjustment Spread Fixing Date using practices based on those used for the determination of the Bloomberg Adjustment Spread as at 1 December 2022, provided that for so long as the Bloomberg Adjustment Spread is published and determined based on the five year median of the historical differences between the BBSW Rate and AONIA, that adjustment spread will be deemed to be acceptable for the purposes of this paragraph (a); or
- (b) if no such median can be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), set using the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) (after consultation with the Issuer where practicable) to be appropriate.
- "Adjustment Spread Fixing Date" means the first date on which a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger occurs with respect to the BBSW Rate.

"Administrator" means:

- (a) in respect of the BBSW Rate, ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited (ABN 38 616 075 417);
- (b) in respect of AONIA, the Reserve Bank of Australia; and
- in respect of any other Applicable Benchmark Rate, the administrator for that rate or benchmark or, if there is no administrator, the provider of that rate or benchmark,

and, in each case, any successor administrator or, as applicable, any successor administrator or provider.

"Administrator Recommended Rate" means the rate formally recommended for use as the temporary replacement for the BBSW Rate by the Administrator of the BBSW Rate.

"AONIA" means the Australian dollar interbank overnight cash rate (known as AONIA).

"AONIA Observation Period" means the period from (and including) the date falling five Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date falling five Business Days prior to the end of such Interest Period (or the date falling five Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Capital Notes become due and payable).

"AONIA Rate" means, for an Interest Period and in respect of an Interest Determination Date, the rate determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) to be Compounded Daily AONIA for that Interest Period and Interest Determination Date plus the Adjustment Spread (if any).

"Applicable Benchmark Rate" means the Benchmark Rate specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and, if a Permanent Fallback Effective Date has occurred with respect to the BBSW Rate, AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, then the rate determined in accordance with Condition 6.13.

"BBSW Rate" means, for an Interest Period, the rate for prime bank eligible securities having a tenor closest to the Interest Period which is designated as the "AVG MID" on the 'Refinitiv Screen ASX29 Page' or the 'Bloomberg Screen BBSW Page' (or any designation which replaces that designation on the applicable page, or any replacement page) at the Publication Time on the first Business Day of that Interest Period.

"Benchmark Rate" means, in respect of a Capital Note, for an Interest Period, either the BBSW Rate or the AONIA Rate as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

"Bloomberg Adjustment Spread" means the term adjusted AONIA spread relating to the BBSW Rate provided by Bloomberg Index Services Limited (or a successor provider as approved and/or appointed by ISDA from time to time as the provider of term adjusted AONIA and the spread) ("BISL") on the Fallback Rate (AONIA) Screen (or by other means), or provided to, and published by, authorised distributors where Fallback Rate (AONIA) Screen means the Bloomberg Screen corresponding to the Bloomberg ticker for the fallback for the BBSW Rate accessed via the Bloomberg Screen <FBAK> <GO> Page (or, if applicable, accessed via the Bloomberg Screen <HP> <GO>) or any other published source designated by BISL.

"Compounded Daily AONIA" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment during the AONIA Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Period (with AONIA as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) on the fifth Business Day prior to the last day of each Interest Period, as follows:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{AONIA_{i-5 SBD} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

 $AONIA_{i-5SBD}$ means the per annum rate expressed as a decimal which is the level of AONIA provided by the Administrator and published as of the Publication Time for the Business Day falling five Business Days prior to such Business Day "i";

d is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period;

 d_0 is the number of Business Days in the relevant Interest Period;

i is a series of whole numbers from 1 to d_0 , each representing the relevant Business Day in chronological order from (and including) the first Business Day in the relevant Interest Period to (and including) the last Business Day in such Interest Period;

 n_i for any Business Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and including) such Business Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following Business Day; and

SBD means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business in Sydney.

If, for any reason, Compounded Daily AONIA needs to be determined for a period other than an Interest Period, Compounded Daily AONIA is to be determined as if that period were an Interest Period starting on (and including) the first day of that period and ending on (but excluding) the last day of that period.

"Designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer;

"Fallback Rate" means, where a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger for an Applicable Benchmark Rate has occurred, the rate that applies to replace that Applicable Benchmark Rate in accordance with Condition 6.13.

"Final Fallback Rate" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, the rate:

- (a) determined by the Issuer or its Designee (as applicable) as a commercially reasonable alternative for the Applicable Benchmark Rate taking into account all available information that, in good faith, it considers relevant, provided that any rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) implemented by central counterparties and / or futures exchanges with representative trade volumes in derivatives or futures referencing the Applicable Benchmark Rate will be deemed to be acceptable for the purposes of this paragraph (a), together with (without double counting) such adjustment spread (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that is customarily applied to the relevant successor rate or alternative rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for Benchmark Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time (together with such other adjustments to the Business Day Convention, interest determination dates and related provisions and definitions, in each case that are consistent with accepted market practice for the use of such successor rate or alternative rate for Benchmark Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time), or, if no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged, the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread determined by the Issuer or its Designee (as applicable) to be appropriate; provided that
- (b) if and for so long as no such successor rate or alternative rate can be determined in accordance with paragraph (a), the Final Fallback Rate will be the last provided or published level of that Applicable Benchmark Rate.

"Non-Representative" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, that the Supervisor of that Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate:

- (a) has determined that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such Applicable Benchmark Rate is intended to measure and that representativeness will not be restored; and
- (b) is aware that such determination will engage certain contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such Supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts.

"Permanent Discontinuation Trigger" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate announcing that it has ceased or that it will cease to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator or provider, as applicable, that will continue to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate and, in the case of the BBSW Rate, a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate has confirmed that cessation;
- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate, the Reserve Bank of Australia (or any successor central bank for Australian dollars), an insolvency official or resolution authority with jurisdiction over the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution

authority over the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate which states that the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate has ceased or will cease to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator or provider that will continue to provide the Applicable Benchmark Rate and, in the case of the BBSW Rate and a public statement or publication of information other than by the Supervisor, a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate has confirmed that cessation;

- (c) a public statement by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, as a consequence of which the Applicable Benchmark Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Capital Notes, or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences to the Issuer or a Noteholder;
- (d) as a consequence of a change in law or directive arising after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of Capital Notes of a Series, it has become unlawful for the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable), the Issuer or any other party responsible for calculations of interest under the Conditions to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Applicable Benchmark Rate;
- (e) a public statement or publication of information by the Supervisor of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is the BBSW Rate, or the Administrator of the Applicable Benchmark Rate if the Applicable Benchmark Rate is AONIA or the RBA Recommended Rate, stating that the Applicable Benchmark Rate is Non-Representative; or
- (f) the Applicable Benchmark Rate has otherwise ceased to exist or be administered on a permanent or indefinite basis.

"Permanent Fallback Effective Date" means, in respect of a Permanent Discontinuation Trigger for an Applicable Benchmark Rate:

- (a) in the case of paragraphs (a) and (b) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the first date on which the Applicable Benchmark Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided and is no longer published or provided;
- (b) in the case of paragraphs (c) and (d) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the date from which use of the Applicable Benchmark Rate is prohibited or becomes subject to restrictions or adverse consequences or the calculation becomes unlawful (as applicable);
- (c) in the case of paragraph (e) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the first date on which the Applicable Benchmark Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided but is Non-Representative by reference to the most recent statement or publication contemplated in that paragraph and even if such Applicable Benchmark Rates continues to be published or provided on such date; or
- (d) in the case of paragraph (f) of the definition of "Permanent Discontinuation Trigger", the date that event occurs.

"Publication Time" means:

- (a) in respect of the BBSW Rate, 12.00noon (Sydney time) or any amended publication time for the final intraday refix of such rate specified by the Administrator for the BBSW Rate in its benchmark methodology; and
- (b) in respect of AONIA, 4.00pm (Sydney time) or any amended publication time for the final intraday refix of such rate specified by the Administrator for AONIA in its benchmark methodology.

"RBA Recommended Fallback Rate" has the same meaning given to AONIA Rate but with necessary adjustments to substitute all references to AONIA with corresponding references to the RBA Recommended Rate.

"RBA Recommended Rate" means, in respect of any relevant day (including any day "i"), the rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) recommended as the replacement for AONIA by the Reserve Bank of Australia (which rate may be produced by the Reserve Bank of Australia or another administrator) and as provided by the Administrator of that rate or, if that rate is not provided by the Administrator thereof, published by an authorised distributor in respect of that day.

"Supervisor" means, in respect of an Applicable Benchmark Rate, the supervisor or competent authority that is responsible for supervising that Applicable Benchmark Rate or the Administrator of that Applicable Benchmark Rate, or any committee officially endorsed or convened by any such supervisor or competent authority that is responsible for supervising that Applicable Benchmark Rate or the Administrator of that Applicable Benchmark Rate.

"Supervisor Recommended Rate" means the rate formally recommended for use as the temporary replacement for the BBSW Rate by the Supervisor of the BBSW Rate.

"Temporary Disruption Trigger" means, in respect of any Applicable Benchmark Rate which is required for any determination:

- (a) the Applicable Benchmark Rate has not been published by the applicable Administrator or an authorised distributor and is not otherwise provided by the Administrator, in respect of, on, for or by the time and date on which that Applicable Benchmark Rate is required; or
- (b) the Applicable Benchmark Rate is published or provided but the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) determines that there is an obvious or proven error in that rate.

7 Conversion or Write-Off on Non-Viability Trigger Event

7.1 Non-Viability Trigger Event

- (a) A "Non-Viability Trigger Event" occurs when APRA provides a written determination to the Issuer that:
 - (i) the conversion or write-off of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments is necessary because, without the conversion or write-off, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable; or
 - (ii) without a public sector injection of capital into, or equivalent support with respect to, the Issuer, APRA considers that the Issuer would become non-viable.

A written determination by APRA under this Condition 7.1(a) is a "Non-Viability Determination".

- (b) If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs, the Issuer must convert or write-off:
 - (i) all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments; or
 - (ii) where Condition 7.1(a)(i) applies, an amount of the Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments that is less than all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments if APRA is satisfied that conversion or write-off of that amount will be sufficient to ensure that the Issuer does not become non-viable.

A Non-Viability Determination takes effect, and the Issuer must perform the obligations set out in these Conditions in respect of the determination, immediately on the day it is received by the Issuer, whether or not such day is a Business Day.

7.2 Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice

- (a) If a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs:
 - (i) on the date that event occurs (the "Non-Viability Conversion Date"), the Issuer must immediately determine in accordance with the Non-Viability Determination:
 - (A) the aggregate Face Value of Capital Notes that will Convert or be Written-Off (such amount being the "**Required Amount**") and the aggregate nominal amount of other Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments which will convert or be written-off; and
 - (B) the identity of the Noteholders at the time that the Conversion or Write-Off is to take effect on that date (and in making that determination the Issuer may make any decisions with respect to the identity of the Noteholders at that time as may be necessary or desirable to ensure Conversion or Write-Off occurs in an orderly manner, including disregarding any transfers of Capital Notes that have not been settled or registered at that time);
 - (ii) subject only to Condition 7.3 and despite any other provision in these Conditions, on the Non-Viability Conversion Date the Required Amount of Capital Notes will Convert or be Written-Off, and the relevant aggregate nominal amount of other Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments will convert or be written-off, in each case immediately and irrevocably; and
 - (iii) the Issuer must give notice of the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event (a "Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice") to Noteholders and the Agents as soon as practicable after the relevant Conversion or Write-Off occurs which states the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the Required Amount of Capital Notes Converted or Written-Off and the relevant amount of other Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments converted or written-off, the Nominal Amount of the relevant Noteholder's Capital Notes Converted or Written-Off together with relevant particulars of any related calculations or determinations as they relate to that Noteholder made by the Issuer.
- (b) If, in accordance with Condition 7.1(b)(ii), the Issuer is required to convert or write-off only an amount of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments that is less than all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments, in determining the Required Amount of Capital Notes which must be Converted or Written-Off in accordance with this Condition 7, the Issuer may, in its discretion, Convert or Write-Off (in the case of Capital Notes) or convert into Ordinary Shares or write-off (in the case of any other securities issued as Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments) Capital Notes (or part thereof) and any other securities issued as Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments on a proportionate basis (unless the terms of any such other security provide for that security to be converted or written-off other than on a proportionate basis with the Capital Notes and other such securities), or such other basis as the Issuer considers fair and reasonable (subject to such adjustment as the Issuer may determine to take into account logistical considerations and the effect on marketable parcels and whole numbers of Ordinary Shares and any Capital Notes or other securities issued as Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments remaining on issue), provided always that nothing in the making of the determination or the adjustments is to delay or impede the immediate Conversion or Write-Off of the Capital Notes on the Non-Viability Conversion Date.
- (c) For the purposes of Condition 7.2(b), where the Specified Currency of the principal amount of Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments is not the same for all Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments, the Issuer may treat them as if converted into a single currency of the Issuer's choice at such rate of exchange determined in accordance with the terms of such Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments or as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if those terms do not specify a basis for determining such rates of exchange, at such rate of exchange as the Issuer in good faith considers reasonable.
- (d) None of the following shall prevent, impede or delay the Conversion or Write-Off of Capital Notes as required by this Condition 7.2:

- (i) any failure of, or delay in, the conversion or write-off of any other Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments;
- (ii) any failure or delay in giving a Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice;
- (iii) any failure or delay in quotation of the Ordinary Shares to be issued on Conversion;
- (iv) any decision as to the identity of Noteholders whose Notes are to be Converted in accordance with Condition 7.2(a)(i)(B); or
- (v) any requirement to select or adjust the amount of Capital Notes to be Converted in accordance with Condition 7.2(b).
- (e) From (and including) the Non-Viability Conversion Date, subject to Condition 7.3 and Condition 19.2(c), the Issuer shall treat the Noteholder in respect of the Capital Notes as the holder of the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares and will take all such steps, including updating any register relating to the Ordinary Shares, required to record the Conversion.

7.3 Specification of Conversion or Write-Off

- (a) The applicable Pricing Supplement shall specify whether Conversion or Write-Off is applicable to the Capital Notes upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event.
- (b) Where:
 - (i) the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies Conversion as applicable and, for any reason (including, without limitation, an Inability Event), a Conversion in respect of a Capital Note required by these Conditions has not been effected within five Scheduled Trading Days after the Non-Viability Conversion Date; or
 - (ii) the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies Write-Off as applicable,

the rights of the relevant Noteholder (including without limitation in respect of a redemption (whether or not a notice of that redemption has been given) and to the payment of interest and the Redemption Amount) in relation to the Nominal Amount of that Capital Note required to be Converted or Written-Off (as applicable) are immediately and irrevocably written-off and terminated ("Written-Off") with effect on and from the Non-Viability Conversion Date.

7.4 Partial Conversion or Write-Off

To the extent that a Capital Note has been Converted or Written-Off in part only:

- (a) the Face Value (including without limitation for the purposes of calculating interest), the Redemption Amount, the amount of any interest applicable to that Capital Note and any related amount shall be reduced in the same proportion as the Face Value Converted or Written-Off in respect of that Capital Note bore to the Face Value of that Capital Note before such Conversion or Write-Off and these Conditions (including without limitation this Condition 7) shall continue to apply in respect of the Capital Note as so reduced;
- (b) where the Non-Viability Conversion Date is not an Interest Payment Date, the amount of interest scheduled to be paid in respect of that Capital Note on each Interest Payment Date falling after that Conversion Date will be reduced and calculated on the Face Value of that Capital Note as so reduced on the date of the Conversion or Write-Off;
- (c) other than in respect of an Australian Domestic Note, the Noteholder must immediately:
 - (i) in the case of Bearer Notes, present and surrender each such Capital Note together with, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons attached to it, to the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent; and

(ii) in the case of Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes), present and surrender such Capital Note to the Specified Office of the Registrar,

and, at the option of the Issuer, that Capital Note (and, as applicable, those Coupons and Talons) shall either:

- (iii) be endorsed to reflect the Conversion or Write-Off; or
- (iv) be surrendered, in which case the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be) shall authenticate and deliver (or procure the delivery of) a new Capital Note (and, as applicable, Coupons and Talons) to the Noteholder representing the Capital Notes (and, as applicable, the Coupons and Talons) held by the Noteholder following the Conversion or Write-Off, and in any such case, delivery of the new Capital Note will be to the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be) or by uninsured mail (at the risk of the Noteholder) to such address as the Noteholder may request; and
- (d) in respect of a Registered Note (including an Australian Domestic Note) only, the Issuer shall notify the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as the case may be) of the nominal amount of such Capital Note that has been Converted or Written-Off and instruct the Registrar or Australian Registrar (as the case may be) to reflect such Conversion or Write-Off in the Register or Australian Register (as applicable) so that the nominal amount of such Capital Note is reduced by such amount as has been Converted or Written-Off.

Any failure or delay in performing the obligations in this Condition 7.4 shall not prevent, impede or delay the Conversion or Write-Off of the Capital Notes required by Condition 7.2.

To the extent that some but not all Capital Notes are Converted or Written-Off in full, any Capital Notes not Converted or Written-Off in full shall remain outstanding and these Conditions shall remain in full force and effect as regards such Capital Notes.

7.5 Surrender and cancellation of Capital Notes

If a Capital Note is Converted or Written-Off in full:

- (a) other than in respect of an Australian Domestic Note, the Noteholder must immediately present and surrender that Capital Note (together, in the case of a Capital Note that is a Definitive Bearer Note, with such unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons as are attached to it) at the Specified Office of:
 - (i) in the case of Bearer Notes, the Principal Paying Agent;
 - (ii) in the case of a Registered Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note), to the Registrar; and
- (b) the Principal Paying Agent, Registrar or Australian Registrar (as the case may be) shall cancel or arrange for the cancellation of the Capital Note, but any failure or delay in so presenting or surrendering any Capital Note (in the case of Capital Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes) or its cancellation (in any case) shall not prevent, impede or delay the Conversion or Write-Off of the Capital Notes required by Condition 7.2.

7.6 No conversion at the option of Noteholders

A Noteholder cannot require the Issuer to convert all or some of the Capital Notes held by that Noteholder into Ordinary Shares.

7.7 Direction to Agents

The Issuer authorises and directs the Agents to take any and all action contemplated by these Conditions, the Deed of Covenant, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian

Agency and Registry Agreement (as applicable) which is necessary or convenient to give effect to any Conversion and/or any Write-Off upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Trigger Event and each Noteholder irrevocably consents to any and all such action.

8 Conversion mechanics

8.1 Conversion

On a Non-Viability Conversion Date, where the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies Conversion as applicable, subject to Conditions 7.3 and 8.12, the following will apply:

(a) The Issuer will allot and issue the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares in respect of each Capital Note required to be Converted to the relevant Noteholder or as contemplated in Conditions 8.11 and 8.12. The "Conversion Number" for each Capital Note is calculated according to the following formula, and subject always to the Conversion Number being no greater than the Maximum Conversion Number:

Conversion Number = $\frac{\text{Nominal Amount}}{99\% \times \text{VWAP}}$

where:

"Nominal Amount" means, in respect of a Capital Note, all or such lesser amount of the Face Value of that Capital Note determined by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 7.2(b) and the other provisions of Condition 7 to be the proportionate allocation of the Required Amount to the Face Value of that Capital Note; and

"Maximum Conversion Number" means a number calculated according to the following formula:

 $Maximum\ Conversion\ Number = \frac{Nominal\ Amount}{0.20 \times Issue\ Date\ VWAP}$

- (b) Each Noteholder's rights (including without limitation) in respect of a redemption (whether or not notice of that redemption has been given) and to payment of interest in relation to the Nominal Amount of each of its Capital Notes required to be Converted will be immediately and irrevocably terminated for an amount equal to the Nominal Amount applicable to the relevant Capital Note and the Issuer will apply that Nominal Amount by way of payment for the subscription for the Ordinary Shares required to be allotted and issued under Condition 8.1(a). Each Noteholder is taken to have irrevocably directed that any amount scheduled to be paid under this Condition 8.1 is to be applied as provided for in this Condition 8.1 and no Noteholder has any right to payment in any other way.
- (c) If the total number of Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued in respect of a Noteholder's aggregate holding of Capital Notes includes a fraction of an Ordinary Share, that fraction of an Ordinary Share will be disregarded and the relevant Noteholder shall have no rights whatsoever in respect of that fraction.

8.2 Adjustments to VWAP generally

For the purposes of calculating VWAP under Condition 8.1:

- (a) where, on some or all of the Trading Days in the relevant VWAP Period, Ordinary Shares have been quoted on ASX as cum dividend or cum any other distribution or entitlement and Capital Notes will be Converted into Ordinary Shares after that date and those Ordinary Shares will no longer carry that dividend or any other distribution or entitlement, the VWAP on the Trading Days on which those Ordinary Shares have been quoted cum dividend or cum any other distribution or entitlement will be reduced by an amount ("Cum Value") equal to:
 - (i) in the case of a dividend or other distribution, the amount of that dividend or other distribution including, if the dividend or other distribution is franked, the amount that

would be included in the assessable income of a recipient of the dividend or other distribution who is both a resident of Australia and a natural person under the Tax Act;

- (ii) in the case of any other entitlement that is not a dividend or other distribution under Condition 8.2(a)(i) which is traded on ASX on any of those Trading Days, the volume weighted average price of all such entitlements sold on ASX during the VWAP Period on the Trading Days on which those entitlements were traded; or
- (iii) in the case of any other entitlement which is not traded on ASX during the VWAP Period, the value of the entitlement as reasonably determined by the Issuer; and
- (b) where, on some or all of the Trading Days in the VWAP Period, Ordinary Shares have been quoted as ex dividend or ex any other distribution or entitlement, and Capital Notes will be Converted into Ordinary Shares which would be entitled to receive the relevant dividend, distribution or entitlement, the VWAP on the Trading Days on which those Ordinary Shares have been quoted ex dividend or ex any other distribution or entitlement will be increased by the Cum Value.

Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.2 will be effective and binding on Noteholders and the Agents under these Conditions and will be construed accordingly.

8.3 Adjustments to VWAP for Reorganisation

(a) Where during the relevant VWAP Period there is a change to the number of Ordinary Shares on issue as a result of a Reorganisation, in calculating the VWAP for the VWAP Period, the VWAP for each Trading Day in the relevant VWAP Period which falls before the date on which trading in Ordinary Shares is conducted on a post Reorganisation basis shall be adjusted by multiplying the applicable VWAP by the following formula:

<u>A</u> B

where:

"A" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares immediately before the Reorganisation; and

"B" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares immediately after the Reorganisation.

(b) Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.3 will be effective and binding on Noteholders and the Agents under these Conditions and these Conditions will be construed accordingly.

8.4 Adjustments to Issue Date VWAP generally

For the purposes of determining the Issue Date VWAP, adjustments will be made in accordance with Conditions 8.2 and 8.3 during the VWAP Period for the Issue Date VWAP. On and from the Issue Date, adjustments to the Issue Date VWAP:

- (a) may be made by the Issuer in accordance with Conditions 8.5 to 8.7 (inclusive); and
- (b) if so made, will correspondingly cause an adjustment to the Maximum Conversion Number.

8.5 Adjustments to Issue Date VWAP for bonus issues

(a) Subject to Condition 8.5(b), if at any time after the Issue Date, the Issuer makes a pro rata bonus issue of Ordinary Shares to holders of Ordinary Shares generally, the Issue Date VWAP will be adjusted immediately in accordance with the following formula:

RD

$$V = Vo x \frac{}{RD + RN}$$

where:

"V" means the Issue Date VWAP applying immediately after the application of this formula;

"Vo" means the Issue Date VWAP applying immediately prior to the application of this formula:

"RD" means the number of Ordinary Shares on issue immediately prior to the allotment of new Ordinary Shares pursuant to the bonus issue; and

"RN" means the number of Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the bonus issue.

- (b) For the avoidance of doubt, Condition 8.5(a) does not apply to Ordinary Shares issued as part of a bonus share plan, employee or executive share plan, executive option plan, share top up plan, share purchase plan or a dividend reinvestment plan.
- (c) For the purpose of Condition 8.5(a), an issue will be regarded as a bonus issue notwithstanding that the Issuer does not make offers to some or all holders of Ordinary Shares with registered addresses outside Australia, provided that in so doing the Issuer is not in contravention of the ASX Listing Rules.
- (d) No adjustments to the Issue Date VWAP will be made under this Condition 8.5 for any offer of Ordinary Shares not covered by Condition 8.5(a), including a rights issue or other essentially pro rata issue.
- (e) The fact that no adjustment is made for an issue of Ordinary Shares except as covered by Condition 8.5(a) shall not in any way restrict the Issuer from issuing Ordinary Shares at any time on such terms as it sees fit nor be taken to constitute a modification or variation of rights or privileges of Noteholders or otherwise requiring any consent or concurrence of the Noteholders.
- (f) Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.5 will be effective and binding on Noteholders under these Conditions and these Conditions will be construed accordingly.

8.6 Adjustments to Issue Date VWAP for Reorganisation

(a) If at any time after the Issue Date there is a change to the number of Ordinary Shares on issue because of a Reorganisation, the Issue Date VWAP will be adjusted by multiplying the Issue Date VWAP applicable on the Trading Day immediately before the date of any such Reorganisation by the following formula:

A B

where:

"A" means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares on issue immediately before the Reorganisation; and

 ${}^{\mathbf{B}}{}^{\mathbf{B}}{}^{\mathbf{m}}$ means the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares on issue immediately after the Reorganisation.

(b) Any adjustment made by the Issuer in accordance with this Condition 8.6 will be effective and binding on the Noteholders under these Conditions and these Conditions will be construed accordingly.

(c) Each Noteholder acknowledges that the Issuer may consolidate, divide or reclassify securities so that there is a lesser or greater number of Ordinary Shares at any time in its absolute discretion without any such action constituting a modification or variation of rights or privileges of Noteholders or otherwise requiring any consent or concurrence of the Noteholders.

8.7 No adjustment to Issue Date VWAP in certain circumstances

Despite the provisions of Conditions 8.5 and 8.6, no adjustment will be made to the Issue Date VWAP where any such adjustment (rounded if applicable) would be less than one per cent. of the Issue Date VWAP then in effect.

8.8 Announcement of adjustments to Issue Date VWAP

The Issuer will notify the Noteholders of any adjustment to the Issue Date VWAP under Condition 8 within 10 Business Days of the Issuer determining the adjustment.

8.9 Status of Ordinary Shares

Ordinary Shares issued upon Conversion will rank equally with all other fully paid Ordinary Shares on issue at the time of such Conversion.

8.10 Listing Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion

The Issuer must use reasonable endeavours to:

- (a) list the Ordinary Shares issued upon Conversion on ASX; and
- (b) procure that the Ordinary Shares issued upon Conversion are able to be freely traded after their issue date on ASX in compliance with all requirements of the Corporations Act, all other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules without requirement for further disclosure or other action by any Noteholder or persons to whom its shares are issued (except in case of applicable law other than Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act, to the extent that a restriction on trading is attributable to the particular circumstances of the Noteholder and is not otherwise within the control of the Issuer).

The Noteholder agrees not to trade Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion (except as permitted by the Corporations Act, other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules) until the Issuer has taken such steps as are required by the Corporations Act, other applicable laws and the ASX Listing Rules for the shares to be freely tradeable without such further disclosure or other action and agrees to allow the Issuer to impose a holding lock or refuse to register a transfer in respect of Ordinary Shares until such time. The Issuer will promptly notify Noteholders when this restriction on trading ceases to apply.

8.11 Provision of information

Where a Nominal Amount of Capital Notes held by a Noteholder is required to be Converted under Condition 7, a Noteholder wishing to receive Ordinary Shares must, no later than the Non-Viability Conversion Date, have provided to the Issuer (which notice shall be irrevocable):

- (a) its name and address (or the name and address of any person in whose name it directs the Ordinary Shares to be issued) for entry into any register of title and receipt of any certificate or holding statement in respect of any Ordinary Shares;
- (b) the Noteholder's security account details in CHESS or such other account to which the Ordinary Shares may be credited; and
- (c) such other information as is reasonably requested by and satisfactory to the Issuer for the purposes of enabling it to issue the Conversion Number of Ordinary Shares to the Noteholder,

provided that any notice specifying a person other than the Noteholder as the proposed recipient of any Ordinary Shares must be accompanied by the written agreement of that person to become a member of the Issuer.

8.12 Issue to nominee

- (a) Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, if any Capital Notes are required to be Converted under Condition 7 and:
 - (i) a Noteholder has notified the Issuer that it does not wish to receive Ordinary Shares as a result of the Conversion (whether entirely or to the extent specified in the notice), which notice may be given at any time prior to the Non-Viability Conversion Date;
 - (ii) the Capital Notes are held by a person which the Issuer believes in good faith may not be a resident of Australia (a "Foreign Noteholder");
 - (iii) if for any reason (whether or not due to the fault of a Noteholder) the Issuer has not received to its satisfaction any or all information required in accordance with Condition 8.11 so as to impede or delay the Issuer issuing the Ordinary Shares to a Noteholder or to Noteholders generally on the Non-Viability Conversion Date; or
 - (iv) a FATCA Withholding is required to be made in respect of the Ordinary Shares issued on the Conversion,

then, on the Non-Viability Conversion Date:

- (v) where subparagraph (i), (ii) or (iv) applies, the Issuer is obliged to issue the Ordinary Shares to that Noteholder only to the extent (if at all) that:
 - (A) where subparagraph (i) applies, the Noteholder wishes to receive them;
 - (B) where subparagraph (ii) applies, the Issuer is satisfied that the laws of both Australia and the Foreign Noteholder's country of residence permit the issue of the Ordinary Shares to the Foreign Noteholder (but as to which the Issuer is not bound to enquire), either unconditionally or after compliance with conditions which the Issuer, in its absolute discretion, regards as acceptable and not unduly onerous; or
 - (C) where subparagraph (iv) applies, the issue to that Noteholder is net of the FATCA Withholding,

and to the extent that the Issuer is not obliged to issue Ordinary Shares to that Noteholder, the Issuer will issue the balance of the Ordinary Shares to the nominee in accordance with subparagraph (vi) of this Condition 8.12; and

- (vi) otherwise, subject to applicable law, the Issuer will issue the balance of Ordinary Shares in respect of that Noteholder to a nominee appointed by the Issuer (which nominee may not be the Issuer or a Related Entity of the Issuer) and, subject to applicable law:
 - (A) where subparagraph (iii) applies, the nominee will hold Ordinary Shares in an aggregate amount equal to the aggregate number to be issued in respect of that Noteholder and will transfer Ordinary Shares to that Noteholder if, within 30 days of the Non-Viability Conversion Date, the Noteholder provides the nominee with the information required to be provided by that Noteholder under Condition 8.11 (as if a reference in subparagraph (c) of Condition 8.11 to the Issuer is a reference to the nominee and a reference to the issue of Ordinary Shares is a reference to the transfer of Ordinary Shares);

- (B) where subparagraph (iv) applies, the nominee shall deal with Ordinary Shares the subject of a FATCA Withholding and any proceeds of their disposal in accordance with FATCA; and
- (C) the nominee will as soon as reasonably possible (or, where subparagraph (iii) applies, as soon as reasonably possible after the expiration of the period of 30 days), sell the Ordinary Shares it receives and pay a cash amount equal to the net proceeds received, after deducting any applicable brokerage, stamp duty and other taxes and charges, to that Noteholder.
- (b) The issue of Ordinary Shares to a nominee pursuant to paragraph (a)(vi) will satisfy all obligations of the Issuer to that Noteholder in connection with the Conversion and on and from the issue of Ordinary Shares to such nominee such Capital Notes will be deemed to be Converted and the rights of the Noteholder the subject of this Condition shall be limited to its rights in respect of the Ordinary Shares or their net cash proceeds as provided in this Condition.
- (c) Nothing in this Condition 8.12 shall affect the Conversion of the Capital Notes of a Noteholder which is not a person to which any of subparagraphs (a)(i) to (iii) (inclusive) applies.

8.13 No duty on sale

For the purpose of Condition 8.12, the Issuer does not owe any obligations or duties to the Noteholders in relation to the price at which Ordinary Shares are sold and has no liability for any loss suffered by a Noteholder as a result of the sale of Ordinary Shares by any such nominee.

8.14 Power of attorney

- (a) Each Noteholder appoints each of the Issuer, its officers and any External Administrator of the Issuer (each an "Attorney") severally to be the attorney of the Noteholder with power in the name and on behalf of the Noteholder to sign all documents and transfers and do any other thing as may in the Attorney's opinion be necessary or desirable to be done in order for the Noteholder to observe or perform the Noteholder's obligations under these Conditions including, but not limited to, effecting any Conversion or Write-Off of Capital Notes, making any entry in the Register or the register of any Ordinary Shares or exercising any voting power in relation to any consent or approval required for Conversion or Write-Off.
- (b) The power of attorney given in this Condition 8.14 is given for valuable consideration and to secure the performance by the Noteholder of the Noteholder's obligations under these Conditions and is irrevocable.

8.15 Noteholder acknowledgments

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that:

- (a) where it is required to accept Ordinary Shares under these Conditions, it consents to becoming a member of the Issuer and agrees to be bound by the Constitution, in each case in respect of the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion;
- (b) its Capital Notes will be Converted or, where applicable, Written-Off, when required by these Conditions notwithstanding:
 - (i) any change in the financial position of the Issuer since the Issue Date;
 - (ii) any disruption to the market or potential market for the Ordinary Shares or to capital markets generally;
 - (iii) any breach by the Issuer of any obligation in connection with the Capital Notes; or
 - (iv) any other circumstance which might affect a Conversion of the Capital Notes;

- (c) Conversion and, where applicable, Write-Off, of the Capital Notes in accordance with Condition 7 and this Condition 8 are fundamental terms of the Capital Notes and are not subject to any other conditions other than those expressly provided in Condition 7 and this Condition 8;
- (d) Conversion must occur immediately on the Non-Viability Conversion Date and Conversion or Write-Off may result in disruption or failures in trading or dealings in the Capital Notes or other loss to Noteholders;
- (e) it will not have any rights to vote in respect of any Conversion or Write-Off;
- (f) without prejudice to the Issuer's obligations under Condition 8.10, the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion may not be quoted at the time of issue, or at all;
- (g) the determinations made by the Issuer under Condition 7.2 are final and binding; and
- (h) it has no remedies on account of a failure by the Issuer to issue Ordinary Shares in accordance with Condition 8 other than (and subject always to Condition 7.3) to seek specific performance of the obligation to issue the Ordinary Shares to it or, where Condition 8.12 applies, to the nominee.

9 Payments

9.1 Method of payment

Subject to the other provisions of this Condition 9:

- (a) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the Principal Financial Centre; and
- (b) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee.

9.2 Payments subject to fiscal and other laws

Payments will be subject in all cases to:

- (a) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto (whether by operation of law or agreement of the Issuer); and
- (b) any FATCA Withholding,

but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 11.

9.3 Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Capital Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, "**Payment Day**" means any day which (subject to Condition 12) is:

- (a) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:
 - (i) in the case of Capital Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation; and
 - (ii) each Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

- (b) either:
 - (i) in relation to any sum scheduled to be paid in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the Principal Financial Centre; or
 - (ii) in relation to any sum scheduled to be paid in euro, a day which is a T2 Business Day; and
- (c) in the case of any payment in respect of a Registered Global Note denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and in respect of which an accountholder of DTC (with an interest in such Registered Global Note) has elected to receive any part of such payment in U.S. Dollars, a day on which commercial banks are not authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed in New York City.

Nothing in this Condition 9.3 affects the operation of Condition 8.1(b) on the Non-Viability Conversion Date.

9.4 Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal in respect of the Capital Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (a) any additional amounts which may be scheduled to be paid with respect to principal under Condition 11.3; and
- (b) the Redemption Amount of the Capital Notes.

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Capital Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be scheduled to be paid with respect to interest under Condition 11.3.

9.5 Payments in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in Condition 9.1 above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum scheduled to be paid, endorsement) of Definitive Bearer Notes, and payments of interest in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum scheduled to be paid, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)).

Fixed Rate Notes which are Definitive Bearer Notes should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum scheduled to be paid) will be deducted from the sum scheduled for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be scheduled to be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 12) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have been scheduled to be paid, but in no event thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note which is a Definitive Bearer Note becoming scheduled to be repaid, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note which is a Definitive Bearer Note is scheduled to be repaid, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.

If the date scheduled for redemption of any Definitive Bearer Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) calculated in respect of such Capital Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be scheduled to be paid on that date on which redemption is scheduled only against surrender of the relevant Definitive Bearer Note.

9.6 Payments in respect of Global Notes in bearer form

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of any Global Note in bearer form will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to Definitive Bearer Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)). A record of each payment made against presentation or surrender of any Global Note in bearer form, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented and such record shall be prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been made. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of "Payment Day" set out in Condition 9.3.

9.7 Payments in respect of Registered Notes

(a) Payments of principal

Payments of principal in respect of each Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note (whether or not in global form) will be made against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum scheduled to be paid, endorsement) of the Registered Note at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any of the Paying Agents. Such payments will be made by transfer to the Designated Account of the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day (being for this purpose also a Registry Business Day) immediately prior to the relevant date on which payment is scheduled.

(b) Payments of interest in respect of Registered Notes

Payments of interest in respect of each Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note (whether or not in global form) will be made in the Specified Currency on the relevant date on which payment is scheduled to the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not such fifteenth day is a Registry Business Day) before the relevant date on which payment is scheduled ("Record Date").

Upon application of the holder to the Specified Office of the Registrar not less than three Registry Business Days before the date scheduled for any payment of interest in respect of a Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note, the payment may be made by transfer on the scheduled date in the manner provided in Condition 9.7(a). Any such application for transfer shall be deemed to relate to all future payments of interest (other than interest scheduled to be paid on redemption) in respect of the Registered Notes which become scheduled to be paid to the holder who has made the initial application until such time as the Registrar is notified in writing to the contrary by such holder.

Payment of the interest scheduled to be paid in respect of each Registered Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note) on redemption will be made in the same manner as payment of the nominal amount of such Registered Note.

Notwithstanding the above, in respect of Registered Global Notes, all payments will be made to the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment.

(c) Certain payments in respect of Global Notes to DTC

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Condition 9.7, all amounts scheduled to be paid to DTC or its nominee as registered holder of a Global Note in registered form in respect of Capital Notes denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars shall be scheduled to be paid by transfer by the Registrar to an account in the relevant Specified Currency of the Exchange Agent on behalf of DTC or its nominee for payment in such Specified Currency for conversion into U.S. Dollars in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement (except, in the case of any Capital Note, to the extent specified by the relevant beneficial holder in accordance with DTC procedures, as more fully described in the Euro Agency Agreement).

(d) No responsibility for records

None of the Issuer or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

9.8 General provisions applicable to payments on Global Notes

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Capital Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Capital Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Condition 9.8, if any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of Bearer Notes is scheduled to be paid in U.S. Dollars, such U.S. Dollar payments of principal and/or interest in respect of such Capital Notes will be made at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent in the United States if:

- (a) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with Specified Offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. Dollars at such Specified Offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Bearer Notes in the manner provided above when scheduled to be paid;
- (b) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such Specified Offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. Dollars; and
- such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

9.9 Payments in respect of Australian Domestic Notes

Monies scheduled to be paid by the Issuer in respect of an Australian Domestic Note shall be paid:

- (a) in the case of a payment of interest, to the holder appearing in the Australian Register at the close of business on the Record Date; and
- (b) in the case of a payment of principal, to the holder appearing in the Australian Register at 10.00 a.m. (Sydney time) on the date which is fixed for payment.

If Australian Domestic Notes are:

- (i) held in the Austraclear System, payments in respect of each Capital Note will be made by crediting on the relevant payment date the amount then scheduled to be paid to the account of the Noteholder in accordance with the Austraclear Regulations; or
- (ii) not held in the Austraclear System, payments in respect of each Capital Note will be made by crediting on the relevant payment date the amount then scheduled to be paid to an account previously notified to the Issuer and the Australian Registrar by the holder in respect of that Capital Note. If the holder has not notified the Issuer and the Australian Registrar of such an account by the time specified in Condition 9.9(a) or 9.9(b) (as applicable) payments in respect of the relevant Capital Note will be made by cheque dispatched by post on the relevant payment date at the risk of the Noteholder. Cheques despatched to the nominated address of a holder will in such cases be deemed to have been received by the holder on the relevant payment date and no further amount will be payable by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Capital Note as a result of payment not being received by the holder on the date scheduled for payment.

9.10 No set-off or offsetting rights

A Noteholder:

- (a) may not exercise any right of set-off against the Issuer in respect of any claim by the Issuer against that Noteholder; and
- (b) will have no offsetting rights or claims on the Issuer if the Issuer does not pay an amount when scheduled under these Conditions.

The Issuer may not exercise any right of set-off against a Noteholder in respect of any claim by that Noteholder against the Issuer.

10 Redemption and purchase

10.1 Redemption by the Issuer for tax or regulatory reasons

Subject to Condition 10.6, and unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Capital Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer (in whole or in part) at any time (if this Capital Note is a Fixed Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if this Capital Note is a Floating Rate Note) by giving not less than 30 and not more than 60 days' notice to the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Registrar (as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 17, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if a Tax Event or Regulatory Event occurs.

Each Capital Note redeemed pursuant to this Condition 10.1 will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount together (if appropriate, and subject to Condition 4.4) with interest calculated from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

10.2 Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

Subject to Condition 10.6, if Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may, having given not less than 20 nor more than 40 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem the Capital Notes (in whole or in part) then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (which date shall not, for the avoidance of doubt, fall prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date) at the Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, and subject to Condition 4.4, with interest calculated from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the notes to be redeemed (the "Redeemed Notes") will be selected:

- (a) in the case of Redeemed Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) represented by Definitive Notes, individually by lot;
- (b) in the case of Redeemed Notes that are Australian Domestic Notes, in a fair and reasonable manner as determined by the Issuer and in compliance with any law, directive or requirement of any clearing system in which the Capital Notes are held;
- (c) in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Global Notes, in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) and/or DTC,

in each case not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such selection date, the "Selection Date").

In the case of:

- (i) Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 17 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption; and
- (ii) Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, no exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this Condition 10.2 and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 at least five days prior to the Selection Date.

Any notice given under this Condition 10.2 is irrevocable and obliges the Issuer to redeem the Capital Notes at the time and in the manner specified in the notice, unless a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs after the giving of notice under this Condition 10.2, in which case such notice will be taken to be revoked immediately and automatically and Condition 7 will apply.

10.3 No redemption at the option of the Noteholders

The Capital Notes are perpetual securities in respect of which there is no maturity date or other fixed redemption date. A Noteholder cannot require the Issuer to redeem all or some of the Capital Notes held by that Noteholder at any time except as expressly provided in Condition 1.2.

10.4 Purchases

Subject to Condition 10.6, the Issuer or any Related Entity of the Issuer may at any time purchase Capital Notes or any other bond, note or other debt instrument issued by the Issuer from time to time (whether ranking senior to or equally with the Capital Notes) (provided that, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise and, if so purchased, such Capital Notes shall be cancelled.

10.5 Cancellation

All Capital Notes which are redeemed or purchased for cancellation by the Issuer shall be cancelled forthwith:

- in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Capital Note together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Principal Paying Agent;
- (b) in the case of Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes), by surrendering such Registered Note to the Registrar; and
- (c) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, without any further action being required.

Any Capital Notes so cancelled may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Capital Notes shall be discharged.

10.6 Early redemption and purchase restrictions

The Issuer may only elect to redeem any Capital Notes under this Condition 10, and the Issuer or any of its Related Entities may only elect to purchase any Capital Notes under Condition 10, with the prior written approval of APRA and it will not be permitted to redeem any Capital Notes under this Condition 10 unless either:

- (a) before or concurrently with the redemption or purchase, the Issuer replaces the Capital Notes the subject of the redemption or purchase with a capital instrument which is of the same or better quality (for the purposes of APRA's prudential standards as they are applied to the Level 2 Insurance Group at the relevant time) and the Issuer obtains confirmation from APRA that APRA is satisfied that the replacement of the relevant Capital Notes is done under conditions that are sustainable for the income capacity of the Issuer; or
- (b) the Issuer obtains confirmation from APRA that APRA is satisfied, having regard to the capital position of the Level 2 Insurance Group, that the Issuer does not have to replace the Capital Notes the subject of the redemption or purchase.

10.7 Resale

At any time that the Issuer may redeem Capital Notes in accordance with this Condition 10, the Issuer may in lieu of such redemption, subject to Condition 10.8, elect to Resell Capital Notes. If the Issuer elects to Resell Capital Notes, Conditions 10.9 to 10.14 (inclusive) apply to that Resale. Conditions 10.9 to 10.14 (inclusive) do not otherwise apply.

10.8 Appointment of Nominated Purchaser

The Issuer, in its absolute discretion, must appoint, subject to Condition 10.9, one or more third parties, each of which will, at the time of such appointment, agree to act as a nominated purchaser in accordance with this Condition 10 (each, a "Nominated Purchaser"), for the Resale on such terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the Nominated Purchaser(s) (and to the extent any such terms may cause the Capital Notes to cease to be eligible for inclusion in the Issuer's Tier 1 Capital, with the prior written approval of APRA) including:

- (a) as to the conditions of any Resale, the procedures for settlement of such Resale and the circumstances in which the notice given under Condition 10.1 or Condition 10.2 (in each case as construed in accordance with Condition 10.14(a)) for that Resale may be amended, modified, added to or restated;
- (b) as to the substitution of another entity (not being the Issuer or a Related Entity of the Issuer) as Nominated Purchaser if, for any reason, the Issuer is not satisfied that the Nominated Purchaser will perform its obligations under this Condition 10 in respect of the Resale; and
- (c) as to the terms (if any) on which any Capital Notes acquired by a Nominated Purchaser may be redeemed, Converted or otherwise dealt with.

The Issuer may appoint more than one Nominated Purchaser in respect of a Resale. All or any of the Capital Notes held by a Noteholder which are being Resold must be purchased by any one or any combination of the Nominated Purchasers, as determined by the Issuer, for the Redemption Amount.

10.9 Identity of Nominated Purchasers

The Issuer may not appoint itself or any Related Entity of the Issuer as a Nominated Purchaser.

10.10 Irrevocable offer to sell Capital Notes

Each Noteholder:

- (a) on the date the Resale is to occur, as notified under Condition 10.1 (as construed in accordance with Condition 10.14(a)); or
- (b) on the relevant Optional Redemption Date in respect of a Resale,

as the case may be, is taken irrevocably to offer to sell Capital Notes the subject of the Resale to the Nominated Purchaser or Nominated Purchasers for the Redemption Amount.

10.11 Effect of Resale

On:

- (a) the date the Resale is to occur, as notified under Condition 10.1 (as construed in accordance with Condition 10.14(a)); or
- (b) the relevant Optional Redemption Date in respect of a Resale,

subject to payment by the Nominated Purchaser of the Redemption Amount to the relevant Noteholders, all right, title and interest in Capital Notes the subject of the Resale (excluding the right to any interest payable on that date) will be transferred to the Nominated Purchaser free from Encumbrances.

10.12 Effect of failure by Nominated Purchaser or Nominated Purchasers to pay

If a Nominated Purchaser does not pay the Redemption Amount to the Noteholders on the date the Resale is to occur as notified under Condition 10.1 or on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (as the case may be) (a "**Defaulting Nominated Purchaser**"):

- (a) the notice given under Condition 10.1 or Condition 10.2 (in each case as construed in accordance with Condition 10.14(a)) in respect of the Resale (as the case may be) as it relates to the Defaulting Nominated Purchaser will be void;
- (b) Capital Notes will not be transferred to the Defaulting Nominated Purchaser; and
- (c) Noteholders will continue to hold the Capital Notes referable to the Defaulting Nominated Purchaser until they are otherwise redeemed, Resold, Converted or Written-Off in accordance with these Conditions.

10.13 Power of attorney

Without limiting Condition 8.14, Condition 8.14 applies in connection with a Resale in the same manner as it would in connection with a Conversion or Write-Off (including, without limitation, for the purposes of effecting any transfers of Capital Notes).

10.14 Interpretation of redeem, redeemed and redemption in respect of a Resale

- (a) Subject to paragraphs (b) to (e) (inclusive), any reference to "redeem", "redeemed" and "redemption":
 - (i) in Conditions 3.8, 3.12, 7.3, 8.1, 9.7, 10.1, 10.2, 10.3, 10.6 and 18.5;
 - (ii) in the definitions of "Redemption Amount" under Condition 22.1; and
 - (iii) in the applicable Pricing Supplement,

shall be read as a reference to "Resell", "Resold" and "Resale", respectively and the Redemption Amount payable on a Resale shall be payable in the same manner as upon a redemption.

(b) To the extent paragraph (a) of this Condition 10.14 applies to Condition 3.8 or Condition 3.12(b), such Condition does not preclude the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered in

respect of the transfer of the Registered Note from the relevant Noteholder to a Nominated Purchaser in accordance with the Resale.

(c) In the case of a Resale of:

- (i) any Definitive Bearer Note occurring on an Interest Payment Date, the transfer of such Definitive Bearer Note from a Noteholder to a Nominated Purchaser in respect of that Resale shall be made exclusive of any Coupon which relates to that Interest Payment Date, which Coupon (if any) shall be retained by the Noteholder entitled to it and remain liable to be presented and surrendered or endorsed (as the case may be) in accordance with Condition 9.5;
- (ii) any Definitive Bearer Note occurring on a date other than an Interest Payment Date or any Global Note in bearer form, the Resale is exclusive of the interest (if any) which would be payable in accordance with Condition 9.5 or Condition 9.6 (as applicable) if such Definitive Bearer Note or Global Note (as the case may be) were redeemed and such interest is payable to the Noteholder whose Definitive Bearer Note or Global Note (as the case may be) is being transferred in accordance with the Resale; and
- (iii) a Capital Note in part, in order to facilitate the Resale, the part of the Capital Note to be Resold and the part of the Capital Note not to be Resold shall be deemed to be separate choses in action.
- (d) Any notice given under Condition 10.1 or Condition 10.2 (as construed in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Condition 10.14) in respect of a Resale shall be irrevocable and identify the Nominated Purchaser(s) for that Resale.
- (e) Any reference to "Redeemed Notes" in Condition 10.2 shall be read as a reference to "Resold Notes".

Noteholders should not expect that APRA's approval will be given for any early redemption, Resale or purchase of Capital Notes under these Conditions.

11 Taxation

11.1 Withholding Tax

All payments of principal, interest and other amounts by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Capital Notes or the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any present or future Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of a Tax Authority in a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.

11.2 Deductions

If the Issuer is required by law to make a withholding or deduction, the Issuer shall pay the full amount required to be withheld or deducted by law to the relevant authority within the time allowed for such payment without incurring any penalty under the applicable law.

Subject to Condition 11.3, if any withholding or deduction has been made and the amount of the withholding or deduction has been paid by the Issuer to the relevant authority and the balance of the amount scheduled to be paid is so paid to the relevant Noteholder, the full amount scheduled to be paid to such Noteholder shall be deemed to have been duly paid and satisfied by the Issuer.

11.3 Additional Amounts

If a law of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction requires that any payments in respect of the Capital Notes or Coupons be subject to deduction or withholding with respect to any present or future Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of a Relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Issuer will, to the fullest extent then permitted by law, and subject to Condition 4.4, increase the amount that is scheduled to be paid by such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Capital Notes or Coupons after such deduction or withholding shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Capital Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Capital Note or Coupon:

- (a) in respect of which the Noteholder, or a third party recipient on behalf of a Noteholder, is liable for those Taxes by reason of its having some connection with Australia, other than the mere holding of the Capital Notes or the receipt of the relevant payment provided that a Noteholder shall not be regarded as having a connection with Australia for the reason that the holder is a resident of Australia within the meaning of the Tax Act;
- (b) in respect of which the Noteholder could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such Taxes by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or similar case for exemption to any tax authority;
- (c) to, or to a third party on behalf of, an Australian resident Noteholder or a non-resident Noteholder who is engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment of the non-resident in Australia, if that person has not supplied an appropriate tax file number, Australian Business Number or other exemption details;
- (d) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Noteholder where such withholding or deduction is required to be made pursuant to a notice or direction issued by the Commissioner of Taxation of Australia under section 255 of the Tax Act or section 260-5 of Schedule 1 to the Tax Act or any similar law;
- (e) which is imposed or withheld as a consequence of a determination having been made under Part IVA of the Tax Act (or any modification thereof or provision substituted therefor) by the Commissioner of Taxation of the Commonwealth of Australia that withholding tax is payable in respect of a payment in circumstances where the payment would not have been subject to withholding tax in the absence of the scheme which was the subject of that determination;
- (f) which is an estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property or similar tax, assessment or other charge;
- (g) in respect of Capital Notes that are not Australian Domestic Notes, presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day to have been a Payment Day; or
- (h) in the case of Capital Notes issued by the Issuer acting through a borrowing office outside Australia, such further exceptions as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

11.4 FATCA

The Issuer and any Paying Agent may withhold or make deductions from payments or from the issue of Ordinary Shares to a Noteholder where it is required to do so under or in connection with FATCA, or where it has reasonable grounds to suspect that the Noteholder or a beneficial owner of Capital Notes may be subject to FATCA, and may deal with such amount deducted or withheld, and any such Ordinary Shares deducted or withheld in accordance with FATCA and, in the case of Ordinary Shares, Condition 8.12. If any withholding or deduction arises under or in connection with FATCA, the Issuer will not be required to pay any further amounts or issue any further Ordinary Shares to the Noteholder on account of such withholding or deduction or otherwise reimburse or compensate, or make any payment to, a Noteholder or a beneficial owner of Capital Notes for or in respect of any such withholding or deduction.

12 Prescription

- (a) The Capital Notes (whether in bearer or registered form) and any Coupons will become void unless presented for payment (or in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, a claim for payment is made) within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest and other amounts) after the Relevant Date in respect of such payment.
- (b) There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 12 or Condition 9.5 or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 9.5.

13 No events of default

Each Noteholder, by subscribing for, purchasing or otherwise acquiring a Capital Note acknowledges and agrees that:

- (a) a Noteholder has no right to apply for the Issuer to be wound up, or placed in administration, or to cause an External Administrator to be appointed in respect of the Issuer merely on the grounds that the Issuer does not or is or may become unable to pay interest when scheduled in respect of a Capital Note; and
- (b) these Conditions contain no events of default (however described, determined or defined). Accordingly (but without limitation), failure to pay in full, for any reason, an amount of interest on the scheduled Interest Payment Date will not constitute an event of default.

14 Replacement of Capital Notes, Coupons and Talons

Should any Capital Note (other than an Australian Domestic Note) or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes or Coupons) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.

Mutilated or defaced Capital Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

15 Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date scheduled for the payment of interest in respect of the Capital Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 12.

16 Agents

16.1 Appointment and replacement of Agents

The names of the initial Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed in the definition of "Specified Office" in Condition 22.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent and/or appoint additional or other Agents and/or approve any change in the Specified Office through which any Agent acts, subject to Condition 16.2. Notice of any change in any of the Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly be given to the relevant Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

16.2 Required Agents

The Issuer shall:

(a) at all times maintain a Principal Paying Agent;

- (b) if and for so long as there are any Registered Notes outstanding, at all times maintain a Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes) or an Australian Registrar (in the case of Australian Domestic Notes);
- (c) if and for so long as any Capital Notes are:
 - (i) admitted to the Official List of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited; and/or
 - (ii) admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system,

and the rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system so require, at all times maintain a Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent (in the case of Registered Notes) having its Specified Office in Singapore and/or in such other place as may be required by such other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system;

- (d) if and for so long as any of the Registered Global Notes scheduled to be paid in a Specified Currency other than U.S. Dollars are held through DTC or its nominee, at all times maintain an Exchange Agent with a Specified Office in New York City; and
- (e) forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a Specified Office in New York City in the circumstances described in Condition 9.8.

16.3 Role of the Euro Agents

In acting under the Euro Agency Agreement, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation to, or relationship of agency or trust with, any Noteholders or Couponholders.

The Euro Agency Agreement contains provisions permitting any entity into which any Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated or to which it transfers all or substantially all of its assets to become the successor agent.

16.4 Role of the Australian Agents

Each person in whose account an Australian Domestic Note is recorded is deemed to acknowledge in favour of the Australian Registrar and each relevant person that:

- (a) the Australian Registrar's decision to act as the Australian Registrar in respect of the Capital Note does not constitute a recommendation or endorsement by the Australian Registrar or the relevant person in relation to the Capital Note but only indicates that such Capital Note is considered by the Registrar to be compatible with the performance by it of its obligations as Australian Registrar under its agreement with the Issuer to act as Australian Registrar in respect of the Capital Note;
- (b) in acting under the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement in connection with the Capital Notes, the Australian Registrar acts solely as agent of the Issuer and does not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Noteholders save insofar as any funds received by the Australian Registrar are required in accordance with the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement, pending their application in accordance with the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement, to be held by it in a segregated account on trust for the persons entitled thereto; and
- (c) the Noteholder does not rely on any fact, matter or circumstance contrary to this Condition 16.4.

17 Notices

17.1 Bearer Notes

Subject to Condition 17.3, all notices regarding Bearer Notes will be deemed to be validly given if published in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*). Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

17.2 Registered Notes

Subject to Condition 17.3, all notices regarding Registered Notes will be deemed to be validly given if:

- (a) sent by prepaid post (airmail if posted to an address overseas) to the registered holders (or the first named of joint holders) at their respective addresses recorded in the Register or the Australian Register (as applicable) and will be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after mailing; or
- (b) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes only, published in *The Australian Financial Review* or any other English language daily newspaper of general circulation in Australia and will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication.

17.3 Global Notes

So long as any Global Notes representing the Capital Notes are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, there shall be substituted for publication as described in Condition 17.1 or 17.2 (as applicable), the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC for communication by them to the holders of the Capital Notes. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Capital Notes on the second day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC.

17.4 Listed Notes

If and for so long as any Capital Notes are:

- (a) admitted to the Official List of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited; and/or
- (b) admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system,

and the rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system prescribe a specific manner for the giving of notices, all notices relating to such Capital Notes shall in addition to any requirements for those notices in these Conditions, also be given in a manner which complies with those rules.

17.5 Notices given by Noteholders

Subject to Condition 17.6, notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by:

- (a) in the case of Capital Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes, lodging the same, together (in the case of any Capital Note in definitive form) with the relative Capital Note or Capital Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes); or
- (b) in the case of Australian Domestic Notes, prepaid post (airmail if posted to an address overseas) or delivery to the Specified Office of the Issuer.

All such notices will be deemed to be validly given in respect of paragraph (a), on the date of lodgement in accordance with that paragraph, or, in the case of paragraph (b), on the seventh day after mailing, or, if delivered to the Specified Office of the Issuer, the date of delivery (unless delivered after 5.00 p.m. in the place of receipt or on a day that is not a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the place of receipt, in which case the notice will be taken to be given at 9.00 a.m. on the next day that is a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the place of receipt).

17.6 Notices given by Noteholders in respect of Global Notes

Whilst any of the Capital Notes are represented by a Global Note, any notices to be given by any Noteholder may be given by any holder of a Capital Note to the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, in such manner as the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

17.7 Couponholders

Couponholders are taken for all purposes to have received any notice given to the Noteholders.

18 Meetings of Noteholders, modification and waiver

18.1 Meetings and quorum

The Euro Agency Agreement and the Australian Note Deed Poll each contain provisions (which have effect as if incorporated in these Conditions) for convening meetings of the Noteholders of any Series to consider any matter affecting their interest, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of any modification of, or waiver with respect to, these Conditions, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) insofar as the same may apply to such Capital Notes.

Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Capital Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Capital Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Capital Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Capital Notes or the Coupons (including modifying any date scheduled for payment of interest on the Capital Notes, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest scheduled to be paid in respect of the Capital Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Capital Notes or the Coupons), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds in nominal amount of the Capital Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing not less than one-third in nominal amount of the Capital Notes for the time being outstanding.

18.2 Extraordinary Resolutions

The Euro Agency Agreement and the Australian Note Deed Poll each provide that:

- (a) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Euro Agency Agreement or the Australian Note Deed Poll (as applicable) by a majority consisting of not less than 75 per cent. of the votes cast on such resolution;
- (b) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Capital Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding; or
- (c) a consent given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Capital Notes of the Series for the time being outstanding,

shall, in each case, be effective as an extraordinary resolution of the Noteholders (an "Extraordinary Resolution").

An Extraordinary Resolution passed by the Noteholders of any Series will be binding on all the Noteholders of that Series, whether or not they are present at any meeting and whether or not they voted on the resolution, and on all Couponholders of that Series.

18.3 Issuer modifications

The Issuer may make or agree to, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, any amendment or modification of, or addition to, any provisions of the Capital Notes, the Coupons, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll:

- (a) which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as a whole;
- (b) to reflect the substitution of a borrowing office in accordance with Condition 18.5;
- (c) which is of a formal, minor or technical nature, or is made to correct a manifest or proven error, to cure any ambiguity or defect or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law; or
- (d) which is:
 - (i) made to:
 - (A) alter the terms of any Capital Notes to align them with any Equal Ranking Instruments issued after the Issue Date; or
 - (B) alter the definition of "Equal Ranking Instruments" on account of the issue (after the Issue Date) of capital instruments of the Group; and
 - (ii) not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as a whole.

Any such amendment, modification or addition shall be binding on the Noteholders, and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 as soon as practicable thereafter.

18.4 Noteholder approval not required

The Issuer does not require the approval of Noteholders to vary or terminate any registry agreement or other deed or agreement (other than the Australian Note Deed Poll and these Terms and Conditions) in respect of any Australian Domestic Notes.

18.5 Branch Substitution

Subject to APRA's prior written approval, the Issuer may, from time to time, make or agree to, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, whether or not a borrowing office outside Australia is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amend or modify the Conditions applicable to the Capital Notes to specify that the Capital Notes are on issue through a borrowing office of the Issuer (whether in or outside Australia) (a "Branch Substitution"), provided that:

- (a) the Issuer may not make or agree to a Branch Substitution if it would be illegal by the laws applicable to the relevant borrowing office to have the Capital Notes on issue through that borrowing office or to perform its obligations in respect of the Capital Notes;
- (b) the obligations in respect of the Capital Notes remain obligations of the Issuer ranking as contemplated by these Conditions and are not limited to the assets of the relevant borrowing office; and
- (c) no redemption of the Capital Notes (whether in whole or in part) in accordance with Condition 10.1 is permitted following the occurrence of a Tax Event relating to the Relevant Tax Jurisdiction where the borrowing office resulting from the Branch Substitution is located unless such Tax Event occurs on or after the date of the Branch Substitution.

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees to any Branch Substitution in accordance with this Condition 18.5. Nothing in this Condition 18.5 creates any obligation on, nor gives a Noteholder any right to require, the Issuer to make or agree to a Branch Substitution.

18.6 No variation which may affect Tier 1 Capital eligibility

The prior written approval of APRA is required in respect of any variation, amendment or modification of, or addition to any provisions of the Capital Notes, the Coupons, the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Australian Note Deed Poll where such variation, amendment, modification or addition may affect the eligibility of the Capital Notes as Tier 1 Capital.

19 Further issues and consolidation

19.1 Further issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Capital Notes, or the same in all respects save for one or more of the amount, the Issue Date, the Issue Price and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to be calculated and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Capital Notes, provided that the terms of any further notes ranking equally with, or forming a single Series with outstanding Capital Notes must be such that, those further notes, upon their issue, are eligible for inclusion in the Issuer's Tier 1 Capital.

The Issuer shall not be restricted from creating or issuing any other notes.

19.2 No other rights

No person, by virtue of being a Noteholder, has:

- (a) any claim against the Issuer except as expressly set out in these Conditions;
- (b) any right to participate in the issue of any shares or any other securities of any kind of the Issuer or any other member of the Group; or
- (c) any right to receive notice of or vote at any meeting of members of the Issuer.

19.3 Consolidation

The Issuer may also from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders, on giving not less than 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders, consolidate Capital Notes denominated or redenominated in euro with one or more issues of other notes ("Other Notes") issued by it and denominated in the currency of any of the Member States of the European Union provided that such Other Notes are denominated in, or have been redenominated into euro and otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and conditions as the Capital Notes.

In the event of any such consolidation, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, provide for additional, and/or substitute denominations of such Capital Notes.

Notice of any such consolidation and/or provision of additional or substitute denominations will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

20 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Capital Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

21 Governing law and submission to jurisdiction

21.1 Governing law

The Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Capital Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes), the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Euro Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Capital Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law except for:

- (a) the subordination provisions set forth in Condition 1; and
- (b) the provisions of Conditions 7 and 8;

which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws in force in the State of New South Wales, Australia.

The Australian Note Deed Poll and the Australian Domestic Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws in force in the State of New South Wales, Australia.

21.2 Submission to jurisdiction

The Issuer irrevocably agrees for the benefit of the Noteholders and the Couponholders (as applicable):

- (a) that the courts of England are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Capital Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and/or the Coupons (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Capital Notes (other than the Australian Domestic Notes) and/or the Coupons) and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts; and
- (b) that the courts of the State of New South Wales, Australia are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Australian Domestic Notes and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the courts New South Wales, Australia.

The Issuer waives any objection to the courts of England or the courts of the State of New South Wales, Australia (as the case may be) on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum. The Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceedings (together referred to as "**Proceedings**") arising out of or in connection with the Capital Notes and the Coupons (including any Proceedings relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Capital Notes and/or the Coupons) against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

21.3 Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer appoints QBE European Operations Plc at its office at Plantation Place, 30 Fenchurch Street, London EC3M 3BD, United Kingdom as its agent for service of process ("**Process Agent**"), and undertakes that, in the event of QBE European Operations Plc ceasing so to act or ceasing to be registered in England, it will appoint another person as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve proceedings in any other manner permitted by law.

21.4 Other documents

The Issuer has in the Euro Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant submitted to the jurisdiction of the English courts and appointed an agent for service of process in terms substantially similar to those set out above.

22 Definitions and interpretation

22.1 Definitions

ABN shall have the meaning given to Australian Business Number.

Additional Business Centre means a place specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Additional Financial Centre means a place specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Agents means the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Australian Registrar, the Australian Calculation Agent and the other Paying Agents, Transfer Agents and Exchange Agents.

APRA means the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (ABN 79 635 582 658) or any successor body responsible for prudential regulation of the Issuer.

ASX means ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691) or the securities market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX, as amended, varied or waived (whether in their application in respect of the Issuer or generally) from time to time.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX from time to time with any applicable modifications or waivers granted by ASX.

Austraclear means Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773).

Austraclear Regulations means the regulations known as the "Austraclear Regulations" (as amended or replaced from time to time) together with any instructions or directions established by Austraclear to govern the use of the Austraclear System.

Austraclear System means the system operated by Austraclear in Australia for holding securities and electronic recording and settling of transactions in those securities between members of that system.

Australian Agency and Registry Agreement shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Business Number shall have the meaning given in the A New Tax System (Australian Business Number) Act 1999 of Australia.

Australian Calculation Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Dollar, **A\$** and **AUD** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Domestic Note means a registered debt obligation of the Issuer constituted by, and owing under the Australian Note Deed Poll, the details of which are recorded in, and evidenced by, inscription in the Australian Register.

Australian Note Deed Poll shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Australian Register means the relevant register of holders of the Australian Domestic Notes maintained by the Australian Registrar.

Australian Registrar shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Bearer Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Broken Amount means an amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Business Day means a day which is a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the Relevant Financial Centre and each Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Business Day Convention shall have the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Buy-Back means a transaction involving the acquisition by the Issuer of its Ordinary Shares pursuant to an offer made in its discretion in accordance with the provisions of Part 2J of the Corporations Act.

Calculation Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Capital Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Capital Reduction means a reduction in capital initiated by the Issuer in its discretion in respect of its Ordinary Shares in any way permitted by the provisions of Part 2J of the Corporations Act.

CHESS means the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System operated by ASX or any system that replaces it relevant to the Capital Notes (including in respect of the transfer or Conversion of such Capital Notes).

Clearing System Business Day means Monday to Friday inclusive except December 25 and January 1.

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking S.A..

Conditions shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Conversion Number shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.1(a).

Convert means the conversion of all, some or a proportion of the Capital Notes into Ordinary Shares under these Conditions and **Conversion**, **Converting** and **Converted** have corresponding meanings.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.

Coupon shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Couponholders means the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

Cum Value shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.2(a).

Day Count Fraction means:

- (a) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:
 - (i) in the case of Capital Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of:
 - (A) the number of days in such Determination Period; and
 - (B) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; or
 - (ii) in the case of Capital Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; and
 - (B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such

Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and

- (b) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where "30/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360;
- (c) in respect of Floating Rate Notes:
 - (i) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
 - (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
 - (iii) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
 - (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
 - (v) if "Australian Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, one divided by the number of Interest Payment Dates in a year (or where the Determination Period does not constitute an Interest Period, the actual number of days in the Determination Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Determination Period falls in a leap year, the sum of:
 - (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Determination Period falling in a leap year divided by 366; and
 - (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Determination Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365));
 - (vi) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M_I" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(vii) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

" \mathbf{Y}_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" \mathbf{D}_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30; or

(viii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + [D_2 - D_1]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (A) that day is the last day of February or (B) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless (A) that day is the last day of February or (B) such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30.

Deed of Covenant shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Defaulting Nominated Purchaser shall have the meaning given in Condition 10.12.

Definitive Bearer Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Definitive Notes shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.1.

Definitive Registered Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Designated Account means the account (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese Yen to a non-resident of Japan, shall be a non-resident account) maintained by a holder with a Designated Bank and identified as such in the Register.

Designated Bank means (in the case of payment in a Specified Currency other than euro) a bank in the Principal Financial Centre and (in the case of a payment in euro) any bank which processes payments in euro.

Determination Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to but excluding the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date).

Distribution Compliance Period means the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the distribution of each Tranche of Capital Notes, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead manager (in the case of a syndicated issue).

DTC shall have the meaning given in Condition 3.3.

Encumbrance means any mortgage, pledge, charge, lien, assignment by way of security, hypothecation, security interest, title retention, preferential right or trust arrangement, any other security agreement or security arrangement and any other arrangement of any kind having the same effect as any of the foregoing other than liens arising by operation of law.

Equal Ranking Instrument means any instrument that ranks for payment of interest or dividends and in a Winding-Up of the Issuer as the most junior claim in the Winding-Up of the Issuer ranking senior to Ordinary Shares and includes:

- (a) any Preference Share;
- (b) the U.S.\$400,000,000 perpetual Capital Securities issued on or about 16 November 2017; and
- (c) any other instruments issued after 1 January 2013 as Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instruments.

euro, € and EUR shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Euro Agency Agreement shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Euro-zone means the region comprised of Member States of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty.

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank SA/NV.

Exchange Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

External Administrator means, in respect of a person:

- (a) a liquidator, provisional liquidator, an administrator or a statutory manager of that person; or
- (b) a receiver, or a receiver and manager, in respect of all or substantially all of the assets and undertakings of that person.

Extraordinary Resolution shall have the meaning given Condition 18.

Face Value means, in respect of a Capital Note, the outstanding principal amount of that Capital Note, as such principal amount may have been reduced by redemption, Conversion or Write-Off.

FATCA means:

- (a) sections 1471 to 1474 of the United States of America Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any associated regulations;
- (b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and any other jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of any law or regulation referred to in paragraph (a) above; or
- (c) any agreement pursuant to the implementation of any treaty, law or regulation referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) above with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. government or any governmental or taxation authority in any other jurisdiction.

FATCA Withholding means any deduction or withholding made for or on account of FATCA.

Fixed Coupon Amount means an amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Fixed Rate Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.1.

Floating Rate Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 4.1.

Foreign Branch Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Foreign Noteholder shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.12(a).

Global Note shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Government Agency means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental, administrative, fiscal or judicial body, department, commission, authority, tribunal, agency or entity.

Group means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for the time being.

Inability Event means the Issuer is prevented by applicable law or order of any court or action of any government authority (including regarding the insolvency, winding-up or other external administration of the Issuer in any jurisdiction) or any other reason from Converting the Capital Notes.

Interest Accrual Period shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.6(b).

Interest Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.10.

Interest Commencement Date means the date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Interest Determination Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is the Euro-zone interbank offered rate ("EURIBOR"), the second day which is a T2 Business Day prior to the start of each Interest Period;
- (b) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR, Compounded SOFR Index Rate or Average SOFR, the SOFR Interest Determination Date (as defined in Condition 6.6(c));
- (c) where the BBSW Rate applies or the Final Fallback Rate applies under paragraph (iv)(C) of Condition 6.13, the first day of that Interest Period;
- (d) where AONIA Rate applies, the fifth Business Day prior to the last day of that Interest Period; and
- (e) if "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and the Reference Rate is not specified in paragraphs (a) to (d) above, the first date of each Interest Period.

subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention.

Interest Payment Date means (in the case of a Fixed Rate Note) a date so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (in the case of a Floating Rate Note) the date on which interest is scheduled to be paid as determined under Condition 6.3.

Interest Period means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

ISDA Definitions means the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date.

ISDA Rate shall have the meaning given in Condition 6.7.

Issue Date means, in respect of a Capital Note, the date on which that Capital Note is issued.

Issue Date VWAP means the VWAP during the applicable VWAP Period, as adjusted in accordance with Condition 8.

Issue Price means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Issuer shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Japanese Yen, **¥** and **JPY** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Legended Note means Registered Notes (whether in definitive form or represented by a Registered Global Note) sold in private transactions to QIBs in accordance with the requirements of Rule 144A. **Legend** shall be interpreted accordingly.

Level 2 Insurance Group means the "Level 2 insurance group" (as defined by APRA from time to time) of which the Issuer is the Parent Entity.

Margin means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Maximum Conversion Number shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.1(a).

Nominal Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 8.1(a).

Nominated Purchaser shall have the meaning given in Condition 10.8.

Non-Viability Determination shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.1(a).

Non-Viability Conversion Date shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.2(a).

Non-Viability Trigger Event shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.1(a).

Non-Viability Trigger Event Notice shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.2(a).

Noteholders or **holders** shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Optional Redemption Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Ordinary Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Issuer.

Ordinary Share Dividend means any interim, final or special dividend payable in accordance with the Corporations Act and the constitution of the Issuer in respect of Ordinary Shares.

Other Notes shall have the meaning given in Condition 19.3.

Parent Entity shall have the meaning given to that term by APRA from time to time.

Paying Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Payment Day shall have the meaning given in Condition 9.3.

Preference Share means, in respect of a Capital Note, a notional perpetual preference share in the capital of the Issuer conferring a right to non-cumulative dividend, and a claim in the winding up of the Issuer equal to the Face Value of that Capital Note, and in each case ranking senior only to Ordinary Shares.

Pricing Supplement means Part A of the Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Capital Note.

Principal Financial Centre means the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Specified Currency is Sterling, London;
- (b) if the Specified Currency is Swiss Francs, Geneva;
- (c) if the Specified Currency is euro, Frankfurt;
- (d) if the Specified Currency is Japanese Yen, Tokyo;
- (e) if the Specified Currency is U.S. Dollars, New York; or
- (f) if the Specified Currency is Australian Dollars, Sydney.

Principal Paying Agent shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Proceedings shall have the meaning given in Condition 21.2.

Process Agent shall have the meaning given in Condition 21.3.

QIB means a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A.

Rate of Interest means the rate, in respect of a Capital Note, the interest rate (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) payable in respect of that Capital Note specified in the Pricing Supplement or calculated or determined in accordance with these Conditions and the Pricing Supplement.

Record Date:

- (a) in respect of an Australian Domestic Note and in respect of a payment of interest, means the date which is five Registry Business Days before the Interest Payment Date or other date for payment or such other date as may be approved from time to time by the Issuer in its absolute discretion; and
- (b) in respect of a Registered Note other than an Australian Domestic Note, shall have the meaning given in Condition 9.7(b).

Redeemed Note shall have the meaning given in Condition 10.2.

Redemption Amount means, in respect of a Capital Note, the Face Value of that Capital Note at the time of its redemption in accordance with these Conditions.

Reference Banks means the principal offices of four major banks in the Relevant Financial Centre, selected by the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) (in each case, after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Reference Rate means the rate specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Register means the relevant register of holders of the Registered Notes maintained by the Registrar.

Registered Global Note means a Global Note that is a Registered Note (but, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include an Australian Domestic Note) and includes:

- (a) a Rule 144A Global Note; and
- (b) a Regulation S Global Note,

(and any reference to "Registered Global Notes" shall be construed as a reference to Rule 144A Global Notes and/or Regulation S Global Notes, as the context requires).

Registered Notes shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Registrar shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Registry Business Day means a day on which commercial banks are open for business in the city where the Specified Office of the Registrar or the Australian Registrar (as applicable) is located.

Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Regulation S Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Capital Notes sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S.

Regulatory Event means the introduction of, or an amendment or clarification to or change in, or a change in the interpretation of a law or regulation of Australia or any state or territory thereof, or a rule, regulation, prudential standard, directive, order or requirement of APRA, after the Issue Date ("Regulatory Change") (or an announcement that there will be a Regulatory Change which the Issuer expects will take effect within no more than 12 months), which has or (in the case of an announced Regulatory Change) will have the effect that the Issuer is not (or will not be) entitled to treat all of the Capital Notes in full as Tier 1 Capital, or its then equivalent, of the Level 2 Insurance Group, provided that on the Issue Date the Issuer did not expect that the matters giving rise to the Regulatory Event would occur.

Related Entity shall have the meaning given by APRA from time to time.

Relevant Date in relation to any Capital Note and any payment in respect of such Capital Note, means the date on which such payment is scheduled to be paid, except that, if the full amount of the moneys scheduled to be paid has not been duly received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17.

Relevant Financial Centre means the financial centre specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, Brussels;
- (b) if BBSW Determination applies, Sydney; or
- (c) in any other case, the financial centre with which the relevant Reference Rate is most closely connected.

Relevant Rate means the Reference Rate benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency for a period (if applicable or appropriate to Reference Rate benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration.

Relevant Screen Page means the page, section, caption, column or other part ("Page") of a particular information service specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, such other Page as may succeed or replace it on that information service or such other Page on such other information service as the Principal Paying Agent or the Australian Calculation Agent (as applicable) may determine replaces or succeeds that Page (after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Relevant Tax Jurisdiction means Australia and, in the case of Capital Notes that are issued by the Issuer acting through a borrowing office outside Australia, the jurisdiction or place where the relevant borrowing office is located.

Relevant Tier 1 Capital Instrument means a capital instrument forming part of the Tier 1 Capital of the Level 2 Insurance Group that, in accordance with its terms or by operation of law, is capable of being converted or written-off where APRA makes a determination as referred to in Condition 7.1(a).

Relevant Time means the time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if none is so specified:

- (a) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, 11.00 a.m.;
- (b) if BBSW Determination applies, 10.30 a.m. or such other time at which the BBSW Rate customarily appears on the Thomson Reuters Screen "BBSW" Page; or
- (c) in any other case, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits or equivalent interbank securities as are customarily used in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre (as applicable) in the Specified Currency in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre.

Reorganisation means, in relation to the Issuer, a division, consolidation or reclassification of the Issuer's share capital not involving any cash payment or other distribution or consideration to or by holders of Ordinary Shares.

Representative Amount means the amount specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or if none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the time.

Required Amount shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.2(a).

Resale means, in relation to a Capital Note, the transfer of that Capital Note to the Nominated Purchaser in accordance with Condition 10, and **Resold** and **Resell** have corresponding meanings.

Rule 144A means Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

Rule 144A Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Capital Notes sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons to QIBs.

Scheduled Trading Day means a day which is a business day within the meaning of the ASX Listing Rules.

Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Selection Date shall have the meaning given in Condition 10.2.

Senior Ranking Debt means the claims of all creditors of the Issuer which would be entitled to be admitted in the Winding-Up of the Issuer other than claims in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments.

Series shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Solvent means at any time in respect of the Issuer:

- (a) it is able to pay all its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
- (b) its assets exceed its liabilities,

in each case determined on an unconsolidated stand-alone basis.

Specified Currency shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.3.

Specified Denomination(s) shall have the meaning given in Condition 2.2.

Specified Duration means the period of time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or if none is specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Period, ignoring any adjustment as a consequence of Condition 6.4.

Specified Interest Payment Date means a date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Specified Maturity means the period of time specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Specified Office means, in respect of.

- (a) the Issuer, Level 18, 388 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000;
- (b) the Principal Paying Agent and the Exchange Agent, 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA;
- (c) the Registrar and the Transfer Agent, 2-4 Eugene Ruppert, Vertigo Building, Polaris, L-2453 Luxembourg;
- (d) the Australian Registrar, 20 Bridge Street, Sydney NSW 2000; and
- (e) any other Agent, such office to be notified to the Noteholders from time to time,

or in any case, such other office as notified to the Noteholders from time to time.

Specified Period means a period specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Sterling, £ and GBP shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

sub-unit means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent.

Subsidiary shall have the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act and **Subsidiaries** has a corresponding meaning.

Swiss Franc and **CHF** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

Talon shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

T2 Business Day means a day on which the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem, or any successor thereto, is operating credit or transfer instructions in respect of payments in euro.

Tax Act means:

- (a) the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia, the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 of Australia or the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia (and a reference to any section of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia includes a reference to that section as rewritten in the Income Tax Assessment 1997 of Australia);
- (b) any other law setting the rate of income tax payable; and
- (c) any regulation made under such laws.

Tax Authority means any government, state, municipal, local or other fiscal, revenue, customs or excise authority, body or official, having power to tax.

Tax Event means the receipt by the Issuer of an opinion of competent tax counsel to the effect that, as a result of the introduction of, or amendment or clarification to, or change in, or change in the interpretation of (or an announcement that there will be an introduction of, amendment or clarification to or change in) a law or regulation by any legislative body, court, governmental agency or regulatory authority in a relevant jurisdiction after the Issue Date, there is more than an insubstantial risk that:

- (a) the Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 11; or
- (b) the Issuer would be exposed to more than a *de minimis* increase in its costs in relation to the Capital Notes (which costs shall include a reduction in its franking account balance on account of an increase in the rate of franking attaching to the Capital Notes) as a result of the application of any laws relating to any taxes or duties (or other governmental charges or civil liabilities relating to taxation),

provided that on the Issue Date the Issuer did not expect that the matters giving rise to the Tax Event would occur.

Taxes means taxes, levies, imposts, charges and duties (including stamp and transaction duties) imposed by any authority together with any related interest, penalties, fines and expenses in connection with them, except if imposed on, or calculated having regard to, the net income of the Noteholder.

Tier 1 Capital means Tier 1 capital as defined by APRA from time to time.

Trading Day means any day:

- (a) which is a Scheduled Trading Day; and
- (b) on which the Ordinary Shares:
 - (i) are not suspended from trading on ASX (excluding any intra-day trading halt which the Issuer reasonably considers has not materially affected the VWAP on that day) or such other principal exchange on which the Ordinary Shares are then listed; and
 - (ii) have traded at least once on ASX.

Tranche shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Transfer Agents shall have the meaning given in the preamble.

Transfer Certificate shall have the meaning given in Condition 3.10.

Transfer Form means a form available from the Australian Registrar or such other form as the Issuer may determine from time to time and notify to the holders of Australian Domestic Notes.

Treaty means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

U.S. Dollar, **U.S.\$** and **USD** shall each have the meaning given in the preamble.

VWAP means the average of the daily volume weighted average prices (in AUD) of Ordinary Shares traded on ASX during the relevant VWAP Period, subject to any adjustments made under Condition 8 (such average being rounded to the nearest full Australian cent) (and, where the Specified Currency is not AUD, with each such daily price converted into the Specified Currency on the basis of:

- (a) where the Specified Currency is USD, the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers of Australian dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; or
- (b) where the Specified Currency is not AUD or USD, the rates to be determined in the manner set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement,

in each case expressed in units of the Specified Currency per A\$1.00) but does not include any "Crossing" transacted outside the "Open Session State" or any "Special Crossing" transacted at any time, each as defined in the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, or any overseas trades pursuant to the exercise of options over Ordinary Shares.

VWAP Period means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

- (a) in the case of the Issue Date VWAP, the period of five Trading Days immediately preceding (but not including) the Issue Date; or
- (b) otherwise, the period of five Trading Days immediately preceding (but not including) the Non-Viability Conversion Date.

Winding-Up means, in relation to the Issuer, a winding-up by a court of competent jurisdiction under applicable law (which, in the case of Australia, includes the Corporations Act) and the terms **Wind-Up** and **Wound-Up** shall, when used in relation to the Issuer, have corresponding meanings.

Written-Off shall have the meaning given in Condition 7.3 and Write-Off has a corresponding meaning.

22.2 Interpretation

- (a) Unless otherwise specified, a reference to a Condition is a reference to a provision of these Conditions.
- (b) Headings and boldings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of these Conditions.
- (c) The singular includes the plural and vice versa.
- (d) A reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other law includes regulations and other instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them and references to the law includes statutes, ordinances, directives or common law and principles of equity having general application.

- (e) A reference to the "Corporations Act" as it relates to the Issuer is to that Act as may be modified in relation to the Issuer by ASIC.
- (f) Unless otherwise specified, a period of time dating from a given day or the day of an act or event is to be calculated exclusive of that day.
- (g) A day is to be interpreted as the period of time commencing at midnight and ending 24 hours later.
- (h) Any reference to any requirements of APRA or any other prudential regulatory requirements in these Conditions will apply or be operative with respect to the Issuer only if the Issuer is an entity, or the holding company of an entity, or is a direct or indirect subsidiary of a holding company, which is subject to regulation and supervision by APRA at the relevant time.
- (i) Any requirement for APRA's consent or approval in any provision of these Conditions will apply only if APRA requires that such consent or approval be given at the relevant time.
- (j) Where, under these Conditions, APRA's approval is required for any act to be done or not done, that term does not imply that APRA's approval has been given as at the Issue Date.
- (k) A reference to any term defined by APRA shall, if that term is replaced or superseded in any of APRA's applicable prudential regulatory requirements or standards, be taken to be a reference to the replacement or equivalent term.
- (1) A reference to an agreement, deed or instrument (including these Conditions) includes a reference to that agreement, deed or instrument as amended, added to or restated from time to time.
- (m) The words "includes" or "including", "for example" or "such as" do not exclude a reference to other items, whether of the same class or genus or not.
- (n) All references to the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg shall be to the records that each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg holds for its customers which reflect the amount of such customers' interests in the Capital Notes.
- (o) For the purposes of Condition 18.3, in determining whether an amendment is not materially prejudicial to the interests of Noteholders as a whole, the taxation and regulatory capital consequences to Noteholders (or any class of Noteholders) and other special consequences which are personal to a Noteholder (or any class of Noteholders) do not need to be taken into account.

DESCRIPTION OF THE ORDINARY SHARES

The rights and liabilities attaching to the Ordinary Shares to be issued on Conversion of the Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes are set out in the Constitution and are also regulated by the Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules and the general law. The circumstances where Subordinated Notes or Capital Notes may be Converted into Ordinary Shares and the risks associated with Conversion and holding Ordinary Shares are described in the section entitled "Risks Factors — Risk of mandatory conversion or write-off on account of the non-viability of the Issuer" above. Set out below is a summary of some of the key rights, liabilities and features attaching to the Ordinary Shares as at the date of this Offering Circular.

Voting rights

Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class of shares, a registered holder of an Ordinary Share ("Member") is entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Issuer. Any resolution being considered at a general meeting is decided on a show of hands unless a poll is held. On a show of hands, each Member present has one vote, except in the case of joint holders, where only the vote of the person named first in the register is counted.

On a poll, each Member has one vote for each Ordinary Share. Partly paid Ordinary Shares confer that fraction of a vote which is equal to the proportion which the amount paid bears to the total issue price of the Ordinary Share.

Voting rights may be restricted by applicable law and ASX Listing Rules in certain circumstances — see "Risks Factors—Restrictions on holding and trading Ordinary Shares and Notes" above.

No rights to redemption

Members have no right to require the redemption of any Ordinary Shares they hold.

Notices to Members

Each Member is entitled to receive notices, financial statements and other documents required to be sent to Members under the Constitution, Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.

Dividend entitlement

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Constitution and the terms of issue of Ordinary Shares, the Board may resolve to pay dividends on Ordinary Shares.

Rights of Members on a winding-up of the Issuer

In a winding-up of the Issuer, the liquidator may distribute in specie the whole or any part of the Issuer's property among the Members.

Transfer of Ordinary Shares

Ordinary Shares may be transferred by any means permitted by the Constitution, or by law. The Issuer may in limited circumstances decline to register a transfer where permitted or required to do so under the ASX Listing Rules or the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Limitations on ownership

There are detailed Australian laws and regulations which govern the acquisition of interests in the Issuer, and a summary of these is described in "Risks Factors — Restrictions on holding and trading Ordinary Shares and Notes", above. The Constitution also contains certain limitations on the rights to own securities in the Issuer, such as providing that the Issuer will not, in certain circumstances, recognise a person as holding an Ordinary Share on any trust, and prescribing limitations in respect of joint holders of Ordinary Shares. The Constitution also provides rights for the Issuer, subject to certain conditions, to compulsorily dispose of parcels of Ordinary Shares worth less than A\$500.

Issues of further shares

Subject to the Constitution, the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules, the Board may issue or grant options in respect of Ordinary Shares on such terms as the Board decides. The Board may also issue preference shares, including redeemable preference shares, or convertible notes with preferred, deferred or special rights or restrictions in relation to dividends, voting, return of capital and participation in surplus on a winding-up of the Issuer.

Variation of rights

The Issuer may modify or vary the rights attaching to any class of shares with the consent in writing of the holders of three-fourths of the issued shares of that class; or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of the class.

Issued capital

As at January 2024, the Issuer has 1,493,915,310 Ordinary Shares on issue, all of which are fully paid. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Ordinary Shares are listed on the ASX. See www.asx.com.au.

FORM OF THE NOTES

This part "Form of the Notes" applies only in relation to Notes other than Australian Domestic Notes. References to Registered Notes in this part shall be taken to exclude Australian Domestic Notes.

The Notes of each Series will be in either bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**"), with or without receipts, interest coupons and talons attached, or registered form ("**Registered Notes**"), without receipts, interest coupons and talons attached. Bearer Notes will be issued outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S and Registered Notes will be issued outside the United States in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Regulation S.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be represented by either a temporary bearer global note (a "**Temporary Bearer Global Note**") or a permanent bearer global note (a "**Permanent Bearer Global Note**") as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement which, in either case will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to the common depositary (the "**Common Depositary**") of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Whilst any Bearer Note is represented by a Temporary Bearer Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made against presentation of the Temporary Bearer Global Note to the extent that there is presented to the Principal Paying Agent by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg a certificate, to the effect that it has received from or in respect of a person entitled to a particular nominal amount of the Notes (as shown by its records) a certificate of non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form required by it.

On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is the later of (i) 40 days after a Temporary Bearer Global Note is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Tranche of Notes represented by the Temporary Bearer Global Note, interests in such Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable in whole or in part (free of charge) for, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, either (i) security printed Definitive Bearer Notes and, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached, or (ii) a Permanent Bearer Global Note, in each case upon notice being given by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in the Temporary Bearer Global Note and in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes subject to the notice period specified in the Pricing Supplement. The holder of a Temporary Bearer Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification exchange of the Temporary Bearer Global Note for an interest in Definitive Bearer Notes or a Permanent Bearer Global Note is improperly withheld or refused and such withholding or refusal is continuing at the relevant payment date.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent Bearer Global Note without any requirement for certification.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify that a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part (free of charge), for security printed Definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached upon either (i) not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Bearer Global Note) to the Principal Paying Agent as described therein or (ii) only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, "Exchange Event" means that (i) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no alternative clearing system is available or (iii) the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Bearer Global Note in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Bearer Global Note) may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 60 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent.

The exchange of a Permanent Bearer Global Note for Definitive Bearer Notes upon notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder) or at any time at the request of the Issuer

should not be expressed to be applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement if the Bearer Notes are issued with a minimum Specified Denomination such as $\in 100,000$ (or its equivalent in another currency) plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount such as $\in 1,000$ (or its equivalent in another currency). Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Bearer Notes which are to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes.

The following legend will appear on all Permanent Bearer Global Notes or Definitive Bearer Notes, which have an original maturity of more than 1 year and on all interest coupons and talons relating to such Bearer Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections of the Code referred to above provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment in respect of any gain on any sale, disposal, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes or interest coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Bearer Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

Registered Notes

The Registered Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S, which will be sold to non-U.S. persons outside the United States, will initially be represented by a global note in registered form (a "Regulation S Global Note"). Prior to expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S) applicable to each Tranche of Notes, beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Note may not be offered or sold to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. person save as otherwise provided in the Conditions and may not be held otherwise than through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg and such Regulation S Global Note will bear a legend regarding such restrictions on transfer.

Registered Global Notes will be either (i) deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC or (ii) deposited with and registered in the name of the Common Depositary. Persons holding beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may be, under the circumstances described below, to receive physical delivery of definitive Notes in fully registered form.

Payments of principal, interest and any other amount in respect of the Registered Global Notes will, in the absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the person shown on the Register as the registered holder of the Registered Global Notes. None of the Issuer, any Paying Agent or the Registrar will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments or deliveries made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Payments of principal, interest or any other amount in respect of the Registered Notes in definitive form will, in the absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant Record Date (as defined in the Conditions) immediately preceding the due date for payment in the manner provided in that Condition.

Interests in a Registered Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for Definitive Registered Notes without interest coupons or talons attached only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, "Exchange Event" means that (i) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (ii) DTC has notified the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue to act as depositary for the Notes and no alternative clearing system is available, (iii) DTC has ceased to constitute a clearing agency registered under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and no alternative clearing system is available, (iv) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no alternative clearing system is available or (v) the

Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Registered Global Note in definitive form.

The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Registered Global Note) may give notice to the Registrar requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (v) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Registrar requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 10 days after the date of receipt of the relevant notice by the Registrar.

Transfer of Interests

Interests in a Registered Global Note may, subject to compliance with all applicable restrictions, be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such interest in another Registered Global Note. No beneficial owner of an interest in a Registered Global Note will be able to transfer such interest, except in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, in each case to the extent applicable. Registered Notes are also subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth therein and will bear a legend regarding such restrictions, see "Subscription and Sale".

General

Pursuant to the Euro Agency Agreement, the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes at a point after the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a common code and ISIN and, where applicable, a CUSIP and CINS number which are different from the common code, ISIN, CUSIP and CINS assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single series, which shall not be prior to the expiry of the distribution compliance period applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

For so long as any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and its agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note, and for so long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Euro Agency Agreement and such Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through such participants, and in each case the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional, alternative or successor clearance system approved by the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent.

A Senior Note or a Subordinated Note may be accelerated by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in the relevant Conditions. In such circumstances, or following the occurrence of the Maturity Date, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and the Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Conditions of such Notes and payment in full of the amount due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the Global Note then holders of interests in such Global Notes will, at 8.00 pm (London time) on, in the case of a Senior Note, the eighth day after the relevant due date or, in the case of a Subordinated Note, the fourth day after the relevant due date, become entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC on and subject to the terms of an amended and restated deed of covenant dated 27 February 2024 and executed by the Issuer. In addition, holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts with DTC may require DTC to deliver

definitive Notes in registered form in exchange for their interest in such Global Note in accordance with DTC's standard operating procedures.

The Issuer may agree with the Dealers that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Conditions of the Notes herein, in which event a new Offering Circular or a supplement to this Offering Circular, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT

The information set out below is subject to any change in or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxemburg, DTC or Austraclear (together, the "Clearing Systems") currently in effect. The information in this section concerning the Clearing Systems has been obtained from sources that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but neither the Issuer nor any Dealer takes any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. The rules, regulations and procedures of these Clearing Systems are subject to change at any time. Investors wishing to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems are advised to confirm the continued applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System. The Issuer nor any other party to the Euro Agency Agreement will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Notes held through the facilities of any Clearing System or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the Clearing System(s) applicable for each Series.

Euroclear

The Euroclear System was created in 1968 to hold securities for participants in the Euroclear System ("Euroclear Participants") and to effect transactions between Euroclear Participants through immobilisation of certificates and simultaneous electronic book-entry delivery against payment, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates and any risk from lack of simultaneous transfer of securities and cash. Euroclear Participants include banks (including central banks), securities brokers and dealers and other professional financial intermediaries. Indirect access to the Euroclear System is also available to other firms that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear Participant, either directly or indirectly. The Euroclear System is operated by Euroclear.

Securities clearance accounts and cash accounts with Euroclear are governed by the terms and conditions governing use of Euroclear, the related operating procedures of the Euroclear System and applicable Belgian law (collectively, the "Euroclear Terms and Conditions"). The Euroclear Terms and Conditions govern transactions of securities and cash within Euroclear, withdrawal of securities and cash from the system and receipts of payments with respect to securities in the system. All securities in Euroclear are held on a fungible basis without attribution of specific certificates to specific securities clearance accounts. Euroclear acts under the Euroclear Terms and Conditions only with Euroclear Participants themselves, and has no record of or relationship with persons holding through Euroclear Participants.

Distributions with respect to interests in Global Notes held through Euroclear will be credited to the Euroclear cash accounts of Euroclear Participants to the extent received by Euroclear's depositary, in accordance with the Euroclear Terms and Conditions. Euroclear will take any other action permitted to be taken by a holder of any Global Notes on behalf of a Euroclear Participant only in accordance with the Euroclear Terms and Conditions.

Clearstream, Luxembourg

Clearstream, Luxembourg is incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg as a professional depositary and provides, among other things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities. As a professional depositary, Clearstream, Luxembourg is subject to regulation by the Luxembourg Monetary Institute. Clearstream, Luxembourg holds securities and provides clearing services for its participating organisations ("Clearstream, Luxembourg Participants"). Securities transfers are effected through book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream, Luxembourg Participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream, Luxembourg Participants are recognised financial institutions around the world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Indirect access to Clearstream, Luxembourg is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Clearstream, Luxembourg Participant, either directly or indirectly.

DTC

DTC has advised the Issuer that it is a limited purpose trust company organised under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organisation" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the U.S. Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing

agency" registered pursuant to Section 17A of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. DTC holds and provides asset servicing securities that its participants ("Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerised book-entry changes in Participants' accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC is owned by a number of its Direct Participants ("Direct Participants"), which include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants").

Under the rules, regulations and procedures creating and affecting DTC and its operations (the "Rules"), DTC makes book-entry transfers of Registered Notes among Direct Participants on whose behalf it acts with respect to Notes accepted into DTC's book-entry settlement system ("DTC Notes") as described below and receives and transmits distributions of principal and interest on DTC Notes. The Rules are on file with the SEC. Direct Participants and Indirect Participants with which beneficial owners of DTC Notes ("Owners") have accounts with respect to the DTC Notes similarly are required to make book-entry transfers and receive and transmit such payments on behalf of their respective Owners. Accordingly, although Owners who hold DTC Notes through Direct Participants or Indirect Participants will not possess Registered Notes, the Rules, by virtue of the requirements described above, provide a mechanism by which Direct Participants will receive payments and will be able to transfer their interest in respect of the DTC Notes.

Purchases of DTC Notes under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the DTC Notes on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each DTC Note ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participant's records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the DTC Notes are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in DTC Notes, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the DTC Notes is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all DTC Notes deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorised representative of DTC. The deposit of DTC Notes with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do no effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the DTC Notes; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such DTC Notes are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the DTC Notes within an issue are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to DTC Notes unless authorised by a Direct Participant in accordance DTC's Money Market Instrument Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the DTC Notes are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the DTC Notes will be made to DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts on the due date for payment in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on the due date. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name", and will be the

responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC or the Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest to DTC is the responsibility of the Issuer, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants is the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners is the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

Under certain circumstances, including if there is an Event of Default under the Notes, DTC will exchange the DTC Notes for definitive Registered Notes, which it will distribute to its Participants in accordance with their proportionate entitlements.

Since DTC may only act on behalf of Direct Participants, who in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants, any Owner desiring to pledge DTC Notes to persons or entities that do not participate in DTC, or otherwise take actions with respect to such DTC Notes, will be required to withdraw its Registered Notes from DTC as described below.

Austraclear system

Austraclear began operation of the Austraclear System in Australia in 1984. Austraclear is an unlisted public company operated by financial institutions and other market participants. It operates the national central securities depositary to the Australian money market and registry for government, semi-government and private sector debt securities lodged with the Austraclear System.

The rights and obligations of Austraclear and participants under the Austraclear System are created by contract, as evidenced through the Austraclear System Regulations and Operating Manual, User Guides and instructions and directions contained within the Austraclear System ("Austraclear Rules").

Under the Austraclear System, a wide range of eligible debt instruments may be "lodged" with Austraclear and either immobilised in its vaults which are located in Austraclear's branch offices in Sydney and Melbourne (if they are in physical form), or recorded on an electronic register. Through the Austraclear System, ownership of these "physical" or "discount" debt instruments (Paper Securities) and "non-physical" or "fixed interest" debt instruments (Non-Paper Securities) is transferred electronically via book-entry changes without the need for physical delivery. Real-time settlement of cash transactions is facilitated by a real-time gross settlement ("RTGS") system, operated by the Reserve Bank of Australia ("RBA") and linked to the Austraclear System.

The Austraclear System relies upon both parties to a transaction entering trade details into computer terminals that the System then matches before effecting settlement. As well as facilitating securities settlements the Austraclear System also provides members with the ability to make high-value funds transfers independent of the need for a corresponding securities transfer.

As transactions currently processed through the Austraclear System are made on a RTGS basis, the cash settlement of transactions in debt securities, will be settled individually on a RTGS basis through institutions' exchange settlement accounts (held at the RBA). A payment will be settled only if the paying institution has an adequate balance in the exchange settlement account. Once that payment is made, it is irrevocable in the sense it is protected from recall by the remitter or dishonour by the paying institution. This allows for true delivery versus payment to take place; that is, securities and cash transfers occur simultaneously, counterparties to the transaction will own either securities or cash and finality is immediate.

On issue of any Australian Domestic Notes, the Issuer will procure that the Australian Domestic Notes are lodged with the Austraclear System. On lodgement, Austraclear will become the sole registered holder and legal owner of the Australian Domestic Notes. Subject to the Austraclear Rules, participants of the Austraclear System ("Accountholders") may acquire rights against Austraclear in relation to those Australian Domestic Notes as beneficial owners and Austraclear is required to deal with the Australian Domestic Notes in accordance with the directions and instructions of the Accountholders. Any potential investors who are not Accountholders would need to hold their interest in the relevant Australian Domestic Notes through a nominee who is an Accountholder. All payments by the Issuer in respect of Australian Domestic Notes entered into the Austraclear System will be made directly to an account agreed with Austraclear or as it directs in accordance with the Austraclear Rules.

Once lodged with the Austraclear System, interests in the Australian Domestic Notes may be held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. In these circumstances, entitlements in respect of holdings of interests in the Australian Domestic Notes in Euroclear would be held in the Austraclear System by HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited as nominee of Euroclear, while entitlements in respect of holdings of interests in the Australian

Domestic Notes in Clearstream, Luxembourg would be held in the Austraclear System by BNP Paribas Securities Services, Australia Branch as nominee of Clearstream, Luxembourg.

The rights of a holder of interests in Australian Domestic Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg are subject to the respective rules and regulations of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, the arrangements between Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective nominees and the Austraclear Rules.

Transfers of Notes represented by Registered Global Notes

Transfers of any interests in Notes represented by a Registered Global Note within DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be effected in accordance with the customary rules and operating procedures of the relevant Clearing System. The laws in some states within the United States require that certain persons take physical delivery of securities in definitive form of securities. Consequently, the ability to transfer Notes represented by a Registered Global Note to such persons may depend upon the ability to exchange such Notes for Notes in definitive form. Similarly, because DTC can only act on behalf of Direct Participants in the DTC system who in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants, the ability of a person having an interest in Notes represented by a Registered Global Note accepted by DTC to pledge such Notes to persons or entities that do not participate in DTC, or otherwise take actions in respect of such Notes may depend upon the ability to exchange such Notes for Notes in definitive form. The ability of any holder of Notes represented by a Registered Global Note accepted by DTC to resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Notes may be impaired if the proposed transferee of such Notes is not eligible to hold such Notes through a Direct or Indirect participant in DTC.

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Registered Notes described under "Subscription and Sale", cross-market transfers between DTC, on the one hand, and directly or indirectly through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the other, will be effected by the relevant clearing system in accordance with its rules and through action taken by the Registrar, the Fiscal Agent and any custodian ("Custodian") with whom the relevant Registered Global Notes have been deposited.

On or after the Issue Date for any Series of Registered Notes, transfers of Notes of such Series between accountholders in Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and transfers of Notes of such Series between participants in DTC will generally have a settlement date three business days after the trade date (T+3). The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment will apply to such transfers.

Cross-market transfers between accountholders in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC participants will need to have an agreed settlement date between the parties to such transfer. Because there is no direct link between DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the other, transfers of interests in the relevant Registered Global Notes will be effected through the Registrar, the Fiscal Agent and the Custodian receiving instructions (and, where appropriate, certification) from the transferor and arranging for delivery of the interests being transferred to the credit of the designated account for the transferee. In the case of cross-market transfers, settlement between Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC participants cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The securities will be delivered on a free delivery basis and arrangements for payment must be made separately.

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes among participants and accountholders of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued or changed at any time. None of the Issuer, the Agents or any Dealer will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations and none of them will have any liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial interests in the Notes represented by Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial interests.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the issue of the Notes will be used for general corporate purposes within the Group. If, in respect of any particular issue there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

TAXATION

This section summarises the principal Australian taxation consequences arising from the acquisition, holding and disposal of Notes (other than Foreign Branch Notes) by Noteholders who hold their Notes on capital account for Australian income tax purposes. This section also provides a summary of the financial transactions tax ("FTT") proposed by the European Commission.

The summary is based on tax law and practice in force as at the date of this Offering Circular, unless otherwise indicated. It is of a general nature only and is neither exhaustive nor definitive and it does not purport to be a complete analysis of all of the tax considerations relating to the Notes. The summary does not apply to Noteholders who hold Notes on revenue account, as trading stock or as part of a securities trading business and may not apply to certain other classes of persons. It is not intended to be advice and should not be relied upon as such.

This summary does not address the taxation consequences of holding or disposing of Ordinary Shares following Conversion of Notes (except as expressly noted below).

Prospective holders of Notes should seek independent taxation advice having regard to their own particular circumstances before making a decision to invest in Notes.

AUSTRALIAN TAXATION

The following is an overview of the taxation treatment under the Income Tax Assessment Acts of 1936 and 1997 of Australia (together, the "Australian Tax Act"), at the date of this Offering Circular of payments of Interest on the Notes to be issued by the Issuer under the Programme and certain other matters. It is not exhaustive and, in particular, does not deal with the position of certain classes of holders of Notes (including, dealers in securities, custodians or other third parties who hold Notes on behalf of any Noteholders).

Prospective holders of Notes should also be aware that particular terms of issue of any series of Notes may affect the tax treatment of that and other series of Notes. The following is a general guide and should be treated with appropriate caution. The following description is subject to the terms and conditions applicable to the Notes as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Prospective holders of Notes who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisers on the tax implications of an investment in the Notes for their particular circumstances.

Interest payments on the Notes

The Issuer intends to issue Notes, other than Capital Notes, on terms which characterise the Notes as debt interests for Australian income tax purposes. This means Interest paid on Notes, other than Capital Notes, is expected to be treated as ordinary interest income for Australian income tax purposes.

The Issuer intends to issue Capital Notes on terms which characterise the Capital Notes as non-share equity interests for Australian income tax purposes. This means Interest paid on Capital Notes is expected to be treated as non-share dividends and not as interest income for Australian income tax purposes.

Interest payments on Capital Notes may be frankable distributions and may carry franking credits. The Issuer will provide distribution statements to Noteholders in respect of each Interest payment on the Capital Notes. Noteholders may refer to the distribution statement to ascertain:

- the amount of the Interest payment;
- the amount of franking credits attached to the Interest payment; and
- the amount of the unfranked part of the Interest payment (if any) that is declared by the Issuer to be conduit foreign income.

Australian Noteholders

Interest payments on the Notes should be assessable to:

- (a) Australian resident Noteholders who do not hold the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia; and
- (b) non-resident Noteholders who hold the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia,

("Australian Noteholders").

Provided an Australian Noteholder is a 'qualified person' (see discussion below) in relation to an Interest payment on the Capital Notes, any franking credit attached to the Interest payment should be included in the assessable income of the Australian Noteholder and the Australian Noteholder should be entitled to a tax offset equal to the amount of the franking credits.

For some Australian Noteholders, if the tax offset exceeds their income tax liability for an income year, the excess tax offset may be refunded.

An Australian Noteholder will be a 'qualified person' in relation to an Interest payment on the Capital Notes if the Australian Noteholder has held the Capital Notes 'at risk' for a continuous period of at least 90 days during the relevant qualification period.

The length of the qualification period will depend on whether the Australian Noteholder has made a 'related payment' in relation to the Interest payment on the Capital Notes. Generally, this occurs where the Australian Noteholder makes a payment which passes the benefit of the Interest payment to another person.

The Commissioner of Taxation may also apply anti-avoidance rules to deny the benefit of franking credits to Noteholders in limited circumstances.

Non-Australian Noteholders

Interest payments on Notes other than Capital Notes may be subject to Australian interest withholding tax where the Interest payment is made to:

- (a) Australian resident Noteholders who hold the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia; and
- (b) non-resident Noteholders who do not hold the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia,

("Non-Australian Noteholders").

An exemption from Australian interest withholding tax is available, in respect of the Notes other than Capital Notes issued by the Issuer, under section 128F of the Australian Tax Act if the following conditions are met:

- (a) the Issuer is a resident of Australia when it issues those Notes and when "interest" (as defined in section 128A(1AB) of the Australian Tax Act) is paid. "Interest" is defined to include amounts in the nature of, or in substitution for, interest and certain other amounts;
- (b) the Notes are debentures as defined for the purposes of section 128F (but not equity interests);
- (c) those Notes are issued in a manner which satisfies the public offer test. There are five principal methods of satisfying the public offer test, the purpose of which is to ensure that lenders in capital markets are aware that the Issuer is offering those Notes for issue. In summary, the five methods are:
 - offers to 10 or more unrelated persons carrying on a business of providing finance, or investing or dealing in securities, in the course of operating in financial markets;

- offers to 100 or more investors;
- offers of listed Notes;
- offers via publicly available information sources; and
- offers to a dealer, manager or underwriter who offers to sell those Notes within 30 days by one
 of the preceding methods.

The issue of Notes as "global bonds", as defined in the Australian Tax Act, should also satisfy the public offer test.

The issue of any of those Notes (whether in global form or otherwise) and the offering of interests in any of those Notes by one of these methods should satisfy the public offer test provided the Issuer does not know, or have reasonable grounds to suspect, at the time of issue, that those Notes or interests in those Notes were being, or would later be, acquired, directly or indirectly, by an "associate" of the Issuer, except as permitted by section 128F(5) of the Australian Tax Act.

The exemption under section 128F also does not apply to interest paid in respect of a Note if, at the time of the payment of interest, the Issuer knows, or has reasonable grounds to suspect, that the payee is an "associate" of the Issuer, except as permitted by section 128F(6) of the Australian Tax Act.

Unless otherwise specified in any relevant Pricing Supplement (or another relevant supplement to this Offering Circular), the Issuer intends to issue Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes in a manner which will satisfy the requirements of section 128F of the Australian Tax Act.

An exemption from Australian interest withholding tax may also be available, in respect of the Notes other than Capital Notes, under a number of double tax conventions ("Specified Treaties") that the Australian government has signed with foreign jurisdictions (each a "Specified Country").

The Specified Treaties effectively prevent interest withholding tax applying to interest derived by:

- governments of the Specified Countries and certain governmental authorities and agencies in a Specified Country; and
- certain unrelated (1) banks, and (2) other financial institutions which substantially derive their profits by carrying on a business of raising and providing finance and which are resident in the Specified Country (interest paid under a back-to-back loan or economically equivalent arrangement will not qualify for this exemption),

by reducing the interest withholding tax rate to zero.

The Specified Treaties are in force in a number of jurisdictions including, for example, the United States and the United Kingdom.

Interest payments on the Capital Notes may be subject to Australian dividend withholding tax where the Interest payment is made to non-resident Noteholders who do not hold the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia.

Dividend withholding tax should not generally apply to non-resident Noteholders to the extent that:

- (a) the Interest payment on the Capital Note is franked, and
- (b) the amount of the unfranked part of the Interest payment on the Capital Note is declared by the Issuer to be conduit foreign income.

Australian dividend withholding tax is imposed at a general rate of 30 per cent. but the rate may be reduced by, among other things, a double tax convention between Australia and the jurisdiction where the Noteholder is resident.

Special rules apply to the taxation of Australian residents who hold Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia which vary depending on the country in which that permanent establishment is located. In some cases, Interest paid in respect of Notes to an Australian resident Noteholder who holds the Notes at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia may be exempt from Australian income tax.

Payment of additional amounts

As set out in more detail in the relevant Terms and Conditions for the Notes, and unless expressly provided to the contrary in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or another relevant supplement to this Offering Circular), if the Issuer is at any time required by law to deduct or withhold an amount in respect of any Australian withholding taxes imposed or levied by the Commonwealth of Australia in respect of the Notes, the Issuer must, subject to certain exceptions, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order to ensure that the net amounts received by the holders of those Notes after such deduction or withholding are equal to the respective amounts which would have been received had no such deduction or withholding been required. If the Issuer is required to pay such additional amounts in relation to any Notes, the Issuer may have the option to redeem those Notes in accordance with the relevant Terms and Conditions.

Disposals of Notes

An Australian taxing event may occur when Notes held by a Noteholder are redeemed, disposed of, or in the case of Subordinated Notes and Capital Notes only, converted or written-off.

The conversion of Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares should not generally give rise to any taxable gain or loss in Australia for Noteholders. This is because a taxing event should not be treated as occurring or a gain on the conversion should not be treated as assessable under the Australian Tax Act.

Similarly, a capital gain or loss made by a Noteholder on a conversion of Capital Notes into Ordinary Shares should be generally disregarded for Australian capital gains tax purposes. Instead, the Noteholder's cost base in the Ordinary Shares acquired on conversion should be determined by reference to their cost base in the Capital Notes which were converted.

There are a range of tax consequences which may apply to holders of Ordinary Shares in acquiring, holding or disposing of Ordinary Shares. Holders should seek their own taxation advice which takes into account their own personal status and circumstances if their Notes are converted into Ordinary Shares.

Australian Noteholders

Australian Noteholders should generally be required to include any gain made on the redemption, disposal or write-off of Notes other than Capital Notes in their assessable income and any loss may be deductible subject to certain exceptions.

Capital Notes

Gains and losses made on the redemption, disposal or write-off of Capital Notes should generally be taxed under the capital gains tax provisions. A redemption, disposal or write-off of Capital Notes should constitute a capital gains tax event. An Australian Noteholder should make a capital gain on the redemption or disposal of Capital Notes if the capital proceeds received or taken to be received on the sale or redemption exceed their cost base in the Capital Notes. If such capital proceeds are less than their reduced cost base, or in the case of a write-off, no capital proceeds are or are taken to be received, the Australian Noteholder should generally make a capital loss. Capital losses may only be offset against capital gains (and not other income) in the same or later years of income.

An Australian resident Noteholder may be entitled to the capital gains tax discount in respect of a capital gain made on the redemption or disposal of Capital Notes if they have held the Capital Notes for at least 12 months. An Australian resident Noteholder who is an individual or trust is entitled to a discount percentage of 50 per cent.

and complying superannuation entities are entitled to a discount percentage of $33\frac{1}{3}$ per cent. Companies are not entitled to the capital gains tax discount.

Non-Australian Noteholders

Special rules apply to the taxation of Australian residents who hold Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia which vary depending on the country in which that permanent establishment is located. In some cases, gains and losses made in respect of the Notes by an Australian resident Noteholder who holds the Notes at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia may be exempt from Australian income tax.

A non-resident Noteholder who does not hold Notes (other than Capital Notes) in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia should not be subject to Australian income tax on the redemption, disposal or write-off of those Notes, provided:

- (a) the non-resident is a resident of a country with which Australia has entered into a double tax convention and is fully entitled to the relevant benefits under the convention; or
- (b) otherwise, any gains made on the redemption or disposal of those Notes do not have an Australian source.

A gain arising on the sale of Notes by a non-resident Noteholder to another non-resident Noteholder where the Notes are sold outside Australia and all negotiations are conducted, and documentation executed, outside Australia, should not be regarded as having an Australian source.

Any capital gain or capital loss made in respect of the disposal or redemption of Capital Notes by a non-resident Noteholder who does not hold the Capital Notes at or through a permanent establishment in Australia may be disregarded for Australian capital gains tax purposes.

Other tax matters

Under Australian laws as presently in effect:

(a) taxation of financial arrangements – Division 230 of the Australian Tax Act contains tax timing rules for certain taxpayers to bring to account gains and losses from "financial arrangements". The rules do not alter the rules relating to the imposition of Australian interest and dividend withholding tax nor override the Australian interest withholding tax exemption available under section 128F of the Australian Tax Act.

A number of elective tax timing methods are available under Division 230. If none of the tax timing elections are made, the default accruals/realisation methods should apply to the taxpayer. Under the default methods, if the gains or losses from a financial arrangement are sufficiently certain, they should be brought to account for tax on an accruals basis. Otherwise, they should be brought to account for tax when they are realised.

Division 230 does not apply to certain taxpayers or in respect of certain short term "financial arrangements". Division 230 should not, for example, generally apply to Noteholders who are individuals and certain other entities (e.g. certain superannuation entities and managed investment schemes) which do not meet various turnover or asset thresholds, unless they make an election that the rules apply to their "financial arrangements". Potential Noteholders should seek their own tax advice regarding their own personal circumstances as to whether such an election should be made;

(b) foreign currency gains and losses – Division 775 of Australian Tax Act contains rules relating to the taxation of gains and losses attributable to foreign currency exchange rate movements (as does Division 230 if it applies to a taxpayer). Taxing events can occur under Division 775 on, amongst other things, the disposal or other cessation of a right to receive foreign currency. These rules, and their interaction with other provisions of the Australian Tax Act, are complex. Again, Noteholders should seek their own taxation advice regarding how to account for any foreign exchange gains or losses arising from their holding of Notes;

- (c) deemed interest—there are specific rules that can apply to treat a portion of the purchase price of Notes (other than Capital Notes) as "interest" for interest withholding tax purposes when such Notes originally issued at a discount or with a maturity premium or which do not pay interest at least annually are sold to an Australian Noteholder. These rules do not apply in circumstances where the deemed "interest" would have been exempt under section 128F of the Australian Tax Act if the Notes had been held to maturity by a non-resident;
- (d) withholding tax on Notes in bearer form section 126 of the Australian Tax Act imposes a type of withholding tax at the rate of 45 per cent. on payments of Interest on Notes in bearer form if the Issuer fails to disclose the names and addresses of the holders to the Australian Taxation Office. Section 126 does not apply to the payment of Interest on such Notes in bearer form held by non-residents who do not carry on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia where the issue of the Notes has satisfied the requirements of section 128F of the Australian Tax Act or interest withholding tax is payable. In addition, the Australian Taxation Office has confirmed that for the purpose of section 126 of the Australian Tax Act, the holder of debentures (such as the Notes in bearer form) means the person in possession of the debentures. Section 126 is therefore limited in its application to persons in possession of Notes in bearer form who are residents of Australia or non-residents who are engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia. Where interests in such Notes in bearer form are held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Issuer intends to treat the operators of those clearing systems as the holders of the Notes for the purposes of section 126 of the Australian Tax Act;
- (e) ABN/TFN withholding tax —section 12-140 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia ("Taxation Administration Act") imposes a type of withholding tax on the payment of interest on certain registered securities unless the relevant payee has quoted an Australian tax file number ("TFN"), (in certain circumstances) an Australian Business Number ("ABN") or proof of some other exception (as appropriate). Assuming the requirements of section 128F of the Australian Tax Act are satisfied with respect to Notes (other than Capital Notes) then the requirements of section 12-140 should not apply to payments to a holder of such Notes in registered form who is not a resident of Australia and not holding the Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia. Payments to other classes of holders of Notes in registered form may be subject to a withholding where the holder of the Notes does not quote a TFN, ABN or provide proof of an appropriate exemption (as appropriate). The rate of withholding tax is currently 47 per cent.;
- (f) additional withholdings from certain payments to non-residents—section 12-315 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act gives the Governor-General power to make regulations requiring withholding from certain payments to non-residents. However, section 12-315 expressly provides that the regulations will not apply to interest and dividends which are already subject to the current withholding tax rules or specifically exempt from those rules. Further, regulations may only be made if the responsible minister is satisfied the specified payments are of a kind that could reasonably relate to assessable income of foreign residents. The regulations promulgated prior to the date of this Offering Circular are not relevant to any payments in respect of the Notes. Any further regulations should also not apply to repayments of principal under the Notes, as in the absence of any issue discount, such amounts will generally not be reasonably related to assessable income. The possible application of any regulations to the proceeds of any sale of the Notes will need to be monitored;
- (g) garnishee directions by the Commissioner of Taxation the Commissioner of Taxation may give a direction requiring the Issuer to deduct from any payment to a Noteholder any amount in respect of Australian tax payable by the Noteholder. If the Issuer is served with such a direction, then the Issuer will comply with that direction and will make any deduction required by that direction;
- (h) *supply withholding tax*—payments in respect of the Notes can be made free and clear of the "supply withholding tax" imposed under section 12-190 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act;
- (i) goods and services tax (GST)—neither the issue nor receipt of the Notes will give rise to a liability for GST in Australia on the basis that the supply of Notes will comprise either an input taxed financial supply or (in the case of an offshore subscriber that is a non-resident) a GST-free supply. Furthermore, neither the payment of principal or interest by the Issuer, nor the disposal of the Notes, would give rise to any GST liability in Australia; and

- (j) *stamp duty and other taxes*—no ad valorem stamp, issue, registration or similar taxes are payable in Australia on the issue, disposal, redemption or conversion of any Notes, provided:
 - (i) the Issuer remains listed on the official list of the ASX and all of its shares will be quoted on the ASX during the term of the Notes; and
 - (ii) following the issue, disposal, redemption or conversion of Notes, no holder will, either alone or together with any associated or related persons, be entitled to a distribution of 90 per cent. or more of the property of the Issuer on a notional distribution of all the property of the Issuer. In some circumstances, interests of persons who are not associates can be aggregated together in determining whether that threshold is met or exceeded.

THE PROPOSED FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS TAX (FTT)

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States") and Estonia. However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article (5)(c) of Regulation (EC) No 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State. However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate and/or participating Member States may decide to withdraw. Therefore, it is currently uncertain whether and when the proposed FTT will be enacted by the participating Member States and when it will take effect with regard to dealings in the Notes.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Subscription for the Notes

Pursuant to an amended and restated Dealer Agreement dated 27 February 2024, as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time (the "**Dealer Agreement**") between the Dealers and the Issuer and the Dealers have agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which any of them may from time to time agree to purchase Notes. The Issuer may also agree directly with any third party purchaser (other than a Dealer) to issue to such purchaser under the Programme. Any such agreement will extend to those matters stated under "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes", "Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes" or "Terms and Conditions of the Capital Notes", as applicable.

The Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them in respect of Notes subscribed by it. The Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their activities in connection with the Programme. The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer.

Selling Restrictions

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of the Notes of the Issuer in any jurisdiction in which it would be unlawful. In particular, this Offering Circular may not be distributed to any person, and the Notes may not be offered or sold, in any country except to the extent permitted below.

Australia

No prospectus, product disclosure document or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act) in relation to the Programme or offer of the Notes has been, or will be, lodged with ASIC. Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it:

- (a) has not made or invited, and will not make or invite an offer of the Notes for the issue, sale or purchase of any Notes in Australia, including an offer or invitation received in Australia; and
- (b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, any offering circular or memorandum, advertisement or other offering material or advertisement relating to the Notes in Australia or received in Australia,

in each case unless:

- (i) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree or invitee for the Notes is a minimum of A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates) or the Notes are otherwise issued in a manner which does not require disclosure in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act;
- (ii) the offer or invitation is not made to a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act;
- (iii) such action complies with all applicable Australian laws, regulations and directives in Australia (including, without limitation, the licensing requirements of Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act); and
- (iv) such action does not require any document to be lodged with ASIC or any other regulatory authority in Australia.

United States

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities in the United States. Neither the Notes nor the Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion have been or will be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not

be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, including, without limitation, in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act, and any applicable state securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by regulation S under the Securities Act.

In connection with any Notes which are offered or sold outside the United States in reliance on an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided under Regulation S, each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it has offered, sold or delivered any Notes and will offer, sell or deliver any Notes (a) as part of its distribution at any time and (b) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the completion of the distribution of any series of Notes, only in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. Accordingly, none of the Dealers, their affiliates or any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes, and each Dealer, its affiliates and any person acting on their behalf have complied and will comply with the offering restriction requirements of Regulation S.

Until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of any series of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that, at or prior to confirmation of a sale of the Notes, it will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration that purchases the Notes from it or through it during the restricted period a confirmation or notice to substantially the following effect:

"The Notes covered hereby have not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (a) as part of their distribution at any time and (b) otherwise until forty days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the completion of the distribution of the Notes, except in either case in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. Terms used above have the meaning given to them by the Securities Act or Regulation S thereunder."

Terms used in the above paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in the preceding sentence have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder.

The following legend will appear on all Permanent Bearer Global Notes or Definitive Bearer Notes, which have an original maturity of more than 1 year and on all interest coupons and talons relating to such Bearer Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections of the Code referred to above provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment in respect of any gain on any sale, disposal, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes or interest coupons.

Each of the Dealers that is a United States person has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it is acquiring the Notes in bearer form for the purposes of resale in connection with their original issuance and if it retains Notes in bearer form for its own

account it will only do so in accordance with the requirements of U.S. tax regulations. Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has and throughout the restricted period will have in effect procedures reasonably designed to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling Notes in bearer form are aware that such Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, during the restricted period to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person, except as permitted by U.S. tax regulations. With respect to each affiliate of a Dealer that acquires Notes in bearer form from one or more of the Dealers for the purpose of offering or selling such Notes during the restricted period, such Dealer (i) repeats and confirms the representations and agreements contained in this paragraph on its behalf and (ii) agrees that it will obtain from such affiliate for the Issuer's benefit the representations and agreements contained in this paragraph.

Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder.

United Kingdom

Prohibition of sales to United Kingdom retail investors

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes, which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation thereto, to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA;
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; and
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

Other regulatory restrictions

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that:

- (a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

European Economic Area - Prohibition of sales to European Economic Area retail investors

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes, which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation thereto, to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II;
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

Singapore

Unless the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited Investors only" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute this Offering Circular, or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA or (ii) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited Investors only" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA.

Any reference to the "SFA" is a reference to the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore and a reference to any term as defined in the SFA or any provision in the SFA is a reference to that term as modified or amended from time to time including by such of its subsidiary legislation as may be applicable at the relevant time.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under Article 4, paragraph 1 of the FIEA pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements applicable to a private placement of securities to Qualified Institutional Investors (as defined in and in accordance with Article 2, paragraph 3 of the FIEA and the regulations promulgated thereunder). Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan other than Qualified Institutional Investors. Any Qualified Institutional Investor who acquires Notes may not resell them to any person in Japan that is not a Qualified Institutional Investor, and acquisition by any such person of Notes is conditional upon the execution of an agreement to that effect.

Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes (except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO")) other than (i) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO; or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of that Ordinance; and
- (b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

Switzerland

The offering of the Notes in Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a prospectus under the FinSA because such offering is made to professional clients within the meaning of the FinSA only and the Notes will not be admitted to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland. This document does not constitute a prospectus or similar communication pursuant to the FinSA, and no such prospectus has been or will be prepared for or in connection with the offering of the Notes.

Malaysia

The Offering Circular may not be distributed or made available in Malaysia. The Notes are not being offered or made available for purchase in Malaysia and may not be purchased from any investor in Malaysia.

Taiwan

The Notes offered have not been and will not be registered with the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China (Taiwan) and will not be offered, sold or delivered at any time, directly or indirectly, in the Republic of China or to, or for the account or benefit of, any resident of the Republic of China. No person or entity in the Republic of China has been authorized to offer, sell, give advice regarding or otherwise intermediate the offering and sale of the Notes.

The Notes have not been, and shall not be, offered, sold or re-sold, directly or indirectly, in the Republic of China, to investors other than the "Professional Institutional Investors" as defined under Sub Paragraph 1, Paragraph 1, Article 2-1 of the Taipei Exchange Rules Governing Management of Foreign Currency Denominated International Bonds.

New Zealand

The Offering Circular has not been registered, filed with or approved by any New Zealand regulatory authority under the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (New Zealand) (the "FMC Act"). The Notes are not being offered or sold in New Zealand (or allotted with a view to being offered for sale in New Zealand) other than to a person who:

- (a) is an investment business within the meaning of clause 37 of Schedule 1 of the FMC Act;
- (b) meets the investment activity criteria specified in clause 38 of Schedule 1 of the FMC Act;
- (c) is large within the meaning of clause 39 of Schedule 1 of the FMC Act; or
- (d) is a government agency within the meaning of clause 40 of Schedule 1 of the FMC Act.]

General

No representation is made that any action has been taken in any country or jurisdiction by the Issuer or any Other Party that would permit an offering of any Notes, or possession or distribution of the Offering Circular in relation thereto, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Each of the Dealers has agreed to comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers any Notes or has in its possession or distributes offering material in relation thereto, in all cases at its own expense, and neither the Issuer nor any Other Party shall have responsibility therefor.

Neither the Issuer nor any Other Party represents that any Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable law or directive or any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

Persons into whose hands this Offering Circular comes are required to comply with any applicable law and directive in each jurisdiction in which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession or distribute or publish this Offering Circular or other offering material and to obtain any authorisation required by them for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by them of any Notes under any applicable law or directive in force in any jurisdiction to which they are subject or in which they make such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries, in all cases at their own expense, and neither the Issuer nor any Other Party has any responsibility for such matters.

In these selling restrictions, "directive" includes a treaty, official directive, request, regulation, guideline or policy (whether or not having the force of law) with which responsible participants in the relevant market generally comply.

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT – SENIOR NOTES

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each Tranche of Senior Notes issued under the Programme.

[MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Senior Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Senior Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Senior Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Senior Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Senior Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Senior Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Senior Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook, and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Senior Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Senior Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Senior Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

PRIIPs Regulation – Prohibition of sales to European Economic Area retail investors – The Senior Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Senior Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Senior Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs Regulation – Prohibition of sales to United Kingdom retail investors – The Senior Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("**EUWA**"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("**FSMA**") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Senior Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Senior Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[SINGAPORE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore (the "SFA"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in section 309A of the SFA) that the Senior Notes are "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined

in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]²

[NOTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 309B OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT 2001 OF SINGAPORE – The Senior Notes are capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]³

The Senior Notes are complex financial instruments intended for issue and sale solely to professional and sophisticated investors who have the skill and experience necessary to make their own investigations and analysis of the risks involved in investments in instruments of that kind and of the Issuer without the need for disclosure to investors under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia ("Corporations Act"). If you are not such an investor, then the Senior Notes are not a suitable investment for you. If in any doubt, consult your financial adviser. The Senior Notes are not for distribution to any person in Australia who is a retail client for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act. No target market determination has been or will be made for the purposes of Part 7.8A of the Corporations Act.

[Date]

QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014)

Legal entity identifier (LEI): 549300D2FBW76FPUSG65

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Senior Notes] under the Note Issuance Programme

PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Senior Notes (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated 27 February 2024 [(as supplemented by the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]])] (the "Offering Circular"). This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Senior Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Senior Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circular. The Offering Circular is available on the website of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") (www.sgx.com) and during normal business hours from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent. In the case of Senior Notes listed on the SGX-ST, the applicable Pricing Supplement will also be published on the website of the SGX-ST.

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date.]

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated 27 February 2024 which are incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular dated [current date] and are attached hereto. This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Senior Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated [current date] [(as supplemented by the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]])] (the "Offering Circular"). Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Senior Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circular. The Offering Circular is available on the website of the Singapore Stock Exchange ("SGX-ST") (www.sgx.com) and during normal business hours from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent. In the case of Senior Notes listed on the SGX-ST, the applicable Pricing Supplement will also be published on the website of the SGX-ST.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs (in which case

² To be included only if any Senior Note of the relevant Tranche is a prescribed capital markets product and excluded investment product.

To be included only if any Senior Note of the relevant Tranche is not a prescribed capital markets product.

the subparagraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]				
2.	[(a)]	Series Number:	[]
	[(b)	Tranche Number:	[]]
	[(c)	Date on which the Senior Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	with to [inser Global referred]	Senior Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series the existing [identify earlier Tranches] issued by the Issuer on the date / the Issue Date / exchange of the Temporary Bearer al Note for interests in the Permanent Bearer Global Note, as the ted to in paragraph 19 below, which is expected to occur on or a [date].]/[Not Applicable]
	[(d)	Borrowing office of the Issuer outside Australia through which the Senior Notes are issued:	[]]/[Not Applicable]
3.	Specific Currence	ed Currency or cies:	[]
4.	Aggreg	ate Nominal Amount:	[]
	[(a)]	Series:	[]
	[(b)	Tranche:	[]]
5.	Issue Pr	rice:] per cent. of the Nominal Amount of the Tranche [plus ed interest from [insert date] (if applicable)] (include in the of fungible issues only, if applicable)
6.	[(a)]	Specified Denominations:	[1
				1. Where multiple denominations above $\epsilon 100,000$ or alent are being used the following sample wording should be wed:
			to and	00,000] and integral multiples of $[\epsilon 1,000]$ in excess thereof upd including $[\epsilon 199,000]$. No Senior Notes in definitive form will sued with a denomination above $[\epsilon 199,000]$.")
				2. If an issue of Senior Notes is offered under Rule 144A a num denomination of USD100,000 is required)
				3. If the Senior Notes are Australian Domestic Notes, the wing sample wording should be followed:
			consi its eq monio Senio requi	10,000/other amount] provided that the minimum aggregate deration payable for the Senior Notes will be A\$500,000 (or quivalent in an alternative currency and disregarding any es lent by the Issuer or its associates) per offeree unless the or Notes are otherwise offered in a manner that does not re disclosure to investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 or ter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.")
	[(b)]	Calculation Amount:	[]

(If there is only one Specified Denomination and no integral multiples in excess thereof, insert the Specified Denomination. If there is more than one Specified Denomination and no integral multiples in excess thereof, insert the highest common factor of the Specified Denominations. If there are integral multiples in excess of the Specified Denomination(s), insert the highest common factor of the integral multiples and the Specified Denomination(s).) (Note: There must be a common factor in the case of integral multiples in excess of the Specified Denomination(s) or two or more Specified Denominations.)

7.	(a)	Issue Date:	[]
	(b)	Interest Commencement Date:	[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]
8.	Maturi	ty Date:	[Fixed rate - specify date]/[Floating rate - Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]]
9.	Interes	et Basis:	[[] per cent. Fixed Rate]
			[[EURIBOR/BBSW/AONIA/Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Specify other] [+/-] [
			[Fixed to Floating Rate (see paragraph 10 below). For Fixed Rate Period: [] per cent. Fixed Rate For Floating Rate Period [EURIBOR/BBSW/AONIA/Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Specify other] [+/-] [] per cent. Floating Rate]
			(see paragraph[s] [10] [and] [13/14]/[13 and 14] below)
10.	Redemption Basis:		Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption, the Senior Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at [] per cent. of their nominal amount.
11.	Change of Interest Basis:		[For the period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [date] ("Fixed Rate Period") paragraph 13 applies and for the period from (and including) [date] up to (and including) the Maturity Date ("Floating Rate Period") paragraph 14 applies/Not Applicable]
12.	Put/Call Options:		[Not Applicable] [Issuer Call] [Investor Put]
			[(see paragraph[s] [15] [and]/[16] below)]
13.	[(a)]	Status of the Notes:	Senior Notes
	[(b)]	[Date [Board/similar]	[]]
		approval for issuance of Senior Notes obtained:	(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is required for the particular tranche of Senior Notes)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

14.	Fixed I	Rate Note Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)		
	(a)	Rate(s) of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/other (specify)] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date		
	(b)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year up to (and including) the Maturity Date		
	(c)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount		
	(d)	Broken Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [date]/[Not Applicable]		
	(e)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]/[30/360]		
	(f)	[Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year]/[Not Applicable]		
			(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)]		
	(g)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]		
15.	Floatin	g Rate Note Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)		
	(a)	Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[] in each year [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (b) below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (b) below is specified to be Not Applicable]		
	(b)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]		
	(c)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[/Not Applicable]		
	(d)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount is to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination]/[ISDA Determination]/[BBSW Determination]/[AONIA Rate Determination]		
	(e)	Benchmark Rate	[BBSW Rate] / [AONIA Rate]		

(f)	ca Ir	arty responsible for alculating the Rate of atterest and Interest mount:	[Principal Paying Agent/Australian Calculation Agent/specify other] ⁴
(g)	Relevant Financial Centre:		[London/Brussels/Sydney/Specify other Relevant Financial Centre]/[Not Applicable]
(h)	R	elevant Time:	[11.00 a.m. if EURIBOR/10.30 a.m. if BBSW/Specify other Relevant Time]/[Not Applicable]
(i)		creen Rate etermination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	(i)	Reference Rate:	Reference Rate: [[] month] [EURIBOR /Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Compounded SOFR Index Rate/Average SOFR/Specify other Reference Rate]
	(ii)	Representative Amount:	[]
	(iii)	Specified Duration:	[]
	(iv)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[Second day on which the T2 is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, specify applicable date (e.g., the n th London Banking Day) falling after the last day of the relevant Observation Period if the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA, each SOFR Interest Determination Date (as defined in the Conditions) if the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]
	(v)	Relevant Screen Page:	[]
	(vi)	SONIA Lag Period (p)	[[5/Specify other] London Banking Days]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA]
	(vii)	SOFR Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			[If not applicable, the remaining subparagraph of this Paragraph 14(i)(vii) are not applicable.]
		A.Reset Period:	[[]] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]
		B. Suspension Period:	[[]] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]
		C.Observation Method:	[Lookback]/[Observation Shift]/[Not Applicable]
		D.Lookback Period (p)	[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[Not Applicable]

The Australian Calculation Agent will act as Calculation Agent in respect of Australian Domestic Notes. The Principal Paying Agent will act as Calculation Agent in respect of all other Notes.

E. Observation Shift Period

[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[Not Applicable]

[When setting the Lookback Period (p) or the Observation Shift Period, the practicalities of this period should be discussed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the Conditions. It is anticipated that '(p)' will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable/required, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Conditions, in relation to the relevant issuance]

F. Relevant Number: [5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[Not Applicable]

[Not applicable unless Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Index Rate]

[When setting the Relevant Number, the practicalities of this period should be discussed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the Conditions. It is anticipated that the Relevant Number will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable/required, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Conditions, in relation to the relevant issuance]

(j)	ISDA Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	(i) Floating Rate Option:	[]
	(ii) Designated Maturity:	[]
	(iii) Reset Date:	[]
		(In the case of a EURIBOR based option, the first day of the Interes Period)
(k)	BBSW Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	(i) Specified Maturity:	[]
(1)	Linear Interpolation:	[Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long Interest Period)]
(m)	Margin(s):	[+/-] [] per cent. per annum
(n)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[[] per cent. per annum]/[Not Applicable]
(o)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[[] per cent. per annum]/[Not Applicable]

(p) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual (ISDA)]/[Actual/Actual]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[360/360]/[Bond Basis]/[30E/360]/[Eurobond Basis]/[30E/360 (ISDA)]/[Australian

Bond Basis]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

16.	Issuer (Issuer Call:		[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
				ot applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this graph)		
	(a) Optional Redemptio Date(s):		[]		
	(b)	Optional Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount		
	(c)	If redeemable in part:				
	(i) Minimum Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount		
	(i	i) Maximum Redemption Amount:]] per Calculation Amount		
17.	Investo	Investor Put:		plicable/Not Applicable]		
				ot applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this graph)		
	(a)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]		
	(b)	Optional Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount		
18.	Final R	edemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount		
19.	Early Redemption Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on Event of Default:		[] per Calculation Amount		
GEN	ERAL P	ROVISIONS APPLIC	CABL	E TO THE SENIOR NOTES		
20.	Form o	of Senior Notes:	[For	Australian Domestic Notes:		
			Aust	ralian Domestic Notes]		
				other Notes:		

[For Bearer Notes:

[Bearer Notes/Registered Notes]]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes on 60 days' notice given at any time]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

(N.B. The exchange upon notice/on Exchange Event options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Senior Notes includes language substantially to the following effect: " $[\in 100,000]$ and integral multiples of $[\in 1,000]$ in excess thereof up to and including $[\in 199,000]$. No Senior Notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above $[\in 199,000]$." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Senior Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global Note or Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes.)

[For Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes):

Regulation S Global Note in respect of the nominal amount inscribed therein and registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/other]/Rule 144A Global Note in respect of the nominal amount inscribed therein and registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/other] (specify nominal amounts) exchangeable for Definitive Registered Notes upon an Exchange Event]

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) issued by the Issuer under the Programme will be registered in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or in the name of a nominee for DTC, because Registered Notes issued by the Issuer do not currently satisfy the European Central Bank's Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.)

[For Australian Domestic Notes:

Dematerialised Notes in respect of the Specified Denomination registered in the name of Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773)]

21. Principal Financial Centre: [London]/[Geneva]/[Frankfurt]/[Tokyo]/[New York]/[Sydney]/[Specify other]

22. Additional Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of payment and not the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 14(c) relates.)

23. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive

Bearer Notes:

[Yes, as the Senior Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more

than 27 coupon payments are still to be made/No]

24. Required Percentage: [25 per cent.]

25. Additional exceptions to

Condition 9.3:

[Not Applicable]/[Specify]

(Note that this paragraph relates to further exceptions (as contemplated by Condition 9.3(h)) to the payments of additional amounts under Condition 9.3. where a borrowing office outside Australia is used for the issue of Senior Notes)

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014):
By:
Duly authorised

PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

2.

3.

any):

trading effect fi Notes to	[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Senior Notes to be admitted to trading on the [SGX-ST and listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST/specify relevant market] with effect from [].]/[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Senior Notes to be admitted to trading on the [SGX-ST and listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST/specify relevant market] with effect from [].]/[Not Applicable.]				
(When a		to indicate that original Senior Notes are already admitted			
RATI	NGS				
Ratings	:	[Not Applicable – The Senior Notes have not been rated]			
		[[The Senior Notes [have been/are expected to be] rated:]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to Senior Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally:]			
		[S & P: []]			
		[Fitch: []]			
		[[Other]: []]			
OPER	ATIONAL INFORMATION				
(i)	ISIN:	[]			
(ii)	Common Code:	[]			
(iii)	Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):	549300D2FBW76FPUSG65			
(iv)	Clearing system(s):	[Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg]/[Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC]/[DTC]/[Austraclear]			
(v)	[For Australian Domestic Notes: Austraclear identification number:]				
(vi)	Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and Austraclear, and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Applicable]/[give name(s) and number(s)]			
(vii)	Delivery:	Delivery [against/free of] payment			
(viii)	Name(s) and address(es) of additional Paying Agent(s) (if	[]			

(Not Applicable to Australian Domestic Notes)

(ix) Deemed delivery of clearing system notices for the purposes of Condition 16:

[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC will be deemed to have been given on the [second]/[] [business] day [after the day] on which it was given to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC as applicable.]

[For Australian Domestic Notes: Not Applicable]

before disapplying this selling restriction]

4. **DISTRIBUTION**

1)	Method of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
ii)	Name(s) of Manager(s) / relevant Dealer(s):	[Not Applicable/give name(s)]
iii)	Stabilisation Manager(s) if any:	[Not Applicable/give name(s)]
iv)	Date of Subscription Agreement:	[]
(v)	U.S. Selling Restrictions (Categories of potential investors to which the Senior Notes are offered):	
(vi)	Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited	[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
	Investors only:	[Advice should be obtained from Singaporean counsel

5. **USE OF PROCEEDS**

[If other than as set out in "Use of Proceeds" section of Offering Circular, describe here]

6. OTHER INFORMATION

[If the Notes are issued through a borrowing office outside Australia, include an overview of applicable withholding tax treatment]

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT – SUBORDINATED NOTES

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each Tranche of Subordinated Notes issued under the Programme.

[MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Subordinated Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Subordinated Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Subordinated Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Subordinated Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Subordinated Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Subordinated Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Subordinated Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook, and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Subordinated Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Subordinated Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Subordinated Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

PRIIPs Regulation – Prohibition of sales to European Economic Area retail investors – The Subordinated Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Subordinated Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Subordinated Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs Regulation – Prohibition of sales to United Kingdom retail investors – The Subordinated Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the)UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Subordinated Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Subordinated Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[SINGAPORE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore (the "SFA"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in section

309A of the SFA) that the Subordinated Notes are "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]⁵

[NOTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 309B OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT 2001 OF SINGAPORE – The Subordinated Notes are capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]⁶

The Subordinated Notes are complex financial instruments intended for issue and sale solely to professional and sophisticated investors who have the skill and experience necessary to make their own investigations and analysis of the risks involved in investments in instruments of that kind and of the Issuer without the need for disclosure to investors under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia ("Corporations Act"). If you are not such an investor, then the Subordinated Notes are not a suitable investment for you. If in any doubt, consult your financial adviser. The Subordinated Notes are not for distribution to any person in Australia who is a retail client for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act. No target market determination has been or will be made for the purposes of Part 7.8A of the Corporations Act.

[Date]

QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014)

Legal entity identifier (LEI): 549300D2FBW76FPUSG65

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Subordinated Notes] under the Note Issuance Programme

PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated 27 February 2024 [(as supplemented by the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]])] (the "Offering Circular"). This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Subordinated Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Subordinated Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circular. The Offering Circular is available on the website of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") (www.sgx.com) and during normal business hours from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent. In the case of Subordinated Notes listed on the SGX-ST, the applicable Pricing Supplement will also be published on the website of the SGX-ST.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs (in which case the subparagraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1.	(a)	Series Number:	[]
	(b)	Tranche Number:	17	
	[(c)	Borrowing office of the Issuer outside	[]]/[Not Applicable]

To be included only if any Subordinated Note of the relevant Tranche is a prescribed capital markets product and excluded investment product.

⁶ To be included only if any Subordinated Note of the relevant Tranche is *not* a prescribed capital markets product.

⁷ This should always be Tranche 1. Subordinated Notes may not be issued in Series comprising more than one Tranche.

Australia through which the Subordinated Notes are issued: Specified Currency or 2. ſ] Currencies: 3. Aggregate Nominal Amount: (a) Series: 1 (b) Tranche: 1 Issue Price:] per cent. of the Nominal Amount of the Tranche Specified 5. [(a)]1 Denominations: (N.B.1. Where multiple denominations above ϵ 100,000 or equivalent are being used the following sample wording should be followed: "[\in 100,000] and integral multiples of [\in 1,000] in excess thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Subordinated Notes in definitive *form will be issued with a denomination above [€199,000]."*) (N.B.2. If an issue of Subordinated Notes is offered under Rule 144A a minimum denomination of USD100,000 is required) (N.B.3. If the Subordinated Notes are Australian Domestic Notes, the following sample wording should be followed: "[A\$10,000/other amount] provided that the minimum aggregate consideration payable for the Subordinated Notes will be A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and disregarding any monies lent by the Issuer or its associates) per offeree unless the Subordinated Notes are otherwise offered in a manner that does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.") [(b)]Calculation Amount: 1 (If there is only one Specified Denomination and no integral multiples in excess thereof, insert the Specified Denomination. If there is more than one Specified Denomination and no integral multiples in excess thereof, insert the highest common factor of the Specified Denominations. If there are integral multiples in excess of the Specified Denomination(s), insert the highest common factor of the integral multiples and the Specified Denomination(s).) (Note: There must be a common factor in the case of integral multiples in

4.

Denominations.)

]

[

Issue Date:

Commencement Date:

Interest

6.

(a)

(b)

[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

excess of the Specified Denomination(s) or two or more Specified

7. Maturity Date:		ty Date:	[Fixed rate - specify date]/[Floating rate - Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]]
			(NB: The specified Maturity Date must not be less than five years after the Issue Date)
8.	Interest	t Basis:	[[] per cent. Fixed Rate]
			[[EURIBOR/BBSW/AONIA/Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Specify other] [+/-] [
			[Fixed to Floating Rate (see paragraph 11 below) For Fixed Rate Period: [] per cent. Fixed Rate For Floating Rate Period: [EURIBOR/BBSW/AONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Specify other] [+/-] [] per cent. Floating Rate]
			(see paragraph [s] [11] [and] [13/14]/[13 and 14] below)
9.	Interest 4.4):	t deferral (Condition	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
10.	Redemption Basis:		Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption or Conversion or Write-Off, the Subordinated Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at the Redemption Amount.
11.	Change of Interest Basis:		[For the period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [date] ("Fixed Rate Period"), paragraph 13 applies and for the period from (and including) [date], up to (and including) the Maturity Date ("Floating Rate Period"), paragraph 14 applies/Not Applicable]
			(NB: Where a change of Interest Basis from fixed rate to floating rate is specified, the specified Margin in respect of the floating rate must not exceed the fixed Rate of Interest less the swap rate in respect of the floating basis rate (as determined at the time of pricing))
12.	[(a)]	Status of the Notes:	Subordinated Notes
	[(b)]		[]]
	approval for issuance of Subordinated Note obtained:		(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is required for the particular tranche of Subordinated Notes)
PRO	VISION	S RELATING TO INT	TEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE
13.	Fixed Rate Note Provisions:		[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a)	Rate(s) of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/other (specify)] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date

	(b)	Date(s):	I in each year up to (and including) the Maturity Date
	(c)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount
	(d)	Broken Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [date]/[Not Applicable]
	(e)	Day Count Fraction Method:	[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]/[30/360]
	(f)	[Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year]/[Not Applicable]
			(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)]
	(g)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]
14.	Floating	g Rate Note Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a)	Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[] in each year [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (b) below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (b) below is specified to be Not Applicable]
	(b)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]
	(c)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[/Not Applicable]
	(d)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount is to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination]/[ISDA Determination]/[BBSW Determination]/[AONIA Rate Determination]
	(e)	Benchmark Rate	[BBSW Rate] / [AONIA Rate]
	(f)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount:	[Principal Paying Agent/Australian Calculation Agent/specify other] ⁸
	(g)	Relevant Financial Centre:	[London/Brussels/Sydney/Specify other Relevant Financial Centre]/[Not Applicable]

_

The Australian Calculation Agent will act as Calculation Agent in respect of Australian Domestic Notes. The Principal Paying Agent will act as Calculation Agent in respect of all other Notes.

(h)	R	elevant Time:	[11.00 a.m. if EURIBOR/10.30 a.m. if BBSW/Specify other Relevant Time]/[Not Applicable] [Applicable/Not Applicable]		
(i)		creen Rate etermination:			
	(i)	Reference Rate:	Reference Rate: [[] month] [EURIBOR /Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Compounded SOFR Index Rate/Average SOFR/Specify other Reference Rate]		
	(ii)	Representative Amount:	[]		
	(iii)	Specified Duration:	[]		
	(iv)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[Second day on which the T2 is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, specify applicable date (e.g., the n th London Banking Day) falling after the last day of the relevant Observation Period if the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA, each SOFR Interest Determination Date (as defined in the Conditions) if the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]		
	(v)	Relevant Screen Page:	[]		
	(vi)	SONIA Lag Period (p)	[[5/Specify other] London Banking Days]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA]		
	(vii)	SOFR Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
			[If not applicable, the remaining subparagraph of this Paragraph 14(i)(vii) are not applicable.]		
		A.Reset Period:	[[] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]		
		B. Suspension Period:	[[] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]		
		C.Observation Method:	[Lookback]/[Observation Shift]/[Not Applicable]		
		D.Lookback Period (p)	[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[Not Applicable]		
		E. Observation Shift Period	[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[Not Applicable]		
			[When setting the Lookback Period (p) or the Observation Shift Period, the practicalities of this period should be discussed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the Conditions. It is anticipated that '(p)' will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise		

agreed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable/required,

such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Conditions, in relation to the relevant issuance]

F. Relevant Number: [5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[Not Applicable]

[Not applicable unless Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Index Rate]

[When setting the Relevant Number, the practicalities of this period should be discussed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the Conditions. It is anticipated that the Relevant Number will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable/required, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Conditions, in relation to the relevant issuance]

	(j)	ISDA Determination:			[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
		(i)	Floating Option:	Rate	[]	
		(ii)	Designated Maturity:		[]	
		(iii)	Reset Date:		[]	
					(In th Perio	he case of a EURIBOR based option, the first day of the Interest od)	
	(k) BBSW Determination:			ation:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
		(i)	Specified Ma	turity:	[]	
(l) Linear Interpolation:			ion:	[Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long Interest Period)]			
	(m)	N	Margin(s):		[+/-]	[] per cent. per annum	
	(n)	D	ay Count Fract	ion:	[Actu Basis	tual/Actual (ISDA)]/[Actual/Actual]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[360/360]/[Bonds]/[30E/360]/[Eurobond Basis]/[30E/360 (ISDA)]/[Australian Basis]	

PROVISIONS RELATING TO CONVERSION AND WRITE-OFF

15. Additional provision for currency conversion where not all Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments are in the same Specified Currency (Condition 7.2(b)(iii))):

16. Specification of Conversion or Write-Off (Condition 7.3):

[Conversion/Write-Off]

17. Issue to nominee (Condition [Applicable/Not Applicable] 8.12):

18. VWAP Period: [As specified in the Conditions/Specify other]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

19. Redemption for Tax Event or Regulatory Event (Condition

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

10.2):

(If not applicable, delete the remain subparagraph of this

paragraph)

20. Relevant Tax Jurisdiction:

Australia [and in the case of a Foreign Branch Note, insert

jurisdiction of the borrowing office outside Australia]

21. Issuer Call:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this

paragraph)

1

22. Optional Redemption Date(s):

(NB: The first Optional Redemption Date must not be less than five

years after the Issue Date)

23. Redemption Amount:

] per Calculation Amount

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE SUBORDINATED NOTES

24. Form of Subordinated Notes: [For Australian Domestic Notes:

Australian Domestic Notes]

[For other Notes:

[Bearer Notes/Registered Notes]]

[For Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes on 60 days' notice given at any time]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

(N.B. The exchange upon notice/on Exchange Event options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Subordinated Notes includes language substantially to the following effect: " $[\epsilon 100,000]$ and integral multiples of $[\epsilon 1,000]$ in excess thereof up to and including $[\epsilon 199,000]$. No Subordinated Notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above $[\epsilon 199,000]$." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination

construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Subordinated Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global Note or Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes.)

[For Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes):

Regulation S Global Note in respect of the nominal amount inscribed therein and registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/other]/Rule 144A Global Note in respect of the nominal amount inscribed therein and registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/other] (specify nominal amounts) exchangeable for Definitive Registered Notes upon an Exchange Event]

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) issued by the Issuer under the Programme will be registered in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or in the name of a nominee for DTC, because Registered Notes issued by the Issuer do not currently satisfy the European Central Bank's Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.)

[For Australian Domestic Notes:

Dematerialised Notes in respect of the Specified Denomination registered in the name of Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773)]

25. Principal Financial Centre: [London]/[Geneva]/[Frankfurt]/[Tokyo]/[New

York]/[Sydney]/[Specify other]

26. Additional Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of payment and not the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 14(c) relates.)

27. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive

Bearer Notes:

[Yes, as the Subordinated Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments are still to be made/No]

28. Required Percentage: [25 per cent.]

29. Additional exceptions to Condition 11.3:

[Not Applicable]/[Specify]

(Note that this paragraph relates to further exceptions (as contemplated by Condition 11.3(h)) to the payments of additional amounts under Condition 11.3. where a borrowing office outside Australia is used for the issue of Subordinated Notes)

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014):
By:
Duly authorised

PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

2.

3.

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Subordinated Notes to be admitted to trading on the [SGX-ST and listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST/specify relevant market] with effect from [].]/[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Subordinated Notes to be admitted to trading on the [SGX-ST and listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST/specify relevant market] with effect from [].]/[Not Applicable.]

RATI	NGS			
Ratings:		[Not Applicable – The Subordinated Notes have not been rated]		
		[[The Notes [have been/are expected to be] rated:]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to Subordinated Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally:]		
		[S & P: []]		
		[Fitch: []]		
		[[Other]: []]		
OPER	ATIONAL INFORMATION			
(i)	ISIN:	[]		
(ii)	Common Code:	[]		
(iii)	Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):	549300D2FBW76FPUSG65		
(iv)	Clearing system(s):	[Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg]/[Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC]/[DTC]/[Austraclear]		
(v)	[For Australian Domestic Notes: Austraclear identification number:]			
(vi)	Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and Austraclear, and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Applicable]/[give name(s) and number(s)]		
(vii)	Delivery:	Delivery [against/free of] payment		
(viii)	Name(s) and address(es) of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[]		
		(Not Applicable to Australian Domestic Notes)		
(ix)	Deemed delivery of clearing system notices for the purposes	[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC will be		

deemed to have been given on the [second]/[] [business]

of Condition [16]:

day [after the day] on which it was given to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC as applicable.]

[For Australian Domestic Notes: Not Applicable]

4. **DISTRIBUTION**

(i)	Method of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
(ii)	Name(s) of Manager(s) / relevant Dealer(s):	[Not Applicable/give name(s)]
(iii)	Stabilisation Manager(s) if any:	[Not Applicable/give name(s)]
(iv)	Date of Subscription Agreement:	[]
(v)	U.S. Selling Restrictions (Categories of potential investors to which the Subordinated Notes are offered):	[Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2]; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]
(vi)	Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited	[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
	Investors only:	[Advice should be taken from Singaporean counsel before disapplying this selling restriction]

5. **USE OF PROCEEDS**

[If other than as set out in "Use of Proceeds" section of Offering Circular, describe here]

6. **OTHER INFORMATION**

[If the Notes are issued through a borrowing office outside Australia, include an overview of applicable withholding tax treatment]

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT – CAPITAL NOTES

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each Tranche of Capital Notes issued under the Programme.

[MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Capital Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Capital Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Capital Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Capital Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Capital Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Capital Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Capital Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook, and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Capital Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Senior Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Capital Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

PRIIPs Regulation – **Prohibition of sales to European Economic Area retail investors** – The Capital Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "**MiFID II**"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "**PRIIPs Regulation**") for offering or selling the Capital Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Capital Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs Regulation – Prohibition of sales to United Kingdom retail investors – The Capital Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Capital Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Capital Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[SINGAPORE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001

of Singapore (the "SFA"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in section 309A of the SFA) that the Senior Notes are "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]⁹

[NOTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 309B OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT 2001 OF SINGAPORE – The Capital Notes are capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]¹⁰

The Capital Notes are complex financial instruments intended for issue and sale solely to professional and sophisticated investors who have the skill and experience necessary to make their own investigations and analysis of the risks involved in investments in instruments of that kind and of the Issuer without the need for disclosure to investors under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia ("Corporations Act"). If you are not such an investor, then the Capita; Notes are not a suitable investment for you. If in any doubt, consult your financial adviser. The Capital Notes are not for distribution to any person in Australia who is a retail client for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act. No target market determination has been or will be made for the purposes of Part 7.8A of the Corporations Act.

[Date]

QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014)

Legal entity identifier (LEI): 549300D2FBW76FPUSG65

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Capital Notes] under the Note Issuance Programme

PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Capital Notes (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated 27 February 2024 [(as supplemented by the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]])] (the "Offering Circular"). This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Capital Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Capital Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circular. The Offering Circular is available on the website of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") (www.sgx.com) and during normal business hours from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent. In the case of Capital Notes listed on the SGX-ST, the applicable Pricing Supplement will also be published on the website of the SGX-ST.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs (in which case the subparagraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1.	(a)	Series Number:	[]
	(b)	Tranche Number:	$[1]^{11}$	
	[(c)	Borrowing office of the Issuer outside]]]/[Not Applicable]

⁹ To be included only if any Capital Note of the relevant Tranche is a prescribed capital markets product and excluded investment product.

To be included only if any Note of the relevant Tranche is *not* a prescribed capital markets product.

¹¹ This should always be Tranche 1. Capital Notes may not be issued in Series comprising more than one Tranche.

Australia through which the Capital Notes are Issued: Specified Currency or ſ 1 Currencies: Aggregate Nominal Amount: Series: 1 Tranche: 1 Issue Price: per cent. of the Nominal Amount of the Tranche Specified] Denominations:

(N.B.1. Where multiple denominations above ϵ 100,000 or equivalent are being used the following sample wording should be followed:

"[\in 100,000] and integral multiples of [\in 1,000] in excess thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Capital Notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above [€199,000].")

(N.B.2 If an issue of Capital Notes is offered under Rule 144A a minimum denomination of USD100,000 is required)

(N.B.3. If the Capital Notes are Australian Domestic Notes, the following wording should be followed:

"[A\$10,000/other amount] provided that the minimum aggregate consideration payable for the Capital Notes will be A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternative currency and disregarding any monies lent by the Issuer or its associates per offeree) unless the Capital Notes are otherwise offered in a manner that does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia.")

[(b)]Calculation Amount:

2.

3.

4.

5.

(a)

(b)

[(a)]

(If there is only one Specified Denomination and no integral multiples in excess thereof, insert the Specified Denomination. If there is more than one Specified Denomination and no integral multiples in excess thereof, insert the highest common factor of the Specified Denominations. If there are integral multiples in excess of the Specified Denomination(s), insert the highest common factor of the integral multiples and the Specified Denomination(s).) (Note: There must be a common factor in the case of integral multiples in excess of the Specified Denomination(s) or two or more Specified Denominations.)

6. (a) Issue Date: [] (b) [Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable] Interest Commencement Date: 7. **Interest Basis:** per cent. Fixed Rate \prod

1

			[[EURIBOR/BBSW/AONIA/Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Specify other] [+/-] [
			[Fixed to Floating Rate (see paragraph 8 below) For Fixed Rate Period: [] per cent. Fixed Rate For Floating Rate Period: [EURIBOR/BBSW/AONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Specify other] [+/-] [] per cent. Floating Rate]
			(see paragraph [s] [8] [and] [10/11]/[10 and 11] below)
8.	Change of Interest Basis:		[For the period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [date] ("Fixed Rate Period"), paragraph [10] applies and for the period from (and including) [date] ("Floating Rate Period"), paragraph [11] applies]/[Not Applicable]
			(NB: Where a change of Interest Basis from fixed rate to floating rate is specified, the specified Margin in respect of the floating rate must not exceed the fixed Rate of Interest less the swap rate in respect of the floating basis rate (as determined at the time of pricing))
9.	[(a)]	Status of the Notes:	Subordinated (Capital Notes)
	[(b)]	[Date [Board/similar] approval for issuance	[]]
		of Capital Notes obtained:	(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is required for the particular tranche of Capital Notes)
PRO	VISION	S RELATING TO IN	TEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE
10.	Fixed	Rate Note Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a)	Rate(s) of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/other (specify)] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date]
	(b)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year unless the Capital Notes are redeemed in which case the last Interest Payment Date is the date of redemption of the Capital Notes
	(c)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount
	(d)	Broken Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [date]/[Not Applicable]
	(e)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]/[30/360]
	(f)	[Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year]/[Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)

	(g)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]
11.	Floatin	ng Rate Note Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a)	Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[] in each year [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (b) below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (b) below is specified to be Not Applicable]
	(b)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Not Applicable]
	(c)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[/Not Applicable]
	(d)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount is to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination]/[ISDA Determination]/[BBSW Determination]/[AONIA Rate Determination]
	(e)	Benchmark Rate	[BBSW Rate] / [AONIA Rate]
	(f)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount:	[Principal Paying Agent/Australian Calculation Agent/specify $other$] 12
	(g)	Relevant Financial Centre:	[London/Brussels/Sydney/Specify other Relevant Financial Centre]/[Not Applicable]
	(h)	Relevant Time:	[11.00 a.m. if EURIBOR/10.30 a.m. if BBSW/Specify other Relevant Time]/[Not Applicable]
	(i)	Screen Rate Determination:	[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
	(i) Reference Rate:	Reference Rate: [[] month] [EURIBOR/ Compounded Daily SONIA/Compounded Daily SOFR/Compounded SOFR Index Rate/Average SOFR/Specify other Reference Rate]
	(ii) Representative Amount:	[]

The Australian Calculation Agent will act as Calculation Agent in respect of Australian Domestic Notes. The Principal Paying Agent will act as Calculation Agent in respect of all other Notes.

Specified Duration:	
Interest Determination Date(s):	[Second day on which the T2 is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, specify applicable date (e.g., the n th London Banking Day) falling after the last day of the relevant Observation Period if the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA, each SOFR Interest Determination Date (as defined in the Conditions) if the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]
Relevant Screen Page:	
SONIA Lag Period (p)	[[5/Specify other] London Banking Days]/[Not applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SONIA]
SOFR Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	[If not applicable, the remaining subparagraph of this Paragraph 11(i)(vii) are not applicable.]
A. Reset Period:	[[] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)]/[No applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]
B. Suspension Period:	[[] U.S. Government Securities Business Day(s)]/[No applicable] [If the Reference Rate is Compounded Daily SOFR]
C. Observation Method:	[Lookback]/[Observation Shift]/[Not Applicable]
D. Lookback Period (<i>p</i>)	[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[No Applicable]
E. Observation Shift Period	[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[No Applicable]
	[When setting the Lookback Period (p) or the Observation Shif Period, the practicalities of this period should be discussed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the Conditions. It is anticipated that '(p)' will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable/required such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Conditions, in relation to the relevant issuance]
F. Relevant Number:	[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business Days]/[No Applicable]
	[Not applicable unless Reference Rate is Compounded SOFR Index Rate]
	Interest Determination Date(s): Relevant Screen Page: SONIA Lag Period (p) SOFR Provisions A. Reset Period: B. Suspension Period: C. Observation Method: D. Lookback Period (p) E. Observation Shift Period

[When setting the Relevant Number, the practicalities of this period should be discussed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for the calculation of the

Rate of Interest, as specified in the Conditions. It is anticipated that the Relevant Number will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with the Principal Paying Agent or, if applicable/required, such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Conditions, in relation to the relevant issuance]

	(j) ISDA Determination:		[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
		(i)	Floating Option:	Rate	[]
		(ii)	Designated Maturity:		[]
		(iii)	Reset Date:]	1
					(In th Perio	te case of a EURIBOR based option, the first day of the Interest od)
	(k)	В	BSW Determin	nation:	[App	licable/Not Applicable]
		(i)	Specified Ma	iturity:]]
	(1)	Li	near Interpola	tion:	[long	Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the /short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using ar Interpolation (specify for each short or long Interest od)]
	(m)	M	(argin(s):		[+/-]	[] per cent. per annum
	(n)	D	ay Count Fract	tion:	[Actu Basis	ual/Actual (ISDA)]/[Actual/Actual]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/ ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[360/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/360]/[30E/360]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[30E/360]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[30E/360]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Sterling)]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Fixed)]/[30E/360]/[Bond ual/365 (Fixed)]/[Australian ual/365 (Fixed)]/[Aus
PROV	ISIC	NS R	ELATING T	O CO	NVEF	RSION AND WRITE-OFF
12.	curr all F Inst	ency co Relevan rument cified (provision for onversion when at Tier 1 Capita s are in the san Currency (Cond	ıl ne	[App	licable/Not Applicable]
13.			on of Conversi (Condition 7.3)		[Conversion/Write-Off]	
14.	Issu 8.12		minee (Condit	ion	[Applicable/Not Applicable]	
15.	VW	AP Pei	riod:		[As s	pecified in the Conditions/Specify other]
PROV	ISIC	NS R	ELATING 1	O REI	DEMI	PTION
16.		-	n for Tax Ever		[App	licable/Not Applicable]

10.1):

17. Issuer Call: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this

paragraph)

18. Optional Redemption Date(s): []

(NB: The first Optional Redemption Date must not be less than five

years after the Issue Date)

19. Redemption Amount: [] per Calculation Amount

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE CAPITAL NOTES

20. Form of Capital Notes: [For Australian Domestic Notes:

Australian Domestic Notes]

[For other Notes:

[Bearer Notes/Registered Notes]]

[For Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes on 60 days' notice given at any time]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event]]

(N.B. The exchange upon notice/on Exchange Event options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Capital Notes includes language substantially to the following effect: " $[\in 100,000]$ and integral multiples of $[\in 1,000]$ in excess thereof up to and including $[\in 199,000]$. No Capital Notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above $[\in 199,000]$." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Capital Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global Note or Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes.]

[For Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes):

Regulation S Global Note in respect of the nominal amount inscribed therein and registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/other]/Rule 144A Global Note in respect of the nominal amount inscribed therein and registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/other] (specify nominal amounts) exchangeable for Definitive Registered Notes upon an Exchange Event]

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) issued by the Issuer under the Programme will be registered in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or in the name of a nominee for DTC, because Registered Notes issued by the Issuer do not currently satisfy the European Central Bank's Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.)

[For Australian Domestic Notes:

Dematerialised Notes in respect of the Specified Denomination registered in the name of Austraclear Ltd (ABN 94 002 060 773)]

21. Principal Financial Centre: [London]/[Geneva]/[Frankfurt]/[Tokyo]/[New

York]/[Sydney]/[Specify other]

22. Additional Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of payment and not the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 11(c) relates.)

23. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive

Bearer Notes:

Yes, as the Capital Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments are still to be made

24. Additional exceptions to Condition 11.3:

[Not Applicable]/[Specify]

(Note that this paragraph relates to further exceptions (as contemplated by Condition 11.3(g)) to the payments of additional amounts under Condition 11.3. where a borrowing office outside Australia is used for the issue of Capital Notes)

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of QBE Insurance Group
Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014):
,,,
D.
By:
Duly authorised
Duiy aumonisea

PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Capital Notes to be admitted to trading on the [SGX-ST and listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST/specify relevant market] with effect from [].]/[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Capital Notes to be admitted to trading on the [SGX-ST and listed on the Official List of the SGX-ST/specify relevant market] with effect from [].]/[Not Applicable.]

	reievai	nt market] with effect from [].]/	[Not Applicable.]
2.	RATI	NGS	
	Rating	s:	[Not Applicable – The Capital Notes have not been rated]
			[[The Capital Notes [have been/are expected to be] rated:]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to Capital Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally:]
			[S & P: []]
			[Fitch: []]
			[[Other]: []]
3.	OPEI	RATIONAL INFORMATION	
	(i)	ISIN:	[]
	(ii)	Common Code:	[]
	(iii)	Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):	549300D2FBW76FPUSG65
	(iv)	Clearing system(s):	[Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg]/[Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC]/[DTC]/[Austraclear]
	(v)	[For Australian Domestic Notes: Austraclear identification number:]	
	(vi)	Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and Austraclear, and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Applicable]/[give name(s) and number(s)]
	(vii)	Delivery:	Delivery [against/free of] payment
	(viii)	Name(s) and address(es) of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[]
			(Not Applicable to Australian Domestic Notes)

[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through Euroclear

and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC will be

deemed to have been given on the [second]/[] [business]

(ix)

Deemed delivery of clearing

system notices for the purposes

of Condition 17:

day [after the day] on which it was given to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC as applicable.]

[For Australian Domestic Notes: Not Applicable]

4. **DISTRIBUTION**

(i)	Method of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
(ii)	Name(s) of Manager(s) / relevant Dealer(s):	[Not Applicable/give name(s)]
(iii)	Stabilisation Manager(s) if any:	[Not Applicable/give name(s)]
(iv)	Date of Subscription Agreement:	[]
(v)	U.S. Selling Restrictions (Categories of potential investors to which the Capital Notes are offered):	[Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2]; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]

(vi) Singapore Sales to Institutional Investors and Accredited Investors only: [Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

[Advice should be taken from Singaporean counsel before disapplying this selling restriction]

5. **USE OF PROCEEDS**

[If other than as set out in "Use of Proceeds" section of Offering Circular, describe here]

6. **OTHER INFORMATION**

[If the Notes are issued through a borrowing office outside Australia, include an overview of applicable withholding tax treatment]

GENERAL INFORMATION

- 1. The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in Australia in connection with the establishment of the Programme. The update of the Programme and execution of a power of attorney in relation to the Programme was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 7-9 August 2023.
- 2. Approval in-principle has been received from the SGX-ST for the listing and quotation of any Notes to be issued under the Programme and which are agreed at the time of issue thereof to be listed on the SGX-ST. The Notes will be traded in a minimum board lot size of S\$200,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require.
- 3. For so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, and unless the Issuer obtains an exemption from the SGX-ST, the Issuer shall appoint and maintain a paying agent in Singapore, where the Notes may be presented or surrendered for payment or redemption in the event that the Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Registered Notes or Definitive Bearer Notes. In addition, in the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Registered Notes or Definitive Bearer Notes, an announcement of such exchange shall be made by or on behalf of the Issuer through the SGX-ST and such announcement will include all material information with respect to the delivery of the Definitive Registered Notes or Definitive Bearer Notes, including details of the paying agent in Singapore.
- 4. Each series of Bearer Notes will be initially represented by either a temporary global note or a permanent global note that will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) be deposited on the issue date thereof with (as specified in the Pricing Supplement) a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other agreed clearance system compatible with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Each series of Registered Notes will be initially represented by interests in a Global Note and (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) deposited on the issue date thereof with (as specified in the Pricing Supplement) a common depositary for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The appropriate Common Code and the ISIN for each series of Bearer Notes or Registered Notes will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system, the appropriate information will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg.

- 5. The Notes (other than Australian Domestic Notes) have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Australian Domestic Notes will be cleared through the Austraclear System. The Common Code and International Securities Identification Number for each Series will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. In addition, the Issuer will make an application with respect to each Series of Registered Notes intended to be eligible for sale pursuant to Rule 144A for such Notes to be accepted for trading in book entry form by DTC. Acceptance of each Series and the relevant CUSIP applicable to a Series will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- 6. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of QBE Insurance Group Limited is 549300D2FBW76FPUSG65.
- 7. Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer:
 - (a) the Issuer's annual report in respect of the two most recent financial years ended 31 December (including the financial statements) released to the ASX;
 - (b) the most recent half year report (including the financial statements) released by the Issuer to the ASX:
 - (c) the current Offering Circular together with any amendments and supplements prepared by the Issuer from time to time;
 - (d) any reports, letters or other documents referred to in this Offering Circular;

- (e) the Deed of Covenant;
- (f) the Euro Agency Agreement;
- (g) the Australian Agency and Registry Agreement;
- (h) the Australian Note Deed Poll;
- (i) each Pricing Supplement;
- (j) any documents incorporated into this Offering Circular by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" above); and
- (k) the Constitution.

Requests for such documents should be directed to the Issuer at its offices set out in the section entitled "Directory" at the end of this Offering Circular. The Issuer will not be obliged to provide a copy of any Available Document unless it is satisfied that the person requesting the document is either a current Noteholder or a genuine prospective holder of Notes.

In addition, copies of the documents listed in paragraphs (e), (f) and (i) will be available from the offices of the Principal Paying Agent set out in the section entitled "Directory" at the end of this Offering Circular (subject to the Principal Paying Agent consulting the Issuer and the Issuer instructing the Principal Paying Agent that it is satisfied that the person requesting the document is either a current Noteholder or a genuine prospective holder of Notes) and copies of the documents listed in paragraphs (g) and (h) will be available from the offices of the Australian Registrar set out in the section entitled "Directory" at the end of this Offering Circular (subject to the Australian Registrar consulting the Issuer and the Issuer instructing the Australian Registrar that it is satisfied that the person requesting the document is either a current Noteholder or a genuine prospective holder of Notes).

8. Under Australian law, the approval or authorisation of the Minister for Foreign Affairs is required for certain transactions involving dealings with assets in connection with persons or entities linked to terrorist activities or certain proscribed countries under the Charter of the United Nations Act 1945 of Australia, the Charter of the United Nations (Dealing with Assets) Regulations 2008 of Australia and other applicable regulations (such as those in respect of sanctions against specific countries).

The Autonomous Sanctions Act 2011 and Autonomous Regulations 2011 of Australia regulate certain payments, transactions and other dealings having a proscribed connection with designated countries, persons, entities or assets. Among other things, these regulations generally prohibit dealings with certain "designated persons or entities" by directly or indirectly making assets (including shares and securities) available to or for their benefit without a permit.

The lists of persons and entities having a proscribed connection with terrorism and persons and entities that are subject to sanctions are maintained by the Australian Sanctions Office (within the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade) and are available to the public at https://www.dfat.gov.au/international-relations/security/sanctions/consolidated-list.

Further, the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing Act 2006 of Australia (the "AML-CTF Act") and the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing (Prescribed Foreign Countries) Regulations 2018 made under that Act may prohibit the entering into of transactions with residents of proscribed foreign countries. While there are no per se exchange controls on the transfer of money out of Australia, where A\$10,000 (or the foreign equivalent) of physical currency or digital currency (cryptocurrency) is transferred within Australia or out of Australia or international fund transfer instructions occur, reporting obligations may apply under the AML-CTF Act (or, where applicable, under the Financial Transactions Reports Act 1988 of Australia).

INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

£8	DTC 1
¥8	ESMA4
€8	EU distributor 3
2023 Act31	EUR 8
A\$8	euro 8
AASB25	Euro Agency Agreement
AASB 1732	Euroclear 1
ABN66, 297	Euroclear Participants287
Accountholders289	Euroclear Terms and Conditions 287
Additional Tier 1 Capital15	EUWA 3
Agents	Exchange Date
AML-CTF Act341	Exchange Event
APRA	Existing Securities
ASIC10	FATA
ASX	FATCA
ATO	FATCA withholding
AUD8	FCA
AUD Subordinated Notes due 203653	FCF
AUD Subordinated Notes due 203053	Federal Reserve 41
AUD Subordinated Notes due 2039	FFIs 61
	FIEA
Austraclear	
Austraclear Rules	FinSA
Austraclear System 1	FIO
Australian dollar 8	Fixed Rate Notes
Australian Dollar8	Floating Rate Notes
Australian Domestic Notes1	Foreign Branch Note21
Australian IGA61	FSI
Australian Note Deed Poll 1, 15	FSMA 3
Australian Noteholders293	FSSA
Australian Tax Act292	FSTRA 60
Australian Treasurer 56	FTT
Available Documents8	GBP Subordinated Notes due 2038 53
Bearer Notes 1	GDP8
Benchmark Regulation4	GDPR31
Beneficial Owner 288	Global Note 1
Branch Substitution 47	Group 5
Capital Notes 1, 15	Hong Kong
CFPB34	IAIS31
CFTC34	ICS35
CHF8	IDR35
Clearstream, Luxembourg1	IFRS25
Clearstream, Luxembourg Participants 287	IFS35
Code	Inability Event
ComFrame	Indirect Participants 288
Common Depositary283	Insurance Act
Conditions	Insurance Distribution Directive
Constitution	Investor Put
Conversion Option	Investor's Currency
Corporations Act1	IRS
-	ISDA
Corporations Laws	Issue Date VWAP
CRA Regulation	
Crisis Management Act	Issuer
CRS	Issuer Call
CSLR	Japanese Yen
CTP67	JPY
Custodian	Member
Direct Participants	MiFID II
Dodd-Frank Act34	MiFID Product Governance Rules 3

NOHC56
Non-Australian Noteholders293
Non-Viability Conversion Date52
Notes1
Order10
Ordinary Shares1
ORSA Act34
Other Party4
Owners
Participants
Payment Default20
Permanent Bearer Global Note283
Pool33
PRA 11, 31
Pricing Supplement1
PRIIPs Regulation3
Programme 1
Prospectus Regulation3
RBA289
Registered Notes1
Regulation S Global Note
Regulatory Change 58
Regulatory Event58
Relevant Entity6
Relevant Information6
Relevant Person10
Royal Commission33
RTGS289
Rules288
S\$8
SEC11
Securities Act
Senior Notes
SFA9
SFO303

SGD	8
SGX-ST	1
Singapore Dollar	
SOFR	
Solvency Condition	
Specified Country	. 294
Specified Treaties	. 294
Sterling	
Subordinated Notes	
Swiss Franc	8
Tax Event	58
Taxation Ad	. 297
Temporary Bearer Global Note	. 283
TFN	
Tier 2 Capital	15
U.S	2
U.S. dollar	8
U.S. Dollar	8
U.S.\$	8
UK CRA Regulation	64
UK distributor	3
UK GDPR	31
UK MiFIR	3
UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules	3
UK PRIIPs Regulation	3
UK Prospectus Regulation	3
United States	
USD	8
USD Subordinated Notes due 2044	53
USD Subordinated Notes due 2045	53
USD Subordinated Notes due 2046	
VWAP	5 4
Winding-Up Default	20
Write-Off Option	18

DIRECTORY

ISSUER

QBE Insurance Group Limited (ABN 28 008 485 014)

REGISTERED OFFICE OF ISSUER

Level 18 388 George Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

PAYING AGENT, REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch

2-4 Eugene Ruppert Vertigo Building, Polaris L-2453 Luxembourg

PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT AND EXCHANGE AGENT

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch

160 Queen Victoria Street London EC4V 4LA United Kingdom

AUSTRALIAN REGISTRAR AND CALCULATION AGENT

Austraclear Services Limited

20 Bridge Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to Australian and English law

King & Wood Mallesons

Level 27, Collins Arch 447 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia To the Issuer as to Singapore law

WongPartnership LLP

12 Marina Boulevard Level 28 Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 3 Singapore 018982

To the Dealers as to Australian and English law

Ashurst Australia

Level 11 5 Martin Place Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers

One International Towers Sydney Watermans Quay Barangaroo NSW 2000 Australia

DEALERS

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

Level 5, ANZ Tower 242 Pitt Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Barclays Bank PLC

1 Churchill Place London E14 5HP United Kingdom

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Level 8, CBP North 1 Harbour Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

30/F Two Pacific Place 88 Queensway Hong Kong

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

25 Bank Street Canary Wharf London E14 5JP United Kingdom

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc

25 Cabot Square Canary Wharf London E14 4QA United Kingdom

National Australia Bank Limited

Level 6 2 Carrington Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited

100 Liverpool Street London EC2M 2AT United Kingdom

Westpac Banking Corporation

Level 3 275 Kent Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia